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Editor’s Preface

In the autumn of 1981, the Director of Cemral Intelligence, William
). Casey, proposed that the recently reestablished Hestory Sialf undenake a
history of the tenure of his distinguished predecessor, Richard Helms, On
laking office earlier that year, Director Casey had read and found useful
presvious History Stalf studies of two former DCls, Walter Bedell Smith by
Ludwell Montague {1971}, and Allen Dufles by Wayne Jackson {19730
Mr. Cascy asked the late John Bross, a wartime 055 colleague who was
then serving as his special assistant, to arrange for this study with the new
Chief of the History Siaff—the present writer—who had joined CIA in
August 1381, John Bross arranged meetings with Richard Helms and
B. Jack Smith (who had served as Helms's Deputy Director for
Incelligence) to plan such a siudy,

John Bross outlined a study whose chapters would each focus on a
lepic that had demanded Richard Helms's special attention as DCL
Although the chapler topics that Bross proposed, with Helms's approval,
have undergone some evolution, the work as now completed largely fol-
lows Bross's original outline. From the outset it has besn organized as a
topical study and not as a comprehensive narrative history of Richard
Helms's six and a half years as DCI. This work has little to say, for exam-
ple. about the new and growing Directorate of Science and Technology
{DSET). For most of Helms's tenure the DS&T was led by Carl Duickett,
W whom Helms delegated very large authority in an area that was almwost
entirely outside his own experience and expertise. Although the DS&T
initiated no new overhead reconnaissance projects while Helms was DCIL
several important projects thar were already under way came into seTvice,;
excellent accounts of these and other DS&T achievements in this period
can be found in two top-secret codeword 5rudir,5_| |5Ex-
volume The Directorate for Science and Techrology, 1962-1970 (History
Staff, 1972) and Donald Welzenbach’s Histary of the Mrectarate of
Science and Technology, 19701983 (DS&T, 1987).

Although initially each chapter was to be written by a former officer
whao had personal knowledge of its topic, the work s approved in 1982
and now completed divides the chapiers between former DD Jack Smith
and Robert Hathaway of the History Staff. As these authors produced draft
chapters, it became evident that their contributions differed substantially in
decumentation, style, and point of view. Jack Smith, who had his Own
experience and recollections of the period. relied more heavily on inter-
wiews with his former chief, Richard Helms, and his colleapues, than on
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the documentary recond, Moregwer, he nol surprisingly reveals strong views
on some of the issues he treats. Robert Hathaway, who joined CIA and the
History Statt in 1982 as o professional historian, made extensive wse of the
Apency's records in addition to his interviews of Mr, Helms and the
officers who served under him, The present writer, as the editor responsible
for preparing this work for publication, has vndertaken o shape the two
sels of draft chapters into a single cohesive study, while preserving in each
chapter as far as possible the principal author's style, structure, and
interpretation. Although each chapter®s original author 15 noted under its
titke, the reader should be aware that the editor has subjected all the origi-
nal drafts to considerable revision, including depaty chief histosian Mary
McAuliffe’'s work on chapiers 8 and 9 and staff historian MNicholas
Cullather's revision of chapters 2 and 2,

Russell Tock Smith, the principal author of foor of the work’s nine
chapters, took his B.A. foom Miami University of Ohlo, received a PhI, in
English litzrature from Cornell University in 1941, and taught at Williams
Callege before joining the OiTice of Strategic Services in 19435, After the
war he continued his intefligence career in the Central Intellipence Group
and Central Intelligence Agency and became Depuly Director for

Intelligence in 1566,

refired in 1974, Tn his well-received

memoirs, Thne Dnknown CIA: My Three Decades With the Agency
(Washington: Pergamon-Brassey's, 1989), Jack Smith offers more personal
pecounts of a nomber of the issues and events he reats in this present
Study.

Robert M. Hathaway, the principal author of five of the work's chap-
ters, took B.A. and MLA. degrees from Wake Forest University and his
Ph.Dx. inhistory ot the University of Morth Caroling, Chapel Hill, in 1978,
Afer secvice in the US Army, he tavght at Middlebury College and
Barnard College of Columbia University before joining ClA and the
History Staff in 1982, He left CIA in late 1986 to join the professional staff
of the House of Representatives Foreign Affairs Committee. His books in-
clude Ambigwous Partwership: Britgin and America §944- 1947 (Mew York:
Colombin University Press, 1981), which won the 1981 Truman Book
Award, and Crear Britaln and the Uniped Stefes: Special Relations Since
World War I (Boston: Twayne, 19901,

Some acknowledgements and thanks are in order. I shall always be
grateful for the fnendship and counsel of John Bross, who launched the
study, helped it on its way, and maintained a keen interest in it ight up o
the time of his death in Cetpber 1990, Richard Helms himself has been
extracrdinarily helpful and generous in making time for the many inter-
views the study required. This volume has been a long time in preparation,
and we thank him for his patience. 'We are also grateful to all those in the
History Staff, Office of Current Production and Analytic Support, and
Printing and Fhotegraphy Group who helped put this volume into prin
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Finally, I should note that while this is an official publication of the
CIA History Staff, the views expressed—as in all our works—are those of
the authors and do ot neceszanily represent those of the CIA.

1. Kenneth MeDonald

Chief Historian
June 194973
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Chapter |

Relations With the White House
Kobert M. Hathaway

In peactical terms & Director of Cenmral Intelligence has one and only one
boss: the Presidem of the United States. Cemainly a DCT has to respond 1o the
comcems of other Washington players as well: the Secretaries of State and
Defense, the President's Mational Security Advisor, the members of the US in-
telligence conmmumity, and strategically placed begislators in the Congress. Bul
compared to his relations with the eccupant of the Oval Office, his tes m all
athers pube into insignificance. A DX in frequent contact with and fully sup-
ported by his President will have few equals in Washington in his influence on
the policymaking process, Conversely, a Director lacking entry into the inmer-
tost circles of the Whte House quickly finds himself—no meller how well-
infiormed his sources or accurate his intelligence——isolated from the administra-
thon’s central decisions, His wartings and advice will fall unnoficed into the vast
waslehin of rejected and ignored memorndums Washington daily spews out.

As Director of Central Tntelligence, Richard Helms served under (wo
of the most complex and controversial Presidents in the nntion's history—
Lyndon Johnson and Richard Nixon.

In the case of Johnson, Helms was dealing with a longtime member
of the Washington political establishment who was also monumentally
insecure within thar establishment. One of the most elffective majority lead-
ers ever to boss the United States Senate, Johnson entered the White House
after John Kennedy's assassination, determined 1o legislare a program of
reform that would rival in scope Franklin Roosevelt's New Deal. Yet, much
against his will, he found bimself swepl up in a conflagration far from
American shores, o war that would eventually doom his Great Society and
drive him out of the White House.

His successor was 4 man even more beset by inner demons,
Historians will long puzzle over Richard MNixon's psychological makewp,
but it is arguable that no more tortured individug] had entered the While
Housz in the two hundred years of the nation’s existence. Meanspinted and
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Richard Helns T

withdeawn, an valovahle man who desperately craved acceptance.
Mixon—even more than Lyndon Johnson—suspected those around him of
secretly laughing at him. Neither man proved an easy boss to work for
Both men came Lo build around themselves a protective shield of advisers
po filier out vnwelcome of snwanted views. And wet i many respects
Richard Helms's experiences with each were stark opposites. The first of
these Presidents bestowed on Helms a position of trust and infleence, while
the sccond wsually regarded Helms with the distrust the besieged accords
someone on the other side of the ramparts.

Richard Helms and Lyndon Johnson

According to Richard Helms, his success with President Johnson
Inrgely arose out of one dramatic coup. For the first three and a hall years
of his presidency Johnson had never found much use for intelligence. His
relations with DC1 John MeCone, whom he had inherited from Kennedy,
gradually soured o the point where McCone found resignation preferable
to being ignored, McCone's seccessor, retired VAdm. William Raborn,
never came close to reestablishing a strong voice for the DCT in the White
House. Within months of his appointment, the White House and others
recognized that selecting Raborm as DCI had been o mistake, and in June
1966 he was replaced by Helms. In his first year, Helms also failed 1o
make much of an impression on President Johnson, who was increasingly
overburdened by domestic controversy and overseas crisis.

All this changed in late May and early June 1967, just as Helms was
completing his first year as Director. CIA successes just before and during
Israel’s $ix-Day War dramatically enhanced the prestige of the
Agency—and of its Director—in the eyes of President Johnson. The details
of this episcde are described elsewhere in this study's examination of CIA's
relations with 1srael while Helms was DCL Suffice it to say here that some
wonderfully accurate CLA prognostications concerning the timing, dura-
tion, and outcome of the 1967 war swept Helms into Lyndon Johnson's in-
ner circle of advisers, where he remained for the rest of Johnson's term of
affice.

In Lyndon Johnson's White House, membership in the Presidential
inner cirele meant joining in the Tuesday luncheons, and, for the balance of
the Johnson presidency, Helms attended these functions regularly. As
Helms deseribes it, his role ot these luncheons—IJohmson's personal device
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Riecherd Helms W"

for gathering aboul him the people in whom he had conbidence—was i
provide corrective intelligence information and judgments whenever one
ofthe other participants appeared o get off track:

He never said this to me, but 1 got the distine impeession that the ecason he
valed my presence was that | kept the game hoacst, Wiheit Busk would go
way out on some policy, of MeMamara wimild advocate X, or Eorle Wheeler,
the Chaiciman of the JC8, would be too upfield, then I would come it and
say, “This is the way we naderstand it. and the facts are as follows, . "
And 1 did this eonstantly, o it was 2 useful rele for him, There was no doubl
whout it | owent to Guoam [with President Johpson|, 1 went 10
Ciosd-knows-where on these various conferences on Yismnam. Angd when 1°d
et there. there wasn't a bell of a bt of work 10 do, but be just fiked having
mi areund, shiting the re.'

Sitting there, keeping the game honest: (his was an ideal situation for
an intelligence officer, o sit beside ihe President of the United States with
an open invitation 1o speak up whenever facts or judgments contrary o the
best availeble imelligence made their appearance.

Richard Helms was extremely careful not 1o abuse this positen of
trust, not (o averstep his bounds as an mielligence officer. He went [0 oo
siderable lengths 1o avoid being involved in the policy debate, and, regird-
less of his personal opinions, he refrained from wdvocating one policy owver
another unless directly asked by the President (as sometimes occurred). He
did this not out of mere caution or self-protection, but rather out of his own
decp convictions about the proper role of intelligence. 1 am a belicver that
the Director of Central Intelligence, as the principal intelligence officer 1o
the President, should not be invelved in forsign pelicy excepl 10 the exbent
that the presentation of any intelligence material to 2 President is in itsell a
type of policy recommendation,” he has explained, “1 don't think it's halp-
ful 1o a President 1o have afl the people surrounding him invelved in policy
issues,""

Helms had arived at this conviction in part by observing the less re-
strained performance of John MeCone. “MeCone believed that he could
wear two hats. One hat was as Director of the Agency and the presenter of
intelligence information that the Agency produced. The other, that he could
<it at meetings and help to formulate the policy that the adriniskration
gught 1w follew,™ Helms recalls. T did not agree with that,” he laconically

"Richard M. Helms. interview by R 1, Smith, rape recording, Washington. nC, 21 Apail
1482 (Rercalier cilid ag Helms interview, X1 April 1082 (SEcrET ) Recurdings, AransCriphs.
and noses Tor the inbervicsws conducted far this stady are an fike in the CLA History SaalT
ailce

*Richard M. Melms, interview by B 1, Smith, 1age recarding., Washingean, B1C, 3 Juns [ ¥
{hereaier ciled us Hiokins Interview; 3 Jume I9R2) (SpCRETL
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adds. Instead, he remained silent excepl when one of the palicy officers
strayed beyond the limits of reality as indicated by Agency information and
Judgment. He felt that he could perform a more useful role

Uy secing o it that the Secretary of State or Defense, or whoever was ad

vociting whatever they were adwocating. atayed with the accepablbe limits of
the facts as we knew them, the parameters of events that hed dranspired, This
was @ useful function te perform for the Presldent, Because every Cabinet
officer, in advisating policies, whetber the Presidents policy or m, is con-
stantly wempted o overdrive and o oversell, to overpersuade. Often the
degree o which ths is being done gets lost sipht of. | figure that the intelli-
gence chief has a role to play in keeping these things in perspective, keeping
the percepiions as accurste and s objective as possible.”

His membership in the White House inner coterie did not necessarily
shield Richard Helms from presidantial disapproval on o¢casion. These
were difficult, contentious times. The war in Vietnam produced sharp divi-
sions of opinion and raised sensitivities 10 adverse public opinion o very
high levels. For instance, Lymdon Johnson found it painful to have figures
of the civilian casualtics caused by US bombing publizly aired, Once, a
senior Agency officer, while briefing the Senate Armed Services
Commitiee, was asked a question out of the blue ahoot casualties inflicted
on North Vietnam's civilian population dusing USAF bombing attacks. The
ClA officer provided such figures as he could. Several days later Helms
happened 1o be walking through the White House arcade berween the
Mansion and the President's Oval Office. Lyndon Johnson, walking along-
side, took Helms by the arm and said in a fatherly tone, “Now, if you feel
ARy wrge to go up and estify in Congress on this whole guestion of civilian
casualnues in Vietnam, [ just hope you'll pass by and have g drink with me
the aficrnoon before.™ Helms, of course, promised he would, He later said
of the incident, “This was his way of conveying a message 10 me that ke
wanted to have something to say about this. It was done pointedly but not
vociferously.”™ At his moming meeting the next day, Helms told the DDI
of the President's sensitivity to Morth Vietnamese civilian casualty fgures
and instructed all elements in the Agency to avoid the subject” Although
one can understand the DCT's wish 10 accommodate the President, in
retrospect one must wonder whether the Agency could legitimately avoid
or ignore evidence of civilian cisualties in reporting on the war in Vietnam

Lyndon Johnson was not always so gentle, and on two occasions in
the first month that Helms was DCI the President had expressed his disap-
proval of certain CIA actions in loud, wrathful tones. “He was very
Vi,

il
"Mowming Meeting Minmas, 31 January 1967,

“Wewesl
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Richard Helms

vociferous with me and [ was very voorferous right back.” Helms later
recalled, and continued:

After that, 1 never had a vociferous conversation with President Johnson
again. | think be figured that taking me on that way wis not very usaful, and
that it he wanted o alk 1o me be did it dafferently. From then on, e never
had &ny noisy words with each ather . . . o showting back and forth,”

While i1 is casy to picture a vociferous President Johnmson, it 1s
difficult to imagine the austere and controlled Richard Helms shouting
hack. Nevertheless, these exchanges in the summer of 1966, combined with
Helms's performance during the June 1967 Arab-Israeli war, evidently es-
tablished the President’s confidence and respect in him as DCI. Helms em-
phasizes thut alter the initial altercations his relationship with Johnson was
excellent: “He didn't badger me; | was well treated by him.™’

Given Johnson's penchant for informal policy discussions such as the
Tuesday luncheons, and his tendency to buttonhole opponents and urge
them to "sit down and reason together awhile,” one might assume that he
preferred to receive his intelligence information through oral bricfings.
Richard Helms quickly discovered, in pari by observing John McCone as
DCI, thai this was not true. When Johnson first became President, MceCone
had started a program of daily briefings. As Helms remembers if, Johnson
“finally got bored, closed the door, and that was the end. He just didn’t
want to do it any more. You couldn’'t make him do it any more.” For
Helms the implications were obvious. “This one-on-one, that people who
live in academia hold 1 be s0 important, does not necessarily achieve your
objective. You either adjust your production to the man you have in office
of you're going to miss the wrain.""

Thos, while President Johtzon found informal discussion within
small groups highly useful, he shied away from formal presentations and
prolonged briefings. It was clear to Helms that “Johnson was much beries
at reading decuments. The way to get his attention was (o present a well-
reasoned, well-written picce of paper.”” Helms enjoyed his first real suc-
cess with Johnson largely through the Board of National Estimates’ short
analysis controverting an alarmist Isracli intelligence estimate in May
I967. This success encouraged Helms to send—as ofien as several umes a
week—brief memorandums containing information pertinent (o the
President’s current concerns. Lyndon Johnson was a voracious reider who
kepl several news tickers operating just outside his office door, regularly
tearing off long swatches to scan, and be found himself well served by the

*Helms imlorvicw, 3 Jone 15832,
"I,
*riviet,
*fhid.
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DCI's steady Mow of brief, sharply poimted pieces. They provided a hack-
drop and written basis for the comments Helms madde ““to keep the game
henest™ during informal policy meetings.,

These same presidential preferences dictated Helms's micrdus ope-
randi at National Security Council meetings. Dwuring the Eisenhower ad-
ministiration, when many NSC cusioms and practices were institutionalized,
the Director of Central Intelligence, though not 2 statutory member of the
hody, became a regular participant in its deliberations. Allen Dulles woald
always present an intelligence briefing and relished these opporunities 1o
intermingle juicy tidbits of intelligence with more solid substantive
material. Under John F, Kennedy, National Security Council meetings were
mostly formal events, held only sporadically. When they were held, John
McCone usually gave a sober account of the world’s problems as seen
through the eyes of CIA and its Director

Richard Helms attempted 1o carry on this tradition once he became
DCI by presenting a survey of the world in 3 [-to- [ 5-minute briefing. He
found that with Lyndon Johnson this was a mistake,

With President Johnson ., | finally came us the conclusion that what I had
o say I should get into the first 60, or ar baast 120 seconds, that [ had oa my
fieet, Because after that he was pushing butions for coffee or Fresca, or talk-
ing 1o Rusk, or talking o McMamara, or whispering here or whispering
there. | had lost my principal audience.™

The adjusiment made for Johnson consisied of a sleady stream of
short, crisp papers combined with attendance at the Tuesday luncheons

One must be careful not to place too rosy a glow on the relationship
between Helms and Johnsop, Many commentaiors have noted the inherens
contlict between sophisticated intelligence, which is apt to see many sides
to & question, and the needs of decisionmakers, who muet often ignore
shadings and ambignities in deciding wpon a single course of action, The
last thing & policymaker wishes to hear is why his preferred course of ac-
tion may not work, but that is precisely the service timely intelligence
often provides. Lyndon Johnson has left us with 8 memorable quotation
with respect to this spoiling role intzlligence often plays. “Policy making
is like milking a fat cow,™ the President remarked on one occision. “You
see the milk coming out, you press more and the milk bubbles and flows,
and just as the bucket is full, the cow with its tail whips the bucket and all
15 spilled. That's what CIA does to policy making.™"

Daring the Johnson years, CIA played the cow's tail repeatedly on
maners pertaining to the war in Southcast Asia. Helms's Agency again and
again produced intelligence analyses that conflicted with the optimistic line

""Ihid
"Henry Brandos, The Retrear of Ameriean Power (Mew Yark: Doailleday, 1973), p. 103,
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Richard Helms

the White House took on the progress of the war. Johnson®s response was no
1o change course, but to ignere what his intelligence experis were telling
him. As administration policy became more and more beleaguered, the
White House decisionmaking process became an exceptionally closed one—
with discouraging intelligence reports and analyses excloded from any role
in policymaking. So while it is undoubtedly true that Johnson found it useful
to have Helms close at hand, this does not mean that the White House al-
ways aceorded the products of Helms's Agency the respect or voice this
might imply. In certain important respects, most aotably on matters pertain-
ing to the war in Indochina, Johnson seems (o have divorced Helms from the
CiA, valuing the former even as he chose to ignore the laer.

Richard Helms and Richatd Nixon

Compared o what fellowed, however, the Johnson years seem almgst
a golden era of President-DCI, White House—CIA relations. A warning that
this favorable situation would soon end was sounded on 31 March 968
when President Johnson annoonced that he would not seek reelection
Helms sent a personal note to LB expressing his keen regret over this de-
cision.

Immediately after Richard Nixon's electoral triumph in November
1968, Johnson called Helms to the White House 1o meet the President-glect,
At this meeting LB] informed his DCI thae starting immediately Helms
was o make CIA's entire outpul of reporting and analysis—"everything
that 1 get” —available 1o Nixon. Since the Nixon stoff had decided 1o re-
main al ils campaign headguerters at the Pierre Hotel in New York until
Inaupuration Day, CIA had to set up a secure Agency oulpost where the
ultrasensitive daily and weekly periodicals as well as numerous codeword
studies could be transmitted electronically. Helms dispaiched a 1eam to
Mew York and over the weekend these officers established a vaulited, secone
area in the basement of the American Bible Society Building a short dis-
tance from the Pierre Hotel. On the following Monday CLA marerials be-
gan to flow o New York for the use of President-elect Nixon and National
Security Assistant-designate Heary Kissinger."”

Even before Nixon's inauguration, Helms received disiurbing indica-
tions that his would be a far less favored position under the new President
than it had been under Johnson. Early presidential ideas on organizing
the national security function envisioned excluding the DCI from National

VRissigger's ol ik was Assistant 1o the Pressdent for Matiooak Security AfTairs,
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Presicfent Riehard M. M

Security Council meetings. Nixon backed away from this extreme position
before it was implemented, when the new Secretary of Defense, Mel Laird,
interceded on Helms's behall. Nevertheless, in the early days of his ad-
ministration Mizon ollowed Helms o aitend NSO meetings only to offer
Factual briefings, after which he excused the IO from the room. The awk
wardness of this sintion was immediately obvious in the N5C, and after
six weeks or 5o the DCT was permitted to remain throughout the meeting,

Henry Kissinger's memoirs suggest one reason behind the President’s
Feomtal assault upon Helms's position within the decisionmaking apparatus,
Mixon brought to the presidency, Kissinger has written, 2 belicf that the
CIA was “a refuge of Ivy Leagee intellectuals opposed to him.” A man
prone (o se¢ enemies evervwhene:, Mixon blamed bis 1960 defeat for the
presidency on allegedly ineccurate amd politically motivated CIA estimates
that the Soviets had achieved stralegic superiority over the Dnited Stares
during the Eisenhower years when Mixen served as Vice President: this
wus, of course, the so-called missile pap. Mizen was convineed tha

Scapu
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Agency liberals, behind a facade of analytical ohjectivity, were usuvally
pushing their own agenda—a far Left. cssentially defealist se1 of views
incompatible with those held by the silent majority of Middle America,
which he had adopted {or created) as his constituency. As for Helms,
Kissinger reports, the new President Telu il at ease with the DCL, “since he
suspected that Helms was well liked by the liberal Georgetown social set.”
the very “establishment™ Nixon professed 1o scomm., "

Why did Nizon, given these prejudices, decide 0 keep Helms as
DCI? The former President has never explained his reasoning, but the an-
swer may partly He with the extremely narrow margin of his 1965 presiden-
tial victary. Given the absence of any real mandate, he almost certainly felt
a need o move cautiously, With Helms commanding widespread and bipar-
tisan respect in Washingion, there were no compelling reasons, nor any im-
portunate alternative candidates, to justify or require & change. In addi-
tion, the proctice of each new President appointing his own Director of
Central Inmtelligence had not yet been established in 1969 both Kennedy
and Johnson had retained DCIs selected by their predecessors. Finally,
Mixon's bias was not 50 much against Helms as against the Agency he ram.

Althoogh he kept his job, Helms realized immediately that his
Apency was in for some rough sledding, It was bound to be a rocky
period with Richard Nixon as President, given the fact that he held the
Agency responsible for his defeat in 1960, the former DCT would later
say. “And he never forgot that. He had a barb out for the Agency all the
time.” Nixon initially concentrated his fire on the MNational Intelligence
Estimates, evidently regarding them as the chief vehicle for CLA anmimosity,
And his memory was long. From the early days of his administration,
Helms recalls, the President singled out for criticism Estimates from the
1950s, wien he was Eisenhower’s Vice President. “He would constanily, in
Mational Security Council meetings. pick on the Agency for not having
properdy judged what the Soviets were going to do with various kinds of
weaponry . . . he would make nasty remarks about this and say this had o
be sharpened up. The Agency had o understand it had to do a betler job
and =0 on.” Helms's conchuding remarks are amesting: “Dealing with him
was tough, and it seems (o me that the fact [ ended up with my head on my
shoulders after four years of working with him is not the least achievement
of my life.""

Mor were the temperament and personal style of Richard Nixon the
only obatacles Helms faced under the new regime. The new President sur-
roundad himself with a staff that combined an intensely personal loyalty to

"Henry A. Kistinged, White Hooge Fears (Boston: Liftke, Browm and Company, %795, pp.
11, 36,
“Hielmn ineerview, 21 Apeal 1982
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is boss with a vindictive capacity for seeing presidential adversaries in
every quarter, Helms thinks it likely that personalities played a role in the
uncomfortable sitluation in which ke found himself:

To this day, | obviously don’t have any way of judging whal my being
Crirector had o do wiih ihis one wiy o the oiher. Because, afier all, Nison
reappointed me, Bul | was no man for [presidential assistants] Bhdichman o
Haldeman. | mean, they didn’t lke the appointment in the firs place. o
thers was an clement that was anti-Helms. 1 meon, it didn’t manifest iself
with knives in my back, pastcalarly, but, you know, “this guy's not far i, "™

CIA was not the only agency to notice a marked change once the
Mixon team replaced Johnson's. The revelations in the Watergate hearings
have made it abundantly clear that President Nixon viewed most of the
governmental institutions he inherited from his predecessor with keen dis-
trust. The new administration brought to the daily operation of the povemn-
ment an us-against-them approach. The White House seemed to regard the
entire governmental bureaucracy as just another locus of political pariisan-
ship, necessitating tighter control and greater centralization within the
small group of officials close to the President,

This was particularly true in the realm of national security policy,
where Kissinger moved quickly to establish a strong National Security
Council staff under his leadership. Moreover, he brought 2 new dimension
o the job of Assistant to the President for National Security Affairs. Both
his immediate predecessors, McGeorge Bundy and Walt
Rostow—presidential assistants to Kennedy and Johnson—were men of
broad understanding and high intelligence. Bundy and Rostow, however,
had confined themselves to subordinate roles in national security affairs,
primarily making certain that the President was kept thoroughly informed
on key issues by channeling the requisite information to him, Kissinger, a
man of powerful intellect with an ego o match, injected himsell far more
directly into the actual policymaking process. The former professor wmed
National Security Assistant imposed a strict methodology upon the formu-
lation of policy and the intelligence to suppert it For the intelligence com-
munity this entailed a rigidly formalistic system designed to generate
multiple policy options for White House nse. In Kissinger's scheme of
things, CIA was demoted from its traditional position as the primary
governmental source for objective reporting and analysi= on international
uffairs and relegated 10 being merely ancther contender for White House
attention.

Even though Kissinger himself was very critical of national esti-
mates, in Helms®s view Mixon's “carping™ heightened this disdain. “So
cstimating was hardly something that he wanted to be a champion for,"
Helms later observed of Kissinger, “[TIhese two men tended o work on
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each other with respect to the estimating process of the Agency. And
Kissinger, leeling that Mixon dido't regard the Estimates as being very
poaod, didn’t pay very much attention 1o them hims2IE ™ Morcover, he had a
tendency W be selective in the way he read intelligence, All this, Helms
came to feel, was

part of Kissinger's wetics, The mare you keeg poopbe off balinoe, the mare
yimu keep the pressure om, the more be felt they'd work harder or be more
careful or do o better job or something, So that geiting any prafse ouwl of
Kizsmger lar any particular theng was——wall, it vinually never h:lppcncd, He
didnt have uny commendations 1o hand wround ws anybody,”™

The result, Helms has aoted, was a perod when Agency analysis and
estimating rather consistently encountered heavy weather in the White
Howse.

In other respects as well, Nizon was quite unlike the gregarious
Johnson, Opportunities for informal mectings with the President were few,
and direct substantive exchange between MNixon and Helms quite meager.
Maost presidential foreign policy discussions ook place in closed Owval
(fice sessions with Henry Kissinger and MNixon the only participants. In
conirast 1o LBJ, Mixon chose oot o rely on hiz Directer of Central
Intellipence to keep the facts straight and the judgments sound. Except for
Kissinger, who guickly established a secure relationship with the President
in the realm of national seconty affairs, the Nikon White House inner cir-
cle consisted exclusively of presidential campaign Liewtenants and political
partisins,

Like LB, however, Mixon preferred o receive his intelligence infor-
mation through the printed word. Nixon “took it in betier through the
eye,” Helms recalls. In NSC meetings, he “would sit there for longer
briefings—but after the frst five minates his mind would start o wander,
too, unless something came up that he was paricularly interested in. 5o
one his 1o adjust (o these things,”"'” Thus the question became how 1o get
the important documends 1o Mixon’s desk. The problem was made consider-
ably more difficult by the system Kissinger established with i NSC
staff—with President Mixon's approval—for filiering the flow of informa-
tion o the Ohval Office. At the outset of the Mixon adminisiration, Helms
artempted 0 send (o0 Mixen, as he had 1o Johnson, a steady Mow of shon
pieces containing intelligence pertinent (o ongoing events, But since Mixon
Felt no particular need for the type of in-depth CLA reports end studies the
Agency had provided for Johnson, Helms was soon reduced to sending
Kissinger those items he felt contained especially pertinent information,
with a note politely suggesting that the information be passed w the

"Il
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President, In short, direct access to the President for timely and sensitive
information from his principal intelligence officer was closed off during
the Nison administration.,

The record of CLA intelligence suppost during the Johnson and Nixon
sdministrations amply illusteates thai it is the President himseli who detoe-
mines how effective that suppont can be. His attitudes, his work habitz, his
receplivity o objective judgment whether favorable or unfavorable o his
hopes and plans—ihese are the essential ¢lements in determining how
much and how well his intelligence organizations can help him. Richard
Helmz well understood this point:

Each President has 1o be dealt with by a Director accanding io his personality
and according to his way of deing business, To have [someone] say that the
Director's relationship with the Pregident should be X, ¥, or Z s absolutely
worthless, -, . There is no way that these things can be hegislated or con-
teolled, Every President is poing 1o do his business the way be wants 1o do it,
You say, "Well, he should discipline himself,” but they never do. They do i
exactly the way they want to do i

The single-most-important thing a DCT must have 1w ensure maxi-
mum impact and effectiveness is access 10 the President. Bur here again,
such access depends entirely on the principal occupant of the White House,
“Most people miss the point about the United States Government,” Helms
has remarked:

Thee Cabimet and all the principal [posts] are appointive jobs; thoy are all ap-
pointive. . . . [And] every single one of those fellows has got 1o be someone
the Pressdent can get along with, If the Presideat doesn't get along with him,
then he'll fade pway."™

Richard Helms did not fade away, but neither was he able 1o use CIA
intelligence to serve President Mixon as well as he might have,

The contrast berween the relationship Helms and CLA enjoyed with
Lyndon Tohnson and their relationship with Richard Nixon underscores this
point. The policy problems the two Presidents faced, and the intelligence
CIA could provide to help them deal with those problems, were not signifi-
cantly different in kind of quality. Yet, measured by the effective assistance
ClA was permitted to offer, the contrast is stark. In the stmosphere of the
Johnson administration, CIA under Richard Helms was a trusted, competen
ally that was accorded the large scope 1o o its job. The Nixon administrs-
tio, o the other hand, tended to see the Helms CLA a5 a Suspest, Erfalic en-
taty that required constant scrutiny to ensure that it acted in the interests of
the White House rather than its own, The record makes it clear: CIA
infelligence was only as useful as the President permitted it 1o he.
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MHCHAOS: CIA and the Anfiwar Movement

Every President has his special areas of personal interest or concer.
John Kennedy, for instance, possessed strong feelings about the dangers
posed by nuciear proliferation, More recent Presidents have displayed an
imtense interest in such issucs as international technology transfers, arms
contral verification, and state-sponsored terrorism, The wise Director of
Central Intelligence will identify these areas of a President’s interest and
ensure that his Agency makes a special effort (o cover them well. For
Richard Helms, this meant alloning an enormous share of the Agency’s
resources to the problem of Indochina. It also dictated a sudden spurt of
effort in Chile (as this study explores elsewhere in some detail), once
Mixon in 1970 focused on the likelihood that the Marxist Salvador Allende
woubd be elected President. And under both Johnson and Mixon, it meant
continuing attention to the problem of domestic dissent, particularly in its
international context. Both Presidents were dismayed by the extent to
which their policies had encountered domestic opposition; both allowed
themselves to believe that foreign machinations lay behind this opposition.
And both placed on Helms's CLA demands that, al least in refrospect,
raised troubling questions about how the Agency should respond o ques-
tionable Presidential directives,

Feiw Clandestine Services activities brought Richard Helms more
criticism and censure than the operation bearing the crypionym
MHCHADS, by which CIA—at President Johnson's direction—tried 1o
discover whether the movement opposing the Vietnam war was funded o
directed from abrosd. Within the Agency, resistance 1o the program was
widespread and surfaced almost as soon as awareness of s existence
seeped into middle management and the working level. Outside CLA, the
series of investigations of the Agency that marked the mid-1970s sct off a
storm of protests by the press and civil liberties groups. CIA was excesding
the range of its legal charter, the eritics charged, by operating intelligende
collection activities within the United States against US citizens. Some of
this censure restad upon exagperation and distortion. The investigations of
the 1970s established, however, that CIA was by no means entirely innocent
of the allegations lodged against it.

In the summer of 1967, as racial unrest and antiwar seofiment esca-
lated around the country, officials in the Johnson administration cast about
for some explanation of the burgeoning dissident movement. President
Johnson found it impossible to believe that American youths would,
without extemal provocation, indulge in the riotous sctions currently dis-
rupting many of the nation’s cities and campuses. Convinced that foreign
agents, almost certainly Communists, were funding and directing these
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activities, he wanted CLA 1o oblain for him the positive proof that he was
certain existed. Helms recalls that this was “an abiding concern™ on the
President's part:

Meither he nar the Viee President, Hubwert Humphrey, could figure ou why
siech wremal, iF there waza®l some forsign elament or soome Foreipn. money
behind i, amd this was sont of a plea, “Can’t you fellows find out what's -
ing on here? Look ar these people in the sireets: we can™t imagine that good
Americans do things like this.” . ., He was very concerned about this, znd |
don’t think that anybody that was in National Secority Council mectings
with him had any dowbd that he was very worried about what kind of foraign
influeiee was in the antswar movement and was talking about it constantly
and coubdn’t undersiand why people couldn’t find the evidence.™

Richard Helms was aware from the owtsel that intelligence activities
directed in any way against domestic American groups would require the
Agency 0 work close o the line of itz charter, He, nonetheless, believed
that the President’s request for information was proper. and that the
Agency conld stay within the range of authorized activities while rezpond-
ing Lo this request. “That the target, the ohjcctive, was a legitimaie one, [
think goes without saying,” he would later explain. "I mean, this was pan
of the Agency’s job, that if foreigners were allempting io cause trouble in
the United States, the Agency certainly had its part in teying to find our
whe these foreign countries were, what entities were involved, and why
they were doing this and how. Nawrally, it was up e the FBI 10 monitor
events within the United States, But, Helms added, It was incumbent
upon the Agency to do its best owtside to find oot the origing of this
antiwar movement, where the money was coming from and how it was
heing spent. ™"

And if their investigations should lend Agency officers across that
line separating foreign from domestic activities? “[ ok a conscious daci
ston at the time this came up,” Helms relates. As the former DCT recalls if,
one of his subordinates approached him with the argument that, if CLA
were going to obtatn “a rounded picture.™ s investigations neaded (o be
comprehensive. “It really doesn’t make much sense 1w cut off the legs and
just leave the torso wandering around,” the officer arpued, “So let’s put
the whole thing together and take whatever chances o with this because ji
does seem o be so important.” Pressured by what the Rockefeller
Commission later termed “continuing and insistent requests from the
White House,” Helms bought this reasoning.™

“Richand M. Helms, interview by B, 1. Smith, tape recording, Waghingion, D, 22 June 1983
{herzafter clied a5 Helms intervics, 22 June [983) {Sacret),
r
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i, 55 Camanission on CLA Agdivities Within the United Siaies, Nepord re the Presidenr
{Washingben, DC: Government Printing Office, 1975) (herealter cited ar Bockefeller
Coenmission), p. 130, Presidend Fard appainted thas Commission in 1975 10 leok inte alls-
gahmas af domestic CLA activities
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The DCI's first move, in Auwgust 1967, was (o set up within the
Counterintelligence Staff o new unit called the Special Operations Group
(5000, and 1o name Richard Ober itz head, The group’s sole purpose,
Helms instructed Ober, was o determine if domestic political dissidents,
including student antiwar protesters, were receiving forcign support. 'l
eztablished this wnit,' Helms later explained, “because it seemed to me
that simce thiz was a high priomty in the eyes of the Pregideat, that it should
he a high prierty in the Agency.” Ober's job was to examine all material,
“from all over the world, from whatever source that we could find,” 0 see
what wis behind the nationwide disorders,”

Ower the next few years, the Special Operations Group expanded
steadily, attaining a staff of|  [by 197L In pursuing s leads, the groop col-
lected information on thousands of domestic dissidents, eventually opening
subject files on 7,200 American citizens and 6,000 political organizations.
The greatest bulk of these files came from the FBI and contained the usual
melange of FBI reporting, which tended to be heavy on hearsay, unevalu-
atesd rumor, and indirect information, In all, more than 300,000 names from
FRI files were placed in the S0G computer system.™ Most of these names,
later inquiries were (0 demonstrate, belonged Lo persons represenfing no
security risk whatever.

The first fruit of this special group emerged in Movember 1967, fol-
lowing a large demonstration outside the Pentagon the previous maonth, and
was. entitled “Iaternational Connections of the U.S, Peace Movement.™
Although the Directorate of Intelligence's (D1} Office of Current
Ineelligence (OCI) did the actual writing, Ober’s researchers provided
nearly all the information for the repors. Given President Johnson's expec-
tations, the conclusions of the paper must have been a crashing disappoint-
ment. The gist of the report was that CIA could twen up litle evidence of
foreign involvement in the peace movement and no indications of signifi-
cant foreign financial support. This conclusion set the patern for succeed-
ing studies on this subject: if American antiwar groups were directed or
controlied by foreign elements, CTA could pot find evidence of it.

Because of the intense interest of Lyndon Johnson—a man capable of
titanic intensity—Richard Helms mighi have expected a harsh reaction 10
this report. It did not come. But at the same time the adminisiration made it
clear that the Agency was to continue its explorations along these lines.
Oher's staff intensified its effons, producing a succession of stadies on stu-
dent radicalism, black activists, and the peace movement. None was ahle to
point to specific foreign controls. In September 1968, in response to stead-
ily moonting official concem as anfiwar demonsirations grew in number
and violence, OC] produced a more ambitious study titled “Bestless

“Hilems jageryiew, 22 June 1983
*Rockefeller Commission, p, 21
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vouth.” Similar disarders had occurred in Evrope, and this coincidence did
nothing to allay White House suspicions reganding foreipn tncitement in
the US, “Restless Youth” nevertheless concluded, like ibg predecessors,
that American stedent radicalism stemmed from domestic socritl and politi-
cal alienation. not from foreign influence.

such an answer pleased neither Lyndon Johnson, who was convinced
of its opposite, nor Richard Nixon, whose heliefs in this regard parafieled
Iohnsen®s, nor Richard Helms, who wished o provide what was
wanted—if it were true and could be found. Helms would subsequently
downplay the pressures on him to find convincing proof of foreign back-
ing, but they were real all the same. Even so, his subsordinates report that
the DI refrained from making unreasomable demands on them. As Richard
Ober says, “At no time did Dick Helms ever put any pressure on me o
come up with the answer the President wanted. He accepted what 1 hrought
him and made no effort to influence the analysis, "™

This is a point of very coasiderable significance, one thar speaks to
the integrity of the Agency and its officers, 2nd even more 1o the integrity
of its Direcior, who was feeling the presidential heat day afier day. It is a
point that seems generally to have been missed by the Agency's critics.
Diespite very sltrong pressures, the Agency stuck 1o its guns. It did not wig-
gle out by stringing together hearsay and innuendo in a story thot would
both provide an answer pleasing to the White House and impugn the an-
liwar movement as Commnist inspired. Instead, Agency officers sifted
and sorted reports with professional thoroughness, searching for credible
evidence. Finding none, they reported their conclusions without apology
and informed the White House that the movement could oo e dismissed
a5 @ Communist ploy.

The growth of Ober's staff, made necessary by the effors of Agency
OWErREEs slations (o report any scrap of information that might prove wse-
Tul, caused increased concern on Helms's part aver the security of the oper-
ation, s did the S0G's inevitable ventures into grey arcas of the Agency's
charter. The DCI therefore set up the cryponym MHCHAOS for all traffic
10 and from the Ober group and clamped very light security on that raffic,
Contrary to the fantasies of Agency critics, the cryptonym CHAOS has no
symbolic significance; it was merely the next crypl in the system. Helms
also made certain that those who received CIA repors detailing American
stadent activities were made aware of the extraordinary sensitivity of these
shisdies,

Apart from these rigorous securily precautions, Richard Helms Telt
no greal concern about the way MHCHAOS operations were conducted,
By this tine, one modus operandi for getting better information was to use

“Richard (e, imerview by B J, Smi, tape recording. Washington, DC, 14 July 1583
Chereaiter vited ax Ofer interview, 14 July 1953 {SECRET).
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young Americans already invelved in the domestic antiwar movement, who
could be trained for infiltration of overscas peace groups. Recruiling young
Americans in this country for overseas duty was working close to the bone,
but Helms had confidence in the professionalism of Apency officers as-
signed to the task. He fell no need 1o issuc siricl waming o the ¢ase
officers that these American agents were not 10 be used o gel information
ahout the domestic antiwar movement. *'1 thought everybody in the
Agency aver the age of 12 knew that this was one of the guiding principles
of Agency operations, but | certainly on various occasions in talks with
Ober and others had plenty of opportunity to reemphasize this. [ don’t
think anybody had any doubt about A

Even so, in a handful of insiances later investigators found this
“guiding principle” had been slighted. Information ubout aciivities in the
Upited States, obtained from infiltrated agenis, was retained in SO files.
On thres separate occastons, MHCHAOS agents were specifically used o
gather domestic intelligence. S0G studies, notably “Resthess Youth,'" dealt

with purely diomestic matt:r&|

Lookmg o MHCHATS-related activilies in 075, the Rockefeller
Commission found many of them profoundly disturbing, While it held thal
the “declored mission of gathering intelligence abroad as o foreign in-
fluence on domestic dissident activities was proper,”™ it nevestheless found
that some of the domestic activities carried out under MHCHAOS auspices
“unlawfully exceeded the CIA’s statutory authority.” Commission mem-
bers voiced particular concern that SOG “became a repository for large
quantities of information on the domestic activities of American citizens, . . .
much of Jwhich] was not directly related o the question of the existence of
foreign connections.” Their conclusion:

It was probably necessary for the CTA to accumalate an information base on
domestic dissident activities in order 0 assess foirly whether the activilies
had Foreign connections. . - - But the accumulation of domestic dala in ihe
Oxperation exceeded what was reasonably required b miske such an assess-
ment and was thus impropee,”

Richard Helms fully appreciated how close 1o the line presidential
demands were pushing him, He ordered the study “Restless Youth™
produced in two versions, one conlaining a section of the domestic stene,
the other without this section, Caly the second version was distributed to
other community agencies; the ficst was reserved exclusively for the White
House and two or three key presidential advisers. Tn delivering the fuller

*Helms isterviow, 22 Jane 1983,
pckefeller Caommission, pp. 24-15.
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version 1¢ President Johnson, Helms appended a COVETIRG memoraidum
notng, “You will, of course, be aware of the peculiar sensitivity which
attaches to the fact that CTA has prepared a report on stedent activities hoih
here and abroud.” Giving Kissinger the study early in 1969, Helms went
even further. His covering memo explained that the repeort contained a sec-
tion on American students and stated:

This is an arca nat within the charter of this Apency, 5o I need not emnphinsize
how eatremely sensitive this makes the paper. Should anyore baarn of s ex
istence it would prove most embarrassing for all concermed,™

In truth, Helms found himssIl in a rather tight bind, The more he
reported the absence of significant links between domestic dissent and foar-
eign eénemics, the greater the skepticism he encountered from both the
Johnson and Nixon White Houses. Yet the only way to prove the Agency's
COnIEnlicn—io prove a nogative, 5o 1o speak—was by expanding the pro-
gram, by investigating all dissidents. Helms and his associates would later
argue—with a certain logic—that, unless they looked into the ofiging and
mature of domestic dissent, they would be gnable to gaupe the significance
of the foreign contacts they did uncover.

Even o, the DCI tried 1o mainiain the distinction hetween domestic
and foreign activities. In March 1968, Helms rejected a joint Office of
security/Directorate of Plans propasal that entailed recruiting agents to
penelrate domestic dissident groups o obtain information on foreign con-
tacts. This, he ruled, was beyond the Agency's jurisdietion and would
cause widespread eriticism if it became public knowledge, Eighteen
maonths later, in @ memorandum to the four Deputy Directors heading
Directorates, he restated S0OG's intentions to observe “the statutory and de
facto proscription on Agency domestic involvements.”™ Helms's Deputy
Director for Intelligence (DD, B. 1. Smith, has alzo recalled one of the
Director’s moming meetings where Helms announced, quite deliberately
and with grear firmness, “We do not operate against Americans in
this couniry. Keep your hands off Americans in this countey,” ™

Yet, as information on MHCHAOS and related ProgTams came Lo
light in the mid-1970s, Helms professed not to understand the furor—
“'siraining at gnats,” he termed it, On more than one occasion he expressed
the conviction that, once tempers cooled, dispassionate examingtion of ex.
acily what happened would disclose that the whole affair was nod “all that
much of a much, particularly the issue about the files [on] Americans
[held] in the Agency. There was never the slightest intention on anybody's
part to et up duplicate files with the FBI or to persecute Americans or 1o

Yibid. p. 134,
Tlitd,, p 178,
“Sev Helms interview, 22 June 1983, Tar Smiths recollectian,
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do anything with Americans.” Dunng the cowrse of MHCHAOS, he
exploins, SO0 maintained a heavy paper flow with the FBIL “Obwviously,
we had to keep track of these papers, we had to file these papers, and over
time we built up a tremendous file, But it was w0t with any malign intent, |
doa't know of anybody who was really damaged in the process,” Helms,
indeed, gocs much further than this. The whole MHCHADS business has
been badly overblown, he protesis:

Adl this nonzense aboul the Agency’s rale in disterting Armerican democracy,
[ think it's just the bipgest pile of crap imaginable, and T think histery will
show this wo be the case. In otler words, when people come up with all this
junk abowt the senior officials in the Agency, and Apgency operatives nnd
Aqency analysts having malign purposes amd intenr, 10 just doesa®t show up
on the record, and | think that histery oupght to show thet shis was the case.
There may be a lot of dirty tricks in futere times, bul thene haven't been diny
wricks o Adbericans iy the past. snd they e damned lucky they had the kind
of people they did running their organization so that they didn't,”

[n Helms™s defense it is worth noting {as the Church comminee did)
that the concept of “internal security™ in the years since 195 had almost
always had a foreign dimension.” The McCarthyism of the 1950s, for in-
stance, reflected a concern with externally directed subversion of the
American Government, for the benefic of the country®s foreign enemics.
The concern in the late 19905 and carly 197(0s about a complately domestic
internal security threat, from groops wholly independent of foreign
influence, was a new wrinkle., Moreover, Helms apparenily distinguished in
his own mind between domestic penetration of dissident groups by CLA
agents and contact with these groups incidental to the overall objective of
gaining access overseas o information on foreign contacts-—that is, a dis-
tinction between deliberately acquiring intelligence concerning domestic
activities and incidental acquisition of information while in pursoit of other
ohjectives. The distinction, it turned out, was & fine one, easily crossed,

In fact, Helms received several warmings that even within his own
Apency this murky distinction caused deep concern. On more than one
occasion he reassured wonried subordinates of the propriety of 500G opem-
tions. In 1970, in response to concern expressed by midlevel officers
comprising 3 ClA management advisory group. the DCT assured them that
the program had been properly authorized. In early December 1972,
MHCHAOS received a critical review by the Executive Director—
Comptroller, which brought forsh anodher defenze of the program from the

“Helms interview, 22 Janc 1983,

fipg Congress, Senate Select Commeies o Stedy Governmental Operations Witk Respect 1o
Infclligence Activities (Charch commmitiesh, Fimal Beporl, Supplemenpary Ceiniled Sl
Heparrs o furadlipeace Acrivities ead e Righis of Ameriomes, Qdih Cong,, 24 sess., Book [T
Aprdl 19760 (hencafier citsd 23 Chorch comaniciee, Book 100, pp GE6-G3T,
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Drirector's office. “As ume went on,” he has related, *| recognized that in-
side the Agency, particularly among the young, there were some who felj
that this was an inappropriate activity for the Agency.” But the DOCT was
net to be lurned back. “Nevertheless, it did not seem 1o me proper that 1
should give up this activity simply becauss some Young men dido't like it
I mean, there are often generation gaps, and there are often differences in
peroeplion.™ As for the criticism that he “was noi morally tuned to the
younger gencration or something, I heard all the arguments and 1 sgill
thought that it was desirable that we contine on with this endeavor." "

One is lefi with the conclusion that, while Helms almost certainty
redlized that MHCHAOQS was leading CIA 1o the very edge of, or—as his
warning to Kissinger demonsirates—beyond the limits of jrs mandated
authorities, he found it difficalt or impolitic to buck the inststent White
House interest in the subject. This may ¢xplain why he never consulted the
Agency's General Counsel about the propreety of CIA engaging in this sort
of program. Assuming the operations conld be kept seceet (a sine qua non
far Helms), discreet disregard for the letter of the law musl have seemed a
feasible policy, While acknowledging the tremendous pressure that the
White House exerted on Helms, many later observers thought this an
unfortunate, even a dangerous position.

Yet the problem of how 1o cope with forceful Presidential directives
of questionable legality remains. It is easy for one not subject 1o the com-
mamds of the President of the United Stares 1o judge that Richard Helms
should have evaded, deflected, or flat refused those commands, Easy, yes:
bart also insensitive fo the sense of crisis pervading those times, to the in-
griined habits of obedience and duty characteristic of most professional
intelligence officers, and to the unchallenged authority of the President jn
those pre-Watergate days. To date no one has been able to reconcile these
elements satisfactorily. Members of the Rockefeller Commission, for
example, could do no better than to offer the self-evident observation thar
“the proper functioning of the Agency must depend in large part on the
character of the Director of Central Intelligence.™™ While no one would
quarrel with this formuolation, it fails o provide any readily useful guide-
lines for a Director faced with an insistent President. What constitutes
“improper pressure™? Where lics the line between necessiry flexibility and
unbending principle? By what authority should the DCL who is neither a
policymaker nor a judicial officer, presume (o challenge the judgment of
the President, the White House siaff, or the Attorney General? At what
point does accommodation slide off into surrender? These are not simple
questions, a3 Richard Helms discovered to his considerable grief. But the
difficulty in resolving them bad best not deter us from addressing them
hewd-on, if for no other reason than to save some future Director from
Richard Helms's quandary,

"Heims imerview, 22 June 12,
“Rackefeller Commission, p, 17.
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Chapter 2

Intelligence Production
Russell Jack Smith

When Richard Helms became ClA Director on 30 June 1966, he took
command of a mature, smoothly funcrioning organization for producing
finished intelligence, Most of this intelligence was disseminated to the
President and his foreign policy sdvisers in one of two witys: through fog-
mal National Intelligence Estimates (NIEs), or in varous publications of
the Directorate of Intelligence (T2, ranging from daily periodicals such as
the Prevident’s Daily Brief to long-range, in-depth studies of political, eca-
nomic, and strategic developments worldwide.

Then as now, these two farms of production were mot mutually exelu-
sive in either subject or scope. For example, in dealing with the numbsee-
one preoccupation of the period, the Vietnam war, Helms employed both
metheds to provide intelligence support for the planning and implementa-
tion of policy. NIEs, usually thought to be broad in SCOpe, on oocasion ad-
dressed short-range, contingent matters while the DI undertook the analysis
of long-range trends. Despite the overlapping nature of these modes of
production, it is perhaps helpful 1o discuss separately the wse Helms made
of each. This chapter will look first a1 the NIEs and (hen wm to the puksli-
calions of the T,

By Junc 1966, the Office of National Estimates (ONE) was in its
16th year and had become entrenched by personmel and procedures that ex-
tended back 1o the Eisenhower administration. The Office, under the
leadership of Sherman Kent, consisied of a hoard of senior officers—the

majority of whom had been officers in ONE since 1950-—and s staff of
ahuuﬁkmmlim.

followed a routinized procedure for producing NIEs. The staff
prepared a draft, based in part on comtributions from inielligence analysts
in the Departments of State and Defense, The board then reviewed,
amended, edited, and approved it and sent it out to be coordinated word for

word by other members of the inelligence community. The draft was foe-
warded 1o the Director for approval and finally presented to the Unied
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States Intelligence Board (USIB)—a panel of represcntatives from the vari-
pus intelligence agencies—for coordination, final approval, and distribu-
tion, The process normally ook weeks or months, but on special request or
during emergencies it could be reduced to days, even hours.

By the mid-1960s, subjects of the Estimates had becorne fixed by cus-
tom laid down during the Bisenhower administration, when NIEs were pre-
pared as annexes to policy papers [or consideration by thie Mational
Security Council. Some Estimates. particularly these dealing with the
USSR, were done annually, others, every two or three years, By 1966,
OMNE was producing approximately timutes each year, of which about
75 percent were programmed well vance and 25 percent were under-
taken o deal with emergent conditions or SpONi2RNCOUS requesLs,

Helms. whose career to this point had been devoted almost exclo-
sively to the Clandestine Services, had previously had only passing ac-
quaintance with national Estimates. Officials in ONE worried that his
attitude toward Estimates might resemble that of Allen Dulles, whe bad
also come to the directorship from a background devoted principally to
clandestine activities, and who gave Estimates a secondary place in his ar-
ray of priorities. But from the ouiser Helms exhibted an active interest if
the quality and timeliness of national Estimates. On his second OCcasion as
chairman of the USIE, he complimented the Board of Mational Estimates
on the fimeliness of NIE 14.3-66, North Vietnamese Military Potential for
Fighting in South Vietnam, noting that this subject was of moximum in-
terest (o policymakers at the moment.” At a subseguent meeting he
remarked on how well the ONE's Panama Estimaie had held up during a
policy discussion al the White House,

It is worth underlining that Helms primarily valued Estimates for
{heir timeliness. ONE’s programmed production and long leadtimes did nod
plways make Estimates emerge at the moment they were urgently needed.
Helms constantly struggled to minimize this problem. On one occasion,
having informed USIE that & paper then under way on Jordan was needed
o urgently that (ime would not permit normal coordination procedures, he
asked that diverpent views be forwarded directly o ONE.” On another oc-
casion he prodded Kent on a delay in finishing NIE 11-8-67, Sovier
Advanced Weapons Systems, since Secretary of Defense Robert Mc Mamara
had requested early delivery of the paper.’ Helms later broadened his con-
cern to include all estimates pertaining to Sovier military capabilities,
siressing that the subject was of great and growing importance o the
United States Government and that the Bstimates comprised one of the
principal tasks facing USIB in 1968, He then urged the Board to make
every effort to meet the new schedule requested by McMNamara, which had

'USIE Minutes, 7 July 1546
'USIE Minstes, |7 Movepsber P
Socning Mecting Minuees, |3 Oeiober 1967,
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moved completion dates forward by a month.’ But such exhortations
proved only marginally effective, The relative sturgishness and inflexibil-
ity of the national Estimales production process caused Helms in his years
as DCT bo turn increasingly often o other modes of procucticn and com-
mvanication.,

In 1966 the Agency produced estimates by a process that had been in
use since the Korean war. Broad agreement among executive branch agen-
cees made it casy to oblain separate departmental approvals (& process
cilled “coordination™) for an estimate that served as a basis for later CONar-
dinated policy documents. During his tenure as DCI, Helms wilnessed the
disintegrtion of the foreign policy consensus on which the old estimative
process relied. Interdepartmental disputes began in 1967 over the girengrth
of enemy troops in Vietnam and later spread (o issues relating to Cambodia
and the effectiveness of US bombing. By the onset of the Nixon adrinizs
tration, the CIA found its reports challenged by the departments of Defense
and State and the White House. Struggling to maintain the Agency's credi-
bility amid growing criticism, Helms employed all his bureascratic skills—
compromising occasionally, retreating when necessary—to maintain a
steady stream of intelligence to the President,

The Vietnam Estimate

The Vicinam war destroyed the postwar consensus behind the con-
tainment policy, and it was in sttempting to coordinate an estimale on
Vietnam that Helms first encountered stiff opposition (0 an Agency esli-
mate, The controversy began in 1967 over SNIE 14.3-67, Capabilities of
the Vietnamese Commmunists for Fighting in South Vietmarn, Meardy two de-
cades after the preparation of this estimate, the details of the procedure
ware shill being debated in @ hiphly publicized lawsoir brought by Gen.
William C. Westmoreland against the Columbia Broadeasting System .’

In the preparation of this estimate trouble srose over cnemy strength
figrures between Washingion-based analysts {particularly those in CIA) and
Saigon-based analysts at the US Military Assistance Command, Vietnam
(MACV). The sources of difficulty were many and complex, ranging from
differing interpretations of equivecal evidence, 1o varying definitions of
enemy erganizational structure and order-of-battle categories, to differing
concepts of the essential nature of the war itself, In combination these fac.
tors made analysts in both Washington and Saigon swbbomnly unwilling to
accept the order-of-battle numbers of the other party.

"LISIE Misnuies, 4 lanwary 1964
In this case, Wimareland slleged that CBS and others Wheled him in o 23 Janwary 1982
tebreast enlitled *"The Uskounted Enemiy; A Viemam Deceplion.”
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ENIE 14,367, Capabilities of the Vielnamess Communists for Fighting b
South Vietnam

This problem was not new, nor is il surprising in retrospect that
Vieinam arcused bureauceatic feuds. The war furmished the first occasion in
American military history where a civilian, Washington-based intelligence
organization had taken direct issue with an American army fighting in the
field over the size and composition of the enemy forces that that army .
faced. By readition, assessing the enemy's order of bartle had always been a
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strictly military responsibility. Two developments served to change this
practice: first, the peculiar nature of the limited war in Vietnam, whers
Washingion maintained tght political control: and second, CIA's growing
expertise in order-of-battle analysis. Moreover, the political nature of the
war in Vietnam, where the enemy's main force units were supplemented by
trregular forces al varying levels of strength and commitment, required de-
cisions about force allocations that were difficult to accommeodate to con-
ventional order-of-battle tables, and which military officers were often
reluctant to accept. Another clement in this mix was Secretary of Defense
Robert McMamara's penchant for numerical indicators of Priogress, an ap-
proach thit placed pressure on the Command in Saigon o produce numbers
that reflected victories commensurate with the effort expended.

D1 analysts, whose work ONE relied upon in producing mational esti-
mates, had wrestled with military analysts both in Washington and oversaas
for months before the preparation of SNIE 14.3-67. Helms had been e
aware: of the controversy early in his incumbency. Barely 1w weeks afier be-
coming DCT he ordered CTA components to review and improve thedr proce-
dures for maintaining statistics on Vietnam.* Six months Later he urged the
CIA leadership to exercise care in producing figures on Vietnam and siressed
the imporiance of having the Agency speak with one voice.” But the cof-
roversy continued to defy resolution, and in June 1967, Helms direcied the DI
to sort ol and rationalize CLA-DIA differences on the number of defections
and recruits in Vietnam, one of e several sources of disagreement.®

By July 1967, however, the disagreement between the contenders wis
full-blown and seemingly ireconcilable, It centered, Kent informed Helms,
around the number of non-main-force units in Vielnam {thar is, guerrillas,
peeple’s militia, part-time combatants). The military's estimate was
roughty hall as large as the CLA figure.” ClA based its estimates of mon-
main force strength largely on the analytic work of Samuel Adams, who
sifted figures from a large volume of low-grade source material such as in-
terrogations of prisoners of war,'

[n carly July 1967, Helms ordered SNIE 14.3-67, scheduled that week
for USIB consideration, withdrawn and remanded for further work." The
controversy raged back and forth between Saigon and Washington without

“Morning Meeting Minuses, 13 July 1968,

darning Mesting Menutes, 12 Tanuary [967.

"Morning Mestisg Minutss, 13 June 1967,

"Marning Meeting Minutes, 5 Augast 1967,

“Many thought that Adams’s peal, sdmirable in pursuit of accumite pembers for ibeag e
ple's milidn,” laler became obsessive when he soaght b mie his research 1o relule the eniine
ceder of battle that the military had peoduced For North Victnamess upie. Siill later, after the
endire CIA chain of command had provided Adams with 5 number of npporianitaes for
presenting his case, he wok his cause w che pubfic medis and charged Helims and atkees with
dolibirate mallensance. Adams was the principal consultant for the CRS program, ““The
Uncounsed Encmy,” which was larpely bassd om his allegatioas and a key witness Far CR% i
thels defense ageinsl Westmoreland's libel suit.

"Marning Mezting Minuies, 6 July 1967,
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resolution for the rest of July and nearly all of August. A draft SKIE
14,367 emerged again for USIB consideration with the wide-open split
promincatly displayed. He felt that a split of this dimension over the size
of the enemy lorces, especially ene on which the complexities of the
problem and the uncertaintics of the evidence made it impossible for either
side to prove the other wrong, was simply not wiiful, Helms withdrew the
deaft from the USIB agenda once again and ordered work on the estimate
suspended while a Washington team of analysts went 1o Saigon to make
one more attempt o establish agreement with MACY. To lead the team of
DI and DIA analysts to Saigon, he selected George Carver, his Special
Assistant for Vietnam Affairs.

The ensuing discussions in Saigon became, in Carver's words,
“pretty warm and preity bloody.™ Much of the disagreerent derived from
differing concepts about the military organization of Vietnamese forces, As
Carver later explained, a basic conceptual problem ran throughout the
whole exercise. “The Morth Vietnamese simply do not wire together their
siructure” the way we do “and they used completely different organiza-
tional concepts.” Some of the difficulty involved nomenclature, “For ex-
ample, a guerrilla to us meant any little guy in black pajamas; a guerrilis o
them meant somebody in a military onil that was subordinate to & district
or a village commitiee, as opposed to somebody who was subordinale o2
provincial or regional committee that we classed as being main force.™ The
inconclusive—'"“spongy" is Carver's word-—nature of much of the evi-
dence, particularly that based on prisoner interrogations, only compounded
thege differences in view."

Beset with these difficulties, progress toward agrecment on a et of
Vietnamese order-of-battle figures was slow, There wasn't much disagree-
ment on the numbers for main force units, but agreement on the number of
irregulars responsive to Vietnamese military discipline remained elusive;
the Washington-based team's figure was approximately douoble that of the
Saigon analysis. Af this point, Carver cabled Helms that & series of “long
and Woody sessions” had produced no resolution and that the outlook fior
agreement waus bleak, He suggested a private session with Westmoreland,
commander of MACY, where he might be able to work out & compromise
formulation, substituting words and approximations for precise figures
where agreement could not otherwise be obtained. Helms instructed Carver
to proceed according to his own best judgment.

When he met privately with Westmoreland, Carver proposed that the
estimate should present the enemy order of battle in three parts. First. those
clements of the organized oppesition for which the evidence was sufficiently
hard o make guantification meaningful would be given a single figure.

“Qeorge Carver, inerview by B 1. Smith, Washington, DC, 13 May 1982 (herzafier ciled
as Carver isdervicw, 17 hay 1982
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Second, those components Ffor which some hard evidence exisied, bar mot
enough 1o come up with a single fipure, would be ranged-—il being under-
stood that “between 20 and 40 thousand™ did not mean 30 thousand,™ bt
rather that the uncertainty ran from 20,001 o 39,999, Finally, those CONPO-
nents for which a lack of hard evidence made any figure meaningless would
be described by words rather than mumbers. Westmoreland bought this
proposal, and it became the basis for the Victnamese order of barile in SNIE
14. 3-67. Agreement had finally been obtained.

Carver's compromise, however, resulted in an odd document. CIA
figures, showing a total esemy structure approaching half a million men,
were spelled out in the text of the estimate. Bul the tables accompanying
the text listed only the agreed figures on the encmy’s main force wnits, In
addition, the estimate’s summary mentioned a total enemy strength of only
188,000 1o 208,000, less than half the figure described in the discussion
part of the estimate. Because most policymakers were not likely to read be-
yond the NIE's summary, Carver’s compromise effectively buried CIA
figures.

Critics of Helms's leadership of CTA have seized upon this episode as
evidence of his unwillingness to stand fast on Agency judgments and of a
readiness o trim in response o owside political pressure. It is a serious
charge deserving of close examination.

The dispute between CTA and the Szigon Command over Vietnamese
strength figures had been so protracted that a large part-—il sometimes seepm-
ed like all—of official Washington was aware of it Congressional leaders
told the CTA Legislative Counsel of their concern over the “numbers
problems.”"" Johnson, impatient with the disagreement, asked Carver,
“Can’t you people get together? You're all dealing with the same pool of
evidence, aren't you?"" The dispute was not an idle bureaucratic rumnpus.
The opposed estimates supported dramatically different policy prescrip-
tions: Westmoreland's figures indicated progress had been made and more
still could be achieved; CIA figures indicated that the Vieq Cong's access to
a large and growing manpower pool had been virtually unaffected by es-
calating US attacks. Disagreement between the Agency and DOD over the
estimate could split the administration and provoke a policy crisiz, Helms
felt the strongest obligation to arrive at an agreed figure the White House
and the Secretary of Defense could use for fighting the war.

Notwithstanding Johnson's impatience, Helms received no specific
pressure from any source to conform to the views of Westmoreland and the
Saigon Command. Johnson, McNamara, Presidential assistant Walt
Rostow, and many others were aware of the controversy, Helms explaing,
but “thiz was nol something that was normally discussed ar policy meat-
ings. . . . Johnson, and McNamara pamicularly, had confidence in what we

“Moming Mesting Minstes, 24 August 1967
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were Irving 1o do. They saw that everybody was stougeling with this as best
they could.”' For both parties the central objective was 1o reach agreement
and not to force the other party to knuckle under. But they were dealing
with an issue too complex for most ponexperts to undersiand where diver-
gent views, based on fragmentary evidence, had equally valid claims to
respectability.

Monetheless, Helms and his subordinates recognized the value of un-
animity regarding the size of the military forces confronting the United
States and felt the pressures to reach 3 consensus, As SNIE 14.3-67 was
being readied for final USIB consideration, Kent reporied at the Director’s
morning meeting that dissenting footnotes on the paper were ready for ap-
praval, Helms replied that every effort should be made to avoid dissent if
this paper.”

The need for consensus brought Carver, with Helms's endorsement,
to propose the compromise that Wesimoreland accepted. Nearly 20 years
later, the decision remains controversial. Clearly, however, it would have
been simplistic and intellectually dishonest to insist that the higher CLA
figure for irregular forces was carved in granite, based as it was on Spongy
evidence and a complex methodology. Carver denies that Helms trimumed
his judgment or instructed his representative to yield. "1 never knew him 1o
trim on a judgment, and certainly never on anything | was dealing with did
he ever direct me w trim.""

Events later demonstrated the superiority of the ligures developed by
Langley analysts. In all likelihood, however, historians will never agree on
a single jodgment concerning the way in which the CIA-MACV dispute
was resolved. An Agency-sponsorcd stody, published in 1984, has perhaps
come as close 85 any to summarizing this complex issue. Johnson, it notes,
brought great pressure to bear on all the principal players o document
progress in the war effor. 'What Bruce Palmer has called *a certam amount
of self-deception on the part of the White House, as well as MACY, and
the US Embassy in Saigon, to emphasize good news and discouns bad™
may have rendered Helms's job in this instance nearly impossible. This
study then concludes that no evidence exists 1o support the allegation that
the strength estimates were deliberately manipulated for political purposes.
“Mevertheless, a suspicion of slanting the evidence persists today, and it is
doubtful whether this perception will ever completely disappear.”"’

Partly because of the prolonged controversy, but also becanse of the
explosive message of a North Vietnamese “organized opposition™ in the
haif-million range, Helms regarded SNIE 14.3-67 as a highly sensitive

“Rtichprd Helms, imendew by B 1. Smlif, 3 June 9982 (hercafier cied as Helms mierview,
3 Juow 19HZ]

"Morming Mecting Minsies, T Mavember 1967

“Carver inlerview, B May 15941

"Gen, Besce Palmer, Jr., “US Iatelbgence and Vistnam,™ Sndies in fredligence: 25 (Special
liczue, 1934) 5052,
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document. On its completion in Movember 1967, he Fmited distribution of
the Estimate to the President, Secretary of State, Secretary of Defense,
Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, and cach member of USIE,

The publication of SNIE 14.3-67 marked the end of a batile bur not
the end of the war between CIA and the American military over North
Viemnamese strength fgures. The need for full agreement between Saigon
and Washington persisted, and Helms ook a forceful role in the effon o
achieve such an agreement. Active negotiations 1o find a consensus Wmiang
Washington-based analysts in CIA and DIA resumed in March [968. with
the intent of bringing MACY into the discussions at a later date.
Thronghout these procesdings CIA maintained its position that in the
quasi-political war in Vietham it was essential o recognize the nced for
enemy strength estimates (the “organized opposition,” Carver dubbed it}
ai opposed o classic order-of-battle numbers. MACY continued 1o oppose
the higher numbers of irregular units which CIA, with partial DIA concur-
rence, supported. Only after a change of administration and numerous
sharp exchanges was consensus achieved, In July 1970, Helms ingtructed
his Deputy Director for Intelligence (DDD, B, 1. Smith, to send a
memorandum containing the agreed numbers to Special Assistant Henry
Kissinger, with a copy flagged for President Ninon,"

The debate that began over the size of Vietnamese forces soon e
inte differences over the effectiveness of the United States’ war effo.
When Helms became Director, an intelligence memorandum was being pre-
pared on the state of morale in North Vietnam in response 1o 3 request from
McNamara, Entitled “The Will To Persist.” it was a lengthy analysis of the
clements contributing to the enemy’s high morale. Although two DI
offices, the Office of Current Intelligence (OCI and the Office of
Economic Research (OER), handled the bulk of the analysis and writing,
there was Agency-wide involvement, with the office of the Special
Assistant for Vietham Affairs acting as coordinator. The memorandum had
arigimally been scheduled for completion in Late August, but characteristi-
cally Helms urged a swifter response to the McNamara request.”

“The Will To Persist™ came to the pessimistic conclusion that US ef-
forts in Vietnam as comrently planned were not hkely to deter the North
Vietnamese nor slacken their effort in the foreseeable future. Despite this
unwelcome message, Johnson commended the memorandum as a8 “Ffirsi-
rate job™ and requested Helms to brief three key Senators—Munsficld,
Fulbright, and Russell—on its contents.™ Helms later reported that he car-
ried out these ingtructions but concluded that the stuwdy failed to alter any
senatorial positions on the war: Fulbright vociferously maintained the

“Moming Meeting Mimutes, & July 1979,
"Moming Mecting Minwies, T Fuly 1968,
"storning Mecting Minaies, 31 Augasl 19466
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struggle was a civil war, Mansfield was noncommittal but thought the
study “thorough and objective,” and Russell said he shared the memoran-
dum's conclusions.”

In this same period McMNamara requested ClA 10 undertake an analy-
sis of the effectiveness of ROLLING THUNDER, the US bombing pro-
pram over Morth Vietnam. Although first-class competence for such work
existed in OER, this was a remarkable request for a Secretary of Defense (o
make of a civilian Agency, and DDI Smith felt obliged to ask McNamara
whether he wished the study coordinated with the Pentagon. “Mo,” said
MeMamara, 1 already know what the Adr Force belisves. 1 want to know
what your smart guys fhink.™

Like its predecessor study on North Vietnamese mogale, the ROLL-
ING THUNDER memorandum arrived at a conclusion quite pessimistic
from the Pentagon's point of view: ClA logistics analysis demonstrated
that BOLLING THUNDER was not achieving its ohjective of significantly
slowing the flow of men and materiel into South Vienam. Even though he
realized that such a {inding would please neither lobnson nor McMamara,
both of whom were enthusiastic about prospects for an American victory,
Helms termed the paper a “first-class job™ and forwarded it to the White
House and the Pentagon, He took care, however, to protect the security of
the study by delivering the copies personally and restricting [urther distri-
bution, McMamara was sofficiently impressed with the quality of the aoaly-
sis to request that the ROLLING THUNDER assessment be repeatad
hereafter on a quarterly basis, The successor studies continued, with
Helms's backing, to declare unflinchingly that ROLLING THUNDER was
failing in its objective, ultimately judging that the North Viemnamese had
managed in the teeth of the bombing program to improve their ability to
move materiel south by five times, McNamara continued (o respect the
CIA work: later Helms reported 00 his deputies that the Secretary had
thanked him for the “magnificent support™ CIA had been giving him.”

In September 1967, Helms's analysis produced yet another controver-
sial paper on the war in Indochina—this time a highly sensitive. tightly
held memorandum written by John W, Huizenga, the chairman of the
Board of National Estimates, apd titled **Implicasions of an Unfavorable
Outcome in Viemam.” This stedy spelled out the view dominant among
CIA analysts and estimutors that a US-South Vietnamese defeat did not
necessarily mean a collapse of the rest of non-Communist Southeast Asia.
In taking this position, Huizenga was beldly challenging the so-called
doming theory.™
OO Chronologicsl File, 20 Augus 196,

“maming Mecling Misutes, 12 Decembar 1967,
Rl Chrocalegival File. 12 Sepiember |947.
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Unfortunately, one paper never reached the President—because it Was
never writien. Early in 1968 the North Vietnamese laonched the Tet offen-
sive, a daring all-out effort by the Communists to inflict terminal damage
on the South Vielnamese regime. In the eves of many observers, initial
enemy successes, coupled with the offensive’s scope and surprise, made
administration assurances aboul American progress in ¥ietnam ludicrous;
victory seemed further away than ever. To CIA analysts and operational
officers, on the other hand, the Tet offensive looked instead like o desperate
and cosily thrust that failed in its objective and did enormous violence to
Communist cadre and neiworks by cxposing them to US and Souwth
Vieinamese counteraliack.

Whatever the long-term meaning of the banle, the facts remain that
the Tet offensive caunght the C1A by surprise. DI analysts in Saigon in the
months before the offensive worried that something big was building, but
their warnings to Washington were not sharply enough focused 1o convince
the Special Assistant for Vietnam Affairs (SAVA) or the DDI. And no one
envisioned the impressive countrywide coordination of the enemy assaulls,
or the intensity of the attacks, or the fact that the Communists would target
urban areas for their primary effort. Once the extent of the offensive becane
apparent, Helms directed his subordinates (o collect and record all facets of
the Agency's performance during the offensive for forwarding (o the White
House. He also instracted the DI (o provide a detaited scoount of what had
been reported or Forecast before the offensive, and he ordered the
Directorate of Plans to intensify effons tw recruit knowledge-able Viet Cong
and Mosth Vietnamese sources,™

Differences berween the CIA and executive branch agencies intensi-
fied during the Nixon administration. The sharpest disagreements arose
over Cambodia. [n July 1969 the White House called for improved inielli-
gence collection on Vietnam and Cambodia,™ Helms pushed for intensified
efforts to shore up the “flimsiness™ of the Agency's intelligence on these
two countries and orged his DD 1o be discriminating in forecasting the sit-
uation in Cambodia,™ But White House dissatisfaction with the quality of
Agency reporting and analysis persisted. This discontent came to a head
over the issue of North Vietnamese use of the Cambodian port of
Sihanoukville for moving war materiel into South Viemam, Onee o
ClA and MACY went head to head. The same anulysts in OER who had
done the distinguished logistics analysis for the ROLLING THUNDER
bombing program, which had so impressed McNamara, were working the
Sihanoukville problem. Unfortunately, the intctligence reports they had 1o
work with were of poor quality, full of hearsay from third- or fourth-hand

“Morming Meeting Mimates. 11 Augost 1968,
“Morming Meeting Minuies, 10 Seplember 1960
“Moming Meeting Minutes, 12 May 0,
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sources, Exploiting this shoddy material to the maximem, and guided o a
degree by the judgment that the flow down the Ho Chi Minh Trail was in
itself almost sizable enough to pccount for enemy materiel in South
Victnam, the D analysts acrived at a figune for tonnage funneled through
Sihanoukville that was approximately half MACY s estimate.

Helms was aware of this controversy, which had begun during the
last year of the Johnson administration and had urged repeatedly that ef-
foris e made o resobve it Both Carver and DT Smith had been instructed
during visits to Saigon 10 make special efforts to find common groand with
MACY o the issue. Both officers discovered that the intelligence matenals
MACY analysts wsed were exacily the same 15 those available in
Washingion, They also found that the military analysts were modest o ihe
peint of being tentative about the figure they had finally produced, a
modesty st reflected by the Saigon Command itself. Resting its confi-
dence on the high guality of the Agency’s logistics analysis i the past, and
recognizing the penchant of the military for arriving af *worst case™ Judg-
ments, the CLA leadership determined that the OER figure was the best thar
could e established feorm swch inferior materiols,

By this fime the disagreement berween CIA and the militury had be-
come 4 full-blown affair, in some respects paradleling both the CLA-MACY
dispute over North Vietamese order of hattde and the ClA-Pentagon fight
over the 85-9 and a Soviet first-strike capability. The parallel extended even
to the intervention of Secrctary of Delense Melvio Laird, In May 1970 the
DDI brought to the DCI's atention Congressional testimony by Laird and
JICE Chairman Wheeler that ran flatky contrary @ 3 recent CIA-DIA agree-
ment on the data base For estimating the importance of Sthanoukville,

ITh-r:.fn: records revealed that tonnage flowing into
Sihapoukvilic and thence inte the battlefield in South Vietnom was much
higher than the CIA analysts had estimated. Worse yet, they at least
equaled the levels MACY analysis had predicted.

DOI Smith reported to Helms in late July 19700

[his “excellent CTA reporting,” Smith noted, brought into
question ali previons tonnage figures, which had been based primarily on
I:F:r]w:d shipping data.™ OER immediately set to work revising its

f"'l.'h.: term “Clandestize Services™ refernsd to the Directocale of Plans,
“Moouing Meeting Minudes, I3 Juby 1970
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sthanoukville shipment figures. incorporating the new repors mke the
imalysis, Helms then delivered the new study, containing a (zure some-
what higher than even the original MACY estimate, o Kissinger, topether
with un explanation of the analyric methodology applied to the new dara,™

[t was an acutely embarrassing moment for DI amalysts—and even
more 5o for the DCIL The entire episode served only to reinforce the neg-
live impression of the quality of CIA analysis held by members of the
Nixon administration, To Mixon, Laird, and Kissinger it seemed CIA had
waken a negative, antiwar line in its opposition o MACY's order-of-battle
figures, in Wis pessimistic assessment of the ROLLING THUNDER bomb-
ing program, and now in its tardiness in recogrizing the impartance of
Sthanoukville. The tendentivusness of these judgments seemed ohvious
men prone W regard any officer or institution outside the White House
coderie a5 partisan and antiadministration. But on Sihanoukville the Agency
Wik wrong, so wrong indeed as w be forced o admii the mistake apenly. In
the atmosphere of the early 19705 this demonstration of the tallibility of
Cla analysis became an indictment of CLA integrity

Throughout this episode. Helms retained his confidence in the
honesty, objectivity, and demonsirated compelence of his analysts. Mo
reprimands were issued for poor performance beeause Helms recognzed
that the original judgment had been the best that could honestly be made

“Muenlng Mawting Minuies, 9 Seprember |97,
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with the materials then available, The integrity of OER’s officers was am-
ply demonstrated by their complete about-face when solid evidence come
to hand. Helms himsell absorbed the harsh judgments and cynical com-
ments that this affair provoked. Rather than ransmitting these o his subor-
dinates, be assured them that he understood how homest mistakes could be
made in the imperfect world of intelligence analysis. He speaks of the epi-
sode philosophically:

Obwiously T was ot pheased about Sihanoukville. . . . Bul you've got o Lake
the good with the bad. Anybody who goes into she intelligence business, 1
think, goes into it with a recognition that God did mot give prescience w0 hu-
man beings. . .. Intelligence officers haven't been cndowed with prescicnee.
... And therefore yoa've got fo assume that you'ne going 10 make 2 kot of
had calls, particularly if you have any cournge and really reach out there. 50
you've got 10 he prepared for the calls and prepared 1o Lake them and get on
and try 1o do it bemer next time.™

Nonctheless, the damage was lasting. As Carver comments, Helms
“was valnerahle because in any future major controversy where he really
held the ling, he would have been vulnerable to: “Yes, but that's what you
said about Sihanoukville™"" While this was certainly true, Helms himself
never took this line with the DI analysts who hed made the mistake and
who continued o take independent and often unpopular pesitions on criti-
cal intelligence judgments.

Victnam placed new demands on the Agency, and Helms frequently
found himself at the center of Cabinet disputes over the war’s purpose and
stratcgy. Throughout, he tried 10 maintain the Apency’s role as o credible
and important contributor to the policy process, defending ClA estimates
while conceding their Fallibility. His difficulties multiplicd during the
Nixon years, as the President grew increasingly intolerant of dissent within
the cxocwtive,

Difficalties With Nixon

Despite his preoccupation with Vietnam, Helms continued (0 invelve
himself with a steady stream of national estimales on other sensitive mat-
ters. In April 1967 he emphasized 1o USIB members that US base nghts
overseas were currently of great interest to the administration.” In October
I applauded the timely completion of NIE 11-8-67, Sovier Capabilities for
Strategic Auack, characierizing it “a very good paper and irmporiant
document. "™ That same month he referred to NIE 31-67, India’s Domestic

“Helrme imervies, 3 Jung 1952
M areer Enteryveew, 20 .'p.'la:,' 198Z,
UISIR Minwtes, 13 April 1967,
PSR Minuies, 3 Ocoher 1947
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Prospects, as highly useful for the PL-480 (Food for Peace) discussions
then in progress and ordered prompt distribution to the Secretary of
Agricullure and other interested officials.™ Other examples of the atlention
he gave o estimates can be found in conyments he made regarding MIE
BOMR0-68, Porenrial for Revolution in Latin America, which he commended
for its clear, lively language and the wide range of its consensus on a sob-
ject 50 broad;™ and in his remarks on NIE 13-9-68, Short- Term Outlook in
Communist China, which he praised as a good o on & difficult problem, ™

Yet, the three officers who served successively as charrman of the
Board of National Estimates under Helms -Kent, Abbot Smith, znd
Huizenga—all shared the perception that Helms's interest and involvement
in national estimates were not wholehearted, Kent has noted that *Dick
wasn'l very interested in some of the things we were required (o do™ citing
estimates on Africa and Latin America.” Smith agrees, I was quite sire
he was more interested in the DDP [clandestine| business, " Huizenga
puts it this way: “He was not, of course, decply engaged subsiantively, He
was focusing almest entirely on certain subjects that he thought of as polit-
ically sensitive.” He adds that Helms “conducted himself in a2 fair and
responsible manner with people responsible for estingtes. ™

‘These comments reflect. at least in part, different views ahout the ae-
dience the national estimaies were desipned o reach and the role they were
expecied to play. Helms judged estimates by their responsivencss to current
concemns of top-level officials, The Board of National Estimates centered
the bulk of its work on preprogrammed estimates, scheduled against antici-
pated policy activities within the Departments of Siate and Defense. With
their long preparation times, estimates often dealt with issues of secondary
concem to policymakers. Even when dealing with an urgent issug, they
sometimes failed 1o consider aspects of the problem that emerged as situa-
tions developed. Among the 60-0dd estimates prodluced each vear, there
would be a number that were of only perfunclory interest 1o the top eche-
lons of the government.

In pan, the difference in amtitude over the role of estimates between
the several chairmen of the Board of Mational Estimares and the DCI
amounted to no more than a differing judgment as 0 how the estimates
coubd be useful and effective. The Board felt that its papers could play a
satisfactory role in the suppert of US policy ar several levels of the

“USIE Minutes, 12 Oclober 1967,

PUSIE Minwes, 28 March [965,

“USIB Minwes, 23 Moy |968,
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process, beginning wilth the individual burcaus in the Depariment of State.
Helms was content that support at this level should continue, but strongly
believed thal the most important job that national estimates could do was
1o illuminate problems in a tGmely fazhion for people making key deci-
stons, Here, he Felt, was where maximum impagt cpuld be achieved, and
greatest service performed, “It's casy for intelligence people to forget that
they“re really a service organization, that they ' re really there to assist in the
policy muaking process through other people,” he has remarked:

[F wied] to give the President, the Vice President, the Cabasel the iompeession
bt the Apency was there 1o be useful, 1o be of service, to be helpful. [ did
my dampedest, a8 a result of demands placed on the Agency . . . 10 se {0 ol
they wese carmed owl and that the Apency put its best fool foraiard anl the
papers produced in a timely fashion . . . this is what we were in business for
arsd we were going 1o do this o5 besl we could,”

From the beginning of his tenure Helms established & parteso of alert-
ing semior officers at his daily morning meeting of the issues on the minds
of the President and the members of the NSC. The minutes of these meet-
ings are punctuated with requests by Helms for the DI, ONE, or the
Dvircctorate of Science and Technology (DS&T) to prepare studies 10 meet
urgent needs. Om one occasion he advised the chairman of the Board of
Wational Estimartes that the White House felt keen concemn over Soviet in-
fentions regarding disarmament and directed ONE 10 produce a paper on
the suhject.” On another he urged the CLA keadership 10 focus on the likely
situation in Southeast Asia after the war was concluded, saying this was a
timely subject that would receive “intense serutiny™ from present and suc-
ceeding administrations,” These bird-dogging efforts by Helms o discover
the current and emergent concerns of the key people grew in number and
peaked during the final 18 months of the Johnson administration, when
Helms achicved unprecedented access to the White House inner circle and
became a regular guest at the prestigious Twesday luncheons. During the
Mixon administration thiz trend declined steadily—despite Helms's best
ciforts—as Kissinger placed more constrainis o intelligence support and
the White House sought to subject CLA and inielligence production (o in-
creasing political pressure,

The respect for national estimates among policymakers in the White
House and NSC declined rapidly during the Mizon administration. Under
Eisenhower, Kennedy, and Johnson, MIEs occupied a secure place in the na-
tional security policy making process. They were valued for their role in es-
tablishing consensus within the intelligence community on stirategic issues,
for their shjectivity, Tor their freedom from deparimental and institutional

"Helms interview, 3 June L9621
“Marnirgg Mesing Minuies, 1 July 1968
“marning Meeting Minutes, 4 Movember 1968
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bias. They did not always succeed in carrying the day on a given strategic
judgment. They were sometimes, perhaps frequently, ignored, but they were
seldom, if ever, challenged as being partisan or tendentious. This changed
when Nixon, Kissinger, and Laird assumed their posts.

In part this change can be attributed to the disintegration of the Cold
Wrar consensus on foreign policy. The two pariies had atiempied 1o remove
politics from foreign affairs during much of the postwar period, making
diplomacy and strategy “nonpartisan™ issues. The proflonged and difficol
war i Vietnam created decp divisions within the United Stares
Covernment aboul the fundamental aims and purposes of foreign policy.
The war, and the containment policy that justified it, hecame objects of
divisive and acrimonious debate between Democrats and Republicans,
Congress and the Exccutive, and between Cabinet departments. In this at-
mosphere, the task of producing widely accepted, ohjective judgments be-
came more difficutt. Huizenga recalls thar afler the mid-1960s the tendency
1@ (reat intclligence politically increased markedly—particularly with
respect (0 issues like Southeast Asia and the prowth of Soviet strategic
forces, which were palitically divisive. “If we go back to an earlicr phase
of intelligence,” he explains, "“it was an casy job in the sense that there
was a broad consensus in the country about foreign policy and how to
think about the principal issues, the Russians and all that. Onece that broke
down, the job of doing independently conceived analysis became 3 hell of
a lat more difficult. The pressure on the DCI inevitably mounted.™

The politicization of intelligence analysis was a byproduct of this dis-
Iniegraling consensus. Since the Agency's inception in 1947, both the na-
tional leadership and successive DCIs had gone to great lengths w keep
intelligence information and judgments oot of the press and public discus-
sion. They recognized that without such protection from public and parti-
san scrutiny it woeuld be impossible for CIA 1o maintain its role as
ohjective observer and analyst of intemational developments. Mixon ad-
ministration officials ended this tradition. They wanted the Agency either
e bring them the kind of news they expecied—especially about Sovier
intentions—aor to maintain respectfitl silence.

We have already seen, in reviewing Helms's relations with the Nixon
White House, the difficulty that the Mational [nielligence Bstimales en-
countered with Nixon and Kissinger. Laird's attitude 1oward the MNIEs was
rather more selective. By and larpe, he was Jess critical of CLA analysis and
estimating. In his previous position as Congressman from Wisconsin, he
hed occupied for many years an important pesition on the House
Appropriations Subcommittes that had responsibility within the House of
Representatives for the budgets of CIA and the Department of Defense. In
that capacily he had befriended the Agency and lent valuable SUpROT on

"Heigsnpn interview, 10 Mlay |BE2.
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cpveral occasions. Bul his style then as well 25 later tended 1o be combative
and adversarial. He was highly partisan on policy matiers, and his public
attitude toward the Soviet military threat was, if anything, more virulent
even than Mixon's. It was from Lairds hand that Helms sustained a blow
that has done much to broise the DCT's reputation for firmness and in-
tegrity in defending CIA judgment and estimates.

This episode occurred in September 1969 in connection with an es-
timative paper on the Soviet ICBM designated the 53-9. CIA analyals indi-
cated that the new Soviet missile, then nearing deployment, hid powerful
capabilities, but they were uncertain exactly how powerful. An unanswered
question was whether the multiple warheads of the 55-0 were fitted with
individual guidance systems to direct them precisely to dispersed US mis-
sile silos. The Mixon administration was just then seeking public and
Congressional support to develop and deploy an antiballistic missile
defense system, the Safeguard ABM. To provide a rationale for the
multibillion-doliar ABM system, Laird and the Pentagon seized the Sovier
development of the $5-9, claiming that its triple warheads were individu-
ally targeted (Multiple Independently Targeted Re-eniry Vehicle, or RIRY ).
This weapon, military analysts declared, would enable the USSR to destroy
the bulk of the US Minuteman LCBM lorce in one strike and demonstrated
the Soviets' intention to develop a first-strike capability. The US ABM sys-
tem, they argued, was an essential antidote.

The ClA took the opposite view on the 35-9°s capabilities, Agency
analysts believed that data derived from 55-9 testing indicated that the new
ICBM had multiple re-entry vehicles (MRVs), not individually puided
MIRVs, Soviet rockets had less ability to hit dispersed targets simulta-
neously than the Peniagon claimed. Agency analysts also refuled the con-
tentions that the USSE sought to develop a first-strike capability. The
Board of National Estimates held to the position it hiad maintined for
several years that this was not a likely Soviet objective. The argument ¢en-
tered on three points: the underaking would impose prohibitive costs ob
the Soviel economy; militarily the task was so complicated and difficult as
to be almost impossible to achieve; and, finally, Soviet leaders would
recognize that the United Stares would maich their efforis step-by-step and
thwart their objoctive.

The final crunch between Helms and Laird come in Seprember 1969,
hut the buildup to this moment lad been several months in the making. In
March 1969, DD B J. Smith alerted the DCI thit Laird’s testimony biefore
the Senate Armed Services Committee atinibuted capabilities o the 55-9
that CLA information indicated it did not have,” Helms reviewed with his
senior licutenants the public debate then taking place regarding the Soviet

“Murming Mecting Minuses, 21 Marels PR
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strategic threat, especially the ClA position on the question, and ordered g
study of past NIEs o determine how those positions had been arrived ot
and how the CIA view on the 35-9 had been established.”

Pressure from the White Hoose and the Pentagon steadily mounted
throughout the spring and summer, [n June, Helms told his wp command
that Pentagen officials had accused CIA officers of undercutting Laird's
pro-ABM positon on the Georgetown cockiail circuit, Laied felr that these
rumaors, together with CIA's official analysis of the 55-9, were killing the
Safeguard ABM program. His deputies regarded the CIA as hidebound in
its views on Soviel strategic intentions. Helms directed his deputies to en-
sure that no ClA officer ook a public position, either pro or con, on the
ABM issue. He further instructed those officers engaged in the analysis and
estimating of Soviet strategic intentions to examine with great care all new
evidence, They were to tear up all ofd papers and start again, They were
not 1 become permanenily convinced of the validity of iheir own judg-
ments, "

By Tune [96% a new paper addressing the capabilities of the 55-9
was in the works, Intended to update the previously published NIE with
new evidence gleaned from the 55-9 tesr program, it encountered opposi-
tien in the coordinating sessions with the USIE agencies. Laird's fimm line
on the Soviet buildup suggested that final coordination of the estmative
memorandom would be difficult. Helms nonetheless presented the
memorandum in normal fashion ar a regular USIE meeting and it emerged
a coordingted USIB paper, lnced with dissenting footnotes,

The next day, Deputy DCI Robert Cushman, a Nixon appointee, was
calied to the White House “to explain™ the ClA position on the §5-9."
Kissinger requested that the officers directly responsible for the CLA posi-
tion meet with him to discuss the memorandam, Halms directed Chairman
of the ONE Board Abbot Smith and DDL R, Jack Smith to go. Kissinger
and the NSC stafl made it clear that they were disposed 1o accept the
Pentagon position that the 35-% had MIRV capabilities, and that they found
evidence supporting the CIA view unconvincing. Kissinger requested a re-
ordering of the paper and the provision of additional evidence pro and con
on the MEV-MIRY issue.” Abbot Smith rewrote the paper to these specifi-
cations without altering the CLA position on the MIRV guestion or its

“Wosming Meeling Minuges, 4 April |93,
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implications for Soviet steategic intentions, He received Helms's full back-
ing, despite the heavy pressure that Nizon and Kissinger exened on the 15-
sue and Laird's angry frustration.”

The controversy simmered throughouwt the summer of 1962, Pressure
from the Mixon administration continued wnabated and included a White
House investigation of leaks to The Mew York Times that had revealed the
CIA pesition on Soviet first-sirike objectives.” Helms informed his officers
that “responsible quarters™ were charging C1A with a batilt-in bias in its es-
{imates, but he made it clear that this was aol his view and that he was not
himself eritical,” Cushman reported another White House appeal, this time
from Kissinger's deputy, Col. Alexander Haig, who asked that distribution
of the revised memorandum on the 55-9 be delayed until the White Hoose
could sort out its pesition.” Meanwhile, Laird, frusteated in his efforts to
have the 55-9 declared MIRV-capable, had adopted the position that the i-
ple warhead of the 55-9, even if anguided, would fall in a predictable pat-
tern, called 2 “foodprint.™ Such footprints, he told a national relevision
audience, could be ploted in such fashion so as o prodece as complete a
destruction of US Minuteman fields as the MIRVs could have done.
Rationalizations like these led Deputy Director for Science and Technology
Carl Duckett to refer to Pentagon analysts as “The Inventors.™

But though Helms maintained the CIA position on the 55-9 unflinch-
ingly through the spring and summer of 1969, another test of strength ap-
proached in September, when the annual estimate on Sevier Sirategic
Artack Forces, NIE 11-8-69, was scheduled for coordination. Again the
capabdlity of the 55-9 missile and its implication for Soviet intentions to
acck a first-strike offense were contral issues, The Pentagon and ClA again
took opposing views. The Pentagon, defeated on the MIRY claim, specu-
lated on other Soviet inventions, including a complex retargeting-afier-
initial-firing scheme that CIA analysts considered beyond Soviel or even
US technical capabilities. In early September, Smith informed the TCH that
MIE 11-%-69 was in trouble with Laird and DIA. The next day Helms
reported the receipt of Laird’s comments on NIE 11-8.*" This time Laird
concenteated his fire on the Soviet first-strike issue as expressed in a
specific paragraph that stated in condensed form the CIA view that the
Soviets were unlikely at that time to seek & first-strike capability, To rein-
force the Secretary's comments a Pentagon official passed the word in-
directly 1o Helms that the views expressed in that paragraph ran contrary 1o

"It s ar lensi Wsiorically interesting Lo nobe that theeeghew this seormy episods CIA main-
faires e view thal the Sovices gt onby had not produced 3 MIRY in 1959 boi also woald be
echnologically incapable of producing cee before 1974, The Sovicls bested their firsr MIRLY
in 1974
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positions taken publicly by the Secretary of Defense. Al the USIB mieeiig
of 4 September 1969, Helms announced his intention to withdraw the
offending paragraph from the estimate, In subsequent discussion, the
Director of the Department of State’s intelligence unit dissented and rein-
trixuced the paragraph as a footnoge

To many observers, inside and outside CIA, it has seemed that Helms

buckled under pressure and forfeited his right as the premier US intellj-
gence officer to speak ol on intellizence issues without fear of favor. This
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may indeed be the case, but i is a complex guestion and deserves careful
and thoughtful scrutiny.

Certainly the episode was unprecedented. Mever before had a Cabinet
member pushed such a difference in judgment to the point of direct con.
Frontution with a Ddirector of Central Intelligence. But then the political-
social climate then prevalent in the United States and the personal iempera-
ment and style of the Nixon administration were also withoul precedent.
The paranoid, confrontational style of the Nixon administration aften
equated toval dissent with political betrayal,

Laird, in Fact, had invaded an aren long reserved for intelligence osti-
mators, the area of Soviet sirategic intentions, Mo clear-cul distinetion ex-
ists, or should, between the realm of intelligence judgment and policy
rationale. Even so, one of the prime purposes of the NIEs on Soviet ad-
vanced weapons systems had by practice been to examine Soviet strategic
doctrine in relation to weapon development and o discover the meaning,
the purpose, and the intention behind those developments. It was o task
ClA had performed for more than a decade. This was ground 0 which the
ClA estimators had fully as much tight as Laivd. As Smith says, “There
were always in the 11-8 papers a few parapraphs of general discussion of
Soviel policies, prospects, and even intentions. And this was just the same
kind of thing in that respect that had been written for years on end.™™
Huizenpga supporis this view: "It wasn't artificial language ginned up for
this particular controversy. [t wis entirely in accord with the sort of thing
that had been written about Soviet force planning, what motives goided
themn and 50 op, 85 in any other estimate.”™ To Laied, however, this was
not merely an intelligence judgment with a right to exist independently of a
policy decision, which he could, after all, make quite legitimately either on
other grounds or in direct opposition to the intelligence judgment. To him,
the first-strike claim was an esseotial part of the rationale supporting the
decision to aequire an ABM system. He could accept no conirary view,

Some of these considerations may scem clearer in retrospect than
they did 1o Helms, who was subjected 1o pointed and sustained criticism
from the President, the NSC adviser, and the Secretary of Defense.
Monetheless, one 15 left with a troubling question as o why Helms, who
had held staunchly to the Agency's view on these questions for six menths,
bowed 1o Laird’s desine and had the offending paragraph removed.

it seems clear from Helms's recolicctions of this episode that, in his
ayes, conflict between CIA and the Pentagon over Soviet first-strike inten-
tiens never became a matter of principle involving the jurisdiction of the
DCL For him, the decision to accommodate Laird by removing a specific
paragraph from NIE 11-8-69 was only another instance of the coordination
process integral o producing National Intelligence Estimales. As he lold

“Eeich intereiew, 19 April 1982,
“Huizenga imervies, [0 May 1982,
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the Church commitiee during its investigation, “A national intelligence es-
timate, at least when [ was Director, wos considered o be the Directar's
picce of paper. USIB contributed 1o the process but anybody could contrib-
ute to the process—the estimates staff, individuals in the White House,
And the Fact that a paragraph or a senience was changed or amended after
USIB consideration was nol extraordinary. . . . [ don'l really ses an issue
there, "™

As Tor the immediate issue of a Soviet first-stirike capability, he
recalls “a battle rovale over whether it was the Agency’s job 1o decide
definitively whether the Soviet Union had its First-strike capability or did
nol have a first-strike capability, And this became so contentious that it
seerned almost impossible to get it resolved, ™™ But this in no way signifies
that he yiclded 1o pressure from the White House:

My recodlection is that the only time there was orything like this particwlarby

ar issue wias over the business of MEVs and MIRVs . . . Afier anzmsling *
several meetings at the White House and talking with people in the

Depariment of Defense it became clear to me that they at Jeast had a legiti-

mate poant, . ., 1 don't think there was any reason for me meCessanily 1 as-

sume that all etemal wisdom was vested in the Agency snd whatever they

said had o be right and whatever anybady else said had 1o he “political

pressure,™ Tt didn’t make iny sense to me ot all. So | believe that an that

occageon and maybe two or three others | insisted that centain atjostinents be

made in order 10 sccommadate other points of view in Washington, ™

Helms believed the Agency's primary task was (o serve the President
and his immediate lieutenants by keeping them informed steadily and regi-
larly with intelligence information and analysis regarding global develop-
ments. To accomplish this, the Agency had 1o retain its credibility. Agency
estimates could not get through to their audience if CIA judgments were
deemed one sided and partisan. This danger was greatest in the area wheps
political partisanship was most keen: the Vietnam war and the Soviel stra-
tegic threat. Helms was extremely sensitive to tiis possibility and sought in
every way to avoid identifying CIA with a particular line on these jssues.
Mor was this a concern only of Nixon's. McNamara, Helms belicves,
“would not have accepted an estimate that said the Soviets were going for
a first-sirike. | don't think Johnson would have either. I think the Agency's
credibility would have been ruined with those fellows."™ Once Nixon en-
tered the White House, the positions on Soviet inlentions were reversed,
but the difficulties facing Helms were in many respects similar, To remain
credible, to retain access to the ears and minds of the top leaderchip of the
adiministration he was serving, Helms decided 1o remove a paragraph that
undercut one of the administration’s main policy initiatives,

“Chureh coitimitice, Boak 1, 19
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Helms's view of this panticular incident accoeds completely with his
firmly held conviction that throughout his career as T he resisted exter-
nal pressures and upheld high standards of independence and integrity. He
akes divect issue, for example, with & comment in the Rockefeller Report
that the Director of Central Intellipence shoubd be an individual of “sta-
lure, independence, and integrity.” Helms repards this as criticism of his
performance as DCL and angrily rejects such an imputation. 1 waouold like
1o know what . . . shows that | lacked in independence or lacked in in-
tegrity. O because | didn't have a large constituency, either Republican or
Demacrat, | wasn't able to stand up to the problem.™"

Oy another oocasion, he apain demonstrated the anguish and irrita-
tion that suzgestions of this nature caused him. 1 must say that the charge
that the Apency was not ohjective, that it did not antempt to deal fairly with
the facts and controversies and various estimative problems, [ think has ab-
solutely no basis in fact,” he has remarked:

I doa’t know of any time when there wasn't o sincere effor 1o accomandate
gl the varying presseres and stll come oul with what we thought was a
proper apswer. . . . These things will always be debatable: 1 chose not b ferm
off debate if 1 could possibly help it T did feel that this wias one of the mist
impartant funciions the Agency had 1o play —whether it was under President
Johnson or President Nixon ™

From Helms's point of view, his task was to achieve consensus on
major intelligence judgments or, failing that, to hear all competing views
and present 1o the President and the NSC the best judgment that could be
formed in thar light T would like history to show that we did our lewvel
best to make these estimates sensible, o try 10 accommodate the varying
points of view, to come cut where we thought we ought 1o come out—that
we did an honest job with a great deal of integrity,” the former DT has
ohserved. 1t isn’t that 1 feel any great feelings of resentment or that | was
being used, or that political pressure was being pul on me that 1 yielded. It
is only the fact thag it isn't true, and, therefore, I'd like the recard o show
that it's nod true.”™™

Mot everyone agreed. To the Board of National Estimates, and partic-
ularly to its chairman, Abbot Smith, the removal of the paragraph in NIE
|1-8-69 at Laird's request was anything but a part of the normal coordina-
tion process. [t was unprecedented and keenly damaging 1o Agency pres-
tige. It was, a5 Smith gays, “the one and only time that pofiticians caysed
us b0 change part of a finished estimate.”™

“nackefelber Commission, p 17,
“Hebms merview, 2 April 1982,
“Helns interview, 3 June 1982
“Hglmis inserview, 21 Apail 1982
Henith imtervicw, 2% April 1902
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Abbot Smith is refuctant 1o blame Helms for this episode and admires
his overall record on Natienal Intelligence Estimates. But the episode with
Laird rankled the chairman. In response to Laird's request that the offending
paragraph be deleted, he recalls, “Helms called me in. | protested a ligde, §
didn"t protest as much as | might have or should. Perhaps 1 should have
resigned.” The paragraph was not all that important, he explains, since jis
purport was repeiled clsewhere in the estimate. [0 was ordered that it be
deleted, and, of course. it was Helms's paper and he did it. But 1 didnt
blame him at all, Why should he oppose the Secretary of Defense?™

Smith nonetheless saw the $5-9 incident as marking the onset of a
plunge in CIA prestige:

Ilmkqmumuahmmumn_gpirqfnnM:-.hmmﬂ-.mgmd:-wu .
The Nixon adminisiration was really the firs one in which intelligence was
just anather form of politics. And that was bound o he disastrous, and 1
ihink it was disastrmes.™

Huizenga, at that time Abbot Sroith's deputy and later his successor
a3 Board of National Estimates chairman, agrees that this “unfortunate
cpisnde” set a bad precedent. “It was symplomatic of 3 tesrdency that deve-
loped more sirongly later 1o view the efforts of the Apency on this kind of
subject matter as not reliable and lacking in intclicciual integrity and so
on," he has recalled. “In other words, it was a significant epizode because
it was the first episode of its kind that indicated the unwholesomeness of
the later period."™ Huizenga also believes the issues in the dispute were
important and is dismayed by the consequences of the Agency’s retrear:

The question Invelved in the disputed language was essentiol. It may not
have been essentinl to the analysis in that particular paper, but what the
pasHOng were fined up over was the guestion of what the Soviets intended by
these programs. Mow with narrow constructlon you could say this langoage
Was ned easential to that particulor paper, but it mevertheless was centrl
to the conflictive premises in people’s minds over how e think about the
meaning of Soviet programs.™

But Huizenga is even more reluctant than Smith to find fault with
Hetms's handling of an incident that he feels reflected damagingly on CIA in-
tegrity. After all, what else could the DCT do? I suppese by the tine the affair
reached that sort of crunch where the Secretary of Defense personally is
demanding the removal of langusge, it's 2 litle late in the game to try and han-
dle the matter 50 as 1o avoid confrontational attitudes,” he has observed, “But
it’s very hard for me o see how the conflict of anitudes tovwird imelligence

“hbid,
*flaid.
“Huizengn interview, 16 Mlay [9RI
g
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could have been avoided overall.™™ So in the lxst analysis he accepts Helms's
vhew that it was preferable W yield in order to reiain Agency credibility for fu-
fure issues. He credits Helims with acting in accord with honest conviction and a
concept of doing what was best for the Agency:

I am persuaded that Helms wanted w0 g0 the traditosal sort of job. In other
words, try 1o deliver an honestly ccnceived product, But he was under very
heavy pressure, and if in & cengin cass he, o5 some would say, rimmed. perhaps
in bz mind what he was doeig was delivering the essential without being wn-
necessanly provocative, That is how he construed e removal of the paragraph
o the 55-% on the ground that it wesa't necessary bo fhe essential angumeal of
the paper, 1o which the paper was really addressed. That's 2 preuy fine judgment
1o make. For people whe were not involved 10 come along lser and say “This
fellow renlly gave away the store”™ lacks comprehension Tor the complenity of
hi% sitaabion"

It is significant that neither of these two Board chairmen attaches any
Bame or finds direct fault with Helms himself. To Smith, in retrospect, the
fault 15 to be found mot with Helms but with Laird. Laird, viewing CLA in-
telligence as “just another form of polities,” had acted as a politician, ol a
Secretary of Defense, in seeking the removal of judgments contrary o 2
policy he favored. Huizenga sees the situation similarly but also empha-
sizes the inherent difficulty strategic intelligence, “honestly conceived,”
faces not only in siressful times like the Nixon administration bul also even
in calmer eras. He suggests, perhaps more cynically than the record will
support. that the whole endeavor is too idealistic 10 succeed in the rough-
and-tumble political world:

la retrospect, you see, T really do not believe that an intelligence orginization
in this governmeant s able 1o deliver nn honest anal ytical product witkout fac-
ing thee risk of politicol contention, By and large, I think that the tendency to
treat intelligence politically increased over this whole period. And it's mainky
over isaues like Southeast Asia and over ibe growth of Sovizl strategic forces
that were extremely divisive politically, 1 think it's probably naive in
retrospect to have belizved what most of us believed at one ftime , . that ¥ou
could deliver an hosest analyiieal product nod expect 10 have it taken at face
value as an honest effort in which you have trled to avoid any sort of partisan
pleading or position-taking implications for policy, That whale stinde was
probably maive. By and large, | think that intelligence kas had relarively litle
impact on the policies that we've made over the years, Relatively none. In
certain particular clrcumstances, perhaps insights and facts that were
provided had an effect on what we did. Bat only in 2 very narrow range of
circumstances, By and Large, the intelligence effort did not abier the premises
with which political leadership came to office. They brought in their baggage
and they more or less carried it along. Ideally, what had béen supposed was
that , . . serious intelligence analysis could . ., assigt the pollcy side o reexa-
mine premises, render policymaking more sophisticated, closer 1o the reality
of the world. Those were the large ambitions which T think were never
realized,”

“Ihid,
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After reviewing the circumstances that produced the deletion of the
contentious paragraph in NIE 11-B-69, a sense of dissatisfaction remains. T
15 not guite good enough o find Laird waally responsible. Smith believes
the incident marked “a turning point™ and the onset of an ifreversible
trend, although in the next breath he characterizes this as “an exaggera-
tion.™ It may be more judicious 1o accept Huizenga's view that the partisan
political atmosphere of the time made an already difficult task impossibe,
and to look wpon Laird’s intervention as the symplom rather than the cause
of & progressive disease. S6ll, the best interests of the United States re-
quired that informed judgments on strategic questions not be stifled for po-
litical purposes. If one accepts that everyone, including Laird, acted out of
an honest conviction that he was doing what was best for the national in-
terest. the fact remains that the result was not favorable 1o that interest noe
to the organizations directly involved. Tt is difficult nor 1w wish that some
other resolution could have been Found.

It seems clear that the incident had o greater invpact on the Office of
Mattonal Estimates than Helms realized. Helms regarded yielding to Laird's
pressure 45 neither damaging CTA prestige nor establishing a bad precedent.
But his two chiel lieutenants in ONE did, even though they understood the
political sitvation and were sympathetic o the bind he was in, Abbot Smith
waonders in retrospect whether he should have resigned instead of stoically
sccepting Helms's decision, Perhaps he should have let Halms know how
keenly he felt; perhaps Helms should have done more 1o justify his actions
to his staff. But under the pressure of the situation, each assumed the other
understood how he perceived the matter and said nothing.

In the aftermath of the controversy abour the 55-9. Presidential
Assistant Kissinger requested that future NIEs on Soviet advanced LYSLEMmS
present in full detail the data and evidence underlying the judgments made.
As Helms noted at the time, this required “a sharp break™ from past proce-
dures and would prodoce estimates ““more specific in detail, more technical
in [their] discussion, and more involved in sorting and evaluating the evi-
dence.” Btill, he reminded Smith, “We are all engaged . . . in & common
task: namely, to produce an estimate most responsive (o the needs of palicy
people as they have been explicitly expressed to me.”"™ The estimazes
produced (o answer Kissinger's requesi were lengihy, technical, and
minutely deiailed. In effect, Kissinger and NSC staff had wrested from the
Board of National Estimates the role it had previcusly played in sifting
judgments from the available evidence and transmitting them to the
President and the NSC for use in making policy decisions, In any event,
the White House was pleased with the new style estimate, and in March
1971, Helms received from President Nixon a letter of commendation
regarding MIE 11-8-71.”

“Helms Memorandum for Cheinman, BNE. 4 Moy |97
"Morning Meetiog Minutes, 11 March (971,
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Suill, in the twrbulemt Mixon years political infighting over US policy
in response to the Soviet threat went on unabated. There were leaks o the
press of classified intelligence by paries who wished to advance their
cause in the fray. Helms, trying (o steer a steady course and to retain the
integrity of ClA intelligence, sent a letier in June 1971 o Kissinger,
Secretary of State Willinm Rogers, Laird, and Gen. Earl Wheeler,
Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, expressing his concern over the cu-
mutative impact of these leaks, He also ordered his press relations officers
to halt hackground briefings on Soviet miliary affairs." The next week
The New York Times ran the so-called Pentagon Papers, which constituted a
virtual hemorchage of classified inelligence.

Political pariisanship was reflected increasingly within the intell:-
gence community, and it became more and more difficult te reach a con-
sensus on vital strategic issues. Helms recognized that in some cases CLA
could best Fulfill its function by stating its position independently when
agreement was impossible. In September 1971, for example, he defended
hefare LUSIB the position taken independently of the majorcy by ClA i
MIE [1-14-71, Warsaw Pact Forces for Operations in Eurasia.” The fol-
lowing year he supported the independent CIA position in NIE 11-72,
Sovier Foreign Policies and Qutlook for US-Sovier Relations, a highly sig-
nificant and courageons stand on his pari since CIA held, in opposition to
the Peniagon, that the USSR had not as yet decided whether 1 try for a
meaningful advantage over the US in strategic weapons, This, it will be
recognized, is in large degree a restatement of the CIA controversial siand
om the first-strike isswe. Despite the painful history of this subject in 1969,
Helms chose in 1972 to champion the CLA view and (o present it without
apalogy to the President, Kissinger. and Laird.

Taking Helms's six-year siewardship of National Intelligence
Estimates as a whole, i1 seams clear that he addressed this aspect of his job
seriously and ifed 1o meet the needs of the President and the NSC with
coordinated papers. From the outser, however, he encountered ditficulties
owing to the ahsence of an administration-wide consensus on foreign
palicy issues. The NIE system had been designed to meet the reguirements
of the Truman and Eisenhower administrations, and it tended 1o be too rou-
tinized and inflexible for the Johnson and Nixon administrations, both of
which preferred an ad hoc forcign policy. Still, Helms sought by steady
pressure (0 make the NIEs responsive on urgent questions and 1o applaud
iheir success when i was achieved, He found it easier 1o reach targets in
the White House with custom-tailored CIA papers and briefings, and 1o
these he resorted increasingly as the years advanced, It is to an accounting
of these efforts that we will now turm.

“slornang Meeting, Minutes, 7 June 1971

LUISIE Misames, 9 Seprember 970
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Changes in Intellipence Publications

Within the Directorate of Intelligence research and analyiical skills
had matured by 1966 1o a degree that gave ClA acknowledged preeminence
in the world of intelligence production. In the carly years of the Agency
this had not been the case, and coordination with the intelligence units of
the Departments of State and Defense had produced markedly better
papers. By the mid-1%60s, however, the contributions of these other intelli-
gence agencics consisted of differences in perspective, often revealing a
podicy or departmental bias. This shift in the balance of analytic expertise
and competence, combined with the quick and pointed response capability
of ClA DI production, led Helms to wm increasingly to CIA papers rather
than coardinated estimates to meet the needs of the President and the NSC,

The Directoraie of Intelligence served as spokesman for the Agency
and produced the bulk of this nencoordinated, or “unilateral” outpu,
although Helms occasionally looked (o the Board of MNational Estimates,
the Directorate of Science and Technology, and the Clandestine Seevices
for papers. As the production workhorse of CIA, the Directorate of

Intelligence, under B, Jack Smith, produced an array of publicaliunm

ithin the

LUTI'E'E['LTHI.H:. he TiTice of Current Inielligence (OCT) played perhaps the

key role in churning out this mass of finished intelligence. Other producing

offices included Economic Research (OER), Strategic Research (QSR), and
Basic and Geographic Intelligence (QRGT).
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The principal vehicle for the expression of Agency judgment on
major developments was the CIA Intelligence Memorandum. These studies
varied in length, from two or three pages 0 several hundred, and were
reserved for addressing important issues when it was felt the Agency’s in-
formation and analysis had special pertinence. As it became increasingly
difficult o reach eoordinated judgments on such matters in the National
Intelligence Estimates, the tendency grew to tum io the CIA Intefligence
Memorandum for conveying Agency views, This became especially true on
the major Vietnam 1S5ues,

Strategic matters and the ever-present Soviel threat were also fre-
quent subjects of Agency analysis for the President. Early in the Johnson
adminisiration Helms instructed his deputies that “difficult decisions™ con-
fronted the White House on the ABM and requested thal in their work on
such questions as the development of Soviet advianced weapons sysiems,
they remain objective and detached.™ Somewhat later he advised them that
the White House was deeply interested in disarmament issues and urged
that appropriate studics be published on the subject,” He also delivered a
word of caution, similar 1o his advice regarding making policy on Vietnam,
on the subject of US-Soviet disanmament negotiations then in prospect. He
anticiputed aumerous requests for Agency analysis of the principal issues
and called for thoroughly professional objectivily in response. He espe-
cially urged the avoidance of ad hominem comments.”

Diespite the confidence Johnson placed in Helms's judgment, he did
not always accept the information or analysis the DCI provided, The war in
Indochina demonstrates this innumerable times. Such an instance also og-
curred just before the Soviet invasion of Czechoslovakia in August 1968,
For some time DT analysts had been closely watching the tense polincal sit-
uation in Czechoslovakia and the Soviet summer maneuvers in Eastam
Europe, The Office of Strategic Research (OSR) under Bruce Clarke

worning Mecring Minwies, 8 Decombsr 1900,
"'Marning Meeting Minwes, 1 July 1963
"nforning Mesting Minuhes, 1 Aupust |9EE,
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observed in late July that the Red Army seemed 1o be sEwinging in steadily
widening circles. On one of those swings, Clarke's analysts observed,
Soviel forces might suddenly take a straight line and march directly info
Ceechoslovakia. But no reliable intelligence indicated that the Kremlin had
already made a decision to use military force 1o bring Czech dissent 1o hesl.

On his way out the door for one of the President's Tuesday luncheons
{which incidentally did not invariably fall on Tuesday), Helms asked QCI
for & last-minute update on the Ceech situation. The only new item that
OCI chief Richard Lehman had was an unconfirmed repoart from United
Press International that the Sovier Polithuro, customarily away from
Moscow on vacation in Auguest, was meeting in the Soviet capital, This
seemed o suggest that a major issue was under consideration, Helms hap-
peied Lo know the UPE reporter and thought him to be usaeally right. Ca the
busis of linle more than this, plus an intelligence professional's intuition,
he concluded that the Sovicts were about 10 invade Czechoslovakia and
decided 1o warn the President.

Drinking sherry with his guests in the living room before lunch,
Johnson pulled Secretary of Siate Dean Rusk aside and conversed with him
i low tones. The DCI had no opportunity 1@ pass his information about the
FPolitbura meeting to the President until they were seated at the lunch table.
When he did, Johason said, “Oh, no, [ den’t think you're right about that.
They're talking about us." Helms found this quite mysterions bal con-
cluded from that and other veiled references that the President was about to
mike some initiative toward the Soviets, Afler lunch the DCT sought out
the assistant who had taken notes and asked him what was happening. The
¥oung otficer swore him to secrecy and then told him that on the following
day there was to be a joint Washingron-Moscow annoancement of a forth-
coming conference on arms control. This had besn secrefly arranged and
might ultimately involve a trip to Moscow by Johnson, But Helms was not
to be deterred. He said, “You heard my comments about the Russians in-
vading Czechoslovakia. | want to be sure they're in the minutes,”
“They're in there,” he was assured.

Helms was af a restaurant that evening when his call buzzer went off,
The Operations Center at Headgquarters told him the invasion was on. An
emergency NSC meeting would convene at the White House in 8 few
hours. As Helms relates it, the National Security Council meeting *took
two minutes to discuss the invasion and the ensuing hour o figure aut how
they were going to kil the joint anpouncement that was scheduled for the
nexl day™ and 10 keep word of the postponed announcement oot of the
pepers. “In other words, how they were going to fidy up what was abvi-
ously a package that had just dropped on the floor and splatbered all over

it
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the place.”™ There i no recond that any of the participants remembered to
ihank the Director Tor hiz attempt eight or 90 howrs eaclier to warn them of
the Soviet invasion,™

Producing information was only half the job; equally imporiant was
delivering it in timely fashion o the key people. While DI publications
played a crucial part in this task, they were not the only means of com-
municating the Agency’s judgments. Helms found that in many instances
Agency intellipence was mosi effective if he presented it in person. He
possessed a mind that dealt quickly with complex substantive problems,
spoke easily, and conveyed an assurance of sincerity and objectivity. On
many occasions the DC] was able 10 use these charactenistics 1o bring CIA
information and judgments o highly placed officials who might otherwise
not have been resched at all.

As Director, Helms relicd heavily on informal meetings with Cabinet
memhers to discuss substantive intelligence matters. During the fohnson
presidency the DCL met regularly with Rusk, McMamara, and Defense
Secretary Clark Clifford ai the Tuesday luncheons. This gave Helms first-
hand knowledge of the problems and developments of keenest urgency for
them. He used this knowledge to convey to his deputies at his daily morn-
ing meetings the subjects on which they ought te concentrate for intelli-
gence collection and production . The minutes of the morning meetings
during hiz six-year tenure are dotted with promptings from the DCI 10 fo-
cus attention on this or that matter that was burdening the mind of one of
the Secretaries. He was also meticulous in passing back o his deputies the
comments or campliments he had received on some picce of Agency work,

Helms strove 1o ensure close relations with the Depaniment of
Defense under Johnson, but relations deteriordted during the Nixon ad-
ministration. Although McNamara received a steady stream of daily bulle-
tins, periodicals, and memoranda containing both short- and long-range
studies, he still felt a need for regular sessions in which he could ask ques-
tions and probe judgments being made about Vietnom. Helms assigned
Carver the job of meeting with McMNamara for this purpose, A routine
evolved where Carver traveled w the Pentagon once a week for one-on-one
sessions with MeMamara lasting anywhere between 20 minutes and an hour
and a half. McNamara was sufficientdy taken with the utility of this procedur:

el interview, 21 April 1982

®Fhe Pike Repart {Office of Legislative Counsel, “Review Camments of Dvafi Repon,” an
dared, angehed draft copy of House Select Commitice oo Intelligence, Final Reporl. A,
Job TOB-0|0MMA, Box ? |Secret] ) reports that Helms teld the President’s Foreigh
Inseiligence Advisory Bueard in October B3 that she failure 1o detest the Lavlel imvaskon
abwesd o time “disiresses me.
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to recommend it o Clifford, his successor, Carver continued the weskly
briefings for Clifford, who recommended them in furn w0 Laird, his succes-
SO

This arrangement provided the Secretary of Defense with a direct
channel to CIA that could provide intelligence and accept requests for
more information and analysis. It gave Helms another direct link, through
in officer whom the Secretary of Defense knew was empowered o speak
for the DCT and the Agency on Indochina-related matters, to the man who,
after the President, was the most important decisionmaker in Washington
on matlers relating to the war. As Carver notes, “‘this facilitated
Agency-DOD coordination like nobody's business, and it was terribly uze.
ful in a lot of things.™™ It was an unusval arrangement, but the tmnes and
problems were themselves unusual. More to the peint. it served the in-
terests of both the Agency and the Secretary of Defensc.

Kixon's inguguration hed important effects on the DI a5 on the na-

tiomal estimates. |

Iﬂl:: iand the FPresident, he informed

Smith, were g their attention on the Soviet Unton gnd Western
Eumpti

““This arranpeimest sonlinwed ander two more Secretarie: of Defense, Elliot Richordson sl
James Schlesinger, ban ended whes Fresident Fard appointed Donald Bursfeld as Secretary.
Rumsield, Carver comments, was “paranosd, and . ., convineed thar | was semchow sent by
the Aganey Do dpy on him. And be wanted o part of thar, se that was that."” Carver ioderview,
13 Wlay 1982

“Carver nerviews, 13 May 1982,

~Soereie_
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Kissinger and his MSC staff, on the other hand, displayed a voracious
appetite for Agency mtelligence, and Helms sent a succession of CIA
memoranda, alirasensitive Clandestine Services repocts, and other materials
to Kissinger, as well as to Laird and Secretary of State William Rogers.
Much of the Agency’s outpul was channeled to NSC subgroups, with
specialized operational Functions, which became active during the Nixon
years under Kissinger™s influence and, usually, under his chairmanship
Helms participated in mest of the more senior of these groups, especially
those involved with covert action. Others he assigned to his depusies, DDI
Smith, for example, served as his representative in the Senior Review
Group, 3 body charged with shaping policy papers before presentation o
the MSC.

On occasion, Helms instrected one of his deputies or senior officers
to meet with a Cabinet officer to brief him on a specific ﬂ1ﬂlttfﬁ—‘_‘“—h

Very carly in the new administration, as we have seen, Laird estab-
lished the tone of the succeeding years, during his campaign on behalf of
the Safeguard ABM system, by greatly exaggerating the capabilities of the
Soviet IOHM, the 55-9. CIA's stubborn insisience that the avaeilable évi-
dence would not suppart the Pentagon's claims did nothing to comumend
Apency performance o the Nizon administeation. The subsequent public
controversy over Soviel intentions to establish a first-strike capabality, set
off by a steady series of press leaks from both sides in the dispute, for-
thered this disaffection and quite ¢learly fed President Mixon's already ac-
tive suspicions that the Agency and fts Director were not at all points
“loyal.” The CIA position on the enemy order-of-batile figares, which as
we have seen drapged into 1970, in all likelihood appeared to the White
House as further evidence of C1A vareliabality, It probakly was too late to
persuade the Nizon adminisiration that CIA™S contention that the numbers
were higher than MACY believed was not another proof that the Agency
ook an independent line for parfisan purposcs.

The final two years of Helms™s tenure were mercifully free of major
dizputes with the Nixon administration over intelligence judgments, By
this time the NSC Staff had established channels throogh which the bulk of
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CIA's production in support of White Houge policy was required 0 move,
Foliowing the dispute over the 55-9, which the Kissinger staff felt itself
called upon to resalve by examining the intelligence evidence at length, a
new forot for estimates on Soviet military capahilities was required of the
intelligence community. This format included a serics of optional analyses
and exhaustive displays of the evidence underlying each judgment. A simi-
lar mode of presentation was expected for CIA intelligence memoranda,
Helms tried to wilor Agency papers accordingly. On one occasion he cau-
uoned his liewlenants that a particular study on Lotin America was "a it
thin on facts substantiating conclusions—a matter on which we have had
somme carping from the White House, ™™ But the White House apparently
wanted it both ways. Only shortly before, Helms had admonished OCT for
using the phrase “we have no evidence,” The NSO Siaff complaing, he
sand. that CTA shirks its duty in not making a jedgment even in the absence
of evidence,™

In his years as DCI, Helms witnessed the collapse of the foreign
palicy consensus on which the Agency's role as gatherer and disseminator
of intelligence was based, Amid the intense imerbureascratic disputes of
the Johnson and Nixon years, the. CIA'S contribution might well have be-
come irrelevant, even unwelcome to policymakers. Helms recognized thar
the Agency’s survival depended on his ahility 10 maintain its position in
the policy process, and he struggled io keep CLA'S oulpal responsive o the
changing and often conflicting demands of the White House and Cabinet
depariments. Nixon's deep mistrust of dissenters within his own adiminis-
tration made this task more difficult, and Helms had to be careful not 1o
appear committed 1o positions opposed by the White House, Often this
meant retreating from judgments painstakingly developed by Agency
analysis. In making such compromises, Helms made the greater good of the
Apency his first priority.

"1 Chronobogical File, 27 Apeil 1971,
B,
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Chapter 3

Helms’s Management Style: Indochina and
Operatiions

Russell Jack Smith

Richard Helms served as DCT during a controversial period of recent
history. The Vietnam war and the revelations disclosed by the Waotergate
scandals remain subjects of fierce debate among historians and former
government officials. Helms's role as chief manager of numerous covert
operations during this period has also been disputed. Critics charge him
with emphasizing clandestine operations at the expense of intelligence,
with favoeritism toward 055 cronies, and with mismanaging operations in
Lags amd Vietnam. This chapier gives the perspective of officers mostly be-
low the Agency's top echelons who served under Helms during those
years.

For many CIA officers doring the 19505 and 1960s. Helms was the
quintessential Clandestine Services officer.’ Quiet, contained, and serious,
he seemed to embody the key attribites of a new breed of American
burcaucrat, the professional intelligence officer. Through personal example
inel ther duily administration of clandestine activities, he established a stan-
dard of style and performance that young officers enlering the Clandestine
Services found admirable and worth emulating. The challenges the Agency
faced during the Johnson and Nixon administrations strained Helms's
bureavcratic skills. As younger officers watched Helms cope with the
repercussions of Vietnam and Watergate their respect deepened.

'Clandestine Services was an alwsnaste name for Directarsie of Flans
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One such voung officer, Clifton R. Strathemn, recalls that when he
joined the Agency in 1951 Helms “was already a dominant factor™:

W prew up with the fact that Mr Helms was o very decisive elament. 1o
miost instances, in the early stages of your caseer, youo fourd thal be was the
g [hat msade the decisions, . . . 1 can remember a8 2 yoangsier bang prey
much in wwe of this man, apparently becase of his very intense demesnor o
that time. He, I'm sure, had 2 very active sense of humor bul on woung
wificers those rays never fell’

Strathern’s account of his first face-to-face cncounter with Helms il-
lustenfes both the foture Director's siandards of pecformance and the man-
ner in which he impressed on young subordinaies his demand for
excellence. Strathern reported to Headgquarters after spending has first three
vedars with the Agency overseas. Soon after, his supervisor assigned him to
coordinate and clear for retease a lang -:ubl¢| |=a
chose that required approvals from officers in departments scattered across
the Agency's Foggy Bottom compound. When he arrived at Helms's office,
he was met with the command, “Fead it1™ “1 was terrified,” Strathern
recalts. 1 started in a quaking voice to read this cable, not really knowing
whether o start with the hesding or where 10 start.” He had begun to read
when the phone rang, This was Strathem’s first exposung (0 the pressures
of Headgoarters, and his alarm mounted rapidly as Helms dealt with the
call. Helms listened briefly, propounced “a fairly firm expletive.™ and then
told his caller, “T ssmid, wof 1 said no before, and s sl no,”™ Slamming
down the phone, Helms reached over the desk, snatched the cable, and said
“1°11 read it ryself!™ Certain his career was finished, Strathern lisiened as
Helms castigated both the cable and its author, “Have him rewrite it,” he
snapped, “and when he can leam to write English, bring it back.™ This en-
counter gave Strathern a new respect for Helms's reputation as the best ca-
ble writer in the Agency.”

In addition w his demand for excellence in performance, Helms pos-
sessed two other qualities that pamicularly impressed young officers: in-
ense dedication to the job and an almost spartan lack of ostentation.
Strathern speaks in awe of the long hours Helms worked. “He wis always
there, Whenever yvou had to get Mr, Helms, he was there.”™ Unconcemed
far the trappings of office, he drove a dilapidated Plymouth to work, “You
could actoally hear this car from a distance, it was such an old wreck. And
everyone, you know, was very impressed with that fact.™ As Swrathern
recalls it, Helms's dedication was contagious, 1 think it's perhaps onc of
thoze charecteristics that really rubbed off on the case officers of that

"Clifian Scrachem, interview by B, ). Smith, tape reconding. Washisgion, OC, T April [9R3
(hercafier cilind as Sorsthen imeeveew, T April [9E3)
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period, that sort of grew up under him. They first of all were taught the
Kinds of diseipline that he expected, and you knew that you couldn’t get by
with anything lexs than 150 percent,™*

Although he insisted on excellence, Helms was no martinet. I he
demanded op-level performance, he also recognized it when his subor
dimates delivered it and was quick to offer a compliment or, occasionally, a
promotion. Strathern balances the story of his first encounter with Heims
with an account of his promaotion to GS-16, In the late 19605 he was
responsible for operations in Laos and frequently put in 60- or 70-hour
workweeks answering to a galaxy of intergovernmental committees,

Monetheless, he was passed over by the annual promotion list. When he
and another rising voung star, |_:|inquirm as 1o the reason, they
were [old that they were oo young and had not served long enoogh in
grade. The two men rejected these criteria, arguing that ment and perfor-
mance cught 1o be determining. A promotions panel fistened to their objec-
tions and presented a second lise, with their names on it to Helms, A few
weeks later, Strathern was surprised o receive a phone call from the DL
“CHIE™ Helms said, 1 just wanted to tell you how delighted | am that you
B your G5-16." He went on for “opwards of 15 minutes, thunking me for
all the things T had done to help support him. [ was just absolutely astound-
ed.” For Strathern, this epitomized Helms, “That impression of Mr, Helms
never lell me, that he was always prepared 1o at least reward someane who
made the effort. . . . That has to be a lasting impression of Dick Helms as
Director, **

Mot all CIA officers, of course, were as respectful. To many, Helms
was a rival for advancement, and 1o others, & tenacious bureaperatic adver-
sary. William Nelson remembers an occasion when Helms was Depuon

Director for Plans (DDP). He had called a meeting of

officers to consider a covert action that “all of us at the working level
thought was a terrible idea.”

We wenl in ond wobd [FHelms] . . . we thawaha it was o terrible idea but no. he
wis going o do it. S0 be went ahead and did it and 7t mmed out b be a dl-
saster. . . . Bt about a week after this operation hit the fan. Dick ealled o
mezeting of all the same peopls who ad besn involved in the previous dec-
sion and he went around the room and with greut dexterity decopitated
everybody there. And the outcome was, the only man who had not msde &
wiong judgment was Dick Helms,

It was. Melson concedes, “a muasterful tour de force, the way he went
about it It was such a brilliant example of what a greal infighter e was,

vl
“Thid

]




el
Richard Helms

you know, with bureaucratic baitles. He had an awfully gond sense of just
how 1o do those things.™

Helms as Manager of Operations

In addition (o these elements of personal style, the files from Helms's
period as Director and conversations with o number of his top aides reveal
ather characteristics Helms exhibited in managing the clandestine opera-
tions side of CIA. First, he delegated a large measure of daily responsibil-
ity for clandestine operations to high-level subordinates; for the most part
he intervened directly only when the reputation or security of the Agency
was at risk, Secondly, he devoted a considerable part of his enérgy to per-
sonnel matters—selecting and placing n key posts officers who coubd swc-
cessfully assume the high degree of responsibility he delegated. Thirdly, he
preferred and gave a lurger share of his personal attention to clandestine in-
telligence collection—classic espionage—ithan to covert action, although
he acknowledged the importance of covert aclion operalions in support of
US policy, especially in wartime, Finally, as DI, he displaved an acule
sensitivity 10 the polses and vibranons of the Washington scene and acted
with speed and decisiveness to exploil gpportunities to enhance the
Agency's position and to protect it from emerging dangers.

When asked to characterize Helms's managemont style, his former
associates usually mention first his penchant for delegating responsibility
for operations. As George Carver put it, Helms did not iry to
“micromanage.” “Basically, Dick kept control by trusting his subor-
dinates, expecting us to refer to him things that he needed to know of deci-
sions that we felt he really had to make and, within that framework, letting
us essentially make our own judgments and do what we wanted (0 do.""

Such an approach suggests the conlidence Helms placed in his
syhordinates—no responsible manager can delegate authotity Eenerously
unless he has such confidence—and illustrates a second characteristic as-
sociated with Helms. William Colby, who served in several senior posts
under Helms and later became DCI himself, remembers the strong empha-
sis Helms put on personnel selection—Ffnding for each job the right man,
who could accept responsibility and perform the tasks 1t brought him.
“Dick spent a lot of his thought process thinking about people,” Colby has
said, adding that Helms was characteristically concemed about whi went
where. and about how he could help particular officers.”

Tilliam Mebsom, interwicw by B, L. Smith, 1ape recording. Washingioa, DO, 20 April E983
hereaiter cited 25 Melsco intervicw, 3 April 1953).

"Cearpe Carver, inlervies by B. 1. Smiik, inpe recarding, Woshington, DC, 25 March 1983
fhercalier ciied as Carver imerview, 25 Manch 1535,

wiltiam Colby, interview by B J, Smith, tape recording, Washingien, LT, 18 April |9EY
{hereafter cited ax Colky imerview:, 18 Apnl [9R3)
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For Helms, fitting the right man (o the Jjob had been a career-long in-
terest, deepened by years of experience in the Clandestine Services as
Chief of Operations and DDP. This interest remained srong when he be-
came DCT, although the daily pressures and responsibilities did not permit
the same degree of personal attention to every key assignment. For this he
relied heavily on his successive DDPs, Desmaond FitzGerald and Thomas
Karamessines, delegating 1o them a major role in sereening candidates for
these posis, Melson recalls that as a division chicf he would discuss Person-
nel selection in the first instance with Karamessines. After finding one or
several promising candidates for a particular post, Karamessines would
float their names by Helms, In persomnel sclection, Nelson recalls, “Tom
never did anything without Dick's approval.” Afer Karamessines had con-
sulted Helms, “He wouldn't say, ‘Dick doesa’t want this fellow fo go.” Bu
he would say, ‘T think maybe we ought o iry somebody else.”™ Helms has
similar recollections. When matters of assignments came up in his dnily
meetings with Karamessines, he would make his opinien known, [ knew
all the people, and 1 did continue the policy of signing off on all station
chiel appointments, so 1 could see who was going where and if T didn't like
it, stop it in fime.*""

Helms's colleagues and subordinates recognized his preference for
classic espionage—foreign intelligence—over covert action, and Helms
himsell agrees, “That’s witere T started out.” he has observed, it was
something that 1 was more interested in, how you did it and so forth, bue
this was a personal predilection, temperamental if voo like.” Even sa,
Helms readily conceded that covent action had its place among ClA respon-
sibilities. “T truly believe that in wartime or wherz you have military oper-
ations, you cught to push in the stack, everything you can possibly do, and
o holds barred-—let her go. If fellows are going to lose their lives as pri-
vates in the Army or Marines, or airmen in the Air Force or Navy, o any-
thing else, it's at that point, it seems to me, that anything thar you can do 1o
help them in the war you ought 10 do.™ In peacetime covert action seemed
to Helms & dubious option. T think my reservations about certain types of
CA activities hed much more 10 do with ather parts of the world [than
Vietnam] and other times, and whether we really should be potting in the
kind of effort we were putting in, "

Colby also felt Helms's interest lay more in espionage than in covert
action, where Colby's own interests lay. In Colby’s view, this had benefiis
for CIA, especially in Indochina.

“Melson fiiterview, 3 Apeil 1583,

"Rlchard Helms, interview by R. J. Smith, tape recarding, Washimgion, DC, 22 June 983
(hercafler cited as Hetms interview, 22 June 1983

“Richard Helms, interview by B I, Smih, lape recording, Washingion, 13, 14 April 1983
theresficr cited as Helms interview, 14 Aprid 19835

3




i
Richard Welms \‘\

[ ihink the balance betwean the two of ws was rmther goosl 0 a sense because
[ wanted 1o dio the things and he [would] just as soon ge rid of them, oo
that helped ws, both o get them starbed and o get ricl of them, Thal was whal
we should hove done. He was right on that . . it did espose e Agency 100
mach, ond yet in seme of the programs there was nobody else 1o get the
damned things going.”

Finally, every senior officer who worked with Helms while he was
DO was keenly aware of his sensitivity 1o the shifting currents of interest
and influence throughout official Washington, and to the impact they might
have on the Apency. Helms's top criteria for judging imtelligence produc-
ton were its relevance, timeliness, and cogency in relation o the dominant
concems of the White House (especially the President) and the Congrass
His standards Tor clandestine operations were similar, In particular, he was
quick to perceive that any kind of operational mixup could create dangers
for the Agency if the President were not immediately infornwed. He dis-
played equal solicitude toward Congress. “There was one thing . . . that |
learned about dealing with Congress,” he laer remarked:

[1F] you ot down there fiest and told members of your comamites of some-
thing that had gome sour or gore wiong before they read o i ihe REwspapers
or heard about it from somsebody else, they could be very undesstanding ond
stand with you and belp you and so forth, if they felt that they had besn
iaken in and wald about this in odvamce so that they could proiect themselves
aguinst criticism from the owside. But when they were caught by surprise by
one of these things by reading it in the pewspaper or being wld by some-
houly, they really could get very fimty indeed."

The files and the recollections of his top officers are filled with instances in
which Helms moved with dispatch to head off dangers or to exploit opper-
tunities For the Agency.

Preoccapation With Indochina

The dominance of the war in Indochina over the mind of official
Washington grew steadily throughout the 1960s until it came (0 obsess the
capital in the late 1960s and early 1970s. The CIA's daily activities
reflected this concern. The Director's calendar was crammed with mestings
at the White House, briefings of the Congress, and discussions with top
officers—all related to the reporis and estimates fooding ouwl of Langley,
and to the manifold clandestine operations taking place overseas. In

"Crodby interview, 18 Apel 1983,
“Helm= fnpeswiew, 14 hpril 1983,
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Vietnam, half a million American troops were fighting Vier Cong and
Morth Vietnamiese forces. North Viernomese supply lines ran through
Cambodia and Laos, making those “neutral™ states important ancillary
theaters of combat. CIA officers in Laos had run an operation 10 arm and
train Montagnard tribesmen since the early 19460s.

Consonant with Helms's belief that when the United States found b
self in war CIA should do “everything you can possibly do, no holds
barred,” the Agency ran innumerable operations in Vietnam to which it
committed the bulk of its personnel and resources. Besides the usual clan-
destine intelligence collection, the Agency's contribution 1o the war effort
in Indochina consisted of rural pacification progeams, *nation-building"”
political programs, cross-border sabotage operations, and an array of covert

disinformation aclivities againsi H:alr'u:l-i._]I
Helms presicde
vver Lhis multitaceted and intricately defailed range of acfivities in the only

way an intzlligent executive could: by generous delegation of responsibili-
ties (o officers in whom he placed trust.

In most respects Helms oversaw CIA programs in Vietnam in a man-
er consistent with the management style discussed earlier, The DCT also
had to direct and monitor a host of new and continuing operations around
the waorld, but none brought into play the fulf array of clandestine activity
that Indochina demanded. Helms was convinced that CIA had a crucial role
1o play in Indoching, and this was also where the full glare of White House
attention Focused,

George Carver, who served as the Special Assistant for Vietnam
Alfairs (SAVA) throughont the Helms regime, observed Helins daily in his
rele &s manager of ClA programs in Indochina, “He was a very, very ex-
acting taskmaster, and he never let anybody doubt as to who had the ulti-
miate responsibility and the concomitant authority,” Carver remembers.
“But. he was willing to stake out for his senior eolleagues o sphere within
which they had largely discretionary latitude and then let them go exercise
their discretion. I he didn’t like what they were doing, he'd got somabody
clse to do it.”'"* Carver explains that Helms was able to proceed in this
fashion 1o a large extent because of his association over many years with
the officers 0 whom he was delegating this responsibility. 1 know that in
many conlexts this would be regarded as a terribly pejorative word,” ag-
cording 1o Carver, but “you've got to remember the clubby atmyosphere in
which you had a group of people who knew each other well, who were
used to working together, within which there was a great bond of mutual
respect, and who would take orders or insiructions by indirection as well
as [directly].”" Thomas Karamessines, Helms's Deputy Director for Plans,
pliyed a key role in this regard, meeting nearly every marning with the

"Carver merview, 25 March 1983,
e,
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Director and highlighting those
decisions on which he needed
epidance. Even then he was fre-
quently instructed to use his own
judgment on details. Samuel
Halpern remembers one occasion
when Karamessines returned
from discussing the relative
merits of some proposed opera-
tiom with Helms, Halpern was
surprised at the DDF's report
that Helmis wis content to let his
subardinutes decide whether to
undertake the operation. 1 kind
of thought that was srange and 1
said so. And [Karamessines]
s, “Woell, he's very busy with a
ot of other things and he said
we're big bovs and if 1 think we Gearge Carver

ought o try it, go ahead and iry

it. 1f we don't, forzet abour "'

Even though he delegated substantial responsibality 1o his senior lieu-
tenants, Helms reserved the fight o intervene at any point in the plinning
or implementing of an operation—and often did so. Nelson remembers
sometimes being taken by surprize when he accompanied Helms 1o meel
ings:

You were never gquite swre how be wos going to ploy it There wiere some
programs he was for, there were atber programs that might even have, 12
sqvme depree, sriginated in some fashion within the Agency, which he would
allow to pe downtown [io the White House], then ke™d shoot them down. O,
you know, in @ very subtle way, soy, “Well, 1 don’t know aboul this.”™ apd
Lake the other side of the case. . . . | think he felt that thase things oughs o
be exposed 1o those peaple downtown, They sught 10 kave a chance o leok
it them. He was going 10 voics his own feelings about it, along with theirs
But be wasn't going (o bottle it wp.”

To Helms, delegation of immediate responsibility did not mean a sur-
repder of final responsibility. Nor did it mean that blame was heaped on the
man responsible for an operation when it went wiong. Helms belicved that
ultimate responsibility lay with him as Director, and he sought neither to

“emel Halpern, inicoview by B 1, Smith, wpe reconding, Washinglon, DC 12 Apdd 1993
(herealser vived a5 Halpern intervies, |27 April 1983)
"Melwon ingorviow, B Apnl TS,
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pass the blame nor to burden his subordinates with the pressure he feli
from the White House or elsewhere. To cite one cxample, the Agency's
continuing failure to satisfy White House desires for high-level intellipenee
about Vietnamese Communist thinking and strategy—intelligence that
could be obtained only by penetrating senior circles in Hanoi or the Wiet
Cong leadership—brought intense Presidential displeasure, This pressure—
felt daily by Helms during the Jahnson administration—grew even gredter
in the Nixon years and acquired a mean-spiried vindictiveness, Helms
quietly shouldered this rancor himself. “I don’t recall that Heling was car-
rying those particular barbs into work and o us,” one subordinate has
remembered. T think he wok a lot of it on himself, He didn’t pass the heat
along as much as you would have expected.”™ Carver makes the same
poine:

He cxeried the pressure (o get all the results we could possibly get, bul Dick
did us the service of realizing thar when we explained the technical, profes-
sional difficuity of trying to pesetrate a Communist command apparaius . . .
we were i trying o throw up excusss for not peiting something done 2o
thar we werz faced with an eatraondinarily difficult problem, against which
we had very linle leverage, and that we were doing the best we possibly
coukl do in & lask that was afmost impossible o sermount ™ Halpesn adds
that "one of the sirengths we had in the Agency was that oar seaior efficers
really tried to protect their troops and work with their troops. That's why
they got the loyalty. ™"

The numerous labor-intensive Agency operations in Vietnam called
for the assignment of hundreds of people to the effort. The Clandestine
Services were ransacked for people who could be transferred from their
home divisions to Far East Division and sent out to Saigon. “'The White
House,” Nelson recalls, especially of the later years, "put down in effect g
quota of the people we had to have in the country.” Agents taken from
pround up in remote Vietnamese hamlets.™ The conting-
ous shulthng of personnel demanded & great deal of Helms's aitention,
Unable to scrutinize each personnel folder personally, he made certain
senior posts were filled by the best people available, “*Every important ap-
pointment o YVietnam, I gave a lot of personal atfention,” he later
remarked, “I saw no other way o do it. We could do all we could here in
Washington to keep the President informed, keep the Cabinet informed, do
all those chores we needed to do, but [ could see no way thit we could
mike a maximum contribution on the ground onless we sent the very best
people we had out there, And that's what we did, ">

(L}
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Sometines, in his desine lo select people who could best accomplish
o particular mission, he found it expedient to make some pretty daring or
ungrthedox choices. Helms ciies the selection of Thomas Polgar as Chief
of Station in Saigon as one such instance. It was cssential that the CIA
Chicf of Station work closely and harmoeniously with the US Ambassador,
Ellsworth Bunker, an elegand, reserved, distinguished gentleman who made
firmm judgments and stated them with quiet incisivenes:s. Polgar was a
brusque, aggressive man who sometimes rubbed people the wrong way.
Helms felt confident that Polgar's competence would overcome the adverse
impression Bunker might initially have. 1 was mindful of the fact that the
minute Bunker saw Polgar he was going to think that 1 had played a trick
on him. That this was not the kind of fellow he'd et along with,” Helms
has related. “But | knew very well that regardless of what his initial reac-
tion was, that Bunker would come 1o value Polgar very highly indeed, be-
ciuse Polgar was just the kind of fellow whe could keep one foot in the
intelligence camp and the other foot in sor of the general intelligence-
diplomatic carp and keep the whole thing going.™™

Because the Chief of Station’s post in Saigon was sensitive, & strong
and sustained adverse reaction by the ambassador would have seriously
damaged both the Agency's reputation amd its ability to perform its mis-
sion, Moresver, it would probably have come o the attention of the White
House and cast doubt on the Agency’s commitment o the preeminent task
of the day. But confident that he perceived Polgar's abilities accurately,
Helms could risk the appointment. It turned out that Helms was right.
Polgar went to Saigon, and as Helms had predicted, Bunker soon came o
value him highly. “When you sent me out Polgar, | didn't kaow what in
the waorld you had in mind,” Bunker told Helms later, adding with quiet
conciseness, 1 came to have a greal respect for that fellow. ™™

Helms™s selections did not always dum owt favorably, The judgments
involved in placing individoals in sensitive, highly responsible posts—
always tricky and subject to human efror—are especially difficalt in clan-
destine operstions, where instincts are required that are neither definable
nor measurable. An officer who serves as long as Helms had in one organi-
zation before becoming its dinector establishes a body of experience about
men and jobs that he fends to rely on, IF 8 DCI-=of any manager—is asked
0 choose between two persons, one of whom he has known 0 Carry out
sensitive responsibilities successfully in the past and the other whom he
knows less aboot, he will be strongly compelled (o select the Tormer.
Oecasionally, this choice will be a poor one, possibly because the in-
dividual has changed over the years, possibly becawse his success in previ-
ous posls rested on qualities other than those required for the job at hand,
Cibid.
" hia,
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In the eyes of several of Helms's subordinates be developed a ten-
dency in later years to_make personnel decisions in the manner just
described, One officer, Mho served in the Far East
Division, speaks of Helmss inclination o be “oo easy on the old hands™
and cites an instance in which & veteran case officer becime involved in a
drunken escapade that created & diplomatic incident in Saigon. The Chiefl
of Station and the top echelon of the Division felt that the officer should be
separated from the Agency, but Helms decided againgt it and reassipned
hirn within dequanera.muggcm that the Director *probably
had the practical concern that he always had abou firing people . . . they
would go to the press.” In conclusion, he concedes, “Maybe if you add it
all wp, he did the right thing.™™

Another subordinate, Halpern, who served as Exccutive Assistant b
DDPs Karamessines and FitzGerald, contends that from the point of view
of “the troops™ Helms was no different from other senior officers who “re.
fused 1o believe what the troops were &aying.” Halpern suggests that, secn
from below, Helms and these senior colleagues “made a tremendous num-
ber of errors about people™ because they “relied for their information :
basically on their cronies,”

In recent years several writers—notably including Helms's successor,
James Schlesinger—have charged that CIA in the 1960s and early 19705
was dominated by an “old boys club,” a group of cronies wha first came
together in the Office of Strategic Services. That there should be i core of
truth to these suggestions is hardly surprising. In the vears afier the
Agency’s creation in 1947 it was inevitable that the CTA% leadership
should frequently wm o those most experienced in inteiligence matters,
the veterans of the 0S5, Helms came from this group, and although as
Director he naturally looked to his colleagues with proven experience and
mettle for assistance, not all of them sscceeded in the work he assigned
them.

Forelgn Intelligence Operattons in Vietnam

The demands of Agency covert action programs in Vietnam ond the
constant need Lo supply personnel and resoorces strained Helms's underly-
ing preference for espionage and intelligence collection. Moreover, the
pressure for better, more productive intelligence assels was incessant.
Tohnson, according to Helms, was “demanding to a degree | . . that was
hard to imagine. It was a rwenty-four-hour-a-day proposition with him."*

"Helins interview, id- April 1983, .
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Nor did the pressure let up with the change of administration in 1969
“Mixon would say, ‘Look, don’t talk to me about this and that and the
other thing, there is only one problem these days in the United States and
that"s Viemam.” '™ Meither President made specific demands about where
to place agents or what techniques to employ. What they wanted was
results—hard information. *'1 think it would be Fair to say that neither
Johnson nor Nixon had a picture in their mind of what espionage or FI
operations or anything were like; T mean, except what they had read in
novels,” Helms relates, “Therefore, they were not ever very specific about
that aspect; they wanted w know the results, and therefore what esplonage
contributed to those results, fine, But they didn't even realize the extent o
which we had to fan people out through the countryside and have bases in
these outlying provincial districis and so fonth™ in order (o accumulate n-
formation,™

Moreover, the information the Presidents wanted was hard 1o el
They wanted to know what the Communist leaders were up o in Vietnam;
what their long-range strategic plans were: and what tactics, bodh political
and roilitary, were being readied to carry oul those plans. Bul 10 penetrate
the high councils of a Communist apparatus when one lacks an in-country
base is no casy task. Resulis were skimpy, and frustration levels in bodls the
White House and the DCI's office were high. Years later Carver would
recall bis own effons along these lines:

My preoccupation during the period. aside from getting the proper people as
signed to the Vietnam Station, was 1o wy and see if we couldn’t get some
information abowt what was going on in Nontb Vieman. 1| mean, this was 3

greal Blank, and this is whare [ spent a at deal of my Vieltamese time,
trying to figure oul ways o do 1hi||

R &
Helms remembers the intensity of this problem as well. “I had the
bullwhig out all the time on the FE Division, how it was 1o come up with
new ways to try and see if we couldn’t find out what the enemy wias up
to.”"" In spite of these efforis, the results remained meager. "1 was a very
perplexing problem, which we never really resolved,” Carver concedes.™

Helms imervies, 22 June 1983
“Helms inlorview, 14 Apsil 1983,
M grver interview, 15 March 1963,
YHelms mperview, 23 June 943,
“Carver intarview, T5 Marel 1933,
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I a 1967 “Eyes Only™ memorandum to Colby, Helms revealed fis
peni-up frustration over the Vietnam problem. Until CIA focused on specif-
ics, Lhe DO stressed, “we are going to be obliged 1o continue these horta-
tory efTusiodns, "

I simply have come i the peint where T feel that the American effort in
‘pacification” and “nation building” has become so preoccupied with organi-
ration, theory, and guidelines that the best brains, certainly at the
Washington level, are not being devoted to the precise task of how the game
is 1o be played, . ., Afier all, fooiball games are won by teams who wnder-
stand the mechanics, rather than the theoey, of muking touchdowns, . , | JF
thas memarandum fills you with irritation, it is aof inended so o do. . .. The
time s fate. We know what our goal 15, Let's devabe car gray matter o devis-
ing and practicing some plays which will work in getting the job done. This
should be the year for plavers, not for cheerleaders,™

Such messages had little effect, but From time to time there were
miner breakthroughs. One occurred when the OXCART high-speed recon-
naissance aircraft browght back the first quality photographs of North
Vietnam, an occasion thai produced for Helms “almost a feeling of eu-

phoria.’

Soid intelligence
igh-level penetrations were never achieved.
As Colby remarks, “We all wished we had better information but 1 must
sy [ never had a simple way of achieving it. In other words, it was VErY,
very tough.”" Rueful about the Agency®s lack of success in this respect,
Helms later observed, *I was willing to do almost anything o get it. ... In
other words, we turned the box out on all the tricks that we could think of
to do this, but as | look back on i, it was no great success. . .. A hard nut
to crack and we didn’t crack it T think we may have done a slight bruise
job on one side of the nut, but that was about all. ™™

Given the almost obsessive urgency first of Johnson and then of
Nixon, Helms might have been expected 1o castigate his subordinates daily
about their lack of results. In fact, he did not. Although he declared in no
uncertain terms the need for beter intellipence, the DO did oot berate hic

"Hebms Memorandum far Chied, FE, 1§ January 1967,
"Helms interview, 14 Aprid 1983,

"Tolby MiE e, ;
"Helms lncsrviw, 14 April 19R3,
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officers when they were unable o achieve it, Nelson, chief of Far East
Dhivision, remembers thag it was very clear that Dick felt we ought to have
beter access (o e high levels in Hanod than we had.”™ Still, he retained
his composure throughout. who was working on the
Viemmam desk al the me, 05T

He did gently prod us, even not so gently sometimes, to gel Mo pefelra-
tigws, He wanted us io keep that in mind a5 & very high priogity goal. T don®t
think ke would iy to distract us of change owr priorities away Trom the CA
sort of thing, or pacilication and 50 on, bui lee didn't wanl us @0 get so kn-
valved in pacification that we didn't make ouwr best shot on intelligence,™

comments point up another enduring problem in
Indochine—the difficulty of balancing foreign intelligence and covern action.

Covert Action in Vietnam

The White House's demand for high-level penetration of the
Communist command, coupled with Helms® career-long preference for col-
lection operations, made intelligence gathering paramount. But the
Agency's commitments o the enocmons pacification and other covert ac-
tion programs, with their omnivorous appetite for people and resources,
could not be shirlc::d.l:|:h-: sirain on the DCI was evident. He
describes his “got feeling™ that Helms “looked vpon the Viemnam thing as
# huge and almost unmanagesble burden that had been dumped on him,
and 1t was something that he felt was a huge distraction from the main task
of covert operations, which he viewed as collection.” Nonetheless. “being
the sort of consummate, bureancratic politician that be was, he . . . lovally
tried to do his best n fulfilling the Presidenat's, the government’s reguire-
menis, | think be fownd it werribly Eruglrating.”" Nelson cxpresses similar
thoughts, 1 think he had problems with the Vietnam program and particu-
larly, T suppose, he had some problems with Bill Colby's somewhat evan-
pelical approach to that whole operation.”™ But Helms contradicis these
descripuons of his attitude oward CA in Vietnam:

1ahidd et have any feeling that the CA part of Vietnom and L-aos was tronble-
some 1o me, | wos very mach in favor of the way we were gaang about 1he
wir in Lags, . . - As for the Vieisamese slde of things, the frustration thare
was this Mosith Vietnemess aspect, the fact that we really couldn’t ses2m to
really do amyihing o shoke those fellows. 1t wasn't that 1 didn’™ like what we

“Melson intervew, 20 April 1983,

Thrd.
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Were [rymg. or didn’t want 1o try new things or other things; it was simply
thal we weren's gerting amywhere with it . . _ [ hag miy beart far moee In ory-
ing really 10 do something effective in the CA feld than in any other thing
during my entire time in the Agency. We sers 50 war, we had somedhing thai
Wi were irying o accomplish os @ eountry, amd T fali thal we should throw in
everything we could possibly throw in, whether it was goded, bod, or in-
dilfercgr, "

It was this distinction, the wartime use of covert action as opposed to
peaceliime uses, that made the heavy burden of the CA [rograms in
Vietnam more accepluble to Helms,

One organizational innovation that made the burden mon: tolerable
was the position of Special Assistant for Vietnam Affairs (SAVA), occupied
first by Peer DeSilva and later by Carver. DCI William Raborn had created
the post, and initially Helms, who distrusted organizational gimmicks, was
not enthusiastic. But he came to recognize the advantages it had in cen-
tralizing for him the multitudinous and disparate demands posed by
Vietnam, especially in controlling the massive flow of cables, dispatches,
and memoranda, Under Carver, the post and its staff burgeoned.

While Helms found the Carver operation immensely sopportive and
useful in every respect, this view was not entirely shared within the Far
East Division and the top command of the Darectorate of Plans. No line
officer enjoys the intervention of a staif officer between him and his com-
mander. In this instance, Carver's energy and personal style may have ad-
ded another element of resistance. “Carver was so fast moving and
bureaucratically g0 adept in filling all the available space that sometimes he
lefi others very much out of joint,” remembers.” Halpern had
much the same reaction. “George . . “was 8 thom in the side, not all the
time, but lots of the fime."” Carver was always "pushing, pushing, pazhing
for more and more information, to control almost everything abour
Vietnam up in that one litfle spor.” Eventuully, Halpemn conclueded, even
Karamessines came to resent SAVA's assertiveness, "From Tom's point of
view, he had a Viemnam desk, vou know, a big Viemam desk, and a big
Vietnam station, and he didn't need somenne else to try and run i for
hjm-“-ﬂ-

Still, Halpern recognizes that the arrangement had jis advantages,
particularly in dealing with people and offices outside ClA. Agency friends
on Capitol Hill, he notes, found the arrangement especially congenial

“Heims inlerview, [4 Apgil [583,
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And final judgment i3 equally balanced, 1 could see that the
kind of job he was performing for the Dircctor was extremely vseful.” The

SAVA position enabled the DCI ro:

gt a quick reaction from any clement of the Agency . . . whereas under nor-
mil grpanizatsonal procedures it woukl be very difficult 1o get the kind of
redction that he wanted o kave, of had o have 1w deal with the guestions
from the Secretary of Defense, or the President’s, on this very comples and
Involved program. - . . George was extrensely useful 1w [Helms] bat a hair
shirt for the rest of us.“

Helms fully recognized the friction created by this organizational arrange-
el aowd 365 zealows occupant, Bven 5o, he feli that the benefils be derived
from it—notably an ability to stay on top of an unwicldy, sprawling
problem—mare than compensated for the difficulnes:

Whereas | may ot have boen entirely enthusiastie abour the seting up of the
DeSilva wmil & the e 1 owas DDCT T realized that it wis gning 1o b -
possible Tor me as Director of Central latelligence 1@ carey aut all the
respinsibilities of that office and still spend 24 hours a doy on Yietnom,
which is what President Johnson wanied everybody w da. So il seemed only
sensible to mamintain the owtfit . . . expand it and make the bead of it respon-
sible for the DS beief on Yietnam, in an effor o help bim, nad by cud
across DD, or DDP, or anybody elss in the Agency, bat to help put the in-
foemation which was flowing out in greal gquantitkes inbe manageable form,
in write popers for me of presentations that [ had 1o make on an hear's no-
tece, aed things of this kind,

Mor does he, in retrospect, have any douobts abowt his selection of
Carver to run the office. L must say that Carver did an absolutely superb
job in this as Special Assistant for Vietnamese Affairs, He worked long
hours, he was brighi, be was fust. . . . [Tho the extent that be may have irmi-
tated some poople in the Agency, he still scemed (o get along reasonably
well and get the information he needed, "

Covert Action in Laos

In the opinion of many officers in the CIA Clandestine Services the
paramilitary peograms that the Agency operated in Laos between 1963-TF
were the most successful ever mounted, Small in numbers of personnel and
even smiller in relative dollar costs, the CLA Laos operstions shone in con-
trast to the ponderous opermtions of the US military forces in Victnam. Laos
was one covert action progeam that Helms approved of wholeheartedly:

;
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“l was very much in favor of the way we were going about the war in
Laos. 1 think the Apency had really an extraordinary swccess if vou look ar
it in any objective terms.™™

The DCL's support for the Laos program wis highly visible 1o the Far
East Division and a source of assurance. As Melson, Colby's successor as
chiel of the division, remembers:

He wag terribly interesied in the Lao peogram, particulacly the Meo geerrillz
activity, and he spent & great den) of Geve on that, which seemed 1 me tr be
o subject of genuine interest to hine He waneed to support it . .. T eertuinly
Wl the impression that he felt that this was the way 19 20 in an operation of
this sort and not the massive introduction of US forces and whatnat that 0e-
curred i Wietnam. [ think he ook particular pride in thar program. You
could tell it was sort of bis baby, you know, and he was deing n good thing
bere and he was not spending |, | | comparatively speaking, to what the
poveTnment was speading in Vietnam, vou knew, the whole darmn POFErAm
Wk e uts,™

Agency involvement in Laos predated Helms's tenure gs DO by
several years. Shortly afier the signing of the 1962 Geneva accards, which
pledged both East and West not to intervene in Laos with their own forces,
the Matienal Security Council assigned CIA responsibility for the raining
of Laotian tribal military units.” By the late 1960s these ClA-backed hill
tribes were providing active support for US military operations in Sopth
Wiemam by disropting North Vietamese Army vse of the supply coridor
theough Laos 1o South Vietnam, tying down North Vietnamese Army unils
in Laos seeking to keep the sapply lines open, and collecting intelligence
on North Vietnamese troops and materiel moving into South Vietnam
through the Lao corridor. By 1968, Agency programs had trained and
equipped 39,500 Lao irregulars, who were successfully Mmounting approxi-
mately 200 harassing attacks per month, To meet the challenges of these
irregulars, the North Vietnamese had been obliged to increase their forces
in Laos from 44,000 in 1966 s 100,000 in 1963, CIA, in contrast, had ap-
pruuiml:lylzlstaff and contract personnel in-country.”

By the carly 1970s, however, Helms concluded that the Laos showar
hisd become too large, expensive, and controversial 1o remain 3 covert ac-
tion. When friendly Senators like Russell Long offered similar advice,
Helms began 1o look for ways to put the burden down. As Sirathemn WS
pn:nal'in:glf |he Wis summoned bo

i

“Nelson interview, 20 Apil 1983,
“NEAM Directive of 25 Tune 1963,
“August 1968 DDP memarandum for a Bursay of the Hudzet review
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the Director's office. He sensed something unusual was in the offing.
Helms “called me in and he closed the door amd sand, ‘1 want to talk o yoo
and [ want to talk to you very frankly.”" The DCI “normally 5 & man that
Isoks youo right in the eye; you tee] the full weight of whatever it 15 that he
i% trying tor tell you. This time he openad the discussion by saying, *I°d like
0 philosophize a linle bit." And he turned his chair and be looked out his
offtee windows, ot over the Potpinac,” Clearly troubled by the unwanted
burden Laos had become, the Direcior, more 1o himsalf than to Steathern,
asked a serics of broad questions: “Where are we going in Laos? Wht
should we be doing?™ And with that, he and Strathern “'began to
philosophize in terms of the Agency’s role—not just counterinsurgency but
whal had become a protracied involvement at greatl expense. Was the
Agency really, you know, established to run this kind of logistic problem?
Engrmous prohlems of simply providing the weaponry, the ammaniticn,
and callimg in airstrikes. And here we were involved in what amounted to a
fuli-fledged war' The contrast with Helms®s standard way of conducting
business made a deep impression on Strathern, Mormally, he relates, one
went into the Director's office; one said what needed (o be said; one
received instrections; and one lefi. There was little wasted effort or per-
functory conversation, But this time was different

He clearly was terribly pansive, and be was termbly concerned about ihe mle
of the Agency, contineing o el black marks for s invalvemanl, and e
fact that it was becoming pubfic, All this, 1 think. certainly bothered ham,
and he knew that the Agency was going to get hurt opless it got ow.™

The cutcome of this unusoal discussion was that Strathern left with
firm instructions (o find ways and means fo separate the Apency from the
Laos paramilitary program and o owm iz responsibilities over o Army
Gen. John Vessey, ¢ el o work overseeing the Agency's
phaszout, “and finding a way to gracefully extract ourselves without sim-
ply palling the carpet out from under our Lao friends.” Together, Strathern
and Vessey worked out a amooth ransition, “'We slowly built our position
to the point where, withoot toss of momenmm, we could phase in Jack
Vessey's organization and phase ourselves out of major weapons procure-
ment and all that.”™ In Strathern®s view, Helms's decision 1o tecminate the
Agency's program was both timely and prisdent. *We got oursclves out of
the war at a [pood] time, And it was Helmis's sensitivities that moved os in
that direction. [t wasn™i that we went right up till the final day and then
were blown right out of there, "™

“'Strachern intzrview, T April 1981,
it
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Meeting High-Level Priorities

Every senior Agency officer during Helms's tenure as Director Wi
keenly aware of Helms's seositivity to the needs and concems of those cle-
ments of the government whose good opinion was mast vital to ClA. Al
times he seemed capable of sensing a desire for intelligence information or
analysis on the part of the White House or the Congress almost before
those entities themselves felt the need. He was equally keen In scenting
dungers or threats o the well-being of the Mpency.

It was Helms's relationship with Congress and the several
Congressional committees that most compelled Strothern's admiration: *1
would say that Helms's siyle, his ahility 1w be sansitive to the direction and
the will and the spirit [of Congress] was uncanny. . . . Helms clearly knew
his Congress. and he knew the people that were invalved; he knew the peo-
ple in the oversight committee; and his sensitivity was finely honed in all
that regard. "™ Strathern watched Helms putl that sensitivity o good use,
ned only in selecting the substance of briefing materials for specific com-
mittees and even specific Congressmen, but also in setting the style of
those presentations, One memoreble incident involved the briefing of a
semiey Southern Senator whom Helms regarded as friendly but not brighi.
Strathern produced a first try at a briefing paper. Helms sent it back with an
admonition. “MNo, no, no, this is far toeo complicated, T want this to be as
simphe s you can make it." Strathemn dumbed it down to & point where he
would have been ashamed 1o give it 1o anyone:

I'had the fecling that [ was insuliing someons's milellipence, and 1 senr i
buck up, shinking, well certainly this is probably going to be bownced be-
cause it hus simply gone too far the other way. It was sent back Lo e that I
clearly didn’t really understand what was eeded. The instructions 1 got
wene, stan with sort of & satement: *“That is a cat, the cat is black.” and if
you can cagiure thal in the briefing, then you've pot iL T went back and
reduced this briefing o an elementary level that | was sure would never be
occepied, and b and behold, that was exactly what Mr. Helms wanted fog

that purpose,™

Simplicity and the shearing away of unnecessary detail and elutier was
cardinal principle for Helms. Strathemn came 1o realize that for Helms there
were imes when too much precision and detail were counterproductive.
Getting across the essence of the matter in easily grisped terms was the ohjec-
tive. Bul because the heart of the problem was presented with clarity, his
listeners had no feeling that the wuth was being masked, and, as Sirathern
says, “that pamicular ability of Dick Helms never undermined his credibility,

* e
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Reinforcing that credibility was an ability to perceive when great pre-
cision was required and then to insist upon il

!'n.l.u'hile Helms recognized that absolute precision
war nol always ceecnnal, it was essential o be precise when you had to

be precise. He was unforgiving for inaccuracy in that way . . . &5 opposed
to the person who always must have a precise pottom-line figure down to
thirty-five cents. That didn’t become essential to most of his briefings, but
when it was important, he expected it 10 be comect.” Helms did net train &
generation of officers, Strathemn concludes, who believed ™ "well, if you gl
a range figure of plus or minus five, you're all rght.” You had 1o under-
stand what the right figure was and then you hed to fit it to the purpose and
make sure there was no possibility of its being misundersteod."" This in-
sistence on absolute accuracy, combined with an ability to prune away the
nonessentials so that the core could be perceived, established for Helms a
reputation for integrity within the halls of Coogress thal few ather
Directors approached.

The personalities of Nixon and Kissinger severely challenged
Helms's ability to respond sensitively to the needs of the White House,

Perfiaps nowhere was Helms's aleriness to threats o the Agency's
well-being better illestrated than in an episode known allematively as the
Chuyen affair or the Green Beret affair. A US Army Special Forces intelli-
gence anit engaged in mnning South Vietnamese agents discovered that the
Morth Victnamese had doubled one of its assets, a man named Chuyen.
After brief discussion with officers at the CIA base in Nha Trang, the
Green Berels executed the agent, apparently by shoving him out of an air-
plane over the South China Sca—an action later referred to as “lermination
with extreme prejudice.”

”J'l!.-\.ll.l'.
“Halpern interview, 12 April 1953

e S




|
x\ Helms's Manggement Spyle:

fecdorefine ond Orveraiions

By the summer of 1969 ramors of the execution had leaked o the LIS
press, which had by then become critical of U% invodvement in Vietnam,
Almost immediately a storm of criticism broke. Fortunately for Helms,
CIA's participation in the affair had been minimal. Green Beret officers
later stated that in their discussions with the ClA base al Nha Trang they
had received an indirect suggestion that termination of the agent was indi-
cated. possibly with “extreme prejudice”™ (g phrase, by the way, not in Cla
terminology). They also noted thai they had asked directly for advice about
the execution before proceeding; when no immediare response from CTA
was forthcoming, they took silence as assent. CIA hase officers, subsequent
investigations disclosed, probably did agree that terminarion of the agent™s
services wis indicated, but they resolutely maintained that execution et
not been intended. As for their failure o respond to the Green Beped re-
quest for advice, the Station Chief in Saigon had replied to the query and
advised sgainst execution. Owing to a bureaucratic snarl, bowever, ihe in-
coming message reached him belatedly, and his reply armived bours after
the agent had been kilked.

Helms acted quickly afler the news hroke, acquiring sccurate infor-
matkon with which to dispel charges that CIA was responsible and then in-
forming the White House and the Congress precisely what had occorred.
Melson remembers that Helms was “awlully goosey about it The DCT in-
volved himsell “in every minate of it. He followed that one very closely.
As I recollect, he had all kinds of meetings in his office. all kinds of pres-
sure on the field, to come up exactly with who said what to whom and
what happened. And [he] helped to draft and reviewed everything that went
down 1o the White House or the Pentagon on that one, ™™

Halpern, from his post as executive assistant for DDP Karamessines,
watched as the Far Bast Division responded o the Director’'s demands:
“Dick’s role in that basically was to iry to keep Nixon and Kissinger happy
with information. We poured stuff out to both of them by the reams."" No
detail was too small. At one point, Helpemn personally walked a cable over
to the White House and sat there while White House COMMUNICators sent it
out o Nixon, vacationing in Califemia. “Messages were coming in, people
were sent oul to Vietnam to interview all of our officers and whar have
you. And it was almost like a My Lai massacre kind of investigation, as to
Just what the role of CIA was in this, and the specific officers involved, ™
Halpern cmphasizes that the purpose of this hectic activity was precisely
focused: “Dick was interested in this basically because of [its] political im-
pact, and the flak he would 1ake from the White House™ and Capiol Hill,
“Dick was very, very concerned that we clear our skirts on this one, that
we were nol the people who instigated this “termination with extreme
prejudice.™ ™

“Mulwan indervicw, 20 Apeil 1953,
“Hulpern inlerview, 17 April F9R3

9




RicHard Helms \&‘K

ClA's skirts were cleared on the Green Beret case, thanks in part 1o
Helms's prompt and effective action. But this was not the end of it, Carver
recalls. Once he became convinced that no CIA officer ad acted wrongly
during the episode, the DCI “was determined not to ang anybody, just to
show to the rest of Washington that he was prepared o be a hanging judge.
And he fook a great deal of obloquy because he was trying 10 b fair, inter-
nally, with his own troops. [t was a very difficult period.™™

Carver's words could just as easily have been applied 1o the whole
period of American involvement in Indochina. Just as the war challenged
American wisdom, power, and resolve, so did it fest the Agency’s ability 1o
adapt 1o novel siuations, some of which had little relationship to the origl-
nal purposes for which the orgzanization had been created. That the
Agency's record in rising to this challenge is somewhat mixed is haedly
surprising. That it could have performed far worse is indisputable in meet-
ing this challenge, Helms set an example of grace under pressure.

“Capvar imierview, 2% March 1983,
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Chapter 4

The 1970 Chilean Presidential Election
Robert M. Hathaway

Many of the troubles that plagued Richard Helms in the YEArs jme-
mediately after he retired as Director of Central Intelligence stemmed from
CIA's involvement in Chile between 1970 and 1973, In a sense Helms fell
vietim to an ex post facto judgmen, for the political climate of 1970 Wit
far different from that of even four or five years later. In 1970, Richard
Nixon presided over an administration that jealousty guarded its foreign
policy prerogatives and brooked linle interference by Congress, Ower the
next few years, however, Watergate undermined the authority of the
presidency, Vietnam shredded the consensos thar had supported the coun-
try’s foreign policy for a generation, impending impeschment drove Nixon
from the White House, and new interpretations of senior officials’ BECOgITT -
ability to the President and the Congress came 1o prevail. Indeed, Congress
asserted an initiative and awthority in American foreign policy that it had
not exercized since before World War 11 Ultimately, Richard Helms fell
victim Lo the changed standards dividing these two eras, having performed
necording to the policies and practices of the earlier period, but judged by
those of the latter. Helms's problems after 1973 reflect the ambiguities
generated by this mid-1970s" ransformation of Ametican palitical atti-
tudes,

The 1970 Election: “Spoiling Operations™

For almost four decades before its 1070 presidential election, Chile
had been notably deveted to civilian democratic rule and free from the
perigdic coups that dotied its neighbors’ histories.' Tn 1970 the Andean na-
ton enjoyed a vigorous multi-party system under a Constitution that com-
manded respect from all sectors of society. Since his election in 1964,
Chilean President Eduardo Frei Montalva had worked hard 1o reinforce this

"Frons 1318 1o 194} Chile suffered only three beief imterrupeioes 1o s demoesatic tradivhon
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allegiance to constitutional procedures by numersus Mmeasunes designed o
benefit the poorest classes. For six years Frel's government had been the
showpiece of the Alliance for Progress, and in the Alliance years the
United States had spent more aid money per capita in Chile than anywhere
clse in the hemisphere. Nevertheless, all was not well in Chile. Frei's in-
ability to satisfy fully the expectations he had raised introduced & new and
potentially disruptive polarization inlo Chilean politics, as his moderate
Christian Democratic Party suffered defections from both its beft and right
wings. It was the intensified radicalism accompanying these developments
that first attracied Washingion's attention 1o Chilie"s 1970 presidentiat elec-
fiomn.

The Nixon administration’s decision for a covert CIA role in the
1970 campaign continued the practice of the preceding Kennedy and
Johnson sdministrations, which for nearly a decade had directed clandes-
tine Agency sctions in Chilean electoral politics. During Chile's 1964
presidential contest, for example, CIA had channeled $3 million into the
coffers of the eventual victor, Christian Democrat Frei. A year later the
Santiago Station, working closely with the Armerican Ambassadaor, psed
covert funds to help defeat as many as 13 leftist candidates whe might
atherwise have won congressional seats. [n 1969, CIA aperaives spent
several hundred thousand dollars opposing congressional candidates allied
with Dr. Salvador Allende Gossens, an avowed Marxist and founding
member of the Chilean Socialist Party. In addition to funding polifical par-
ties secretly, the Agency had carried oul extensive propaganda activities
and subsidized anti-leftist newspapers and radio commentators.”

Chile’s 1970 presidentiol election developed into a three-cornered
contest. Representing the right as candidate of the Mational Party was
T4-year-old Jorge Alessandri Rodrguez, whao had besn an incormuptible and
relatively popular President from 1958 o 1964, Since under the Chilean
constitution President Frei could not seek reelection, the Christian
Democrats had nominated Radomiro Tomic Romero from the left wing of
the party. Allende was the candidate of a coalition of Marxist and other
leftwing patties. Of the three contenders, the United States clearly
preferred the election of either Tomic or Alessandr, since Allende’s
promises of sweeping agricultural and industrial nationalization and ex-
panded relations with Communist countries appeared contrary to American
political, cconomic, and ideclogical interests,

Oin several occasions in the previous |8 months, most notably in the
103 Committee mesting of 15 April 1969, Agency officers warned the new
Mixon administration that preparations would have to begin seon if the

S Congress, Senate Select Comminbes o Study Governmestal Operations with Respect 1o
(eaelkigence Acrivithes iChurch commbiee), Mearimps: Cowerr Ackioe, hah Cong., sl 9635,
vol. 7, Diecember 1975 (hereafier cited as Church commitles, Cavert Acian), pi i4-19.
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United States hoped 1o play a significant clandestine role in the 1970
Chilean elections.” Helms warned Henry Kissinger, the President's
Assistant for National Security Affairs and 303 Committee chairmin, that
CIA would need an eady start (o repeal its successes of the 1964 Chilean
elections. Kissinger deferred the question, and the record clearly indicates
thial neither Nixon nor Kissinger apprecinted the urgency of the situation,
Recalling in later years the administration’s failore o act on these warn-
ings, Helms repeatedly emphasized the serivusness of this mistake:

There was no question nboul L IF one s Eoing o get imld covert political
action, particularly invalved with elections i anything approximating the
democratic process, oae's gof (o be in there very early because it tokes tme
to put in the plumbing, to ges the agents, 1o get the conduits set up, and all of
those things which help to give you the leverage to affect the election.”

Ty the months following the 303 Committee’s 15 April meeting, the
Agency maintained a low-level covert action campaign designed 1o frup-
ment the Chilcan Lefi, Although the Santiagd Embassy and CLA Station
submitied a joint proposal for anti-Allende elecioral activity in December
|'96%, senior administration officials did not focus on the problem wrgil
23 March 1970, At that time the 40 Commitice, having heard D1 Helms
warn of Allende’s growing strength, aothorized only 3135000, to be sed
for “spoiling operations™ against the socialist keader and his Popular Unity
party, primarily in the form of propaganda.’ At the State Depariment's in-
sistence, however, the 40 Committee specifically prohibited support for
any particular candidate. Three months Later, on 27 June 1970, the same
body allocaled an additional $300,000 for CIA anti-Allende operations.”

Under this authorization Agency officers organized an intensive anti-
Allende propaganda campaign in the five months before the 4 September
balloting. CIA assets provided political commentary and news articles for
radio and press placement and distributed more than 3 million posters,
teaflets, handbills, newsletters, and books. Sign-painting teams covered the
walls of Santiago with anti-Allende slogans. Rightwing women's and

‘Church commitiee, Cowert Action, p. 42: US Cangress, Benate Seleel Commiites 1o Study
Governmental Operations with Heepect 4o Imelligence Activities (Charch COmmeites),
fnterim Repory, Alleged Assazsination Plos tuvalving Forgign Leaders, Wh Cong,, 151 sees.,
Movember 1975 (hereafter cited as Church commaimse, Alteged Asseisination Plors), p. 139,
The 33 Commities was then the Exccutive ceifiohmaking oy on cover aciion.

"Richard Helms, interview by Rabert M, Huthaway, tape recording, Washington, [, |5 Jume
1983 (hercalier ciied 8 Helms inserview, 15 June 1963)

"Established by Mational Security Defense Memarandum (NSDM) 400 in Februzry 1971, the
AQ Comminer replaced (he 303 Commitien as the Execulive revies Body for caven action,
Is members included the Presideni®s Assistani for Mational Security AfTairs, the Dy
Sevretary of Delense, the Undsr Secretary of $tate for Polizieal Affairs, the Chairmss of the
Juent Chicfs of Seafl, amd the DCL

"Church commintes, Covert Action, pp. 20-21.
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“civic action” groups received subsidies 1o spread the message that & vole
for the left would bring irreparable harm to Chilean democracy. A
ClA-coordinated propaganda campaign equated an Allende victory wilh
violence and Stalinist repression. Religion and family life were said to be
threatened. Political action, including black propaganda, was uscd 1o try 10
split the Allende coalition. Unlike its work in the 1964 elections, however,

the Agency refrained from iTmmmE-m Erass rools OTganiz-
ing, and provided no direct Funding e

LA actions remained unknown (o the American business commu-
nity, which meanwhile had become increasingly alarmed by the prospects

of a leftist victory in Latin America. In mid-June 1970,
| | contacted Helms 0 ufl.-;n:_n:l_l'ljmc

financial assistance (o the Alcssandri campaign. Reporting to Kissinger on
this conversalion, the DCI expressed skepticism about the impact such wid
woubd have, given the “diffuse” character of Alessandri’s polital organi-
sation. The election remained “dicey and difficult to figure,” Helms nided.
The Agency would continue to follow evenls closely, “but it is only fair o
cay that we are in a quandary as 10 what action is wise,""

International Telephone and Telegraph (ITT), one of the larges
American multinational corporations with holdings in Chile, also moved to
block an Allende triumph. On several occasions in May and June, John
McoCone. a former DCT and a member of ITT's board of directors, met with
Helms to discuss the Chilean situation. Helms told McCone that, while the
40 Commities was monitoring events in Chile, it had decided to avoid the
massive commitment of resources made in 1964, He did concede, however,
that the CIA was not following a total hands-off policy.

Unsatisfied with Helms's assurances, MoCone asked the DCI w send
an Agency representative to talk with Harold Geneen, IT1's chief execu-
tive officer. Accordingly, William Broe, head of DDF's Western
Hemisphere (WH) Division, conferred with Geneen in 8 Washington hotel
on 16 July, Geneen asked about the Agency’s analysis of the electoral situ-
ation and offered to give CIA a “‘substantial™ fund to pass along 10
Alessandri. Although Broc wmed down Geneen's offer, repeating the 40
Committee's prohibition against backing a specific candidate, he en-
couraged the ITT president to provide this support directly.’

Maintaining a totally aloof anitude had hazards of its own, The last

thing Helms wanied was for ITT Fn:n- complain to their White
House friends that the Agency refused o cooperate on Chile. Although

"Church commivies, Cevert Acrion, chaps. 11 and Q0L pagzin.

"‘Richard Helms, DCT, Memorandum for Henry Kigsinger, 16 June LML

"Li§ Congress, Senate, Committee om Foreign Relations. Subcommites on Mulinational
Corporaticas, Hearinga: Multinmional Corporetions and Daited Ermter Feorsipn Palicy, 93nd
Comg., L6 sess,, (Washingion, DC: B, 1973) (hereafier cited as Hearbogs, ITT and Chile),
pp. ke4; Memorendum, “Policy Decisions fetated 1o Our Cowen Actios [nvelvemant in the
Sepeniter 19T Chilean Presidenglal Electian,” % Ociober 197k
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complying with the letter of their instructions, Agency officers in Santiago
over the next five or six weeks met severil times with ITT representatives
to offer suggestions and supply names of Chileans wh might help funnel
ITT's funds 10 the Alessandri campaign, Guided by ClaA advice, TTT wlti-
malely passed approximately 3350000 o the National Farty. As an intermal
Agency memorandum noted, this action “wiks taken without reference 1o
the Department of State for obvious reasons, "™

On 21 July, the DI's Office of Curreatt Intelligence (OCD produced a
memarandum on the election, which indicated that Allende and Alessandri
were neck and neck, with neither likely w secure a majority of the voles,
Allende could well end Up as president, AL the mOrning meeting the fol.
lowing day Helms urged the Deputy Director for Plans, Thomas
Karamessines, to “snsure that we are doing everything which can reason.
ably be done”™ to prevent this, Assuring the DCT thar he was tollowing the
situation closely, Karamessines explained that “cerain actions are already
being vndertaken to deal with contingencies, which might present thei-
selves following the vole coupt,™"

On 30 July the intelligence commumty published o new Mationa)
Intelligemee Estimate {NIE} entitled The Outfook Jor Chile, While judging
Alessandri the current frontrunner, this NIE paralleled OCH's aszessmen;
that the election was too close to call, The NIE predicted that Allende
could “take Chile a long way down the Marzist-Socialist road during the
SIX years of his administration,™ ultimately creating “a Chilean version of
i Soviel style Bast Furopean Communist stale.” Allende's rejection of the
capitalist system was “categorical * and he would move guickly o ex.
propriate o aumber of American business interests in Chile, In foreign af.
fairs, an Allende presidency would create Cextremely difficult™ problems
and “poge g serious challenge to US efforts a securing hemispheric
cooperation on a wide range of fssues.” O tming, however, the NIE held
that Allende “'would be likely o move cautionsly in carrying oue drastic
changes in institutions,” ar least initially, since important obsiacles re-
rgined 1o impede 3 radical wider popular basc than he currently had.

The NIE also judged that a ¥ictory by either Alessundri or Tomic
would produce strains in relations between Washington and Santiago, since
the Chilean trend toward mare independence of the United States was "o
deeply set to he easily reversed.” The NIE concluded that, alil told,
“Chilean demoeracy is likely to survive over the next two or three
}':HFS-"”

The degree of concern expressed in this NIE may not have fully
reflected Helms's own misgivings over the prospects of an Allends
presidency. although the DT loyally stood by his analysts. Yet reports of
funds poured into the Soctalist candidate’s campaign by the Soviets and the

“Past mortem on the Chilean Presidentisd Election, 12 Movember | 970,
“Muornang Meeting Minuses, 21 and 77 July 1970,
“NIE 84-70, 30 fuly 1970,
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Cubans—3$350,000 from Havana alone, by Agency estimales—iaised the
spetter of a puppel regime rnanipulated from abroad,” Morcover, at just
shic moment Moscow appeared intent on transforming the Cuban porl of
Cienfueges into 4 base for its nuclear submarine fleet, a development that
accented the danger of a Russian presence in the Western Hemisphere.

As predicted, the election was very close. Bul on 4 September the
Chilean electorate handed Dr. Allende a small plurality. The lefiist candi-
date garnered 36.3 percent of the 3 million ballots cast, giving him a
39 (00-vote margin over his pearest fival, Alessandri, who was the choice
of 34.9 percent of the eleciorate; Tomic camé in third with 27.8 percent of
the vote, An alarmed Nizon White Hoose rurned angrily on the ClA for
failing 1o prevent Allende's riumph. As Helms recalls it. the President and
Kissinger - were obviously upset ower Allende's victory, they were looking
around for scapegoms, there wasn't any dowht about it. They didn’t want 12
accept the responsibility themselves for not having gotten on with this
thing properly.” Already suspicious of the Agency, the President saw the
outcome of the Chilean election as one more indicanon of 1A bungling.”

Agency officials disagreed. In their view, the White House had rsked
this outcome from the start by not recognizing the danger that Allende’s
candidacy posed: Nizon and Kissinger were themselves at faul, Moreover,
the State Department’s resistance 10 8 more vigorous coverl action program
had further reduced the already slendes chances of sucoess, “The basic
problem,” an ABency post mdrem concluded:

was that reservations, almoss philosophic in depth a1 umes. persisted in the
Department of State from the oatse and suffocated considerations of a clear-
cut, all-out effor 1o prevent Allende’s election. . . Transhobed into stark po-
litbcal realities, the issee was that of [the] Depariment of Siale being unwill-
ing to consider supporting Jorge Alessandri . . . 10 whatever GEEenl necEssany
to assure his elaction.”

Since no candidate had received an absolule majonty of the ballols in
the 4 September canvass, the Chilean Congress would selact the next presi=
dent from the two individuals with the highest vole counts. The Congress
had always chosen the frontrunnes in similar past instances, and nearly all
observers predicted that when it met on 24 Oetober it would respect proce-
dent and confinn Allende.

Track | and Track 11

Now thoroughly aroused, the Nixon administration cast about for
ways to block Allende’s selection by the Chilean Congress. On
& September 1970, the 40 Commitiee convened to consider possible

hurch commistee, Covers Action, po 20,
FHelms inteevhew, U5 June L5983
poit mporiem oa the Chilean Presidential Blectica, 12 Maoveomber 1970
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strategies. An Agency summary of the meeting notes that “all concerned
realized thal previous plans . . . would have o be drastically redrawn."
DCI Helms reporied that the Congress would probably confirm Allende
and that, once the Marxist leader was in office, domestic opposition would
rapidly collapse. “While not advocating a specific course of action, the
Director further observed that a military golpe [coup] against Allende
would have little chance of success unless ondertaken soon.™ According Lo
the minutes of this meeting, both Kissinger and Attorney General
John Mitchell, one of Mixon's most tusted sdvisers, concurred with this
judgment.”™

A dispatch from the US defense attache in Santiago warned that the
Chilean military was “selling out™ to Allende. US Ambassador Edward
Korry on 12 September cabled that Washington should not expecl the
Chilean military to move to bar Allende's aceession, Agency sources con-
curred, A3 a Netional Secerity Council staffer informed Kissinger, the ClA
hadd concluded that “mifitary acrion is impossible; the military 15 incapakble
and unwilling to seize power. We have no capability to motivate or in-
sligate 4 coup.™'"

Faced with these discouraging reports, the 40 Commitlee maet again
on 14 Seplember. After reviewing the available aptions, it directed
Ambassador Kerry and the Agency 1o augment their political and economic
medasures with propaganda activities focusing on the unhappy conse-
quences that would follow an Allende takeover. It also approved a contin-
gency Tund of $250,000 to swing congressional votes o Alessandri. These
steps, designed to induce Allende’s opponents to block his assumption of
power h.?: either political or military means, would later become known as
Track L

On the following day, 15 September, Helms met with the President in
the Oval Office. Kissinger has recalled this conference:

In & coaversation lasting less than 15 minutes Nison told Helms that he
wanted @ major effort 1o see whar could be done to prevent Allende’s acoed-
ston to power: If there were one chance in ton of geting rid of Allende we
should try it: if Helms needed 510 million be would approve it. Add pro-
grams to Chile should be cut; its economy should be squeezed untll it
Cscreamed,” Helms shoold bypass Koy and report directly to the White
House

In those few minuies President Nixon created Track 11, the program
that later brought so much trouble and attention to Richard Helms and the
CIA. Although Kissinger later tended to minimize the importance of this

“Memorandum, “Policy Decisions Related to Our Covert Action lnvalvement in ihe
September 19N Chilean Presidential Bkerion,”™ 9 Ociober 1970,

"Moming Mesting Minstes, 11 Sepiember 1570; Church commiizes., Alleped Assasyingtion
Ploas, p. 290, iealics in ariginal.

*Track I comprised all covert petivities approved by 1 40 Commities, which were designed
tr Induce Allende’s appanents in Chile to prevent his assampion of power, either thesiagh
political or military means (Church commimes, Covers Action, [, 23A.)

"Henry Kisstnper, White Mouse Fears {Beston: Litide Brown, 197%), p. 671
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meeting and the President’s directives, Mixon had certainly conveyed o
Helms a8 message of clear and present danpger. Testifving several yvears later
before a Congressional committee, the DCT recalled: “The President came
down very hard that e wanted something done, and he didn't much cane
how and that he was prepared o make money avalable, . . . This was a
pretty all-inclusive order,™™ Helms's handwritien notes from this meeting
atiest o the orgency of his instructions:

One in 1) chance perhaps, but save Chile!
worth spending

i comeemed rsks inwelved

nat involvement of Embassy

L10,000,00k availabde, more if necessary
full=timie job—beti men we have

game plan

make e economy scream

48 hours for plan of action”

The nexi morning, 16 September, the DCT met with his pnncipal as-
sistants to convey the President’s instructions, The mood was somber, As
Helms later related, “There wasn’t a4 one of us who thought e had any
chance whatever™ of preventing Allende’s confirmation. The possibility of
“bringing off something like thiz seemed o me at thal time o be just as
remote as anything could be.*™ But such pessimism wenl largely unex-
pressedd, One DDP officer, David Phillips, remembers Helms circulating a
mamorandum o those working on the problem. “This is an assignment we
could newer have mken on.” the DCT eportedly told his troops, “excep
that [ think the Agency has developed the professional ability to carry out
whatever instructions ane given 1. For Phillips, the Director’s memo, “in
sort of a laconic Helms fazhion, conveyed to me ai least the thought thart he
might oot think veey muoch of i, but be had been given his marching orders
and he was poing to carry them out.”™

Although Helms believed from the beginning that only a move by the
Chilean military could effect the President's instructions, it 15 nof clear
whether Mixon and Kissinger also held this view at the oulset. “All of us
were aware,”” one ClA participant has observed, *that in such a short
peripd of time, no matter what other techniques we might try, what we
were talking about, basically, was a military coup.”™ But the Chilean mili-
tury, with i3 long tradition of respect for constitutionalism, could not be

. fuerch commiiiee, Alteged Assesrinaticon Plods, po 227,

"Htpm: an ClA Chilean Task Force Activities, 18 November 1970

“Richard Helms, istervicw by David Fros therealier coed o Helms inceresew by Frosi)
p: 109, Chaorch commaitbee, Alfeged & ssoreimerion Mabr, po 233

"David A, Phillips, lnterview by Robert M Hathoway, tape recording, Waskingion, DC,
!ljl.ll'lf I9E3 dhercaler Ciiéd a3 Flullips snierysw)
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counted on to siage a coup. Chile’s leading military figure, the Commander
in Chief of the Army, Gen. Rene Schoeider, wis outspoken in his convic-
tion that the Chilean military should stay out of politics. The need for
speed complicated matters funther, since the Chilean Congress would mest
tor select 4 new president on 24 October, a dute only slightly mwore than a
month away. The absence of readily available assets within Chile presented
another obstacle. “*We really had 1o extemporize from the very beginning,
and it was an almost impossible sitvation to deal with,” Helms later oh-
served.”

When he had tried to point out these difficulties te President Nixon
on 15 Seplember, Helms recalls, “that was like talking into a gale. [ mean,
wi were to go oul and do the best we could, and that was all there was o
it."" Helms could do linle more than stifle any misgivings he may have
possessed. The President was obviously determined to thwart Allende's in-
augurntion, and the DCI's job was to do whatever the White House o
dered. Helms has explained:

I helieved the Agency to be o service ugeney and 1 think that it is theee 1o try
t0 do what the President wants te hove done amd needs deing, and that there-
fore one should give B the best shod thot one could . . | and if winn weren'l
successful, all right. you failed, but o least vou'd done the best you could
and it might have succeeded,”

The Agency's efforts to prevent Allende’s election thus procecded
ialong two separate paths—Track 1 and Track [l—although similarities in
methods and purposes sometimes ohscured the distinction between the twao,
Both tracks were prepared to sanction all means, including a military coup,
necessary 10 block Allende’s inauguration. What came 1o be called Track 1
consisted of the covent political, economic, and propaganda activities the
40 Commines approved on [4 September and in later meetings. The
Agency worked closely with the State Department on Track [ activities,

Il'ﬂmmm_rﬂ'ﬁlﬁ Chile™s constifulional tradilions, Although ex-

cluded from all knowledge of Track I1, US Ambassador Korry was autho-
rized by the 40 Commitee to encourage a military coup, so long as
President Frei concorred. Track 11 on the other hand, rose from Nixon's
secrel orders to Helms on 15 September. Making no attempt to work
through Frei or to stay within Chile's constinttional framework, Track 11
rapidly Tocused on a military coup as its principal objective, Track I fol-
towed a severely restricted chain of command, with the ClA reporting
directly 10 Kissinger's office in the White House. The State and Defense
Depariments and the 40 Committee knew nothing at all of Track 11, and
Ambassador Koy in Santiago received no word of iz existence.

"Heliiis interview by Frosg, p, 110
Ul o 1R,
“Helms lmerview, 15 June 1981
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Faithfully carrying out the President’s wishes, Helms kept the Us
Congress completely ignorant of Track [ While the sitwation is murkier
with respect 1 Track I, af most only the chairmen of the armed services
and appropriations subcommittees that had jurisdiction over CLA could
huve had any inkling of this joint effort of ClA and the State Depariment.
In the upper chamber, Senator Richard Russell jealously guarded access to
ClA officials, and the DCI invariably sought his approval before briefing
ather Senators on sensitive matters.™ But in the auwtumn of 1970, Russell,
gravely ill and only months frem death, could not provide his customary
guidance, There is, in fact, no evidence that anybody in the Senate was
consulted or advised ahout Track [. On the House side there is also no evi-
dence that, in the crucial weeks between 14 September and 24 Ociober, the
Agency briefed either of the designated commitiee chaimen about Track L
[n that cra, of course, members of Congress did nol expect—aor in most
cases, wish—io be informed of CLA operational matters, For Helms and his
predecessors it would have been most exceptional-—indeed,
unprecedented—to confer widely with legislators about covert Agency
actions.

Afer setting up a special Track II task force at Headguar fl
6 September, the Deputy Director for Plans cabled David Fhiilirlﬁ.l |

| | to head ir, Karamessines met with Phillips and Wesiern
emisphere Division Chief William Broe daily and frequently conferred

with Kissinger and other White House officials. Broe remembers that
Helms himselfl ook a more active interest in Track I than in any other
operation Broe was familiar with. This no doubt reflected Kissinger's in-
tense pressurc on the DCL for up-to-the-minute information and results, In
his osual fashiom, however, Helms generally delegated day-to-day opera-
nonal responsibilities w his subordinates, | |

AREncy ITack T offorts assumed & muripIicTry Or TOTTes. TRmEr pes
of using the $250,000 made available by the 40 Commitiee 1o buy in-

fluence in the Chilean Congress were quickly recognized as illusory, so the
Station wrned o other methods, Agency-generated propaganda appeared
throughout Latin America and in many of the major newspapers of Europe
and Japan. Alleged parallels between the Communist takeover of
Crechoszlovakia in 1948 and the current situation in Chile were widely dis-
seminated. | |
| BIging them [0 plead with Frel o
do whatever was possible (o Block Allende. Prominent members of the

*lohn M. Maury, Legislative Counsel, Memeorasdusn Tor the Beceal, 10 Jue 1969,

“Broe rnicrdiiew, 28 June 1987,
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European Christian Democratic movement were mobilized oo gncourage

Frei to save Chile froanm Marcism. !|

Hoping that finencial chaos might push the Chilean military into de-
tion, Agency officers found Chile's fragile economy an inviting target, On
18 Sepiember, Helms and Karnmessines met with Kissinger at the Whire
House w consider what economic pressures could be Brought o bear
against Chile. They apparently discussed a recent ITT offer to mm 51 mil-
lion of corporate funds over to the CIA for the purposc of blocking
Allende’s confirmation. On 22 September, Broe met with the head of ITT's
Washington office to explore ways the multinational might influcnce the
balloting in the Chilean Congress. A week later, Helms, warning his 40
Committes colleagues that Allende's promises (0 impose Marxism on Chile
must be taken seriously, helped tum back Stare Department efforts 1o tone
down the economic warfare against Chile. That same day, under instruc-
tions from the DO, Broe journeyed 1o New York o talk with a senior ITT
official. The CIA officer proposed a large-scale program to create eco-
nomic turmoil in Chile as & way of pressuring the Christian Democrats to
vole against Allende, or failing that, to weaken the new government's posi-
tion. Although Karamessines telephoned MeCone to request the former
DCIs backing for Broe's scheme, ITT showed little interest in the
Agency’s proposal. Similarly, CIA"s efforts (o enlist Anaconda Copper,
General Motors, and several other large American corporations with hold-
ings in Chile failed, while atlempts to trigger & run on Chilean banks were
equally unprodective. Meanwhile, the impending 24 October vote drew
steadily closer,

lnquiries, reflecting both Track I and Track 11 efforts, into possilile
military action at fiest proved no more fruitful. Four false-flag operatives—
officers posing as nationals of countries other than Chile or the Unied
States—arrived in the country and rapidly established contact with Chilean
oflicers interested in promoting a coup. Agency personnel intimated to cer-
tain officers that the United States was willing w0 support a military solu-
tion by all means short of outright armed intervention. A special

Headquarters arrangement with the Defense Department i

|Om 23 September, however, the C1A Station
I Saniiage reported: CStrong reasons for thinking neither Frei nor
Schneider will act. For that reason any scenario in which either has to play

Chuerch committes, Coverr Aetipr, o 24-5.
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an active role now appears ullerly unrealistic.” The need, an Agency post
mortem later explained, was o overcome “the apolitical. constitulional-
oriented inertia of the Chilean military.”"

Dwring these weeks many of the CIAs contacts were with officers
close (o Brig. Gen. Roberto Wiaux, who had been retired after launching an
unsuceessful coup apainst President Frei in 1969, That Amencan hopes
could be pinned on such a figure—remembered by Phillips years loter as
“a crazy” —reveals something of the desperation Agency officers felt as
the 24 October deadline eapidly approsched.” Viaux initially asked for a

sizable airdrop of arms and ammunition, a regquest Langley on 6 Oetober
denied as impractical. The general did receive -LIII |
token of American good faith and a CIA promise o 0T in Tife insur-

ance. After frequent meetings with Agency operatives in late September
and early October, Wiaux reported his readiness to stage a coup on the night
of 9-10 Octoher. At this point, Karamessines intervened to scoich the
proposal. A move by Viaux at this tme, Agency officers decided. would
not command the support necessary o succeed. It would be better 10 wail
for a more propilious cocasion.

It increasingly appeared that such an occasion might never arise. The
problem, exasperated CIA officers agreed, was thar President Frei was un-
able or unwilling {or both) to provide the nccessary leadership. The
agency's task. one report concluded, “was one of sttempling 1o recast Frei,
as a political personality, in a role demanding decisiveness and “machizme’
o a degree that, thus far, had eluded him." After several contacts with
Agency officers, this report observed, the Chilean president remained “gra-
cious. understanding, and frank as always, and, as always with him, noth-
ing happened.”™™

On 10 October, with only two weeks to go before the Chilean
Congress reconvened, Karamessines reported to Alexander Haig,
Kissinper's deputy, that prospects for a coup looked dimmer than ever. Oy
13 October, Ambassador Koy met ficst with Kissinger, then Nixon Lo
warn against trying o pull off a coup that was not likely o succeed. The
A Committee received the diplomat’s views the following day, along with
Karammessines's assessment, as part of Track I, that a coup climae did not
pxisr, Om 15 October the 40 Commitiee {s6ill unaware of the exisience of a
second trsck) called a halt to most Track [ activities.

Recollections differ as to what happened next. On 13 October,
Karamessines reported privately o Kissinger and Haig on Track I1, ohserving
that Viaux had no better than a 1-in-20 chance of bringing off a successful
coup. In his memoirs Kissinger has writien that he then ordered Track 11 ter-
risated, and that as far a5 he and President Nivon were concermed, his order

“Chureh comminee, Alleped Assarrinaiion Plets, g X3; Report on C1A Chilean Task Foree
Adtivities, 18 Movgmbser |90k

“Phillipe nterveew, @ Jane 1983

“Repart on 1A Chilesn Tark Foece Adlivities, |5 Novensher 1900
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erded all covert activities seeking to prevent Allende’s election.™ IF this was
Kizsinger's intention, it was ool understood by Karamessines or the CIA.
Karamessines believed that Kissinger hod directed him only to discoorage
Wiaux from premature action. On 16 Oclober, instrecting the Santiago Station
o rein in Yiaux, Headquaners added:

It iz frm and continuing policy shat Allerds be overthrown by a coup,

Wi are 10 coantinue B gencrate maximum pressune towand s end wilizing
every appropriate resource. . - . There is great and continuing inferest in the
Ili"'i'i'“-f. of [seweral Chilean conspirators] and we wish them optimum good
Fartune.

Immediately the pace of events in Chile quickensd. A Viaux associaie
informed his Agency contact that officers around Viaux planned to kidnap
General Schreider within the next few days, before launching a full-scale
coup. At the same rime other Chilean officers with ties 10 Brig. Gen.
Camilo Valenzuela, commander of the Santiago garrison, asked CIA
representatives for tear gas grenades, three submachineguns, and ammuni-
tion. Having secured an Agency pledge |:Im a successiul abdog-
tion, the Valenzuela group attempled to kidnap Schneider, first on
19 October and then again the next day. Both tries failed. In the early dawn
hours of 22 October, with barely two days remaining before the crucial
vote, an intermediary delivered the requested machineguns and ammunition
o Valenzucla associates, Agency officers were not optimistic. The task
force log noted that “the prospect for a coup succeeding or even occurring
[sic] before 24 October now appears remote,™ ™

But before the Valenzuela group could use its newly acquired
weapons, Viaox's plotters staged their own attempt to kidnap General
Schneider. Although their effort also failed, in the attempt they Fatally
wounded Schneider, A subsequent investigation by & Congressional com-
miftes headed by Senator Frank Chorch exonerated the Agency of any
direct complicity in the peneral's death:

Although the ClA continoed to support coup plotters up to Schneider’s
shooting, the recond indicates that the ClA had withdrawn active suppon of
the group which carroed ot the actual kidnap atempt on October 22, which
resulted in Schneider’s dearth, Further, it does not appear that any of the
equipment supplied by the CIA 10 coup plotters in Chile was used in the kid-
mapping. Thens is no evidence of a plan to kill Schneider or thar Umited
States officials specifically anticipated thit Schneider would be shot during
the abduction.”

"Kissinger, White Howse Years, pp. 674, 676,

“Cable, Headquarters #802, 16 Comaber 1970,
“Chile Logs - Track 11, 72 Oetober 1970,

"Chureh committer, Alleged Arsassimarlan Plars, 1, 5
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This conclusion is certainly wirranted, although other evidence sug-
gests that it is narrowly framed, A Chilean military cour, for inslance, lter
determined that the Viaux men present at the fatal 22 Oclober absduction at-
tempt had also taken part in the eadier ClA-supporied Valenzuela attempts
an 19 and 20 October, This tends o blur the distinetion mude betwesn the

two groups 1 the Church committec n:-:nm:lu:»ii1.1r|.'II

t would, nevertheless, be unfair to assign CLA, a5 an instrument of
American policy, principal responsibility for Schneider™s death, This bus-
den must propery rest on an administration that insisted on sparing no ef-
fort o deny Allende the presidency. A few years later, as he coped with
seemingly inexhaustible Church committee demands for Agency docu-
ments, an embitiered CLA senior officer observed that it was American for-
gign policy toward Chile thai was under examination, net CIA
implementation of it. “*In an age of gun-boat diplomacy when the U5
Marines waded ashoee in Haiti,” he protested, “critics may have deplored
US policy, but they did not laeunch a Congressional investigation of the US
Marine Corps.™™

Time having ron out, Agency personnel in Chile began closing down
operations in the wake of the bungled abduction atempt. On 23 October,
Helms reviewed the situation with his key subordinates. They sgreed, the
task force log records, that “a maximum effort has been achieved and that
now only Chileans themselves can manage a successful coup, The Chileans
have been guided 1o a point where a military solution 15 ot l=ast an option
open to them.”™

Declaring a state of emergency after General Schneider was shot,
President Frei gave the military open-ended authority to maintain order. For
a brief moment, Headquarters hoped that the dramatic 22 October attack
was an Opening move in 4 coup attempt, But the unexpected wounding of
Schneider evidently inhibited further action. On 24 October 1970, Salvador
Allende received 153 of the 195 votes cast in the Chilean Congress. The
next day Schneider died, and on the day after that President Frei and
President-elect Allende stood side by side at the general’s funeral. On
1 Movember 1970, Salvador Allende was sworn in a5 Chile’s new president.

" Special Mandate from ihe President oo Chile,” CIA Bricfing Paper, 13 July 1975
Raymoend A Warren, Memorandim for the Heview Safl, |7 Janaery 1976

loha H, Waller, Memorandum For the Review Siaff, 4 December 1975,

"Chile Logs — Trock 1L, 24 Cleraber 19700
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The Fall of Allende

CIA continued 1o monitor Chilean affairs after Allende’s ITELra-
tion, and by some measures its interest increased. Within the Western
Hemisphere Divisiom, Broe created a separate branch deiling exclusivels
with Chilean matters, in recognition of the adminisications heightened
concern. Budgetary figures also reflect this augmenied interest, In the
months preceding Allende’s accession o power, the Agency had spent be-
tween SE00.000 and $1,000.000 on covert action in Chile. Over the follow -
ing three years, it would expend nearly $7 million more, the larger part of
it before Richard Helms stepped down us DCI. These funds financed exsen-
sive clandestine activities, including support for opposition political par-
lies. propaganda operations, and covert backing for private secior organiza-
tions and the media.”

This extensive imvolvement logically flowed from the assumption:
and commitments behind bath Treacks [ and 11 A memorasdum thar DOP
Karamessines wrone after his 15 Qctaber 1970 meeling with Kissinger
when the National Security Adviser directed the Agency to break off thes 10

"Chusch vosisites, Crveer Ao, p. 1
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Viaux, clearly demonstrates this linkage. Karamessines records that
Kissinger ended this meeting by noting that the ClA “should continue
keeping the pressure on every Allende weak spot in sight—now, afier the
2dth of October, after 5 November [sie; Kissinger probably mean:
3 November, insuguration day], and into the future uniil such time a5 new
marching orders are given.”™ Later, before the Church commitiee,
Karamessines expanded on this:

As far as | was concerned, Track 11 was really never ended. What we were
told 10 do in effect was, well, Allende is now President. So Track 1L which
sought to prevent him from becoming President, was technically out, It was
done, But what we were tald to do wes 1o coatinee our effort. Sfay plert, and
bo do what we could 1o contribule te the eventaal achievement of the ohijec-
tives and purposes of Track IL That being the case, I don't think it is proer
tr say that Track 1T was ended."

Karamessines's explanation is misleading, since once Allende was in-
stalled, there is no evidence that US policy or CIA action ever had his
overthrow a3 an objective, National Security Decision Memorandum 93,
however, gives some background that helps explain the sense in which
Karamessines evidently considered Track I siill alive. Adopted six days
after Allende's inauguration, this document set forth official American
policy toward Chile, While the US Government would be publicly “correct
bt cool™ toward the new regime in Santiago, behind the scenes it would
seek “to maximize pressures on the Allende povemment to prevent its con-
solidation and limil its ability to implement policies contrary to US and
hemisphere inferests.”" The Agency’s clandestine activities after the in-
stallation of the new Chilean leadership appear to have followed this direc-
tive, approved at the highest levels of the government.

The Agency’s efforts to “maximize pressures” on the Allende
government, however, did not go so far as actively o promote the coup in
September 1973 that roppled President Allende. In this respect
Karamessines's ambigoous reference to continuing Track 17 is seriously
misleading. The Church committes, not known for its enderness oward
the CIA, spent months searching for hard evidence of direct American par-
tcipation in the eveénts leading w Allende's overtheow and death bat ulii-
mately failed 10 produce any. The record, the committee concluded,
indicated that CIA maintained “'a careful distinction between SUpPOITing
the oppesition parties,” on the one hand, and “funding private-sector
groups trying to bring about a military coup™ on the other

Thamas Karapessines, Memorondom of Conversation, 15 Cctober 19740
“Church commitiee, Alleged Asenrsimarion Plars, §i. 254,

“Chile: Operating Dirccive—FY 72

“Church sommitive, Caverr Acrion, XL
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The Senate investigators, however, went on o sugpest that the facts
before them might ot tell the entire story. The committes hypothesized
that the United States, “by its previous actions during Track 11, its EXisting
gencral posture of oppaosition 1o Allende, and the nature of its contacts with
the Chilean military,” ““probably™ promoted the idea among Chile's officer
corps that Washington would mot be unhappy if a coup occarmed. Moting
that CLA etficials and American military attaches maintained contacts with
the Chilean military during the Allende years, ostensibly to collect intelli-
gence, the commitiee wondered whether these contacts “strayed into en-
couraging the Chilean military to move against Allende™: or whether the
Chilean military “took encouragement to act against the President from
those contacts even though 1.5, officials did not intend 1o provide ™
American officials in the years before 1973 “may not always have suc-
ceeded in walking the thin line between monitoring indigenous coup plot-
ting and actually stimulating it,” one of the commites's repaorts concluded,
againfxp-;n:ssmg a degree of uncertainty rather than rendering a firm juds-
L.

While these speculations remain unproved, they have a certain plau-
sibility. The committee’s generalizations, however, do not attempi 1o distin-
guish between Helms's actions as DCI and those of his two successors in
1973, James Schiesinger and Williem Colby, It is not casy to define with
precision CIA's role in Chile under Richard Helms, since he retired ag O]
eight months before Allende’s government fell in September 1973,
Meorcover, the very drama of events in Chile in 1973 has colored recollec-
tions of the 1971-72 period when Helme was still respansible for the
Agency.

Certain facts about the Helms years are & matter of record. We know,
for instance, that on 30 October 1970 the Deputy Director for Plans
informed the DCI that Allende had met with a number of “hardline
leflists™ and ““promised them everything.” A week later, the Dirsctor con-
veyed a similar message in briefing the National Security Council on the
new government tn Chile. “Let ws make o misiake | . " Helms wamed.
“This is a hardline, militant cabinet. It reflects the determination of the
Socialists to assert their more radical policy from the start.” Although
Allende had issued a plea for international understanding, he had then ap-
pminted a foreign minister who was “so far to the left™ that he had even
alienated Moscow in the past. Predicting worsening relations hetween
Santiago and Washington, Helms reported that Allende had promised Latin
American revolutionaries that Chile would become a center of support for
their efforts 10 overthrow neighboring governments.”

e .

Tid._ pp. 11, 28
"Morning Mesting Minutes, 30 Ocraber 1970 Memarsndum, “Briefing by Bichard Hakms
for WS, & Nowvember 157
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Secking to trunslate these broad outlines into policy, the Agency
channeled substantial sums @ opposition political parties, primarily the
Christian Democrats, Alessandrn’s National Party, and vanous splinter
proops. It subsidized anti-Allende newspapers, most notably Bl Mercuria,
and produced books snd magazines. It orchesirated a nationwide
propaganda campaign and developed material critical of the regime for use

by newspapers, radio, and television. |

military. These contacts kept the Agency abreast of coup planning, bul, &5
the Church committee report suggests. they probably also served 1o en-
courage or incite plotting. For instance, the Santiago Station gave a
friendly Chilean officer information purperting to document alarming
Cuban influence within the Chilean security apparatus, information thar, in

Fact, the CIA had fabricated.” |
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As for CLA's analytical side, the Church committee later noted that a
1971 Special National Intelligence Estimate (SNIE) and a 1972 NIE both
used relatively restrained language in characterizing Allende’s current poli-
cies and future prospects, Observing that Chilean democracy continued to
display “a remarkable resiliency.” the June 1972 estimate was relatively
sanguine about the chances for an “open and meaningful™ presidential
election at the end of Allende’s term in 1976, In foreign affairs, the lefiist
leader had embraced a “cautious, independent course,” expanding relations
with other Communist countries more slowly than anticipated and offering
only madest help to groups seeking o export revolution to Chile's neigh-
bowrs." The Church committee asked if this estimate’s more moderate tone
could be squared with the CIA's active program of covert operations in
Chile barween 1970 and 1973, and whether decisionmakers had adequately
considered the intelligence analysts’ judgments in formuolating American
policy.™

These querses po to the heart of two key questions, One concerns the
attention that wp policymakers give—or do not give—to the estimative
views of the DCI and the inteliigence community, The second, ceniral 1o
this chapter, concems Helms's quandary in trving to carry out a DCI's
responsibility to be at the same time the covert arm of the President's for-
cign policy and the President’s dispassionate chief assessor of world de-
velopments. Even though Helms chaired and signed off on the intelligence
community's MIEs and SKN1Es, it is clear that he believed that his first
responsibility was (o carry out the President's operational commands. As
Fielms later explained, the point was:

that the clected President of e United States, who by the Constituion is the
maker of U3 forcign policy, decided then be wanted something done. - . . IT
wiz turned out 2 hundred SNIEs which said “Allende is a bovely fellow; just
lezve il bo him apd things will just bloom in Chile,” that would have made
ngr difference if the President wams something elss done.

Fhi]]ipﬁ.i ||:4:I1ued his former boss’s words:
“It was one of T05E & mutter how right [the estimates)

arc, the President has told us to do this.™ In Helms's view he had but two
choices: “You go with the President or you get out of the government.”™™
After keaving office, Helms was subjected o Congressional investigation, pub-
lic and media scrating, and eventually legal proceedings arising from the
Agency's actions in Chile during his time as DCL Ultimately, on 4 Novernber
LS7T, Judge Barrington D). Parker in the Fedepal District Court sentenced
Felms to two years in jail, 10 be suspended, and & $2,000 fine afier he had
pleaded nobo comtendere to twe misdemeanor counts of failing to testify “lully
and completely’ before Congress about ClA activity during the Allende era.
This judgment stemmed from his appearance before the Senate Foreign

"MIE 04-T2, 2% June 1972
hueeh commitiee, Ceavert Action, p 3
“Helms isterviesw, 15 June 1983; Phillips inieeview, % June (983
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Eelations Commitiee on 7 February 1973, following his nomination as
Ambatsador 1 lean, Asked by Senator Stuan Symington, “Did you try in the
Central Inelligence Agency o ovenhrow the Government in Chile?” Helms
had responded with an unequivocal “No, sic.™” The Senator then asked: “Did
yiul have any money passed to the opponents of Allende™ Again, “No, sie"™™

Helms would later maintsin that he had not wanted to mislead the
Senate, but that he had found himself confronted by diametrically opposed
obligations: o respond candidly and completely to the commities’s ques-
fions, and to avoid divelging classified information o unauthonzed per-
sons. Central to Helms's perception of the choices before him was his
comviction that he was authonzed o reveal Agency operations oaly to the
four Congrezsional commitizes excrcising intelligence oversight.
Conscious as he testified before the Foreign Belations Commitlee that
Allende was in & position to exact retribution, Helms feared that candos
might cavse imepareble damage o important national interests. Faced with
this dilemma, be did what many of his colleagues have since testified they
would have dong: he deliberately nammowed his answers so seversly o5 10
render them meaningless and mistcading,

In 1974, Congress relicved Helms's successors of the dilemmsa that be had
confronted the year before. Reacting to revelatons and allegations about CIA in-
volvement in Chile, Congress adogued the Hughes-Ryan amendment, which re-
quired the Agency to report o Congress “in a imely fashion™ all covert opera-
tions other than those intended sobely for abtaining intelligence. The amendment
stipulated that esch such eperation must be preceded by a Presidential Finding
that it was “important o the national security™ of the United States. By enacting
these restrietions the legislators gave voice to a widespread sentiment that covert
activity of the kind carried out in Chile between 1970 and 1973 should be far
more closely monitored. In this unforesecn manner, Agency actions under
Richard Helms made it illegal for future presidents o onder DOCTs to carry oul
their directivies without first informing Congress. Helms's experience suggests
that this was not necessarily & bad thing.

Owver ihe years, Richard Helms would express frustration over the at-
tention accorded the Agency's role in Chile by Congressional investigators,
journalistz, and historians. “Chile was [not] menning the world in 1970,
he remarked at one point. Clearly the retrospective focus on the rise and
fall of Allende skews our understanding of Helms’s actual perspective and
priorities al the Gme. Mor does Helms recall devoting much time to Chilean
matters once Allende had been inaugurated.™ Although the former DCI's
recollections of the limited time he devoted to Chile are undoubtedly ac-
cirake, his name has been permanently linked o Allende™s, To many this
gems an unjust reward for Richard Helms's long and distinguished service
as Dijrectoe of Central Intelligence.

HUS Congrers, Senate, Commiites on Foseign Relations, Meanngs: Mosninmbion of Rickard
Heluwg s be Ambarsador o frow aed CIA foferaational and Dosaesric Acvividies, Tad Coag.,
Tar gees, {Washangtan, DC: GRO, 1974) (hereafer ciled as Mearmpe: Helmr to frw, po 47,
"Helms intervica, 15 Tone 1963,




I

Chapter 3

Defectors and Hostile Penetration
Robert M. Hathaway

Lunching one day with Woshington Post editor Ben Bradlee, long
after leaving the Agency, Richard Helms suddenly asked the joumnalist:
Do you know what T worrbed about most as Director of the CIAT?
Bradlee mentioned several of the obviows topics, then fell silent. Helms"s
response was unexpected. “The CIA 15 the only intellipence service in the
Western world which has never been penetrated by the KGB,” Helms fi-
nally replied. “That's what 1 worried about.™'

Although Bradlee doubtless accepted the contention that CIA was
still inviolate, there is a ceriain ambiguity in Helms's response. Did he
worry only about the potential threat, or did he perhaps also worry that the
KGB might already have penetrated CIAT Can @ DCI ever be certain that
his agency has escaped significant hostile penctration? Or must he simply
build the best safepuards he can and then trust (o his subordinates® skill and
perspicacity—and luck?

At bottom, Helms's reply to Bradles was an act of faith, an unverfi-
able assumption. For despite a DCUs understandable hunger for reassur-
ances on these matters, the very nature of coonterintelligence precludes
certainty, All questions remain open, all possibilites thinkable, Individuals
cleared of malignant designs at one moment may promptly fall again under
suspicion, for counterinteliigence demands erernal skepticism. In reality, an
intelligence service would not function for long if its members could not
establish 4 common foundation of trust. Even coumterintelligence officers
must at times lay some of their caution 0 one side. Yet o suspend doubt
akrout the intentions of one’s colleagues violates the first principle of coun-
terintelligence. It represents the deliberate chowce of hope over fear,

‘Thomas Powers, The Men Who Kepr thie Secrerr: Richond Hefme and the O (Mew Yoek
Alfred A Knopd, 1987, . 63
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The impossibility of absolute certainly does not render the counterin-
ielligence function any less vital. IF anything, it ratses the stakes, " Beang
penctrated by a hostile service is one of the real disasters,” Helms once
remarked. *Any Dhrecior of Central Tntelligence is bound 1o be deeply con-
cermed about the day that he may walk into the office amd have someons
ell him that a Soviet penetration has been found in the organizanon. This
is obvicusly a Director's nightmare,™

Defectors frequently furnish the first beads about hostile penetration.
Bui valuable as they are, not all defectors con be equally trusted. Some
deliberately fabricate information in an effort to exagperate their impor-
tance. Dthers mix fact with fantasy until they no longer remember whick is
which, Most dangerous of all, some are dispatched by the enemy to con-
fuse and deceive. A false defector whese information is believed o be true
can disrupt an entire intelligence sérvice. For this reason, detérmining the
bona fides or authenticity of defectors tzkes precedence over almost all
other countenintelligence tasks.

Discovering that one’s allies have been penetrated is almost as great a
disaster as finding a mole in one'’s own service. Secrets passed to friends
no longer remain confidential, joint opecations fall apart, and recrimina-
tions replace confidence. Each of these three conundrums—"the inviolabil-
ity of one’s own service, the genuineness of defectors, and the penetration
of allied agencies™ —leads back o the other tao. All three throw doubt on
the CIA™S fundamental integrity and capacity © carry out s missions.
Richard Helms confronted all three as DL and two of them-—""the ques-
tionz of CIA's possible penetration and of defectors” bona fides™ —
threatened his Agency with open schism, Ultimately, none of the three lend
themselves o tidy once-and-Tor-all =olution,

The primary responsibility for protecting the Director from thess
dangers Loy with the Counterintelligence (CI) Staff. Nominally a staff ele-
ment within the Deputy Directorate of Plans (DDPY,” the C1 Staff had been
led since 1954 by James Angleton, who had ficst practiced hiz crafi as a
young 085 officer in World War I, By the mid-1960s, Angleton’s staff
had evolved i an antonomous fiefdom, operating outside regular chan-
nels and enjoying direct access o a succession of DCIz, When Helms
moved into the Director’s office in 1966, Angleton was already a legend
within the Agency—a brilliant, dedicated professional with counterintelli-
gence experience unmatched in the Western world. Like Helms, Angleton
had made the transion from OS85 o CIA after the war, and by the 19605
he was accorded a mixture of deference and awe. In Angleton's case this

"Richard Heles, iniervew by Hobert b, Hathewey, tape recording, Washingion, DC, 30 May
1984 (hereafter cibed as Helms snnerview. 30 May 19%54),

“rcund 1965, the “Deputy”™ was dropped from the names af the Directorates ol Suppan
fpaw Administration), Imellipence, and Science amnd Technology. The Direciowate of Flans,
which continued 1o ude b alernae rm Clasdesiineg Services (L8], was renamed the
[rectorale of (hpertions {00 in 1973
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attitude was reinforced by his consciously enveloping himself and his staff
i an aura of mystery, hinting at knowledge of grive seerets and hidden in-
trigue too sensitive to share,

In 1936 it was Angleton who managed (o ubtah—ﬁ
copy of Nikita Khrushchev's secret denunciation of Stahin be-

- soviet Union's Twentieth Party Congress. This cou pe on top of a
distinguished wartime record, established Angleton's reputation for all time
and ensured him a place of prominence in the Agency. His relatively
moddest position in the chain of command in no wiy reflected his actual jn-
fluence. Several times a week, for example, he would drive Allen Dulles
home from work, a task that afforded him incomparable access to the DCL
In one notable instance, Angleton and Dulles debated the relative merils of
Helms and Richard Bissell to succeed Frank Wisner as Deputy Director Tos
Plans (DDP). Angleton thus found himself in (he extroordinary position of
advising on the selection of his new boss.*

Utterly convinced of the seriousness of the threat facing the Wesr,
Angleton by the mid-1960s had come 1o hold 3 set of views that, il ac-
curate, poriended grave consequences for the United States. Anpleton be-
licved that the Soviel Union, guided by as skillful a group of leaders as
ever served one government, was implacable in its hostility toward the
Wesl. Intemational Communism remained monolithic, and reports of a rift
between Moscow and Peking were only part of an elaborate “disinforma-
tien campaign.” An “integrated and purposetul Socialist Bloc,” Angleton
wItde in 1966, sought o foster false stories of “aplits, evolution, power
struggles. economic disasters, [and] good and bad Commanism™ to present
“a wilderness of mirrors™ 1o the confused West. Onee this program of sira-
tegic doception had succeeded in splintering Westemn solidarity, Moscow
wonld find it an easy matter o pick off the Free World nations one by one.
Only the Western intelligence services, in Angleton's view, could counter
this challenge and stave off disaster, And because the Soviets had
penelrated every one of these services, the fate of Western civilization
rested, 10 4 large extent, in the hands of the counterintelligence experis.
Their “only priority,” Angleton told members of the CI Staff shortly
before Helms became DCI, was “penetration and disinformation. . . .
[Thhere is ne other priority."’ Opinion within the CIA on Angleton and his
views wis sharply divided. Many of the officers most experienced io Bloc
affairs endorsed the principal tenets of his outlook.® Nowhers was this truer

“lamnes Amgletan, interview by Robert b Hoibwway, tape recording, Washingion, DO, 27 July
1984 (hereafter cited s Angleton interview, 27 July 1984). Angleton st this particular argu-
menl. far ke thowpht Helms the betier choice. DET Fohn MceCone appeinted Helms DDP in
Fehruary 1963, when Bissell lefl the Agency afier the Bey of Pigs dizaster,

“Iames: Angleioa, CACD, letier bo Marcel Chalee, 7 June |966- James Anglen, bricflag o CI
Haff, ¢, March |66

“*Bloc™ in this chapter refers to the Soviet Unian and ihé castern Eurogpean couniress under
i3 SUZETRINCY, @ Uskpe commeon throophaut CIA i the Helms pericd. It does not refier tr an
alleged Sine-Soviet Bloc, the existonce of which most Agency cxpens had diseounted by the
mid- 1960, Mot does it impdy that Russia ssd ils eastem Eurapean nedghbars invariably sced
a5 3 monalithes entity in isdernstions] T,
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than in the DDPs Soviet Russia Division (SK), headed in 1966 by David
E. Murphy. (nhers, however, ndiculed Angleton®s habitual tendency to see
all Soviet actions as purposelul, rather than 0 admit a role for chance,
coincidence, or other contingent explanations. In 1971 a former Angleton
disciple described how in Angleton’s scheme of things “the circle of con-
spiracy grew ever wider uniil a point of real absurdily was reached.”” By
the mid- 1960, maore than oae officer familiar with Angleton’s work had
copcluded that his obsession with Soviet machinations had so skewed his
perspective @3 1o undermine the effectivencss of the entire CI Staff. A
siudy completed for the Direclorate of Operations {DO) in 1976 termed
him “*a man of loose and disjointed thinking whose theories, when applied
to matters of public record, were patently unworthy of serious considera-
tion,™" Even his detractors, however, conceded that the CI chief was, after
his own fashion, a genius.

Although Helms knew that Angleton provoked hostility in some
guarters, he also admired the man’s abilities, intelligence, and tenacity,
Angleton's experience, he believed, made him the officer best able to
Fathom the arcane world of double agents, disinformation, amd Talse defec-
tors, where appearances were often little more than a disguise for duplicity.
As TICT Helens sometimes mystified and exasperaled other senior officers
by his staunch support for Angleton, Howard Oshorn, Director of Sccurity,
recalls “how Helims never turmed [Angleton] down on anything,” Even if
everyone in a mecting opposed Angleton™s view, Helms always decided in
fawor of his CI chief. *Tt never failed,” Osborn insists, “ne matier how
senior [Angleton’s] opponent.”™” Oshom exaggerates the case, but this per-
ception naturally served o increase Angleton®s stature and power in the
Agency. David Murphy has explained how he tended to defer to Angleton,
on the assumpdion that with such firm backing from the DCI, Angleton
must knew something that others did not."” Long after he reticed, Helms
conceded that he eventually came to believe thar Angleton had gone “a lit-
tte bit overboard” in some of his convictions." As DCI, however, Helms's
steady support made Angleton a key Agency figure, who was well posi-
tioned to play a leading role in some of the mwost controversial episodes of
the Helms years,

Yuriy Ivanovich Nosenko

Of all the problems that Richard Helms confronted dering his nearly
seven years as DCL few gave him greater trouble than the Nosenko case.

JmT_ranmrnndum for the Record, 28 January E971.
. o Monster Met: Counterimelligence in the Case of Yoy vanavich

Moscnka,” December 1976 cherenfier cited 25 Hart, “Mozster Flot™) DC1 William Colby
forced Angleton to retire in December 1974

‘Cleveland Cram, memarandum, “Discussion with Mr Howard Oshorme™ [sic].
16 Mowenvber 197H.

“Ibm'.,lm—mlh{fmmmdum for the Recond, D December 1975,
"Hizbm s THIE : oy 194
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Indeed, he later confided, I den't think there has ever been anything more
frustrating in my life "

The beginning of the affair goes back several years before Helms's
appointment &8 DCL On 5 June 1962, Soviet KGE officer Yuriy Ivanovich
Mosenko contacted American Embassy officers in Geneva with an offer 1o
sell intelligence information. Over the next nine days Soviet Russia
Division's Tennent (Pete) Bagley secretly met with Nosenko on five occa-
siong. During these furtive rendezvous, Nosenko revealed the ideqlity of an
American ‘hom Soviet intelligence had recruited, the lo-
cation of !Z‘R'G'Bmﬁr-:;n:a in the US Embassy in Moscow, and other
useful leads, On 15 June, Nosenko returned to Moscow, after agreeing o
reestablish contact with CIA when next in the West. Bagley, exuliant over
his new source, sped back o Headquarters to repon.”

The defection six months earlier of another KGB officer, Anatoliy
Golitsyn. heavily influenced the CIA's reaction ko Bagley's new find.
Agency officers. accustomed to working with wispy leads and a pavcity of
hard data, marveied at their apparent good fortune in obtaining two o
padentiatly valiable sources almost simultanecusly. The more experienced
officers, however, were immediately skeptical that good forune had any-
thing to do with this timing. Golitsyn had warned that Moscow would dis-
patch provecatears and false leads to discredit his information and to
protect Soviet penetrations within the American Government. Afier receiy-
ing a bricfing on Bagley's new source, Gulitsyn confidently pronounced
Nosenko a disinformation agent sent to sidetrack CLA's huni for moles."

For reasons most intelligence professionals still do not underseand,
Angleton accepted at face value virually every judgment Golitsyn ren-
dered over more than & decade. As a consequence, Bagley's enthusiasm
evoked only cold skepticism from the counterintelligence chief, who used
his great prestige 1w persuade Bagley that Mosenko represented not an op-
portunity, but a threat. Nineteen months later, when Nosenko reappeared in
Geneva and announced his desire 1o defect, Agency officers working on the
case arbitrarily dismissed the possibility of his being bona fide. In early
February 1964, ClA, giving Nosenko no inkling of its suspicions, whisked
him out of Geneva and back to the United States. Two months of question-
ing failed 1o dispel these doubts, and in April DDP officess confined him to
i safehouse in Maryland and informed him that CIA had known al] along
of his KGB mission. Despite Nosenko's repeated assertions that he was a
genuine defector, DDP began hostile interrogation two days later. In che
months and years that followed, the Counterintelligence $taff and Soviet

“US Cangress, House, Sebect Commisier on Assassinatiogs, Hearings: Mveitigation of the
Assarsitalion af Prexidens Joba F. Keenedy, U wale, 95th Cong., 3d sesn,, [Washingeon, DM
ey, 1979) (hereafier closd as House, Hearings, Ascarsinarion af SERY IV, p. M

“Hart, “Monster Plo,™
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Russia Division dismissed the voluminous informabion his queshicming
produced as a smokescreen designed to obscure cases of real value. Some
of what Nosenko offered was, indeed, transparently false. Yet when
Mosenko produced information whose accuracy they could not dispute, his
handlers cloimed it was “giveaway™ material that the Soviets presumed
ClA already had."”

The case assumed a special urgency when Mosenko reported that he
had personally reviewed the KGB files on Lee Harvey Oswald, President
Kennedy's aszassin, Nosenko claimed that the KGB, after Oswald's defec-
tion in 1959 1o the Soviet Union, had identified the American a5 unstable
and declined (o have anything to do with him. This remamed true, accord-
ing 1o Nosenke, even after the former marine reviealed he had been a radar
operater, a specialty believed 1o be of great interest to the Soviets. As
Helms would observe before a Congressional commities many years later,
“This strained credulity at the time. It strains it (o this day.”"™ If Nosenko's
assurances concerning Oswald were true, then the persistent reports of
Sovier involvement in the assassination could be dismissed. On the other
hand, if the KGB had sent Nosenko to mislead CIA, suspicions about a
direct Sovier connection with Kennedv's death would be reinforced, with
consequences, Helms would later say. that could be “staggering.” “Ower-
riding everything,” Angleton explained, was the question of whether the
KGR was involved in the assassination. Establishing Nosenko's bona fides,
Helms observed in 1978, “became & matter of the utmost importance’ 19
the United Stutes “and, indeed, to the world.”"

The Nosenko case had antracted the attention of Richard Helms foom
its very beginting. When Nosenko first approached CIA in 1962, Helms
was Deputy Director for Plans, the Agency officer formally responsible for
the conduct of Soviet intelligence and counterintelligence operations. He
had participated as well in the discussions in 1964 leading to Nosenko's
confinement. Later that vear, Helms had gone privately to Chief Justice
Earl Warren, to warfi him that his commission investigating President
Kennedy's assassination thould not automatically accept Nosenko's assur-
ances ﬁahnut Oswald, since CIA could not vouch for MNosenko's authen-
teaty,

! Mosenko proved a tough case to crack. After over seven months of
hostile examination had faled to elicit a eonfession, Helms concleded that
the likely payoff of further interrogation would not compensate for the con-
tinuing drain on Agency resources, In Movember 1964 he ordered a rapid
windup of the case. This was the irst—"“but not the last” —of several such
directives whose implementation would long be delayed.” Some weeks

ks

"House, Herrings, Asiassinaing of JFE IV, p. 11

& npletnn imerview, 27 July 19984, House, Heorimgs, Azsaestuarinn of JFE, IV, po 21
"Han, =T Mansier Plol™

“Temnenl Bagley, Memosandum for the Becord, 3 Mevember |964.
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later, faced with conlinuing uncerttinty ahout Mosenko's status and deter-
mined subordinates in Soviet Russia Division who held oue hope for a
breakthrough, Helms reluctantly revoked his order.

In mid- 1963, Soviet Russia Division informed Helms, now Deputy
Director of Central Imtelligence, that Nosenko had been transferred to an

isolated :ctuc'kadel |‘]'h:n:, according 0 i later DO™ invest-
gation, he was a ewer amenities than he would have received in

most jails or prisons within the United States. ™ | ‘

Helms had, therelore, had a long-
standing association with e case well before be became DCI al the end of
June 1966.%

[_'_J JIFEB- August Mis Bnedsingss over the whole altar
led hirm to instruct Murphy and DDP Desmond FiteGerald 1o close the case
within 60 days. In issuing this directive, Murphy later explained, Helms
emphisized that knowledge of the case could not be contained fore ver, and
that he was unwilling to accept the inevitable aliacks From Congzress and
the press once it became known that “we had held [Mosenke] in these cir-
cumstances and in what woold be interpreied as outright detiance of law
and custom.” The most suitable resolution of the case. Helms thoughit,
would be 1o return Nosenko to the Soviet Union, where at least he would
have Jittle aceess to the Westeen media,” [

1y = requetl, Helms exfen I3 ay deadhine until the
el of 1966, bul the stubborn Mosenko still refused 1o confess. Finally in
Febroary 1967, 5B Diviston (the new name for SR) submitted & “final
Teprl” on the case, written primarily by Bagley, A lengthy compendium
purporting w analyze all aspects of the affair, it unequivocally concluded
that Mosenko was a KGB agent, dispatched to divert CIA from Investiga-
tiens that might spot hostile penetrations by overwhclming it with false

“In March 1973, the Discetarate of Mand was renomed the Direciorate of Operations (D)
"Hart, "The Ml stz Ploc.”

vl LN LT 5 wilum fior the Bocord, 23 Aupud |56
“David Murphy, CISR. Memarandum for the Record. | Sepiember |966; Helms ingerview,
B May 1984
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leads,” Much to Helms's dismay, Bagley's “final report™ proved anything
but Final. A [ew weeks after the study's completion, Leonard McCay, 2
Soviet Bloc Division officer who had long harbored doubts about the
prevailing views on Nosenko, went out of channels and submitied to Helms
a 31-page memorandum documenting his concerns about the case, After
making a pitch for Nosenko's anthenticity, McCoy went on to say that the
question involved far more than justice for a single individual, The han-
dling of Nosenko, he wrote, “contaminates our Cl analysis now, in past
cages, andd Tor & long time in the future. Rather than being disinformed by
the enemy, we are deluding ourselves.” Moreover, should word of
Nosenka's treatment filter back to the Soviet Union, other potential defec-
tors would be discouraged from coming over.™

McCoy's memorandum demonstrated the high siakes involved in as-
sessing Moscnko's true status, quite astde from the Oswald connection.
Particularly telling was his wamning that the matter went far beyond the fate
of one individual. As long as ClA assumed that Nosenke was a KGB
provocateur, no Agency asset operating behind the Iron Cunain was i1y
mune from suspicion if his reporting confirmed anything Nosenko said. No
defector could be accorded legitimacy unless he denounced Nosenko.
Moreover, Mosenko's assurances that the KGB had failed to infilirate CIA
could be regarded only as disinformation designed o mask senous peeira-
lions, The resultant suspicion might well desway the effectivencss of
Agency operations against the Soviet Bloc and sow undeserved doubls
ahoul the allegiance of loyal Agency officers.

Mor was this merely a hypothetical danger. In an carlier memaoran-
dum for the Director, written near the end of 1966, McCoy had complained
of a “negative environment™ within the Soviet Bloc Division that was
generating:

a widespread feeling of frustration, futility, and impaotence. . . . Old standands
af information and sowurce evaluation kave Bbeen abandonsd and even
roversed . . . with bad analysis driving good apalysis out of cxistence. The
validity of Soviet area expericnce is being dented. The effect is paralysis of
our Sowiet effort.”™

A separate imvestigation camied oul by the Inspector General, Gordon
Stewart, in 1968 echoed McCoy's charges. The attitade prevalent in the Soviet
Bloc Division, the Inspector General reporied, “is now negative, defensive, in-
deed defeatist, It seems that almost every operational opportunity i3 viewed
with such suspicion that defense against the suspected penetration, provecation
or KGB operation becomes our primary objective.”™

"iks shedy was often referred to os Begley's "thousand pager,” although it fell short of this
mark by stbout 10K pages.

] ponard MeCoy, Memorandum for Chief, 3B Division, *Some Observations on the
Masenko Case,” 10 Decemher 1968, copy given o Helnws's secratary in Apml 1507,

¥ eonand MeCay, Memaranduen for the Director, 5 Diesgmmber 1.

"ardus Siewsr, Inspectar General, Memorandum For the Recoed. “Interin Report—Survey
of 5B Division,”™ % May 1965
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The reception accorded two FBI sources codenamed SCOTCH and
BOURBON appeared 1o bear out these darck asgessments, SCOTCH, an
officer in the KGB, and BOURBON, a GRU colonel, hoth offered informa-
tion supporting Nosenko's story, while denying knowledge of significant
penetration of the CIA. By giving credence to Nosenka’s claims, each fell
under suspicion; Bagley's 1967 “thousand pager™ concluded that both
were dispaiched agents whose goals paralleled MNosenko's. Only in Later
years did the Agency concede that both were probably bona fide. In the
meantime,  wvaluable leads were ignored  while  Angletons
Counterintelligence Siaff spun increasingly complex theories to explain
Sovied machinations. “By 1965, a subsequent Agency investigation dis-
closed, “the CT Staff and the SR Division, heavily influenced by their ex-
periences with Golitsyn and Mosenko, had created 3 counterintelligence
environment in which it was difficult, if not impossible, for any Soviet in-
telligence source, walk-in, or defector (o be accepted as genoine, ™™

Helms was well aware of these problems. Even before McCoy's
warning reached his desk, he had determined 1o bring & fresh perspective
into the Nosenko case. Early in March 1967 be directed his DT, VAdm.
Rufus Taylor, to undertake a thorough investigation of the affair, Taylaor
later recalled thar Helms had told him that this was a mitler that worried
him deeply, and that he feared that the DDP offtcers handling Mosenko had
lost their objectivity. The DDCH added that Helms felt:

It was wrong 10 keep [Nosenko] confined and we had b do sunething with
hiny one way or the other, . | [H]e was really distressed about the Fact that
this fellow had been in confinement 5o long an:l that they had never been
able to arrive at a conclusion as o whether he wat 0 bona fide . . . and ke
Just had to get it resalved ™

Significantdy, Angleton opposed bringing Taylor into the case. It was
& seriows mistake, he later remarked. *“What had heen highly compartmen-
talized had become another group going into the entire matter, . . . It was g
greal error of judgment.” Recalling these events, Angleton conceded that
Helms had faced immense pressures, “[ can understand the frustrations of
a front office in terms of mo resolving things. But . . . it's a failure 1o
FecOgnize | . . that you don'l see the resolving of cases in your own life.
time. You've ot to live with these sort of allegations.™ Afier three years
of indecision, however, the DCI was no longer prepared to wait a
lifetime—his or Nosenko's. The Cl chief’s advice would be rejectad

1 7
“WAdm Rwfus taylor, isterview By Joln Hart, 1976 thereafter cited ag Taylor inderview,

I1%Tay
Angletan interview, 27 Tuly 1984
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Helms's directive o Tayior in 19467 finally broke the logjam,
althowgh the case dragged on for another two years. In May, Howard
Oshorn, Director of Secunty, informed the DDCT thar bis office had never
been convinead that Mosenko was a Soviet plunt and had substantial reser-
vations about the professionalism of the methods Soviet Bloe Division had
wsed in interrogating Nosenko. Specifically, the two polygraph examina-
tions given the Russian had been designed not to establish his true inten-
liens, but only to “break him” (At one point the polvgraph had been
rigged with belis and lights, which could be manipulated by 5B persoanel
hidden in another room, and whose sole purpose was o roitle Mosenko.)
Osbomn recommended that Bruce Solie, 4 senior siaff member of the Office
of Security, be placed in charge of further interrogation.™

Unimpressed by Bagley's lenpthy review, Admiral Taylor repored o
Helms that neither Bagley nor anyone else had been able o explain how
the Soviets might have hoped to benefit by sending Nosenko as a
provocateur. The Rossian, he concluded, posed no threat o CIA and ought
to be rehabilitated, The DDCI alse brought the disturbing news that the
friction that the case had created in the Sowiet Bloc Division had spread

from Headquarters to the etention Facility. The DCI then
directed Taylor to proceed 85 Re thoopnt best, and the Office of Security
moved MNosenko from o mere comfortable quariers near
Washington in late October . e days later, Bruce Solic began a

new investigation of Mosenko's boma fides. At the same time, the Office of
Security confineed 10 send the Sovict Bloc Division daily repons, ostensi-
bly from a5 if Nosenko were still detasined there. Murphy and
his division were s entirely cut out of any further involvement in the af-
fuir.™

Proceeding deliberately, Solie did not report his findings wntil
| October 1968, His conclusions were unequivocal: Nosenko was, in fact,
whal be clalmed to be and should be accepted as o legitimate defector.
Solie's timing was propitious, for less than two weeks eadier the FBI had
come to a similar judgment. Reporting to Helms on 4 October 1968,
Admiral Taylor endorsed Selie's findings and recommended “resetilement
and rehabilitation of Mosenko with sufficient dispatch w permit his full
freedom by | January 1969,

Seventeon days later Helms called most of the senior officers in-
viplved in the case to his office to consider Mosenko’s fate. He first asked
each of those present to comment on Nosenko's true intentions and future
handling. Taylor, Karamessines, Osborn, Inspector General Gordon
Stewart, Solie, and| [the new Sovier Bloc Division chief, all

“Hosward Csbarn, Direcior of Securiy, Memarandum for the Becord, 26 May 1967; Howard
Osburn, imervics by Jahn Harl, 1976 (herealier ened as Cetoon mlervies:, 7o),
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recommended that Nosenko be released from strict CTA, custody, Although
there were differences about whether his authenticity had been conclusively
proved or remained in dispute, almost everyone present agreed that
Nosenko had important services to offer CLA and should be retained under
un Agency contrect, The only dissenters from this general ling were the
three Counterinielligence Staff officers present, who steadfastly argoed that
Mosenko had been dispatched by the KGEB and should undergo further in-
terrogation before the Agency decided his future, ™

Revealing his frusteation at the lack of consensus on Nosenko's sta-
tus. Helms “rather tartly™ (according to one contemporansous document)
reminded his subordinates that the eve of a presidential election was a poor
time to ask for a decision. He, therefore, ruled that no final judgments
would be made before | February of the following year, 1969, He was espe-
cially impatient with the Counterintelligence Staff for failing to document
it reservations morc convincingly, The meeting's minules repodt that
Helms “severely tasked™ the CI Staff in 2 “staccato, humorless sequence.””
Although offering no judgment of his own on Nosenko's motives, the DCI
decided that the Agency would share Solie's paper with the FRE1.™

On 31 Jannary 1969, the D}CI once more summoned his subordinates
to discuss the case. Afier again asking each officer for his opinion, Helms
handed down the new Agency position conceming Nosenko. Noting thar
substantial doubts about Nosenko's bona fides remained, Helms stressed
the need to maintain the momentum of the investigation. He instrucied the
Office of Security to continue (o elicit information rom MNozenko, and o
be carelul w deny him any apportunity o make contact with the KGB, He
alse ruled, however, that CLA should progressively relax its restraints on
Mosenko's freedom, and that Secority should proceed with his rehabilita-
tion. Finally, he decided that Nosenko should be given a CIA contract,”

Many years later, Helms recalled the dilemma he had faced, “Here
we had held this man for this long peried, if you want 1o put it this way, in
durance vile. We had interrogated him. We had done everything we knew
how 1o do about him. And it was getting to a place where it was likely to
turn into some sont of scandal if we didn't regularize his situation.™ But
what 10 do? “When I was faced with the decision, T never felt that | was
given adequate evidence that the man was either clean or not clean . | | it
Wi stll muddy on the day that T finally said be must be reselibed.” So
Helms refrained from making final judgment on Mosenko's authenticity.
The Agency was forced to “iake lits] chances as 1o what he represenied,
whether be really was still warking for the Soviets or he wasm't il waorking

Bemesnndum for CACE 14 Tanusry 1969,

Memorandem for Chief, CI, 3 Décomber |!-|E-E;I:|Mcmnmndum e
\ anukiy 1969,
“"Memorandem of Undersanding, signed by Howsrd Osbarn and Thomes Karamessines, o
1 Fehroary 10659,
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for the Soviets.” Helms was placed in an unenviable position. T didn’t
like having to do it, [ didn’t like the messiness that was involved in our not
being able to decide distinctly that he was one thing or the other,”™ he
remembered, But the time for indecision hod passed. 1 simply had on my
hamds a sitvation which had become intoleeable, . . . This case simply had
to be cleaned vp regardiess of what his bona fides were, 50 | moved w
clean it up.”™

In the spring of 1969, Nosenko moved into a privale residence and
obtained his own automobile. ClA provided him with a new identity, and
he subscquently married an American woman, filed for citizenship, and
worked productively as an Agency consultant, By 1978, Leonard MeCoy,
now acting chiel of the Countérintelligence Staff, was able 1o report that
Mosenko was “probably the most valuable source of coumerinielligence in-
farmation that the US Government has ever had.”

For Helms, a few additional matters required attention before the
case could be wound up. The first concerned Congress. In July 1969, after
getring the DCL's approval of his “alking points,” Legislative Counsel
John Maory briefed the senior staff members of CIAS four Congressional
subcommittees about the affair. Some doubts remained unresolved concern-
ing Mosenko's legitimacy, Maory explained. He briefly alluded to
Mosenko's long ordenl as “accommodat[ion] . . . under highly secure con-
ditions,” with the implication that these measures were undertaken largely
to protect Mosenko from KGE assassins. Maury reported (o Helms that
none of the staffers registered particular curiosity about the case and that
he doubied that all of them would necessarily inform their chairmen. in his
opinion CIA need take no further action.™

A second matter demanding action was staffing. Reporting to Helms
on the case in the avumn of 1967, Taylor bad warned that the silvation in
the Sovier Bloc Division wag very unhealthy, that fears about Soviel
penetration had disrupied the Division's effectiveness, and that major per-
sonnel changes were required. [n 1968 the Inspector General's Staff, almost

"Hielnws inversiow. 30 Moy 1934,

"o The Homa Fdes of Yurky Ivanovich Nossnke)” Attschment oo Leonand MeCoy, ALUNT,
Elemnenndem for the DO, 74 Febeugry 19738

“Jaln Maury, Legislative Counsel, draf memormdwnm, 19 Jene 196%; lehn Maory
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certainly at Helms's instigation, conducted jis own study of the Soviet Bloc
Lhvision. Its findings mirrored Taylor's alarming conclusions aned at-
tribvuted the Division's poor performance in recend ¥EATR 10 4 precccupation
with Nosenke, Many current Soviet Blog Division officers, the survey ream
judged. “have gotten into & rut, and a decp one at that.” It recommended
reassignients to bring in operutions officers “who have not been exposed
to myths that 1end to stultify,” a reference to the prevalent belief within the
Division in the KGR's omnipoence.

Helms had not needed the Inspector General's Sludy to recognize the
Soviel Bloc Division's stafling deficiencies. In the spring of |967, Teanent
Bagley had been moved o a position outside the Division, having served
as the Division's deputy chief for less than 12 months, Early the following
year David Murphy was relieved as Division chief and shipped 10 a new
post overseas. A number of retired officers from that period are convineed
that both men were forced out of (he Division becawse of senjor T e
ment’s unhappiness with their handling of the Nosenko cage. Cerntainly

|Murphy's successor, had the appesrince of 4 handpicked

Helms hicutenant, for e and the DOT traced their friendship back ro 0SS
diys, when for a brief period they had shared living quarters.

Bagley and Murphy vigorously dispute the idea that either left Ly
Division under any sort of a clond. Both claim that they were due for rom-
lion and had requested their new positions, and point out that the assign-
menis were attractive and logical ones for persons of their experience.
Helms himself no longer remembers the circumstances of the transfes. In
any event, their reassignment gratified those wha urged a thorough house-
cleaning in the Soviet Bloc Division, while those trying (0 resolve the
MNosenko case doubtless also Foomwd Bagley's and Murphy's departure con-
venient.

Finally, a grateful Helms trned 10 the individual whose painstaking
work had extracted the Agency from a potentially explosive situation, In
1970 the DCI awarded Bruce Solie the Intelligence Medal of Merit, The
Mosenko case had been “a suceubus hanging over our heads,” Angleton
recalls Helms saying, and the award to Solje probably eflected the DCT's
gratitude and relief at having finally gotten free of the threar thar it had
posed for so long. ™

i ; Memorandum tor the Becand, “Inieriip H.tFI'H'I'—EurI.'E_Il' of 3B Divisian,™ 9 May
[ R,

' ictesview by Robert M. Hubaway, ape recarding. Washinptoa, [C,
| Tier cited s Kingsley interview),

“David Murpby, intérview by Fobert M, Hathaway, lape recording, Washinglon, [, 31 May
1B Chereafier cited as Murphy inserview); Hioise, HMevrings, Avsassimmioe af JFE, XL, p,
Sa0.

“Anpleton imtervicw, 27 lnly [984.




mrret
Richard Helno

114




|
! . E
. \R Defeciors and Hosiile

Fererratiog

115




_ Richand Helms

116




L —
L

g

"

™

Defectors and Hasgile
Penerrarion




Wegret
Richard Helms \

Swetlana Alliluycva

middlc-aged SOVIEl Woman Bag walked tnio e Amelican Embassy
and acked for asylum. Her married name, Svetlana Abliloyeva, then meant
little, but her maiden name immediately grabbed the atention of
Washington officialdom. The would-be defector was the daughter of Joseph
Stalin,

Here was a real coup for the West—il her defection were genuine.
Rut there were dangers as well. Suppose she were a Soviet provocation,
part of some diabolical scheme to embarrass the United Sttes? What if she
were mentally unstable? Moscow propagandists would have u field day
playing en the theme of the heartless Americans taking advantage of a sick,
defenseless woman. Or suppose she later changed her mind aboul defecting
and charged entrapment? Each of these possibilities suggested the need for
prudence and for a careful interview betore the United States accepted her
story at face value,

Yei other considerations dictated haste. The Soviets would eventually
teace Alliluyeva 1o the American Embassy, and a feiswrely investigation
into her mental state would be impossible amidst angry Russian demands
for her return. India (like the United States) does not recognize any right of
diplomatic asylum. Moreover, the New Delhi government was ol known
for its fortitude in standing up to Moscow, Alliluyeva's continued presence
in India would almost surely precipitate a gonfrontation with Indian

authorities eager to please their Soviet friends. |
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Hostile Penetration

Perhaps mo dssue Helms faced while DCL threatened the Agency™s vis
tality more seriously than the question of hostile penetration. leonically, an
actual penetration is not required (o cripple an intelligence service, Merely
the suspicion that on agency ks been penetrated can shut down operations,
mautilate beads, and destroy the underlving frust in one’s colleagues every
intelligence officer must possess,

When Anatoliy Golitsyn defecred in 1951, he brought with him a
wealth of information on KGE personnel, organization, and methods, His
countennielhigence and penetration leads, however, were considerably less
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felplul, Only in 1964, afier the Counterintelligence S1alf had sssumed ox.
clusive responsibility lor his handling, dic he become insisent tha ik
KGB had successlully placed several high-level operatives within the
Agency. This inTormation, of course, squared perfectly with Angleton’s
owan assumptions, and the Counterintelligence Stafl was soon feeding
Golitsyn its operational case files, a practice later DO investigators found
an “extraerdinary” breach of customary security procedures.™ Before lomg
Guolitsyn had fingered specilic individuals s likely Soviet peents, |

~ By The end of T903, Angleion had organized a series of meetings
with the FBI wo pursue Golitsyn's leads. After several fruitless rgnths,
however, FBE Director 1. Edgar Hoover lost pitience and ordered his
agemts 1 break off contact with Golitsyn, With the single exception of one
low-level emplayee who had not worked for CIA in several years, the
Russian had failed 0 prove any of his allegations about KGB penctration,
Golitysn himself, Hoover darkly himed, could be a Sovier provocation, The
FBI's withdrawal from the case dismayed Angleton but failed 1o shake his
confidence in the accuracy of Golitsyn's accusations. Quietly he continwed
his search for evidence of reachery, unperturbed by the inability of a num-
ber of Sovier sources, Nosenko among them, to substantiate Golitsyn's in-
formation. These individuals, he explained, were all part of the KGB's dis-
information program to counteract Golitsyn's jeads.”

““Ihe Frees Bepart, ¢, 1976
it |
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While his posation gave Angleton unique power (o take action against
individuals whose allegiance he doubted, he was not alone in his belief that
the KGH had successfully penetrated ClA, In Febroary 1968 word reached
Helms that a Soviet Bloc Division officer had told an FBI agent that

mﬁlgl‘n be a Soviet plani. Helms called the offending officer in and
orcughly dressed him down Tor carryimg these matters outgide the

Agency. AL the same time, he directed Howard Osborn’s Office of Securit

to reinvestigate [ |who was about to depart for his new pos

Many years later, :| wotlld remember this ordeal:

By, ey worked me over. I8 was a bitch,”™"" But Security failed 1o dis-

Covier any damning information, | |I|1 dealing
with hjm| |nain atns, Helms never alluded 1o This episode

and never even hinted that he had anything less then the Tullest confidence
i b,

Helms remembers the incident as well. 1 felt that we owed any staff
man against whom allegations of this kind were made not only the fullest
kind of examination but the fullest opportunity to clear himself if he
could,” he explained many years later. The former DICI expressed abhor-
rence for what he saw as some of his predecessors” policy of getling nid of
officers as soom as allegations of disloyalty surfaced:

I fzh that we owed them moee thas thart . |, 2 beiter investigation, a naore
elear-cat decision one way of the adder, . . . Tt isn't 5o much a guestion of
heing a civil libercorian. 10°s just homest-wo0-God Fairness, . . . To have them

smenred when sometimes there was no real basis for this was wnfaie, and 1
wanted o 5o justios dome,™

Chher Agency officers, however, resented the Tact thi I:l Wik
forced to undergo the grueling Office of Security investigation. Gordon M.
Stewan, who served as [nspector General under Helms, laer recalled his
resction when e first heard Angleton describe the case agulnst:l

Wouw know, when you don't have o shred of evidence and you do the whale
thing on circunstantial reasoning, you can name just abour any damn reason
that you want to, and . . . that’s the way 1 sized that one up, Tt just seemed o
me that it was o part of Jim's speculation. . ., It struck me as very odd. As
far as I'm eoncerned. the case that Jim made mwll, it wigalsd
have ranked 25 the last picoe of reasoning you Would Brang islo i case where
you alresdy had evidence, But it"s certaialy oot the kind of thing that you
would start off a case with.™

m interview, 31 May | 0EL,

merview, 3 bMay 1934,

“Gordoa Stewarl, interview by Robert M. Hathaway, tape recording, Washiapton, DC,
T Wy 14 Chercinalies Gibod as Stewart interview, 10 May 19840
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Even after the investigation ¢leared Anpgleton—"still
umnnvm-:;cd“—urgcdﬁ

( Apparently, the counterintelligence chiel

never recogmzed the incongruity of his belief that[____ |working so
hard 1o document Angleton’s suspicions about Nosenko, was himself a
Sovied agent, But this does sugpest how convoluted matters had become,
how pervasive was this fear of hostile penetration. Perhaps it was poetic
Justice that one of hiz own analysts eventually charged that Angleton him-
self was o Soviet plani—an accusation, fittingly enough, suppored by no

mere evidence than shay agains 1
Despite the lack of resulis; onl Tor a soviet mole continued,

|l1.as remembered that, when he s Boviet

tloc Division chief in 1968, one of his prioritics Was 1o work with Security
o determing once and for all whether his Divigion had been penctrated.
Deespite an exhaustive search, he failed to uncover “one sceap of supportive
evidence that there was or ever had been' a hostile penefration of his
Division.” Eventually, except for Angleton and his allies both in and out-
side the Counterintelligence Staff, the paralyzing fear of treachery within
the Agency subsided. By 1973, Helmz could retire secure in the knowledge
that no case for a current penetration of his Agency had withstood close ex-
amination.

Mol all Western services could make that claim, The CIA was not the
only intelligence agency in the 1960s preoccupied with the possibility of
hestite penctration. The French, the Britizh, and the Canzdians, as well as
some of the smaller services, all experienced their own crises of confidence
during this period. In part theze doubis reflected imefutable evidence of ac-
tual penetration, in part only the general fears of the time. *Allied intelli-
gence was brought about 10 a standstill by this thing,” |:|remlla. a5
all the services interrupted their normal routines 1o resolve these co-
cerns.”” Fueling these doubts from Washington were James Angleton and
Grolitsvn,

In 1966, when Helms became DCTL allied counterintellipence officers
siilf smarted from the jolts they had received earlier in the decade, when
several of the Western services had uncovered high-level penctrations—
MI16's George Blake, a spy ring centered in the British Admiralty, and
Heinz Felfe's operation within West Germany's Bundeswachrichtendienst
(BND. In 1963, Hareld “Kim™ Philby had fled 1o the Soviet Union, at 1ast
confieming suspicions that had festered for more than 10 years. In this
charged atmosphere, few felt prepared o discoumt Golitsyn's insistent
warnings that the British. French, and other services were stll penetrated.

glinirrﬁch. 14 June | %54,
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Helms did not actively invalve himself in these controversies, but he
kept informed, primanly through Angleton. For example, he followed the
1967-68 British invesngations that resulied in a number of senior MlG
officers taking carly retirement after irregularities aboul their pasis came (o
light. (Mone of these officers, however, was [ound o be disloyal.) He also
received periodic briefings on what could have been a scandal Tar outsirip-
ping even the Philly disaster.

Helms and Angleton

Richard Hetms assumead command of the ClA al o time when a
preoccupation with Soviet deception and penetration wielded an influence
on certain senior officers that can only be considered mafign. Loval
Agency employess had come under suspicion of treachery solely on the ba-
sig of coincidence and flimsy circumstantial evidence, Ongoing operations
aguinst Soviel targers had been shut down, new ones stifled, by the convie-
tion that the Kremlin, tipped off by a mole within ClA, had doubled mast
Agency assets. Valuable information supplied by defectors and longtime
sources was being ignored, for fear that it was somehow tainted. [

Thoas Karmiesdiaes, Memsirasdum for i Fecand, 1B Movembaer [T, with asiochiesn.
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eventually—""and the inescopable irony ol this secems entircly
appropriate” —even those most cutspoken in their wamings of Soviet
duplicity found themselves suspected of disloyalty mﬂﬂﬂl"}'-
Angleton, even Golitsyn, witimately had o reckon with © trreducible
ruth in the coumerintelligence business: that no one 5 immune from G TER]
ciom, It was a classic example of the revolution devouring its owin,

Helms never fully accepted the panicked warnings that the KGE had
successfully placed its agents within ClA. In 1976, former DDCT Rufus
Taylor was asked whether the possibility of a high-level penetration had
pranrticularly worried Felms:

M. 1 newer did ger that impression of all. . . _ 1 gol the impression thay he
thought, well, it was o possibility, but the "1|-:Jc||-:'-:~ thiet such g thing actually
existed was facking and he was guite reluctant 1o believe thar, with the
seanty cvidence a5 hamd, you could rely upon 1|'II.‘I1‘ being any such o penctra-
thon. [n other words, he was quite skeptical of i

Tuylor and other senior officers alse confirm that Helms eventually
came to believe that Golitsyn's apocalyptic views had adversely affected
Angleton's judgment

And yet the DCI continued o give his counteninielligence chief an
extragedinarily free rein, Helms allowed, even encouraged Aamgleton o end-
run Karamessines and report directly to the DCUs office. He tolecated
Angleton’s secret overseas tps, alihough they frequently disrupied ties he

tween forcign services and Agency stations. |

l

o ¥ OWWHVETINE support lor Golitsyn's allegations, his
patronizing aititede toward those less alarmist than he, and his A3Pparsions
on the loyalties of certain allied intelligence officials cremed problems

= Memdranlum 1o CheelSE, 38 April TOsG
i | e, 1976
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Helms seems o have stood aside. Even after leaming that Angleton had
deliberately undermined The effectivencss of an important C1A Htuliun.ﬁ
[Helms re-

fused to restrain hos coumtenntelligence chiet.

But the DCI%s backing went further than mesely declining to rein
Angleton in; when Torced to choose among contending subordinates, he
frequently adopted Angleton™s position as his own. A program that Helms
inherited, which monitored domestic dissidents, provides an example of
this, Since 1952, working part of the time with the FBI, CIA had conducted
a mail-opening program, mainly hased in Mew York. The operation had
priginated as o means of identifying Americans wio were cooperating with
the Soviet Union and its intelligence agencies against the United States. By
the late 19605, however, it had taken on the additional purpose of domestic
surveillance directed against political activists, profest ofganizations, and
extremist groups, Within CIA there was considerable debate over she pro-
arim's value to Agency intelligence operations, as well as substantial oon-
cern that diselosure of Agency involvement in this sort of activity would
create serious embarrassment. The Fact that the FBI had withdrawn from
the program in 1966—‘alihough continuing 1o share in the CLAS take"
further suggested that the operation's value did not warrant its risks. In
1969 an inspector General's survey formally recommended that CIA con-
sider ending the program. Nevertheless, when assured that the FBI con-
tinued 1o value the program (even as it refused 1o allot personnel or fund-
ing for i), Helms rejected the Inspector General's recommendations either
to end the program of submit it to regular reevaluations,”

Two years later, the Chief Postal Inspector raised the issue once
more, On 19 May 1971, Helms met with several of hiz chief lieutenants to
comsider the matter. Deputy Director for Plans Karamessines forcefully ar-
gued that the program should be terminated, in light of the risk of exposure
and the project's minimal value 1o CIA. Karamessings's position was
seconded by the Director of Secunity, Angleton, however, whose CI Staff
had heen running the program since the mid-1950s, vigorousky argued
otherwise. Sure, there were risks, he conceded, but C1A “can and should
continue 1o live with them.” Besides, he added, the Counterimelligence
Staff viewed the operations as foreign surveillance,” On 2 June, Helms mel
with the Postmaster General 1o review the project’s future, He also dis-
cussed the program with Atorney General John Mitchell, one of President
Mixon's closest mdvisers, When neither Cabinet officer objected to the pro-
gram’s continuation, Helms sided with Angleton and granted it a repreve,

"Chureh commisice, Boak 11 m 549
" b, . Gl
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It may oot hive been o wise decision. One of James Schleainger's
fiest actions after becoming DCLin carly 1973 was (o close down the oper-
ation. Helms was subsequently castigated for not taking this step moch
earlier. The Rockefeller Commission found that “the CIA's peimary por-
pose eventully became participation with the FBI in internal security func-
tions. Accordingly, the CIA's participation was prohibited under the
Mitional Secunty Act.” Once again, Angleton seems to have served his
chief badly.” Why did Helms continue to suppart & man whose judpment
in retrospect appears flawed in so many respects? This guestion’s answer is
difficudi o divine, but a few facts appear certain. To Richard Helms, coun-
tenntciligence was an essential task requiring extraordinary knowledze and
intellectual acuity. In Angleton, he had the acknowledged expert, Surgly
this was not an asser (0 be regarded lightly. Nor was his esteem for
Angleton based solely on exploits from the distant past. Angleton’s role
during the 1967 Six-Day War provided Helms with a more recent reminder

of just how valuable his CI chief could be, |

FNDECuen] accuracy of This predics

: 1o in the Johnson White House and swept
him intg the inner circle of the President’s advisers. The experience almost
certminly constituted the high point of Helms's service as Director, It also
further solidified Angleton's standing in the DCTs estimation

According o DDCI Taylor, Helms believed “that Jim was a man ob-
sessed and that he, Helms, deplored that obsession but thought that
Angleton was so valeable and so difficult 1o replace that his other atiributes
vutweighed the disadvantages of the obsession,”™ Angleton was 2 useful
devil’s advocate, Helms told another officer. Why dump him, in the ab-
sence of an everriding reason?

By the late 19%60s, however, had Angleton himself not provided that
oversiding reason? By then many senior Agency officers had concluded
that Angleton had gatlived his usefulness, that be had staved too long in
one position. Imporant responsibilities went neglected, while the coun-
terintelligence chiel went off on tangents having little to do with the
Counterintelligence Staff’s origingl mission. Angleton’s staff almost com-
pletely ignored its crucial task of disseminating finished counterintelli-
gence and counterespionage information 1o the intelligence communin

"Ruckefeller Commisssan, p, 25, I bears netico that evideatly msithee Helms noc any of his
subnrdinmes cansidered anking the Chief Posial Ingpocior 16 lie 1o Congress amd deps
Enirwfadps of ruch a program.

"Tavlue inscrvies, 1974,
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ﬂl'll:.' :':I.rl.:l}' il Angl-:.'mn'.-: i lice |1r\-::|'|.'|4j|_e stalf guidancc fowr the Cl A5 T
ating divisions. Angleton “considered himself almost the ultimate cus-
tomer for most of his own material.” one top-level officer has siaed.™ He
refused, for example, (0 disseminate within the Agency fifiy-some reports

Mor was Anglelon always a loyal subordinaie, After Helms had per-
sonally mandated Nosenko's rehabilitation in 1969, Angleton for four years
refused uestions about the Agency's new pasition, This
petulance Tiy doUE contrtbuted to the strain in Ise-c:.m:].-
relations that marked the period. Mear the end o L Angleton com-
plained 1o the Agency’s Chief of Station| Lhal one of the laner's
afficers Ilud.l | " Forcefully pushed his be-
lief"" that Mosenko was bona Tide. This was a matier, Angleton cebled,
“about which we are nt prepared o reverse ourselves o make a final de-
cision.” The offending officer must be told that further discussions of this
nature would not be tolerated.”

But ultimately, one goes hack to the blighted careers, the damaged

lives.

rrlalr.&r Apency study Fn.'nurﬁlJ
Mosenko's long ncarceration’ 1
“muorally indefensikle ']'

ut ane nedd not accept these judgments (o deplore the
elfects Angleton’s geand theories of deception and conspiracy had on
Agoncy activities, The experience of Richard Kovich bears witness to their
destructiveness,

A number of former Agency officers who knew hoth men have
speculated on the reasons why Helms tolerated Angleton’s malign in-
Muence for so long. Some have supgested that Helms Failed 1o recoznize
the seriousness of the problem. Angleton, in the early years, had been so
innovative and so far ahead of everyone else in the counterintelligence
field, they maintein, that Helms never fully realized the injurious effects of
s counterintelligence chief"s “obsession.”™

“lames Crilehlield, imerview by Rabart M, Hsthaway, Lape mecording. Washingron, 162,
E_il By 19Ed thoreafver citsd 25 Critchifnien inervicew, & Bay |5E4),

Cahle, ||l\.'.]|]|.||].||'||.'|'-. d4h, 24 Miovsmber 9N

*Ham, “The Moniler Pl
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Chbiers concede that Helms wos aware o the difficnliies Angleion
was creating but deliberately dectined 10 ke action, Gordon Srewart,
Helms's Inspecior General, has ted this inaction o the DCUs sdministra-
tive methods:

The key to Helms on sy sspects of masagemens is his YiEry proponced
CONACTVIUSIM 10 the point, you might suy, of pesavity. . 7 vou didn’y
have W deal with o problem, you would rather s deal witl i And | ihink
the problem thal . . . Angleton represented was one that he wis ratlbed
peused just o say, be muost have said this: On balance its hetler 10 have im
ariodd than ool o have kim grosmd. | - IHelms| Fll'(lb;jl_"l_l.' alsiy Felt rhat it
would take God Himself 1o change Anglelen. 5o he put up with what wers
ginte clearly prul}]cm;_”

Some observers have pointed o the close relutionship Helms and
Angleton enjoyed since the early days of ClA. In the vears after Dulles
passed Helms over for DDF in favor of Bissell, these ties were solidified,
a5 two distinet factions, centered around Helms and Bissell, emerged with-
in the Clandestine Service. The division was so obvious that the secretares
even grouped individuals into "we™ and “they” categories. Angleton was
firmly within the Helms camp. For Helms, the professional in prefession
where trust and loyalty are not lightly given, these memaories of shared bat.
tles were immensely important. Moreover, moving against Angleton would
have cost Helms dearly within the tightly knit world of Washington intelli-
gence officers. 1 don't think Dick was ever prepared o pay whatever
price he would have felt was involved,"” one longtime friend of both men
has said. For Helms to bave goted against Angleron “would have cost Dick
some votes in his own constituency. Dick Helms is a consummare
Washingion politician, and 1 know no one - . . who has more skillfully de-
veloped his own support mechanisms in Washington than Dick.™ In shor,
moving against Angleton would have entailed substantial politieal as well
as perscnal cosls,

sull, Helms might have done so, except for ene overriding considera-
tron. One returns again and again to the fact—*still gencrally accepted in
spite of immense efforts over the years 1o disprove it —that no significant
penetration of C1A had ever occurred. Helmz accorded Angleton much of
Uiz credit for this accomplishment, alithough many Agency officers maintain
that it had been achieved despite. rather than because of, Angleton's long

“Siewnn intsrview, 11 May 954,
FCriichficld interview, & Moy [984,
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tenure 45 chief of ClA counterintellizgence. But for Richard Helms, this
record of invielability was the bottom line, As he defined the isswve, the
choice Angleton imposed was not one of good versus bad counterintelli-
gence, but between oo much counterintelligence and not enough. Ao im
that situution, Helms would—""abways, intuitively" —settle for the former.
Today, long after these events, the debate over the wisdom of this choice
rages o, fucling animaosities and dividing inteiligence professionals as do
few other 1ssues froam the Helins era.
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The Israeli Aceopnl

The 1967 Six-Day War

In many respects, the high point of Richard Helms™s tenure as Tl
came in the carly days of June 1967, On 5 June, Israeli military forces
launched a surprise attack against Egypt, Jordan, and Syra, bringing to its
climax a crisis that had been steadily building for months, For the Johnson
administration, tied by political interest and emotional commitment to
Israzl, the Israeli strike raised grave questions: Could the Israclhis triumph
without active American assistance? Even should they win, would a costly
victory sap [srael’s future vitality? What role had the Soviet Union played
in bringing on the crisis? How would Moscow react if Russia’s Arab
friends faced imminent defemt? What steps should the United States now
take? Should Washington airlift military supplies 1o lsmael—even at the
cost of further undermining 1w American position in the Aral world?

For the Johnson sdminisiration, sound and speedy snswers to these
questions were imperative. Even before fighting broke oot on 5 June, the
lsraelis had been pressing the White House for public statements of sup-
port; these had even been cautious suggestions of joint military operations
against the Arabs, Faced on the one hand with grear uncerainties. and on
the other with high stakes and imense pressures, Lyndon Johnson, Helms
recalls, finally “came to understand what intelligence conld do for him.™"

For Helms, Middle Eastern developmenis first ook on crisis propor-
bons on 23 May 1967, A week earlier Epyptian President Garmal Abdel Nasser
had ordered the United Nations peacekeeping force out of the Sinal and
quickly moved Egyptian troops into the areas that United Nations units had
vacaied. Op 22 May, Nasser announced that the Gulf of Miaba would, hence-
forth, be closed to Tseaeli shipping, effectively cutting off Israel's port at

Eilat,
the moming

of I3 May, Johnson summoned Helms from a briefing of the House Armed

mmcwicw, 15 Mpvember 1984: meErview, 16 Movembsr |95,
chms Lirel Histeey, 4 April 1969, Ly —Tohinsan Presddential Library, Ausiia, Texas
L
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Services Commitiee to ask for an analysis of the escalating crisis. Within
four hours Helms had two papers for the President, ome on overall Arab
and [sracli military capabilities, the other on the state of US knowledge
abeout affairs in the Middle East. lsrachi forces, Helms informed the
President, enjoyed ““owver-all superiority™ both on the ground and in the
air.

[n the doys that followed, Helms repeatedly wpdatedd this assessment
for the White House, These revisions considerably sharpened the initial ap-
preciation of 23 May, but did not alier the thrust of its conclusions. Other
pgencies, notably the State Department, took a much less sanguine view,
fearing that the surrounded lsraelis would find the going far tougher than
ClA analysts conceded, To muddle the sitwation further, Tel Aviv on
25 May chimed in with its own estimate, which described Arab intentions
in sinister tenms and professed to see Sovier machinations in the back-
ground. Directed by Helms to comment on the [sraeli assessment, the
Office of Mational Estimates (ONE}) responded, “We do not believe that
the lseaeli appreciation . . . was a serious estimate of the o1t they would
submit wo their own high officials.” Racher, they concluded, it wis " proba-
bly a gambit,” intended to persuade the United States 1o provide lsracl
with military supplies, make a greater public commitment to Tel Aviv, ap-
prave Tsraeli military initiatives, and pot mose pressure on Masser,'’

Reassured, the DCI stood his ground, On the evening of 25 May,
Secretary of State Dean Rosk asked Helms if he concurred in the judg-
ments Agency analysts were making. Told that he did, Rusk observed,
“Dick. there is only one thing I want to say—aos LaGuardia ance remnarked,
if this is a mistake, it’s a beaut.”""

Helms and Rusk then proceeded to the Cobinet Room to meet with
President Johnson and his other key national security advisers. The
President read the leraeh estimate and the ONE’s short rejoinder and mmed
to Cren, Garle Wheeler, chairman of the Joint Chiefs. “You fellows think
this iz okay?” he asked. When the general said yes, Johnson told Helms
and Wheeler to “scrub this thing down™ once more and report back to the
White House. Returning to Headquariers that evening, Helms told the
Board of National Estimates to produce a coordinated assessment forth-
with. By the following afternoon, the Board had o new paper, wrilten in
collaboration with the Defense Intelligence Agency. lts message echoed
their assessment of the previous day and told Johnson that the Israzlis
would handily whip any possible combination of Arab foes. A greatly
relieved Lyndon Johnson at last accepted the Estimate and declined o take
a public stand behind the Israelis."”

"1, 1., Frestowater |William K. Peomenisr], “Policy and ledcliigence: The Arab-ligasl Was,”
Sreudfier fa Trefligemee |3 Cwinter 1569).

“bemarandum f 5 Moy 1967,

"The quoie comes T Policy and [saeiligence.” Helms has edten repoated this
stary, n exsenlially e same words, See Helms interviews of 21 April 1952 and § November
| 'K,

"Richard Helms, lederviea by K. Jack Smith, Wighingeoan, DO, 20 April 1952 (Rereafier ciesd
ur Febms ivdervies, 21 agnl 1982




5 1
/ The lsraeli Accouns

On | June, four davs before the outhresk of witf, Helms received a
visit | The following day the DCI summa-
rized their conversation Tor (he President. The time for decision had COMiE,

and Tel Aviv would almost surely decide 1o strike. Her
fatlure to move sooner, largely because of American pressures for restraint,
had lost Israel the advantage of surprise, a loss she would pay for in casual-
fies, Bwen so, in a tone nedably less shall than Tel Aviv's alarm.
ist estimate of 25 Muay), Tsracl wanted nothing from the United States other
than diplomatic support, measures to cnsure that the Soviet Union he kept
out of the conflic, and a continuation of weapons thipmenis already in the
supply pipeline. Events of the past 48 hours. Helms concluded for the
President, “can be interpreted as an aminous portent. considering the
Isgachs” military capability o sirdke with litle or no warmning at a time of
their choosing.”™ Three days later, the Israeli attack caught the entire Arsh
world by surprise, bat Lyadon Johnson was able (o tell the Congressional
leadership with some smugness that he had been expecting Israel's move.
“It was,” Helms subsequently conceded, “a fairly tidy packuge.™

Shortly afier 0300 on 5 June. Helms was roused from bed by the
news that the fighting in the Middle East had at last begun. By mid-
morning he was on the Hill, briefing the leadership and allaying
Congressional anxieties about Isracli capabilities, In the following days the
D¥C1 was heavily engaged in Middle Eastern affairs. Sensing that CIA had
to speak with & single voice in this rapidly moving situation, he designated
ONE analyst John E Devlin as the Agency's focal point for most maibers
reluting (o the war (except that Angleton. in this as in everything else, con-
tinued to report directly and exclusively to the DCT), To ensure maximum
condrod, Helms also had all communications routed through his own office,
effectively cutting his DDF, Desmond FitzGerald, out of the action. Helms
ran “a very tight operation™ throughout the crisis pesiod, one subordinate
has recalled.™

For his daily meetings at the White House, Helms required & continual
updating of the Agency's intelligence and frequent conferences with Angledon
and other key subordinates. Helms also directed the wriling and distribution
of numerous situation reports, intelligence memorandums, and Special
Mational Intelligence Estimates (SNIEs). (The Office of Current Intellipence
alone produced five separate situation reports each day, with additional spor
reports and special annexes as required.) Nor did Helms hesitate to inter-
vene persenilly in the preparation of these assessments. For exg mple, he
found partions of a paper on Sovier attitudes and intentions in the Middle

“Helms, Memorandum for the Presidesd, 7 Tune 1067

"Heims imlervies, 3] April 19832,

“lames M, Criichfield, ieserview by Boben A, Hulbaway, tape recording, Washingion, [0,
11 December 1981 hercafler cied az Crirehiield iterview, |1 Decermber 984,
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East “too pallid and too confident™ and returned it w the ONE. “You may
be right,” the DC1 observed, “bat | am not prepared as of June 8 to give the
President this kind of tranguillizer."™"

[
Tin @ Junc, as the Tighting began to wind down, Helms forwarded o

somewhat different tvpe of memorandum to the President. Looking toward
the pestwar sitwation in the Middle East, he proposed that the United States
Government “cease referring to ‘the Arabs” in its public pronouieements,
using instead the term Egyplian, Jordanian, Moroccan, Algerian, eic.”
Encouraging local nationalism, he explained, “may serve it S0E0e mMessurs
to distract (he Arab peoples from their focus on the Arab world and on
Arab vs. Israeli.” This, in turn, might reduce Nasser's influence in the
region, While no evidence suggests that anything came of this proposal, it
does demonstrate an increasingly confident Helms, willing 1o enter into
policymaking realms normally outside a DCT's range of responsibilities,”
For the Johnszon administration, the "“moment of truth™ of the crisis
arrived on 10 June. Early that moming & message from Soviet premies
Abeksei Kosygin began coming in to the White House Situation Room owver
the hot line. If the Israclis did not halt their advance across the Golan
Heights, the Russian leader threatened, the Soviet Union would take all
“pecessary actions, including military.”* Helms remembers the chill thar
seftbed over the moom. “The atmosphere was tense. The conversation was
conducted in the lowest voices 1 have ever heard,” the DCT later recalled.”™
Briefly, the senior figures present contemplated the pessibilivy of a
major East-West confrontation. While Johnson momentarily left the room,
Helms, Defense Secretary Robert McNamara, and Llewellyn Thompson
fthe American Ambassador to the Soviet Union, who happensd 1o be in
Washington at the time), discussed possible American responses, One
action rapidly recommended iself w all three, Why not dispatch the Sixth
Fleet to the castern Mediterranean, they asked Johnson on his return, Such
1 signal change in orders would convey American purposefulness to the
Soviets without placing the Kremlin in a position where retreat would
entail public humihiation. Johnson enthusiastically endorsed the gambit, the

"“Helms, Mersarendum for Chairman., BNE, § Tane 15967,

“Helms, Menerasdum for the President, 9 June 1967

“lyndon Baines Jokneon, The Vamtage Point: Parspecnives on the Presidency, 19631969
[Mew York: Haolt, 1971, p. 302,

*Liclms. Memoraaduim Far the Beeced, quaned in Donald Keff, Waesioes for Jersalem, pp
T390, Also mee Hilas Cwal History, 4 April 199, L
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Meet was rerouted, Moscow received the intended message, and a
Soviel-American confrontation wis averted. Later that same diy. the bel-
ligerents accepled a cease-fire, and a peace of sorts returned 1o the Middle
Eust.

CilA’s performance during these days stands out us one of the
Agency's trily impressive successes in an instilutional lifespan now ap-
proaching four decades. *“The finest, across-the-board execution of our
mission & every level that | have seen in my twenty vears with the Central
Intclligence Agency,” Helms wrote to his Deputy Directors a fow dayz af-
ter the war’s end.™ In matters concerning the likely timing, duration, wnd
outcome of the hghting, CIA analysts were nearly flawless in their judg-
ments. They were right in doubting that the Soviets would openly inlervenc
in the conflict and in doubting that the Egyptians would use chemical
weapons, a peinl of some concern in the days before the fighting broke out.
Finally, CIA estimators were ready to stand alone in their judgments if

need be. They not only counseled thar]

also disputed State Eh:pnrmu:m views on both the timing of
the war and the balance of military forces in the Middle East,

In later years, Helms would credit the Six-Day War with dramatically
altering his standing in the Johnson White House. The precision and timeli-
ness of the Agency’s reporting enubled the President to resist pressures for a
meore public commitment of American support for lsracl. Johnson, Helms
would recall, “was enormously relisved to be let off that hook.™ For the
(irst time in his presidency, LBJ realized “that imelligence had a role in his
life, and an important [role] at thar. . . . This was the first time that he Was
really sort of jarred by the fact that “those intelligence fellows had some
nsight that these other fellows don't have." " From that time forward Helms
regularly joined the Presidents Tucsday luncheons, where Johnson and his
¢losest advisers hammered owt many of the nation’s principal national secu-
nty policies. As Helms himself has observed, invitation to these informal
sessions ushered him into the administration”s “magic inner circle. ™™

CIA achievements during this crisis are all the more striking in light
of the Agency’s failure six years later to forecast the Yom Kippur war. OF
course, the two situations differed in imporant respects: in 1967 the deci-
siom for war was Israel's and had a centain military logic to it, while in 1973
the decision lay with Cairo and from a sirictly milicary standpoint appeared

o ke little sense. |

Hehes, Memaorandim for the foar Depary Directors, 14 Jupe 1967,
"Helms incerview, 21 April 1952
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Mareover, in [967 Helms wis able both to delermine precisely whal
concerned Johnson and to tailor Agency repors o answer the President’s
guestions, Angleton remembers that Helros specifically asked whether it
would mot be wiser to gualify their judgmentz a bil. When the DCI observed,
“We're really throwing everything on this one,” Angleton advised bold-
ness. [t only tokes a ‘mayibe.” ™ he remembers etling Helms, ~[and] you
don’t get the direct attention of the recipient. They begin to have a hundred
thoughts rather than ome thought.” According to Angleton, Helms accepled
this reasoning—"you know how Dick is: he just wanted 0 absolutely
double-check that this represented the facts™ —and sent the assessment for-
ward without qualifications.™

As Tor the accuracy of the information it fed the White House, CIA
had done i1t homewaork well in advance. Mearly two decades after these
gvents, retired Agency officers still recall the careful spadewark in the
months before the crisis by Waldo Dubberstein of the Office of Current
Intetligence, who kept a running log of the two sides” relative strengths and
readiness. That the principal officers involved in Middle Eastern affairs—
Angleton, Critchfield, Dl.ll!'l'u!r‘.*'dtil'l.l:l—cmh had long experience in
the region undoubtedly helped them to read the situalion accurately.
Finally, once the crisis hit, C1A was able o move with great speed. On
23 May, for instance, the Agl:m:_'r"ﬁr turmed out bed
pagars in less than four hours. Similarly, the ONE needed less than a day to
produce and coordinate the key 26 May paper that persuaded Johnson that
[sroed needed no special American assistance,

One puzzling aspect about the ClA role during these days remans,
Mumerous Agency participants, incloding Helms, Angleton, and

| ra:aﬂ that ClA was
very apecific in telling the White House that the war wounld last ane week.
The end of hostilitics after six days, they remember, gave the Agency an
aura of prescience, and no one was mere impressed than Lyndon Johnson,
who then drew Helms into his inner circle. This story is widely accepred
within the Ageney and Trequently crops up in discussions of the high pints
im CIA history.

But the documents these officers cite—usually the 36 May ONE paper
I'.I'Tl | maks mo such precise
prediction. Indeed, no such document can be Tound in any of the Agency’s
records. The Lyndon B. Johnson Presidential Library in Texas has also been
unable o substantiate this claim, while neither Johnson's memoirs nor a
Mational Security Council history drawn up shortly after the war mention

any seven-day prediction. Finally, @ classified arti-:lr:|

H.‘l,ugl-;l:un itarview, | Blurch 1985,
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kplains ha

oeRs of coordimation.”™
Helms believes that the Agency’s prediction of seven days was pui

forward in its 26 May paper, “Military Capabilities of Israel and the Arah

States,” which was produced by a coordinated effort of the ONE,) |F
[ rand the Defense Inelligence Agency. In fact GIRTH ]
sab ths paper biad said that Tsrael would need 2.3 dayz"™ o break

through the Sinai defenses and “7-9 days” 0 reach the canal. These figures,
however, did not survive the coordination debate. The finished paper esii-
mated only thar the Israelis would stiain air superiorily over the Sinai 24
hours after taking the initiative, or in “2-3 days" if the Egyptians struck
first. It then observed that Israeli armored fosces could breach Egypr's for-
ward fines in the Sinai within “several days," st which point they would
necd fme (o regroup and resupply before pressing on to the canal.”

Although ir is conceivable that Helms conveyed a seven-day predic-
tion b Johnson orally, the former DCT ks emphatic in recalling that the number
was part of a written estimate. In his recollection, Helms may possibly
have confused the earlier drafis of the 26 May paper with the final draft. In
any case, all of the documentary svidence indicates thar, CONIraEry 0 Apency
felklore, CIA never issued a precise seven-day prediction for what has
since been cafled the Six-Day War It is, nevertheless, clear that in this. crss CLA
provided the President with imely, accurate—and extraordinarily wseful—
mmtzlligence that elevated the Agency's and Helmss stature in the Johnson
White House almost literally overnight.

OF Helms's role during the Liberty cpisode al the height of the war,
little needs 1o be said. On the morning of & June, a member ]

I "ucr:'m:d a frantic telephone call from the Fentagon war
m. The Liberly, a Navy communications ship carrying highly sophist-

cuted surveillance gear, was under attack in the castern Mediterrancan,
American fighter aircraft, the caller continued, had been scrambled with
orders to “shoot o kill”™ in defonse of the vessel, The astonished DI analyst
teking the call immediately relayed this information to the DT, As the sir
wation unfolded, it became evidem that Israeli jet tighters and torpedo
boats had launched the attack, leaving a badly crippled Liberty with 34
dead and well over a hundred wounded, Although Tsraeli avthorities in Tel
Aviv immediately apologized for the grievous “pecident,” many informed
Americans soon came o believe that the assault had been anything but
accidental,

W ESNMETVE precislon was sacrificed in the

“Freshwatcr, “Folicy and Inselligence. ™
i
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CUa daitially resisted this ,1u-:lg;|r|l;:|:|'|.|I
[ |

[An Toverzealous pilor,™ this
[T suggesied, might have mistaken the American vessel for the Egyptian
transport “El Quseir.™ Eight days later, another Intelligence Memorandom
concheded that the atack “was not made in malice toward the US and was
by mistake,"" But the cumulative weight of the evidence rapidly under-
mined this position, leading the DDCL, Admiral Taylor, 10 write Helmes:

To me, the picture thus far presents the distinet possibility that the lseaehs
new that ‘Liberty” might be their target and attacked anyway, either through
confusion in Comeasd and Conirol or through deliberate disregard of in-
structions on the part of subordinates.”

Helms played no role in the subsequent board of inquiry that locked
ints the matter, but eventually concluded that there could be no doubt that
the Israclis knew exacily what they were doing in attacking the Liberty.
Why they felt the need o do 5o, and who ordered the attsck TEmRiN (ues-
tions Helms to this day cannot answer.™

The 1967 war berween Isracl and its Arab neighbors also presenicd
Helms's ClA with & fleeting opporunity to play the unaccusiomed role of
pescemaker, Ultimately, of course, nothing came of this opportunity, and it
joined the lengthy caalogue of Middle East “might-have-beens.™ But be-
cause they raised such tantalizing possibilities, if only for a moment, CIA
efforts should ot be entirely dismissed.

In the immediate aftermath of the fighting, James Angleton found
himself increasingly disurhed by the prospect of an endless cycle of war
and more war in the Middle East. With this in mind he composed what
those who saw it remember as an eloguent plea for some dramatic move (o
break through this destructive pattern. In a blind memorandum for the DCL
Angleton observed that, with the Arab countries prostrate and in disarray,
little blocked the Soviet Union from making new incursions into the
Middle East. The present momeat, he urged, offered an unprecedented op-
portunity to build an anti-Soviet alliance consisting of Israel and some of
the conservative Arab states such as Jordan and Saudi Arabia. The whole
thing depended upon urgency. Angleton continued; the longer Isracl oc-
cupied the territorics captured from the Arabs, the less willing Tel Aviv

would be o give them up.j

1

SerThe lergeli Anack on the USS Liberiy,™ 13 June 1967; “The lsreeli Statement on the
Aback an the USE Libery,” 21 Jure 1967,

“adeniral Taylor, DDNCE, Memorandam for the Directar, 22 Jume 1967

*Melms mmerview, 15 Movember 1984, T
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Al thiz
point the American State Depariment god wind of the scheme and veroed
any Turther US role in the proceedings. Without the Americans as inter-
mediarics, the arrangements crumbled. In the embitiered views of both
Angleton and Cntchfield, an oppomunily of possibly historic praportions
had been allowed to slip away.™
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Chapter 7

Relations With Congress
Robert M. Hathaway

A fundamental tension suffuses the relationship between Congress
and the CIA. The members of the legislative branch, acting in their over-
sight capacity, are frequently cast in the role of critic or prying interloper
Yel, in Richard Helms's tenure as Director of Central Intelligence the abil-
ity to performt this supervisory function was heavily constrained by the ex-
tent of the Agency's willingness 1o fumish the necessary information. In
fact, Congress and the CTA each provides services the other needs o CAITY
oul its responsibilities adequately, Congress needs intelligence from CIA
when it deals with national security issues, while CIA must depend on
Congress for statutes and funds 1o establish and maintain it, as well as for
oversight 1o prodect it from damaging exposure and political debate.

For a long time the relationship between Congress and CIA has been
considerably richer and more complicated than the common image of over-
secl to ward suggests. In fact, to focus only on this Tacet of
Congressional-Agency ties distorts the dynamics of the relationship during
the Richard Helms years. Through Congressional hricfings and the dis-
semination of its intelligence, the CIA enhanced defense and foreign policy
debiies o o degree ot even hinted at by the usual copnotations of over-
sight. Parinership as much as suspicion characterized the relationship link-
ing Langley and Capitol Hill between 1966 and 1973,

The chromicler of CIA-Congressional ties confronts a dilemma in that
the routing, orderly functioning of government seldom appears noteworthy,
Only when controversy rages, when things fail (o go according to plan, do
outsiders take nofice. As a consequence, any asccount of
Congressional-Agency relations is bound (o accent the frictions, the nega-
tive, the harsh words, To remember that behind these disputes often lies a
mutuality of outlook and interests requires an act of will from both
historian and reader.

Ke
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Yel the years immediately following Richard Helms's service as
hrector constitute the nadir of a Congressional-Agency relationship that
now extends well over 400 years, The 1973-76 period saw a sustained as-
sault from Capitol Hill on the assumptions, purposes, and practices thar
had guided CTA since its inception. Helms himsell faced prolonged legal
difficulties afier reticing from the Apency, problems which arose from alle-
gatons that he hed deliberately misled the Congress about ¢vents that oc-
curred while he was DCL These unpleasant facts jar discordantly with the
notion of partnership,

To the tension inherent in Congressional-Agency relations must be
added the contradiction between the Richard Helms widely acclaimed by
the Congressmen who supervised CTA affairs; and the Helms severcly—at
times wnmercifully-—castigated for allowing his orpanization to be cor-
rupted for purposes contrary o legislative desires,

Por 1% this all, for beneath these crosscurrents more fendamental
forces were dramatically aliering the American political process in ways
thar would reshape the place imelligence held in American life. An un-
popular war increasingly focused a new skepticism on the assumptions that
had undergirded the nation’s foreign policies for two decades and destroyed
what had been a remarkable national foreign policy consensus. At the same
bme, the American people experienced a profound loss of confidence in
their government. Lyndon Johnson's “credibility gap” and the open dis-
trust thut Richard Mixon evoked from large segmenis of the populace were
both symptomaric of ansd contributery 1o this heightened sense of disillu-
sionmeant

CTA, a5 an instrument of government, suffered from this general col-
lapse of faith i the country’s governing processes. Moreover, as a secret
organization in & sociedy prizing open access to the levers of power, CTA
wit doubly vulnerable to the suspicions of a citizenry newly awakened to
the dangers of unchecked power. The inflated passions of the era made CIA
an appealing target for many groups and individuals who came to see the
Agency as emblematic of the varied ills they sought to roctify,

Under these circumstances, Richard Helms increasingly found him-
sclf, especially in his final years as DC], defending his organization from
all manner of Congressional criticism—some thoughtful and measured,
some based more on fantasy than fact. Seldom were Helms's own capahili-
ties or integrty questioned. Indeed, the persistent respect acconded Helms
during his tenure a8 DCT constinuted one of the more remarkable aspects of
the growing propensity on Capitol Hill to chalienge the Agency. Fortified
by his continuing good repute, Helms generally succeeded in parrying
Congressional assaults on CLA. In retrospect we can s2e that his successes
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were largely illusory, papering over rather thap reconciling the contradic.
tons inherent in & free society’s reliance on o secret intelligence organiza-
tion. Even as Richard Helms left the Agency in early 1973 for a new diplo-
matic career, the passions of the ers were sweeping CLA foward preater
ol

Confirmation and the McCarthy Resolution, 1966

The Senate that was asked in June 1966 1o confirm Richard Helms as
the new DCT was ensnared in 2 controversy more heated than any concem-
ing the CIA of the preceding 10 years., Arguing that the Agency played an
important role in making American foreign policy, Senator Evgene
McCarthy (D-MN) had introduced a resolution in early 1966 that, afier var-
ious parliamentary modifications, would have added three members of the
Foreign Relation: Committes 1o the existing ClA oversight subcommit-
tees,'

In May. Senator I, William Fulbright's Foreign Relations Committes
endorsed the proposal by a 14-10-3 vote. Richard B. Russell (D-GA), chair-
man of both the Senate Armed Services Committee and its CIA subeom-
mittee, immediately served notice that he resented this implication that his
subcommittee had been derelict in supervising the Agency. Russell, whom
Time magazine called the uncrowned king of the Senate's inner
Establishment,” procesded to mobilize his considerable powers, o beat
back this challenge.

Helms's nomination arrived al the Senste a1 precisely this moment,
There was press specolation that the President had lapped Helms as
Admiral Rabom's successor in order to defuse the dispute thar McCarthy's
resolution had triggered, The Washington Star reported that Eovernment in-
siders regarded Helms's appointment as a “major step” in easing the con.
troversy,” Widely respected us a shrewd intelligence professional, Helms
possessed the stature 10 quiet anxiety that the Agency was not adeqgnoately
supervised. Indirectly referring to the lightly reparded Raborn,
Congressmin Mendel Rivers pronounced it “entirely fitting™ that a career
officer should be appointed DCI, House Minority Leader Gerald Ford
spoke for the opposition party in commending the President for placing
direction of the CIA in sech capable hands.*

"Theese were the Senate Armsed Services Sshenmmitioe oo Ceniral Intelligence and an wntidled
{fannl %59 Senace Appropriations Sulscommittes o C1A aversight

“Time, 12 July 1966, p. 21,

"Wirshrmpion Siar. 23 June [966, A5,

‘Congresrional Becord. Wol, [T 14245, 14247
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Seroie Hrilondal O6fie
Senator Bichand Russel!

Helms breczed through his confirmation hearings before Russell’s
Armed Services Committee. An Agency record noted that the Senators
present were “most belpful®™ in posing guestions that allowed Helms 1o ad-
dress the matters then agitating Congress. Insisting that ClA had no
policymaking role within the government, Helms denied that the Agency
had ever attempted 1o influence decisions, The CIA, he assured his au
dience, merely provided decisionmakers with the intelligence they required

""S't:-u,._.
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for wise choices. Afier unanimously approving Helms's nomination, the
COmmities Went into executive session for a general briefing on the world
situation, particulardy the war in Southeast Asia. In a revealing digression,
Senator Danizl K. Inouye (D-HI) asked Helms about the size of the
Agency’s budget. When Russell interrupted 1o say that this wuched on mat-
ters better left 1o the CLA Subcommitiee of the Appropriations Committee,
Inouye immediately withdrew his question.’ Helms®s unanimous confirma-
tion by the full Senate a few days later effectively derailed MeCarhy's ef-
forts to expand Senate oversight, and the proposal died in committes,

Seon afierwards, George Cary of the Legislative Liaison Division of
the Office of the General Counsel (OGC) reported 3 conversation that
micely illustrates several facets of the Agency's relationship with Congress
as Richard Helms assumed command. William Woodrufl, a senior staffer
on the Senate Appropriations Committee, admitted to Cary that the Senate
had somewhat neglected the intelligence community, adding that Russell
had only recently directed him to become more sctive in this area, Cary's
memorandum further observed: *We agreed thal repordless of the regsons,
thiz new emphasis on the part of the [CIA] subcommitiee members on their
responsibilities concerning the Agency was a healthy one,” Cary reminded
Woodraff that, “'as he knew, we welcomed a thorough budger review, fecl-
ing that 1t was in the best interests of both the Agency and the
Subcommittee 10 have it better informed on the Agency’s programs and ac-
tivities.” Acknowledging this, Woodruff observed that he found it far eas-
icr to get budgetary information from the CILA than from most other execu-
tive departments and agencies.”

Woodrufl's comments on the Senate's neglect of the intelligence
community are evidence of the independence CIA had enjoyed for nearly
twe decades. While this freedom from restraint reflected Congressional
confidence in CIA's leadership, product, and purpose, this largely uncritical
confidence alse owed a good deal to the prevailing foreign policy consen-
sus of these years, The Congress, like the rest of the nation, was gripped by
a et of Cold War assumptions that hardly questionsd the need for an active
and relatively unsupervised central intelligence organization. Small CIA
subcommittees of the Appropriations and Armed Services Commiltess in
each House nominally carried out legislative oversight of the CIA, but in
an atmosphere of solicitude and camaraderie. Secure in the public's confi-
dence and exempt from standard disclosure and accounting regulations, the
CIA remained remarkably free from the checks the legislative branch mor-
mally places on operations of the executive.

OLC Jourmal, 23 June 1966, Office of Legislative Counsel Records: Lawresee Hauston,
General Counzel, Memorandum for the Recard, 23 June 1966, (Hilce of Cemeral Counsel
Racimnd.

“Gieorge L. Cary. Jr., Legislutive Ligison Division, Ofee of Genteral Counsel, Mewarandum
lar the Recond, 25 July 196, DTice oF General Counsel Rocards
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Senior Congressmen and Senators holding the powerful chairman-
ships and serving on the Agency oversight subcommittees not only ac-
guiesced in this unique autenomy, but encouraged it. In March 1966,
Deputy General Counsel John Wamer, who supervised the Agency's day-
to-day dealings with Congress, produced o revealing memorandum about
this siation. The unwillingness of CIA's Senate subcommitiees o hold
mare regular meetings left the Agency extremely vulnerable, Warner wrote.
Ower the past eight years, he continued, fewer than four briefings & year
had been called. Ofien only Tour Senators participaied in these meetings,
sinee the two Senate CTA subcommittess met jointly and had an overiap-
ping membership. Moreover, there had not been a foll-fledged budged
presentation to these two Scnate subcommittess n 0 years, A Fair esti-
mate would be that the Subcommitiee has heard the Agency on budget
matters for no more than an average of one hour each year. In a majority of
the years there has been me discussion of the budget by the Agency with
the Subcammittec.” Wamer concluded that his memworandum was too sen-
sitive for general circulation. “If this information were available to critics
of the current Subcommitice system,” he cautioned, no doubt thinking of
McCarthy, Fulbright. and their supporters on the Foreign Relations
Committes, “obvigusly it would provide them with strong ammunition. ™’
On & April, Warner and Helms met to discuss the implications of this infor-
mation, bat agreed 1o take no further steps at the moment. Less than three
months later, Helms replaced Raborn as Director.

Warner's memorandum, Jike Cary’s record of his conversation with
Woodrulf, makes it clear that the Agency stond ready o provide its over-
sight subcommittess with a frank accounting of ils sctivities. Indieed, in re-
cent years ClA had usually initiated briefings for its Senate snbcommitiess,
To the degree tha: Congressional supervision of CIA was lacking, this
reflected the deliberate choice of the oversight subcommitiees, rather than
any reluctance on the Agency’s part, Helms's predecessors, and Helms
himself following his confirmation, consistently maintained that Congress
was entitled to know as much about Agency affsirs as the members thought
necessary to carry oul their responsibilites,

Having said this, however, successive Directors invariably added a
single qualification that. in effect, withdrew much of what they had seem-
ingly gramed: CIA could provide only that intelligence which lay within
the requesting committee’s jurisdiction, Given the DCTs legal obligation to
protect Agency sources and methods, this caveat hardly appeared wn-
reasonable, bat its impact was sweeping. Except for the Tour oversight sub-
committees, most members and committees of Congress were severely
limited in the amount and wypes of intelligence they could get from CIA.
Suhstantive information might be passed on; operational or organizational

Jakn 5. Warner, Legislative Counsel, Memoramdum for Lawrence K, White, Exscutive
Dirccior-Comperoller, 28 March 1966, Office of Legistaive Counsel Records,
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infarmation, virtually never.

There was often no clear agreement aboant precisely what lay within
the jurisdictions of specific committees. Appeals to Senator Russell invari-
ably elicited an extremely narrow definition of what information CIA
should convey to these other commitiess. Frustration ar being cut oui in
this fashion had prompied MeCarthy's resoletion in 1966, When (5=
tioned on these matters, DCIs before Helms had consistently replied that
Jurisdiction was an issue for Congressional decision, and thar they would
b happy to report 1o any commities as Conpress directed.

Since these restictive praciices usually mer with acceptince or only
perfunctory prodest, Richard Helms inhericed a relationship with Congress
that was on the whole stable and mutally satisfactory. Nonotheless,
McCarthy's challenge in 1966 to the Conpressional old guard’s monopoly
on actess o ClA was o harbinger of problems that would within a few
years completely alter CIA'S relaxed ties to the Hill, Russells easy triumph
over McCarthy—which CIA supporters acclaimed at the lime—may have
beeen unfortenate, for it helped Agency hackers complacently ignore the un-
derlying cwrents that were sweeping CIA owand disaster,

Senator Russell’s Oversight

Within weeks of assuming the directorship, Helms got himself into o
situation that for & briefl moment threatened 1o overturn the ECUATI Mty
marking Congressional-Agency ties. On | July 1966 an editorial in the St
Louis Globe-Democrar had applavded the Senate’s decision to bury the
McCarthy resolution. In passing, it had also characterized Fulbright as
“erafty,” a description to which the Senator and many of bis friends ob-
jected. Helms, as part of the Agency’s program i foster healthy relations
with the press, wrode a letter 1o the editors pratsing their stand on the
McCarthy proposal. But when the paper published his letter on 27 July, one
could interpret Helms's commenis as endorsing the entire editorial, includ-
ing its characterization of Fulbright. The Senate reacted indignantly, and
Fulbright spoke of the need to “teach the new Director some PIOPE COn-
disct.” John Stennis, a staunch Agency supporter, noted that he “exceed-
tngly™ regretted Helms's letter and called upon the DCT w offer Fulbright
full apologies. Majority Leader Mike Mansfield pronounced himself *more
than a little surprised that the “silent service’ has seen fit to write to the
mewspaper. . . . | think this is a matter which must be brought to the aten-
ton of Mr, Helms, so that this will not become a habit with him.™"*

Mansficld need not have feared that. The surprised DCT called an im-
mediate meeting of his chief subordinates, who counseled Helms 1o admir
hiz mistake promptly and apologize to the Semutor. The DCT did exactly

"Cangrensiomal Becoed, Vol. 112 17467, 17465
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that, welephoning not only Fulbright but also Mansfield, Stennis, and other
ranking Senators of both political pariies. On 29 July he sppeared before
Fulbright's committee to offer further mea culpas. Finally, he called on
Ruzsell in order, a5 Helms later pot it, “to explan myselt to him and to
send my apologies for . . . any embarcassment 1 might bave cavsed him,.™
Helms's apology and ready sdmission of ervor placated Senators whi were
nol accustomed to hearing from the Director of Ceniral Imellipence, The
storm dissipated as quickly as i had arisen, Within days the entire affair
was [orgotien, except perhaps by the DCI, who secems to have taken to
heast the advice proffered by North Caroling Senator Sam Erving [ hope
that out of this matter will come an appreciation by the Director of the CLA
of the great truth that men rarely regrel saying wa linle, ™

Recollection of his narmow escape undoubtedly lay behind Helms®s
decision o few months later 10 remave the legizlative liaison function from
the Ofice of the General Coansel, where it had wspally resided since the
Apgency’s founding, and 1o establish an independent Office of Legislative
Counsel {OLC) a3 a separate component in the Director’s Office.” In one
sense, the DC's action simply acknowledged the importance
Congressional relations had assumed over the years. By the mid-1%60s,
supervising these ties had become a full-time job, and John Wamer, who
served as both Deputy General Counsel and Legislotive Counsel, was sim-
piy spread too thin.

But the DCI's move accomplished something else as well. By
chiminating the General Counsel from the chain of command, Helms
brought legislative maners more directly under his own purview. This
reflected his conviction that Congressional relations were one of the DC1's
personal responsibilities, since they often required close judgment calls that
could have a major bearing on the Agency's well-being, For similar rea-
sons, Helms instructed Warner, who left his position as Deputy General
Counsel 1o head ihe new QLC, to anend the DCI's stoff meetings each
morning, Including Warner io the small number of regular moring meel-
ing participants was an unmistakable sign of how important Richard Helms
considered relations with Congress. [L may be that this represented a legacy
of the S5t Louis Globe-Democral liasco, A small maner in izelf, the ex-
perience nonetheless made a lasting impression on Helms and his associ-
ates, judging from its prominence in their recollections years later.

Helms demonstrated the imporance he assigned Congressional rela-
tons in odher ways a5 well. For instance, he insisted on appearing hirmself
whenever possible before Congressional commitices requestng an Agency
briefing, even if he did little more than sit to one side while one of his
specialists testified on a technical matter, In Helms's mind his personal par-
ticipation aceomplished two purposes, First, it massaged political egos by

‘Richard M. Helms, interview by B. Jack Smilk, lape recarding, Washingion, L3 Jone
[EE [hercilier ehed ns Helens interview, 3 Jume 1983 Cangressiowal Necord, Yol 112
1 i,

PHE 6L, dmcd | Movember 1968, anmousced The chanpe, ollecrve 15 Movember 1900,




eret
Relarions With Congress

recognizing that most Congressmen expected the head of an AgENCy of
depariment 10 personally cater to them. Second, in this way the DCT could
menitor the flow of information to the Hill, a task he considered essential
for maintaining control over the Agency's most valuable commodity.

At times Helms worried that the current subcommittee system, which
excluded most Congressmen from substantive contacts with the Agency,
might eventually undermine the gencrally favorable relationship with the
Hilt that Raborn had bequeathed him. On one occasion the DO went fo
Senator Russell and suggested that, a5 a preventive measure, the Agency
seck oul contacts with a wider spectrum of the Senate. Russell's reaction
caught the Direclor by surprise. “He looked me right in the eye and his eye
g4 2 lintle bit glinty,” Helms remembers. “He said, “If you feel any neces-
sity to o around and talk w other Senators about the Agency's bugimess [
certainly can't stop you, Mr. Director. But I'l el vou this, T will withdraw
my hand and my support from your affairs,”"

Russell’s fierce opposition to what in relrospect appears a found
proposal reflected his conviction that Ageney affairs were too important
and oo sensitive to risk divalging o more than @ handful of his mos dis-
crect Senatonal colleagues. Conservative and courtly, a lifelong bachelor
with somewlil ascetic tastes, a hard-working master of legislative detail,
the wielder of extraordinary power in a power-conscions town— Richard
Brevard Russell was by the mid-1960s universully recognized as the CTA's
special guardian in the Congress. The Georgla lawmaker viewed the CIA
a% an agency one had to take with @ cerain degree of trust, even if this
meant it thereby escaped the thorough scratiny normally accorded agencies
of the executive branch, Congressional SEpervISion was 1o be minimal; ag-
cess o ClA secrels, closely guarded. Reflecting this cantion, Russeil never
called as many briefings of the combined Senate oversight subcommitiess
as Agency officers would have preferred, Helms “always manifested a
willingness, an eagerness really, 1o come as often and maybe more often
than the committee scheduled [his) dppearances,” William Darden, one of
Russell’s senior aides, has remembered, But the Senator never wanted 1o
£o into admimstrative details; he “dida't see himself as an auditor.™" Nor
wiks he likely 1o permit others to assume this role. CIA would one day find
that thiz pmernalism carried liabilities as well a5 advamtages.

OF course, much of Russell’s reluctance to ride herd on CIA arose
from his confidence in Helms, The Senator and the DT appear 1o have de-
veloped an understanding based on mutual truse and respect. It was perhaps
4 businesslike relationship ruther than a warm one, neither man POSSESSing
a particularly effusive personality. Darden has testified that, although

“Helimg inervicw, 3 June 1993
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Russell generally kept executive branch officials at arm™s length, the
Senator admived and liked Helms. For his part, Helms found Bussell “an
extraordinary fellow, . . . [Of all the Congressmen and Senators 1 dealt
with over the years, by all odds the most impressive was Senator Richard
Russell. He was, as they say in the newspapers, a glanl in the Senate.™
Many years later, the retired DO would recall a specific bit of advice
Russell had given him. “Mr. Director,” he relates the Senator saying, *1
think that you've got to be very careful nod o get into affairs thar don't
concern you, Mose people have had real trouble in this wwn by getting in-
vilved in things that really aren’d their business than for any other single
reason (ot [ know of,”™ Remembering the incident, Helms adds: 1 thought
it was the best piece of advice 1 ever had and I haven't forgotten i

Again and again Russell mobilized his immense power on Capitol
Hill 1o shield ClA from inguiring eyes—including those of his Senatorial
colleagues. On one occasion Wiscopsin Senator William Proxmire asked
Helms to westify on the Soviet economy before the joint Economic
Commitiee, which Proxmire chaired. Helms consulted Russell about the re-
guest and received instructions o retum 10 Proxmire and “say you've dis-
cussed this with me and that 1 would prefer you didn't do ic.” And that,
Helms relates, Ywas the end of the matter. When 1 iold Senator Proxmre
thiz he just sor of waved his hands and that was the end of the discus-
sion. " On another occasion, Helms was disturbed by two very senior
Senators” public comments abowt American satellite capabilitics. Rather
than approach the offending legisiators himseif, the D}CT asked Russell to
take up the matter with them. A single word from the Georgion, Helms
realized, would carry far more weight than the most earmest remonsirances
from a Director of Central Intelligence.

Helms valued his relationship with the powerful Georgian and
waorked diligently to maintain the rost Russell reposed in the Agency. Faor
instance, he took greal care o see that CLA maintained its credibility as an
independent organization without a policymaking role. For the same rea-
sons he jealously guarded his reputation on Capitol Hill for unvamished
honesty, Above all else, he has soid, T leveled with the Congress. T be-
lieved that they had a right to have a straight story.”” Observers on the Hill
appreciated this attitude ond came 1o rely on the DCT for an impartial ren-
dering of the facts. From his vantage point within the Senate Armed
Services Committee, Darden remembers that Helms “did a good job of
avoiding the appeasance of trying to influence Congressional decisions on
whether semething should or shouldn't be done and giving me the appear-
ance at least of just saying “here is the information we have, we're not iry-
ing o tehl you what thar should lead you w do.™ In a 1969 conversation

"ibid ; Helms infervicw, 3 hune 1982, Sam Ervin, i1 wilE be recnlbod, saul essentially the same
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with an Agency officer Senutor Stuart Syminglon made this same point by
praising Helns's practice of “sticking to the facts in briefings and not in-
dulging in speculation.”"*

Vielnam was something of a touchstone in this respect, As the war
increasingly came to divide the nation, the DCI recognized the dangers of
appearing to champion a particular viewpoint, It became obvious 1o Helms
“that, if inelligence was to have any standing in the Congress, it had 1o
have the support, as intelligence, of both sides of the aisle. And 1 didn't
know any way to do this except (0 make the reports as objective and my
testimony s objective as I was able o do,"™ Although the DCI remembers
that this stance did not always endear him o the White Heoase, testimony
from antiwar Senators such as William Fulhgight and Albert Gore thai
Helms was the only member of the administration who pave them an
nonest picture of conditions in Vietnam rebutied charges that CTA had be-
come caplive to the prevailing policies. Representative Cieorge Mahon
spoke for many of his colleagues when he told Helms upon the DC1s
retirement that T must say 1 have not encountered 3 man in fovemment
who in roy judgment has been mose objective, more fiercely nonpartisan,
more absolutely inclined 1o be perfectly frank with the Congress than you
have been, You have just called it as you have seen it, and we hive com-
piete and utter confidence i you.""

Of course, the candor for which Helms frequently received plaudits
possessed sirict limits, reflecting both the wishes of the White House and
Helms's own predilections and background in the Directorate of Plans
(DDFP). Kixon, for instance, in June 1969 directed that CIA write no lettars
tor the Hill on substantive matters, Furthermore, oral briefings were to be as
“unspecific” as possible.'” But these instructions merely reinforced
Helms's own instincts. JTohn Wamner has spoken of a certain conflict within
the DML, between his training and experience in DDP e secority and
secrecy amounted ar times 1o an obsession, and his realization that satisfac-
tory ties (0 Congress depended upon muteal trust and a willingness 1 be
canded with individuals outside the intelligence profession. Helms *“was in
consiant teg with himsell,” Warner has said. '™
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A% a consequence, o noticeable reserve characterized Helms's deal-
ings with the Hill. The DCI “felt he should provide the Congress only
whal was absolutely necessary,” OLC stafl member George Cary recalls,
“[H]e did not go up gratuitously and say, ‘Hey, you oughi (o koow abouwl
so-and-50.""" Helms adopted a somewhat standoffish approach o most
Congressmen, Cary continues, He “dida’t ger buddy-buddy, il you will,
with the run-of-the-mill members of Congress. Some people kind of wark
the Congress, as we say, regardless of who it is. Helms didn't play that
game, |, . . charseterize Helms as o kind of a “hardliner.” I think that's
Helms's personality,” Agency officer Clifton B. Strathemn similarly recalls
thai, in the DCT's briefings, Helms thought that Congressimen and Senators
should be given “‘evervihing they really should have known but nothing
that was ahsolutely irrelevant to what they needed o know.™ Significantly,
the DCLL not his Congressional audience, made this distinction.™

Al times this circumseribed approach bothered subordinates preoc-
cupied with precigion. On one occasion, in briefing 8 Congressional com-
mittee on the Agency’s activities in Leos, Helms insisted on calling all the
irregular [orces “Meos,” despite objections from his experts that the Meos
were only one of several Montognard tribal groups working with the CIA.
Getling caught up in technicalitics would only confuse his listeness, the
DCT ruled. This "wasn't a question of dissembling or being less than
honest with Congress,”” Strathern later explained. “t was just the fact that
[listing each tribe separately] was unimporiant to the purpose of the fes-
timony.™" In siripping issues 1o their essentials, in tailoring his ineelligence
to his audience, the DCI kept a tight rein on the information flow. In
Richard Helms, candor and independence coexisied more or less comfort-
gbly with discretion and the inelligence professional’s ingrained caution.

Strathern’s story about the Meos also suggests a certain disdain
Helms may have felt toward legislaiors whose expertise did not match their
responsibilities. Advice he offered Williom Colby in 1970 illustrates this
point. Colby was (o testify on the sibuation in Vieinam before the Senate
Foreign Relations Committee, and before Colby returmed from Saigon for
the hearings Helms cabled him advice about his opening statement. ™ Your
text will have to be aimed at a pretty low level of knowledge and couched
in language which is pretty simple and straightforward. Otherwise it is go-
ing to go right over the heads of most of the Senators in the room,” the
DT observed. “The names and initials which we all throw around with
great energy are tofally unknown 1o these men, some of whom do not listen
very carefully even under the best of circumstances.” Helms's concluding
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advice: “define terms, clarify semantics, and generally keep the briefing as
simple as possible.”™ This was doubtless sound counsel, buf perhaps ot
the advice of one who viewed the legislators as gEnuine partners

For his part, Helms expected certain things from the Congress. In the
first place, he looked 1o the chairmen of the commitiees he briefed to take
the lead in heading off sensitive questions, especially inquiries pertaining
to Agency sources, Without the active cooperation of these senior legisla-
tors, he has noted, “you get nowhere."™ Sccondly, he expected the twe
Houses 10 abide by their own rules and refeain from insisting that he
divulge confidential information except in the proper forum—ihar is, be-
fore the four oversight subcommittees, In the absence of such safegueards,
he feared, the DCT would never retain secure control of the intelligence it
wias his duly o protect,

In Helms's estimation, the key to & smoothly functioning relationship
between CIA and the Congress “is tha cordidentiality be observid,”™ He
wis adamant on this score. “[I}f the Director cannot be sure of confiden-
Hality, then it's going 1o be very difficult for him o play the proper role
which they expect of him, which is 1o confide in them.™ Congreas's obliga-
ten to keep secrets was the reverse side of the DOPs ohligation 1w be forth-
right with the legislators. During the Helms years, Agency officers agreed.
members of the Congress generally lived up o this responsibifity. T never
had any difficulties with leaks,”™ Helms recollects. “Therefare, | felt safe in
sharing with them confidences and things about highly secret operations
which T might not have felt comfortable about under other circum.
stances, ™™

The system, then, was one of shered responsibilities snd mutual ohli-
gations. In a very real sense, a concept of partneeship linked Conaress and
the CIA. Each performed services and supphied assistance required by the
citer. Richard Helims recognized and came to depend wpon this symbistic
relationship. Speaking of Congressional tics at their best, Helms observes
that from time to time a Director “would like 1o be able o hald hands with
some Senators and Congressmen on something that is dicey and (ricky and
might fail. " On another occasion, he amplified this idea:

[Djespite all those who say, “well, you shouldn®t talk shout secrer matiers
with Congressional committees™ and all the pomposity that follows this, in
our kind of democracy & Director of Central Indelligence dovs need guidance
from time to ime from the people in the Coagress a5 10 how far he may go
in cenaln kinds of activity. At least he would like 1o have some advice
When this is not available through regular hearings, it makes it slightly

“Rachard M Helms, Digsector of Cendral Inesllipence, EYES QNLY cabls ée William Cnd by
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difficull for him. In fact, it makes it very lonely indeed. Mot that 1 wos un-
willing #0 take o e oous of the responsibbliy or any of the rest of L Lo was
simply that | thoupght that o better system of relationships between the
Apency amd the Congress shauld have Bseen :]J‘r:.'lr'lgutl:l."

What Helms could not know as he moved into the Director’s suite in
|66 was that the collaborative relationship he envisioned would soon be
replaced by one much more adversarial in nature. For this development
Richard Helms bore some responsibility: the Congress—ironically includ-
ing even some supporters of the ClLA—a somewhat larger share: and the
changing circumstances of America a still larger portion. In 1966, CLA
basked in the final days of the simple, even cozy, relationship with
Congress that had been the nonm for two decades. It was, however, aboat
o be rudely swept aside by a nsing tde of suspicion and disillusion.

The Ramparts Aflfuir, 1967

A sudden breach of Agency security put Helms's views on the nature
of ClA-Congressional ties to the test in carly 1967, During the second
week of February, Agency officers learned that the lefiwing monthly
Ramprts woueld shondy publish an article documenting CLA financial links
with a number of private American organizations, most notably the
Natipnal Student Association. The story broke publicly on 14 February
amid Turid adverisements proclaiming a “case study in the correption of
youthful idealism.”™ The article nself discussed CTA funding practices at
length and named many recipients of Agency monies in addition 1o the
Mational Student Association.” Public reaction was instantaneously and
overwhelmingly negative toward ClA, Eight Democratic Congressmen
wrote President Johnson to call for an immediate investigation ““at (he
highest level™ and charged that the student association subsidy *represents
an unconscionahle extension of power by an agency of government over
institutions outside its jurisdiction.”™ Disclosure of the covert financial ar-
rangements, they added, “leads us and many others here and abroad 10 be-
liewe that the CIA can Be a5 muoch a threat to American as o foreign
democratic institutions,”™

Forewarned of the impending expose. Helms and other Agency
officers briefed key Members of Congress well in advance of the revela-
tipns in the hope of mitgating some of the anticipated damage, Beginning
the day after public disclosure of the story, Helms traveled to Capitol Hill
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on four occasions (o talk with Coagressional groups, including the over-
sight subcommittees. In each case he emphasized that none of the programs
ClA hod financed involved domestic matlers. Agency money had been
used sedely for international operations to counter Communist Tront organi-
rations, Mo subversion or espionage, he insisted, had been conducted
theough these activities, Typical of his statemenis was his explanation to
members of the House Appropriations Commiliee on 15 February, He did
not necessarily believe that the CIA should be subsidizing these tvpes of
prpanizations, Helms averred, but some group or agency should. [Tlhers
is nobody in the United States Government who has the money to take care
of this kind of thing, and unless some device is found for doing it it ends
up heing done by an organization like the CLA™ This then exposed the
Agency o charges of subverting American youth, the DCT continued, anger
rising. “We have done mo such thing. We simply tumed money over ia
them to use for travel funds and things of this kind and made no effort
whatever to guide that money nor o tell them how they should run their
organization, Our hands are totally clean in this.”"™

Helms's vigorows defense of CIA practices gradually drew supposters
to the Agency's side, The CIA subcommitiee of the House Armed Services
Committee issued a press release commending the Agency and pointedly
stating that CTA would have been derelict in s duty had it not undertaken
such clandestine operations. “Espionage was not involved—the servival of
freedom was,” Chairman Mendel Rivers and ranking minormty members
William Bates jointly declared.™ GOP Senate leader Everett Dirksen com-
plained thar the “Roman holiday™ of disclosures jeopardized the nation’s
capacity to obtain needed intelligence, while Representative Samuel
Stranton chastised his Congressional colleagues for insisting on a Pollyanna
stance for the United States in a world ““all oo often peopled by cotthroats
and dirty players.” Especially influential was Senator Robert Kennedy's
statement that the CLA should not be forced to “take the rap” for programs
approved by high officials in three administrations,”

Indeed, after the initial flurry of critical remarks, the prependerance
of Congressional comment voiced approval that the Agency conducted the
types of potivities detailed in Raomparrs, A number of Congressmen and
Senators with whom CIA had had no previous dealings made floor state-
ments in support of the Agency. By the end of the vear, Legislative
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Counsel Warner felt sufficiently sanguinc aboat the entire episode to con-
clude his annual report for 1967 by noting that the expose had gained CIA
@ number of new supporiers who more than offset Congressional critics.

For the mement another danger seemed to have besn averted. From a
longer viewpoint, however, we can now see the Remporty affair as one of
the first in a series of increasingly serious challenges to the way CLA had
coaducted its business for two decades. Sharp questions had been raised
about the CIA's legislative authority for engaging in certain activitics. The
episodde prompied rencwed grumbling thas Congress was not adeguately in-
Formed of Agency sactivities and suggestions that the creation of a joint
oversight commitiee might be considered again. Concerned lawmakers
agiun raised the old question of the place a sacret intelligence organization
should occupy in an open society, Perhaps most important, the wraps had
becn taken ofT some Apency activities, and those who searched for more
revelations found both precedent and justification in the events of February
I9G7. As Helms observed years later, “things rather settled down again but
never to be precisely the same,™™

Mew Stralng on the System

Things were never the same, for by 1967 the entire American na-
tional security process was being shaken by fundamental challenges. The
second half of the 19%60s witnessed the collapse of the consensus that had
underamitten America’s Cold War policies for two decades. The assump-
tions that had dominated foreign policy debates since the end of Waorld War
Il were calted into question by 3 number of major changes in world poli-
tics: America’s rapprochement with the Soviet Union, incontrovertible evi-
dence of a [ar-nr:u:hing split in Sing-Soviet relations, many Americans’
growing dissatisfaction with the results of 20 years of interventionism,
and—most of all—sharply rising domestic opposition to the war in
Vietnam. Increasingly bitter as the decade unfolded, this new skepticism in
the country frequently pitted Congress against the White House, and by the
end of the Jobnson presidency ties between the two branches of govern-
ment hied become severely struined. The substitution of Richard Mison for
Johnson in January 1969 only exacerbated matters: by 1970 relations be-
tween the President and Congress were frostier than at Ay LHme in @ gener-
ation. This confMict placed CIA in a tenuous position, for it was uniguely
vulnerahle to Congressional ire, both as an institution closely associated
with America’s Cold War policies, and as an executive branch agency Oper-
ating in impostant respects beyond legislative contral,

“Hetms inerview, & Pune 1952
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As the war in Indoching ground on with no end in sight, Senutor
Fulbright assumed leadership of those forces in the Congress that called for
a greater voice in overseeing Agency operations and—significantly—wider
dissemination of the CLA product, Although occasionally invited by
Russell to attend the DCI's hriefings of the two Senate ClA subcommit-
tees, Fulbright never found these proceedings safisfectory. Repeatedly he
attempted Lo have Helms testify before his Foreign Relations Committee,
which the Atkanzas Senator had wened into a prominent forum for those
questioning American policy in Southeast Asia. Russell, who continued 1o
hack the White House on Vietnam, frequently siepped in to block these ap-
pearances, ruling that Fulbsright's commitiee was nol the proper body to
receive such testimeny. Helms tried 1o steer clear of this jurisdicnonal dis-
pute by professing his willingness 1o brief anyone the Senate directed.
Even o, sniping between the two Senators, and—more Tundamentally—
between those whe supported the war and those who challenged adminis-
tration pelicies, provided a constant worry for the Director, who tried hard
o keep the Agency from being caught in the crossfine.

Of conrse, Congressional pressure for Agency information comn-
stituted a backhanded compliment to the integrity and usefulness of the
CIA product. John M. Maury, who replaced Warner a5 Legislative Counsel
in 1468, abserved:

Ouar maker problems on the Hill may result as much from our SOCCEESES U5
our faituras: the berer we do our job, the greater will be the demand for -
cess o our intellipence product, and the greater will be the Congressienal
clamor v learn more, and have more b say, about our covert activities,”

Even legislators known for their skepticism about CLAS activities
voiced high regard for the intelligence it disseminated, recognizing that the
Agency could provide them with the information they needed 1o Tulfsll
their duties responsibly,

Agency-supplied intelligence on Soviet military capabilities, for in-
stance, proved indispensable to the legislators during the politically
charged antiballistic missile (ABM) debate in the mid-to-late 1960s.
Opponents of the administration’s plans to upgrade the ABM system
looked to the CIA for information o counter Department of Defense claims
that the Soviet Union's 85-9 intercontinental missile gave the Kremlin a
first-strike capability. Accerding to one account, Henry Kissinger was fun-
ous with Helms for undermining the Pentagon's cases only the intervention
of Fulbdght and other powerful Capitel Hill figures prevented the national
security adviser from pressing for the DCI's dismissal.” In September

oL Ansng]l Report: 1971, Office af Legislative Counsel Reconds,
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1969, Fuibright told John Maury that he boped he had not put Helms in 3
difficult position with the administration by engineering the confrontation
with the Department of Defense. Fulbright added that, if Helms ever gaot
inio trouble with the White House for testitying candidly before Congress,
be wanted to be informed in case he could help. A year later, Fulbrighs
publicly praised Helms for his performance during the ABM controversy,
delaring that the DCIs testimony befare the Forcign Relations Committee
had “inspired in us trust and confidence” in the Director’s “integrity,
honesty, and judgment.”™™ These were strong words for one decidediy op-
posed to the interventonist activities customarily associated with CLA.
They also point 1o a phenomenon characteristic of the Helms YEArs: con-
tinuing respect for the DCT even as CIA as an institutjon came 1o be view-
ed with increasing suspicion.

Helms's problems with Kissinger and the Pentagoat during the ABM
debate reinforced his determination o sieer the Agency clear of the politi-
cil controversies of the day. Many years later, the former DCI wiiild relate
another episode illustrating this need o avodd the shoals of parizanship. In
I968, he recalls, Senator John Sherman Cooper wrote 1o CIA requesting
certain information on Soviet and Chinese missile forces. Helms had an an-
swer drafted and, as was his custom, sent it to the Hill for Russell’s concur-
rence before mailing it to Cooper, Heling then continues the SIOTY:

The next thing 1 knew, 1 hed 2 frantic telephone call saying Senatr Russell
wanted 1o sec me right away. 50 | jumped in the car and went down to the
Senate. He came off the floor, and he said, **Don’t you ever send a lecer Bke
that 1o Senator Cooper or anybody else.” He said, “They'll simply tuke that
lester, come on the floor of the Seaate, wave it, and say, “I've gol a leter
from the Direcior of Central Inteligence and it says so-gnd-so,’ and it wili
adversely oifect the debate we're having on the floor right aow. As o matier
of fact, it may affect the whoie budget for the Defense Departiment. You
shouldn’t even consider writing leters like that ™

“He was really very shirty -about it,"” Helms concludes. “But 1
learned my lesson that documents of that kind could affect debates, could
be very important, and that the Director had to be very cireful abour whom
he wrote to and when he did it and so forth, ™™

National Intelligence Estimates—MNIEs—presented a similar problem,
As a rule, neither Presidents Johnson nor Nixon wanted these docu-
ments circulaed on the Hill, and when faced with Congressional requesis

“Lohm M, Mawry, Ir., Legishaive Coansel, Memorindum for the Record, 9 September 1069,
Oiffsce of Legislative Coumiel Reconds; Mew Fork Tl Magmeine, 10 April 1971, po 46
“l'll".'lllll- inberview, 4 Kavnmber 185 E‘;":‘-'_‘ Pemorandumn For B Reeond rupnls fMany af
thize detadls, Geerge L. Cary, Ji, Office of Legislative Counsel, Memorandom for the
Fecord, 34 Seplember 1968, Ciifice of Lepiabative Counsel Recnnds.
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for MIEs, the DCT almost always replied thar he conld not release them
without the President’s permission, In most cases the request would then be
withdrawn, “[There was a feeling in those years,” Helros has said, “that
there was no reason 10 pass these sensitive documents around in the Senate
or i the House because they would be used for political purposes.™-Helms
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always assured his Congressional requesters that, since Agency TesgnGny
reflected the contents of the MIEs, their actual distribution wis unneces-
sary.”'

Vietnam, the ABM system, and differences of opinion over accass to
NIEs all raised the possibility that Helms might one day find himself
squarely in the middle of a conflict between the White House and the
Congress. While a member of the executive branch, the CIA by its very na-
ture required a friendly, or at least 4 reasonably cooperative, Congress. The
Agency could ill afford to alienate either the White House or the Hill,
Balancing the demands of each was not always easy; occasionally subler-
fuge was required. Al one point, for instance, Helms dirccred Maury to
brief Mendel Rivers on Soviet interest in the Cuban naval base of
Cienfuegos. despite instructions from “higher authority™ not 10 do so.
Mavry urged discretion on the Congressman, remarking that should
Kissinger find out about the briefing, “we could really be in trouble.”
Recalling these times years later, Helms gently observed that neither
Johnson nor Nixon had properly appreciated the difficuliies their appoin-
tees faced in working smoothly with the Hiil, ™

The: legislators for their part respected Helms for his stesdfast refusal
to permit either President to trn CIA into an advocate for current policies.
Reactions to a surprise White House announcement in Movember 1971,
detuiling changes in the intelligence community and emphasizing the DCI's
coordinating responsibilities over the entire community, suggest the extent
of their respeet. Senior merbers in the two Houses vobeed concemn lest this
was an attempt to “kick Helms upstairs™ and place day-to-day supervision
of the Agency in the hands of one more susceptible to White House direc-
tien. Their tesponse to what they feared might represent an offort 1o erode
the CIA's independence and objectivity testifies to their admiration for
Helms, an esteem that was largely independent of their growing tendency
ter challenge the organization he headed.

The “Secret War™ in Laos

On several occasions the war in Southeast Asia brought the Agency
problems that demonstrated (he advantages of collabomative ties hotwesn
CIA and Congress. Prom almost the beginning of Helms's term as DO
Agency officers worried about the demands placed upon C1A resources b
several large-scale eovert operations in Indochina. In mid- 1966, the ad-
ministration ofdered a doubling of the Rural Development Cadre (RDC)
program, a key element in the campaign 1o improve social, medical, and

“Helms interview, 4 Movesnber 1083,
“Juhay b, Maury, Jr., Legislotive Counsel. Memorandum for the Record, & Oetober 1970,
Lifee aof Legisiative Cousel Records; Helms interview. 4 Mavember 1983,
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gconomic conditions in the South Vietnamese countryside, On 2] and 22
September 1966, Helms discussed with the Senate CIA subcommittees the
difficultics this expansion would create for the Agency, Russell, observing
that these political action teams had little connection to CLA's inelligence
functions but represented a large drain on the Agency’s budget, voiced his
heyse that Helms could disengage the Agency from sach operations. The
D1 made it ¢lear that this matched his own preferences. Russell’s admoni-
pions reflected a coaviction held by most members of the four
Congressional subcommittess thut the CIA budger should be as small as
possible in order to avoid attracting unwanted aiention. When
Agency-managed programs grew (00 large and visible, as RDC now (hreat-
ened to do, RBussell and his colleagues believed ihat the Pentagon should
assume responsibility for them, to prevent budgetary and secunity strains
that C1A was not designed (o handle.

Acting on Russell’s wishes, Helms met with the director of the
Bureau of the Budget on 4 October 1966, in an unsuccessful effort o con-
vince him that some other government agency might better carry oul the
RDC program. Instead, Helms got new White House orders not only to
mivintain the current level of activities, bot also 1w request & supplementary
§38 million from Congress to expand Agency RDUC operations.

At this point, George Mahon and Carl Hayden, the chairmen of the
House and Senate Appropriations subcommittees, intervened. In a & April
1967 lemer 10 the Bureau of the Budget they pointed out the difficulues in
handling funds for an open program as a classified badget item and asked
that some other method of funding the RDC program be found for the com-
ing fiscal year, The Bureau of the Budget's reply noted thar, while the mat-
ter was receiving careful consideration, they nevenheless requested the full
appropriations for FY 1968, In response, Congress authorized funds for the
RDC program for only nine months. Although with Senator Russell's per-
mission ClA provided some residual support for 13 months after the | April
1968 funding cutoft, firm Congressional backing allowed the Agency [0 €5
cape 4 burden that threatened its ability to perform other more important
migstong, Moreover, it managed this in spite of administration wishes that
the Agency continue running the RDC program.”™

Mahon and Russell played a similar if less visible role in 1969 in
pressing the Pentagon to take over CIA responsibilities for the paramilitary
programs in Indochina known as SWITCHBACK and MACSOG. [n each
case the operations’ expansion in size had created funding probiems for the
agency. And in cach case Congressional prodding forced a reluctam
Pentagon o phase CIA out of the programs.

"Thetails of this opismde max be found in koho 5. Warner, Depury Genesal Coursel, Diraft
Memorandum. 14 Sepleniber 1971, Mfice of General Counsel Becords; amd 10 ufsigesd, an-
dated memerandum, “ROC and SWITCHBACK Fonding {Congressional BEriefings., Mamos
aml Letbar) ™




Helarlons With Cangress

The Agency’s involvement in extensive paramilitary operations in
Laos demonstrated both the benefits of Congressional support and the
problems that a single unsympathetic Congressman conld cause. The
Apency had been supplying and directing irregular forces in Laos since the
beginning of the 1960s. In 1970, in response to stepped-up enemy pressure
ard the exhaustion of Lao manpower n:gnun:q;s,r

CLA brieted the Senate Foreign Relations Committee on i1s opera-
tems in Laos as early as 1962, and during the ensuing years more than 50
Senators received information on one or more occasions on Agency partici-
pation in the Lao paramilitary program. Probably no legislator was more
fully conversant with CLA activities in Laos than Migsouri’s Stuart
Symington, and for many years the Senator was the Agency's most out-
spoken champion in Lastian matrers. Clifton Strathern, one of the
Agency’s mosl experienced Laos hands, has recalled the preferential reat-
menl Symington received from DDP operatives in Laos during his several
visits there: the Senator “'was given literally a staff briefing in the same
manter thal we would have given the Director, we would have given the
chief of the division, or anybody else. He was taken upcountry; he visited
with Wang Pao [the Meo leader]; there was never any effort to have anyone
withheld or not discuss some aspect of our operations,”™™ Complete candor
was the rule; Headquarters instructed Strathern and his colleapues “1o be
totally open, frank. and make no effort to withhold any aspeet, including
even cryptonyms,™"

Following a 1967 Nield inspection of CIA operations, Symington ar-
ranged to have the Vientiane Chief of Station, Ted Shackley, report on the
war in Laos to the full Senate Armed Services Committee, After the brief-
ing, the Missouri Democrat approvingly commented that the anmual hudger
for all Laos operations was less than the cost of a single day's fighting in
Vietnam, clearly implying that this was the way to protecute a war™ As
American public opinion shifted against the war in Southeas! Asia,
however, Symingion's enthusissm for CIA activities in Laos waned. By the
Fall of 1969, his requests to have Helms testify before a Foreign Relations
subcommittee on the Agency’s involvement in Laos had begun to worry
the DI

By midycar even fiim Apency supporiers had c:nm:]ud-eﬂJ
that the Lacs operations had now reached the size where they should

"Sirmhern interviow, 7 April 1953,

“thaid

“ibid; Jokn 5. Warner, Legislative Counsel, Memnorandum for the Reeord, § Octobar | 967,
Office ol Legiskative Counssl Recesds) Warner intervies, 33 Mgt 1983,
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become a Defense Department responsibility. On 9 July 1970, Russell in-
formed Helms that he opposed any plan to have CIA shoulder the addi-
tional costs Five days later, Mahon associated imself with
this position,

The reluctance of Russell and Mahon o see ClA undertake these new
responsibilities was only partly out of concern for the size of the Agency’s
budget. [ncreasingly, @ new and more fundamental worry influenced the
chairmin and ranking members of ClAs subcommitiees, As opposition to
thee war i Indoching moonted, a grovwing number of antiwar legislators
carme 1o beligve that the Mizon White House was using the Apency’s sSpe-
cial authoritics fo hide administration activities in Southeast Asia from
Congress. even Lo circumvent Congressional desires. Informed that the CLA
bankrolled the confroversial paramilitary operations in Laos, and denied
the right 1o examine the Agency or its finances, several Congressmen pro-
posed measures that would unveil the CIA budget or place restrictions on
covert activity. For instance, complaining that the White House had deve-
loped “a new snd cynical formula for running a war, out of sight of the
Congress and the American people,” Representative Herman Badillo
(D-MY) introduced a measure to prohibit the Agency from organizing guer-
rilla operations.* Russell and Mahon's objections to funding |

ere thus an attempt to protect the Agency by defusing some o
the suspicions of their antiwar collcagues, For the moment they succeeded,
for Badillo's proposal was quashed.

Fulbright, on the other hand. was nol 50 easily thwaned. 1n late
February 1971, he asked Helms to give the Foreign Relations Committes 4
special briefing on Laos. Since Senator Russell had died & month earlier,
the D1 dispatched Jack Maury to consult with John Steanis, who had suc-
ceeded Fussell as the Agency™s principal sponsor in the Senate. Mawry sug-
gested that Stennis take the position that such matters fell within the
jurisdiction of the Armed Services Committee, thereby making it inap-
propriate for CLA to testify. Unpersuaded, Stennis declined to block
Fulbright's request. Noting that “we Committee chairmen don’t like o get
into arguments with cach other on jurisdictional maers,” he told Maury
that it would be very difficult to defend the proposition that ClA-supported
activities in Soatheast Asia were aone of the Foreign Relations
Committee’s business,” Agency insiders must have compared Stennis’s de-
cigion unfavorably with the vigorons responses they had come 0 expect
feom Russell,

“Unsigned wemorondom. “Congressiozal Attitude Towsrd CA Fooding of Major
Paroiwilitary Activibes,” LT Sepiember 1871,

llll':n’.l.l.'_l,:!‘f'«]’.i.'llh’l" Reeord, Wod. 117: 18412,

John M. Mawry, Jr, Legislaive Coensel, Memomndum for dhe Recond, | March 1971,
CHFice of Legiskative Courdgel Feconds,
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The American-backed South Vietnamese invasion of Laos in carly
1971 precipitated an increasing nomber of Congressional proposals that
would have siripped CIA of some of ws broad awthorities, In addition to
Badillo's resclution barming the CIA {rom most paramilitary activities,
Senator George MoGovern (D-3D) introduced a bill that would reveal the
Agency's budpet Dgure and require a separate appropriatons act for CIA
each year. Symington sought to place w cealing on all government expendi-
twres for intelligence purposes. Failing in this, he got Congress (o approve
a bl seuing a budgetary cap for most expenditures in Lass. While the
meeasure did oot specifically mention CLA, Langley officials worted that it
formed & dangerous precedent that could be extended in the future o
Agency expenditures elsewhere.

On 3 August 1971, Fulbrighi's Foreign Relations Comminiee released
a sanitized version of a staff report acknowledging the extent of Agency in-
volvement in Lacs. The fact thet these sctivitics were still in progress made
this revelation all the more unuseal. 16 was at this point (hat Senajor
Symington, who had been briefed on CIA's work 1n Laos for years,
solemnly labeled it ¥a secret war” It was a phrase thet Agency officers
never forgave, Yet it stuck, in spite of CTA's efforts 1w ridicule the idea that
it would or could undertake such extensive operations without the approval
of, at 4 minimum, its four Congressional subcommitiess. Most Apency
officers found the words of lowa Senator Jack Smith closer 1o the truth: in
responss to Symington’s indignaton, Smith wamed his colleagoes not 1o
“leave the impression that the Senate somehow or other has besn helpless
i this maner. . ., [L]et us not say the Senafe has been hoodwinked or
leave the impression we have been mizled and have not known what is go-
ing on,*

By this time, ClA supporters on the FEel bad concluded that the
longer the Agency remainsd involved in Laos, the more likely Congress
wag (o adopt some of the restrictive measures being proposed. CLA was too
important © risk iis effectiveness by undertakings of this son, Swennis told
Maory. For its own good, ClA had to extract imell from the controversial
war. Acting on this belief, the Mississippi Senator informed President
Mixzon in a letter of 2 Septembser 1971 that he was determined that CIA's
invalvement in Laos should under no circumstances extend beyond the cor-
rent fiscal year. A memorandum written a few davs later by the CIA'S
Legislative Counsel explained Stennis’s thinking further:

He said we have troable enoegh witloat this thing. That we have fare bin-
portant work in providing intelligence and he doesn’t think we should be
mixed up in things that interfere with this. Said to ged some sub-rosa owtfit to

“US Congress. Senate, Committes on Foreign Relations, Sebuommittes on LS Security
Agreemens and Oommbtmests abooad, Loas: Aped D97, Sadf Beport, 3 Awgast 1971, 92nd
Corgz,, 121 seEd,, OWEshmpeon, D CPCY, T9T1 ) Senavar Jack Fmigh's geeng in Cowgrgsripnm
ety Alwsange, XXV 19713 357,
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iy pust this kind of thing. T soid thag i3 what we were set up for. He said then
pet 4 sub-sub-rosa outfit—Ilel the Pentagon o the Whits House have o sub-
roucs awtfin, the Agency hos 1o be free to do what is 50 imporani—ihal is ool-
lecring intu!ligunut."

DC1 Helms largely agreed with Stennis’s assessment of the dangers
that further Apency invalvement in Laos entailed and appreciated the
Senstor's efforts o diventangle ClA. At the same time, Stennmis's sltimatum
to Mixon placed the Director in @ uncertain position within the adminisira-
tion. White House officials insinuated that Stennis would not have writien
such a letter unless pressed to do so by the Agency. In conferning with
Stennis about this problem, Maury observed that while the DCI wished 1o
be responsive to the policymakers, Helms recognized that he could not af-
ford 1o ignore Congressional sentiments. The Legislative Counsel thea
predicied that “we were going 10 have a pretty rough time (rying o adjust
to the will of Congress and at the same time follow the directions and
desires of the Administration,” and warmed Steanis that the Agency might
have to call on him for assistance.™

Seeking (o formulate a response to Steanis's letter, a member of
Kiszinger's N5C staff requested comments from the Agency. In his reply of
20 Septermber 1971, Helms observed that, in light of the Senator’s concemns,
it would be difficult, if not impossible, for the CIA to continue its activities
in Laos. “Those key committees on whom we depend for our appropria-
tiens and our protection from damaging public exposure and political de-
kaie,” the DC1 explained, “appear firmly committed to the proposition that
they cannot support the continued inclusion of funds in the Agency’s
hudget for Laos-type operations.” Moreover, Helms went on, he thought it
“patremely doubtful that they will long countenance the Agency’s comduct
of such operations even if the funds were overtly appropriared as a line
item in the Defense budget.” The DCI concloded hiz memorandum by
waming that the longer ClA stayed in Laos, the more likely it was that
Congress would adopt legislation designed to limit the capacity of the
Agency, and hence the administration, w0 undertake covert operations clse-
where aronnd the globe” As with the RDC, SWITCHBACK, and MAC-
S0G prograoms, Helms had foend Congressional opposition 1o
administration policies a useful means to persuade the Whire Houwse to al-
low CIA to back out of an operation thal had grown o unwieldy for
APency resources.

“oen b, Maary, I, Legislative Counsel, Memoranduen for the Becord, 14 Seplemiber 1971,
Cefice of Legiskative Counssl Records; unsigned (probably Maary), Memorandiam o the
Recard, undated (e, 14 Seplemtber 1971), Office of Legislmive Coumsel Bocands.
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y/ Relarions With Congress

Congressional debate over CIA' role in Loos produced some of the
sharpest criticism of Agency practives in its first quarter cenry of exis-
temee. Yot it 16 difficult in retrospect 1o see what Richard Helms might
reasonably have done to avert the tide of abose that came CIA's way. As he
repeatedly pointed out, it hid been & “secret war™ only in the sense that
the American public—at the explicit direction of three Presidents and
Congressional leaders of both parties—had not been informed of American
policy. Bur the Congress certainly had not been denied knowledge of
Agency operations in Laos. In conformity with existing practices, CIA had
assiduously kept dozens of senior Congressmen and Senatoes informed of
ils activities over the years,

By the carly 1970z, however, these practices no lenger commanded
the unquestioning support in Congress they once had enjoyed. Lepislative
Counsel Maury, in his OLC annual report for 1971, explained the matter.
“The Congressional power structore, which has for o quarter of 2 century
served 1o shield the Agency from intrusion or attack by the rank-and-file
membership, is in a state of flux,” he wrote, Russell and Rivers were dead:
other longtime Agency supporters, including Stennis, Mahon, Allen
Ellender, and Edward Hébert, were in their seventies or even cighties,

Ome meed not go for down the sesiority lists of the comumittees over which
these men preside {Mawry continwed] 1o find members of substantially differ-
et temperment [sic] and outlook, They include men whe have aver the years
become increasingly suspicioas or jealons of the secretive manner in which
the Agency ovensight committees have exercised their responsibilities, And
their runks are being perindically reinforced by newly elected yourger mem-
bers. Many of these feel that because of the Increasingly important role of
the Agency in providing inputs 1o cracial policy decisions its information
and its aclivities should be more broadly accessible [sic] 1o the Legislative
Branch. and some of them appear to have been infecied by the anti-
establishment and ant-Agency campaigns of the “MNew Left.” Faced with
the resulting pressures, our aging and harassed protectars and benefacions on
the Hill can oo lnger be expected to hobd the old lines.

The death of Richard Russell in January 197] robbed the old system
of perhaps its leading defender and reduced the obsiacles confronting those
who would create a new, more egalitarian order in the Senate, Russell pos-
sessed the stature and the power 10 suppress incipient rebellion among the
vounger Senators who sought to overturn the seniority system and the
formerly unchallengeable authority of commities chairmen. But John
Stennis, his seccessor as head of Armed Services, commanded neither the
respect nor the clous Russell had wielded, and ultimately proved unable 1o
block the demands for Congressional reform that would dilute his authority
and restrict his ability to shield the CIA as Russell had done. Moreover,
Russell’s passing suddenly made the personal animosity belween Senators
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Symington and Stennis something mone than simply a privae matter, Many
Agency officers came to believe that a vindictive Symington sought o e
barrass his rival by promoting the sdea that Stennis’s Armed Services
Committee was irresponsibly lax in supervising Agency operations in
Southeast Asia,

More than this, however, the increasingly viruleat relations betwesn
the executive and the legislative branches of the government, in large
messure stimulated by disagreement over the war in Southeast Asia, con-
tributed 10 the Agency’s problems with its Laos operations, Many of the
limitations on Agency activitics that Congress proposed arose not from un-
happiness with CLA per se, but from a widespread sense that the legislative
branch muwst reassert its voice in the condwct of nanonsl security policy.
Restrictions placed on CTA in 1971 and later often had the broader purpose
of limiting the sdministration’s freedoms of action in Southeast Asia; they
were aimed at CIA only insofar as the Agency had been used to circumvent
Congressiomil desires, In this important sense, Richord Helms found hime-
self and his agency in the midst of 2 constitutional controversy over the
rightful division of powers in foreign affoirs. CIA was bur a pawn in this
far larger siruggle.

Helms appreciated that this placed his organization in danger and
moved to protect the Agency from Congressional sniping. He and his OLC
officers frequently reminded the oversight subcommittees of CIA's continu-
ing desire for regular mectings. He enlisted Senator Henry Jackson {D-WA)
to press first Rossell and later Stennis for more formal and structured con-
tacts with CIA's Congressional supervisors. Under Helms's direction OLC
established o program o contact all freshimen Senators and Congressmen,
and from Gme o dme Helms met with his Legislative Counsel o select
key lawmakers that OLC should tarpet for special atiention.

But the Congressional old guard remained largely impervious o the
need for making concessions to the more demanding mood prevalent
among the yvounger Members of Congress. [n 1971, Stennis did oot call a
single formal meeting of the Armed ServicesfClA subcommittee; the
Appropriations subcommittes met only once, Matters in the House wers no
better. When Lonisiana's Edward Hébert sucopeded Mendel Rivers as head
of the Armed Services CTA subcommiittes on the latter’s death in 1970, one
of his first actions was to announce the dissolution of the oversight sub-
committes. Maury finally confessed to a ranking Senate staffer that the
DI felt most uneomforable because be believed that Fulbright's Foreign
Relations Commitiee was better informed of Agency affairs than the CIA's
o subcomminees were. The situation invited disoster, which, in the form
of exhaustive Congressional investigation, was oot long in coming, In a
strange twist of rony, the Apency’s supporters broughs it nearly as moch
grief as its detractors.




-y/ Relations With Congress

Om the Eve of the Storm

As Richard Helms prepared in early 1973 1o step down after six and a
half years as DC1, he left for his successor a troubled, vet surprisingly
favorable relationship with Capitol Hill, Congressional respect for the
Agency's intelligence product had never stood higher. By pushing for
wider dissemination of ClA studics and estimates, the legislators were im-
plicitly acknowledging how central to their own responsibilities the
Apency had become. Faced with incredibly complex issues often involving
arcane or wechnical matters, the lawmakers incressingly turmed 10 CIA ex-
perts for help in sorting out a welter oF conflicting or indecipherable infor-
mition. Nowhere was this continued reliznce on the Agency maore
concrelely demonstrated than n the 1972 SALT 1 treaty, for the Senate
would never have ratified the accord if the legislators had nol been con-
vinced that CIA could detect any significant Soviet violations, As the na-
tion’s securty came more and more to fely on the latest in technological
wigardry, Congress was increasingly persuaded of the erucial importance of
the intelligence professional.

AL the same lime—and somewhat paradoxically—the new %ird
Congress that convened in January 1973 was, in comparison to the
Congress of 1966, considerably more outspoken in itz demands on the
ClIA, which now incloded access to intellipence information, disclosure of
Agency budget figures, restrictions on CIA covert action authorities, and
muore rigorous legislative oversight. Reflecting these changed conditions,
Legislative Coansel Maury noted in his year-end report for 1972 thai
“even our staunch friends are leaning increasingly toward a narrow con-
cept of the Agency’s mission, particularly where paramilitary and political
opefations are concemed.””

Congressional concern over “excoutive encroachment™ placed an add-
ed burden on Agency managers, 5o, wo, did persistent repors linking Cia
1o the Watergate break-in. Finally, earlier Congressional inhibitions that
had discouraged the leaking of sensitive Agency information appeared 1o
have eroded. Although these developments had not created serious
problems for Helms, they were nonetheless a source of concern. ClA could
now expect ils critics to seize on any intelligence failures or operational
blunders in ways unimaginable a decade earlier.

Maury™s recommendations for suitable defensive measures demon-
sirite the limited range of options Agency officials believed open to them,
Although warning that CIA would probably have to give tactical ground 1o
foresiall restrictive lagislation, Maury held that in the main, “we must rely
un the professienalism of our operations, on the integrity of our product.
and on our responsiveness 1o the legitimate interests and demands of both
the Legislative and the Executive Branches o see us through [this] patch of
political wrbulence.™™

“lobn M. Maury, Jr., Eegislative Coungel, Memorandum for James B, Schlesinger, Dineeioe
i Central Imalligence. 12 Feboagry 1971,
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Maury's prescription, which implied that CIA could do littie more
than batten down the hatches untl the current squalls blew over, reflected a
ceriain Failure of imagmation that badly served the Agency™s inleresis,
Helms's OLC officers seem to have gauged their effectiveness primarily in
terms of dissuading Congress from passing harmful legistation. This was
an important task, to be sure, and by this vardstick OLC succeaded in
maintaining reasonably cordial Congressional-Agency ties. But this preoc-
cupation with legislation may have rendered them less sensitive 1o the in-
tangibles of the relationship. o the shadowy but Important shift in meod
and expectations that would propel the Agency into an unwanted limelight
only months after Helms's departure. Certainly neither Helms nor hils
senior licutenants appreciated the extent to which the old methods and the
old rules no longer applied.

Similarly, their principal response to Syminglon’s allegaions about &
“eopret war'” in Laos was a deeply felt sense of having been betraved by a
irusted friend. Attacked from 30 unexpected a guarler, Agency officers in-
stinctively withdrew, slipping into a siege mentality that did more o n-
flame than to assuage Congressional critics. Moreover, this defensive, sus-
picious reaction precluded any real examination of the complaints being
lodged against CIA. Yer without an understanding of the reasons behind
the attacks on CIA, Apency officers could do linle to avert the caaclysmic
rupture in Congressional-Agency ties that the legislative investigations of
19T3-76 prodoced.

Could Richard Helms have prevented such a trauma? Probably not.
The outside pressares were simply 1o many, the confloence of forces bear-
ing down on CIA too powerful. Helms had the misfortune to head the
Agency just as a new mood of skeplicism and self-asserliveness swepl over
Congress. The dissalution of the foreign policy consensus that had shielded
CIA for a quarter century combined with a liberal dosage of binerness over
Victnam and a generalized disillusionment with governmental power to
seinforce this bess quiescent anitude wpon Capitol Hill. As an imponant in-
strument of the orthedoxy now being questioned, the CIA naterally at-
wracted new interest.

The nature of the legislative provess often worked o the Agency™s
disadvantage as well. OLC siaffer George Cary, a future Legislative
Counsel himself, has observed that, because of their limited access o infor-
mation, Members of Congress “don’t know enough to ask the right ques-
tions.”” As 8 conseguendce, ““ir"s important for the senior people in the
intelligence buginess to not onky respond 10 the specific requesis that come
from the Congress, but, if you will, 1o force-feed the Congress on things
that they ought to know about.” Yet s long as oversight of the Agency re-
mained a parl-time concern, senior members of the Armed Services and
Appropriations Committees who sat on the CIA subcommiliees were sim-
ply too busy 1o devote the necessary hours to Agency mamers, a5 Helms
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repesiedly found when he pressed for mose consultations. “[1)f it wasn'i an
absolute crisis sitwation, you frequently coulda’t . . . force your way into
it,” Cary remembers.”

On the other hand, Helms might have mitigated some of the fury of
the subsequemt Congressional enslavght, Three remarkably similar reac-
tons 1o the DCL spaced over a number of years, suggest ane of the
protlems. In 1967, after hearing the DT brief the House Foreign Affairs
Committee, Representative Barratt O'Hara observed that Helms's answers
had been very sketchy. “Mr, Director, 1 wish 1w compliment yow,” O"Hara
stated, with & mixtore of refpect and chagrin. “"Yoo hive been an admirable
witness, but you are leaving us without very much information.” Five
years later, Carl Marcy, chiel of staff of the Senate Forcign Relations
Committee, echoed O'Hara's comment. Helms, he iold a journalist, had a
good reputation on the Hill for imegrity, “but you've got to know what 1o
ask bim." And writing in 1974, Representative Lucien Nedzi, appeointed
three years earlier to head a revitalized Armed Services CTA subcommines,
recalled a meeting with Helms where he had told the DCT: “You've been
very cooperalive in answering oy questions. The trouble is 'm not sure
I'm asking the right questions.™*

Here, then, iz the famous Helms reticence, a reluctance to reveal
more than was absolutely necessary, Such a close-lipped approach may
have been understandable, even laudatory in @ DCT; it nonetheless impeded
communication and left many interlocutors discontented. When combined
with the legislative branch's institutional congiraints and explicit instruc-
ticns from Russell, Rivers, and others that limited Agency visibility, the in-
evitable consequence was that most Members of Congress gl remarkabiy
litcle reliable information about Agency purposes and achievements.

As @ result, many members of the Congress combined a personal
respect for Helms with a dissatisfaction with the overall state of legislative
oversight of ClA. A phone conversation between Maury and Senator
Symington in December 1972 nicely illustrates this meshing of sentiments.
Symington was calling 1o inguire about rumors thar Nixon had dismissed
Helms as DCT. Remarking that Helms's departure would distress him
greatly, the Missouri Senator then launched into & monologue on the inade-
quate nature of Congressional supervision of the CIA. According to
Maury’s notes, Symington declared that “'the only reason this situation had
been tolerated was because of the respect which the Congress had for Mr
Helms, who had always been completely “the soul of honor' when he

“Cary imervicw, ¥ Sepiember 1953,

“Tranzeriph of DCL Brietfing, Foase Feeeign Affairs Committee, 21 Febroary 1967; John B
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Legislative Counsel Records: Lucien M, Medzi, “Owersight or Gveriook: Ciigiced dnd the L.
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appeared before Congressional commitbess and whose intelligence assess-
ments had proved far more accurate than those of other Government
agencies.” Symington concluded by observing ihat if Helms left the
Agency, “it will change a lot of things around here.”” The Scnator’s
words constituted both a tribute to Richard Helms and an ominows warning
Fesr thae Tuture

Helms was a man of the RSl wha ook -:harge af CIA jlu.!.'l as the
old rules goveming CLA'S relations with Congress were collapsing, His
were the years of the pathering stomm, and he left just before the deluge.
Confronted with increazing restiveness and a growing Congressional
predisposition to challenge the C1A, Helms made concessions as he
ihoughl ;lerc:upriuI:l:_ His YEArs s 1 weare L"l:rllﬁ'lderhhl:" FFIE Chhedl thian
those of any of his predecessors. Yet in metrospect we can see thal his ad-
justrments were piecemeal and often lacked the support or understanding of
ClA's legislative sponsors, They failed w placate the Agency’s detraciors
because they did not address the fundamental concerns underlying their
STILEiEImS,

That they failed to do 5o leads us back o the contradictions that mark
Richard Helms™s management of the ClA-Congressional relationship.
Between 1966 and early 1973, Helms succeeded in preserving a rough
equilibrium in that relationship. His contemporaries, incloding many suspi-
cions of Agency activities, penerally applanded the DCI for maintaining a
reasonably satisfactory partnership between two institutiions whose rela-
tionship contains inherent tensions. Yet while Helms managed o contain
the pressures threatening o destroy this uncasy balance, he and his Agency
proved unable to relieve or divert them. As it tumed out, both Helms and
his successors were severely wounded by the eveniual explosion.

“lohm Mawry, e, Legislative Counsel, Memarandum for the Becord, 18 December 197,
Ofhce of Lepmlative Counsel Keeords




Chapter 8

Watergate
Russell Jack Smith

The break-in at Democratic campaign chairman Lawrence O'Brien's
office in the Waiergaie complex on the night of 16-17 June 1972 has heen
s0 thoroughly chronicled that it would be idle (o recount it in all s SOy
detail. Suffice it 1o say, the ramifications of this “ihird-rate burglary,™
which eventually led 1o the unprecedented resignation of the President of
the United States, alse embroiled Richard Helms and iy hove led o his
dismizsal . Unlike Nixon's, however, Helms's dismissal was not the conse-
quence of his or his Agency’s involvement in the Watergate mess, but in-
slead may have been influenced by his resolute refusal to permit the White
House to use CIA as an instrument in its eluborate coverup of the crime.

CLA’s connection with Watergate was through two retired Forrmer em-
ployees, James McCord and E. Howard Hent, MeCord, who had retired in
August 1970, was one of the five burglars arrested on that eventful might in
1972, When materizl found on the men established a connection with Hunt,
Director of Security Howard Osboen notified Helms of this devefopment.
At hiz 19 June morning staff meeting, Helms noted MeCord's arrest and
the possible implication of Hunt, and advised those present that their
response 10 any question regarding the two should be “limited to a state-
menl that they are former employees who retired” in 1970,

This statement was perfectly troe, boi later investi gation revealed that
after retirement Huont had used his former Agency employment o obtain
minor assistance with marginally or idally illegal activities on behalf of
the White House. In July 1971, the White House had hired Munt as a
“security consultant™ and member of the so-called Plumber's Group b js-
sisl in plugging leaks of national security information—a problem that in
1970-T1 engrossed much of official Washington. Concern reached a high
pitch following news stories accurately detailing L5 tactics and positions
in SALT talks, followed by The New York Tines' publication of the

"Mloraing Mssting Minutes, 10 Jane 1972
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Pentagon Papers, The Mixen White House responded with o characteristic
mixture of paransia and devicusly aggressive lactics. Spurred by the inten-
sity of this high-level concern, as well as the DCL s statulory responsibili-
ties for protecting intelligence sources and methods, Helms instituted a
nisimber of sieps W tghten security. As a part of this cagoing elforr, he pre-
pared for Mison o detailed siudy of leaks to the press that hed occurred dur-
ing Nixon's administration.,

Given this background, there appeared to be nothing simister in the
July 1971 welephone call from top Nixon aide John Ebrlichman 1o Helms's
Dreputy Director, Gen. Robernt Cushman, USMC, requesting minor as-
sistance on “secarity matters” for Howard Humt,' After all, ClA and the
DI were slso interested in protecting classified material. Accordingly,
CIA authorized this assistance. Hunt proceeded to exploit this narow
opening to oblain other assistance, but eventually went oo far. At Helms's
direction, on 25 August 1971, all further assistance was cul off.”

Before the cutoffl, however, Helms had reluctantly approved, and the
Agency had complied with, o White House request to prepane 3 psycholog-
ical profile of Daniel Ellsberg. the former RAND employee identificd as
the man who had stolen and released the Penwtagon Papers. On receiving
this request, Helms had remonstrated with White House staffer David
Young, stressing CIA'S reluctance 1o undertake a profile of a US cinzen.
Mevertheless, Young at last persuaded him on the grounds that this was
consenant with his responasibility for protecting sources and methods.” This
deciston was perhaps more instrumental than any other in sustaining the
cloud of suspicion that hung over the question of CIA's involvement in
Watergate, Although Ellskerg™s profile had no connection with the 16 June
1972 Watergate break-in, the Agency's involvement with Ellsherg sug-
pested 1o many that CIA was capable of undertaking illegal actions against
LIS citizens.

Howaed Hunt was the connection between Daniel Ellsberg and
Watergate. Unknown to Helms and ClaA, Hunt®s other activities on behalf
of the White Howse included a range of dirty tricks against Nizon's
Democratic oppanents in the 1972 election. These included the bugging
and break-in of the Watcrgate office of the Democratic Presidential cam-
paign chairman. 1t was Hunt who hired the five participants, all bul one of
whom was an associate from the 1961 atempted invasion of Cuba's Bay
of Pigs, and even provided one of these with cover identification materials

"WE Congress, Howse, Special Subcommines oo Intelligence of the Comminee oo Armed
Sepvipss, Inquiry fora tie Alleged favolvement of the Central Iniellipence Apemey im the
Watergore amd Ellrberg Matters, ¥rd Comg,, 15t ssse, 1973 (Washington, DT Governmest
Priming Ofice, V9730 (horcalter cited a8 Houss, Wigergare]. p. 2.

"Karl Wagres, Memarandur for the Record, 27 August 197 1.

"Richard Helms 1estimany hefone ihe Senme Seleo Commitee on Presidentinl Campaign
Activities, 2 August [973.

nﬁl\-




-.'-‘M’—‘ Harerpate

borrowed From CIA. Hunt moni-
tored the operation from a monel
room across the street, and when
James MeCord was caplured inside
the Watergate office building, his
packels contained a check from
Hunt

So0n, the trail led from Huont
o the ClA. Numeroos investiga-
tions followed the events of the
Watergate break-in—s0 many and
s thoroughly reported that, for
most Americans, ““Watergate' has
come o mean the Congressional
and judicial inguines rather than the
office complex or the events that
toek place there, Mope of these in-
vestigations has ever found that
ClA's involvement went beyond the
minimal support provided Hunt:
nevertheless, the cloud of suspicion Le. Gen. Mermon A, Wallers,
has clung tenaciously and may mﬁ:ﬁ;ﬂf;r*ﬁy;?;émr
never completely dissipate.

To a considerable extent this is because of the Nizxon White House's
repeated efforts to involve CIA in the subsequent coverup. Although Helms
and CIA resisted these efforts, the White House CAMPAign was so
prolonged amd many faceted that investigators have found it difficult 1o
track down and resolve each part of the story.

The White House"s campaign bepan within a week afier the break-in.
Cn 23 June 1972, John Ehrlichman summoned Helms and his newly ap-
pointed Deputy Director, Lt Gen. Vernon Walters, USA, to his office.
Unknown to Helms, the reason for the meeting was that, in investigating
the break-in, the FBI had stumbled on some Nixon campaign contribaetion
ehecks routed through Mexico, As the White House tapes would later re-
veal, Nixon that morning had directed his other top aide, H. B. {Bob}
Haldeman, to call in Helms and Walters and tell them to instruct Acting
FBI Director L. Patrick Gray to shut off further investigation leading 1o
Mexico °

Haldeman began by telling his visitors that the Watergate incident
was causing i lot of trouble and that the FBI imvestigation was leading 1o
“a lof of important people.” He asked what CIA'S connection was 1o the
break-in. Helms replied that there was none. Then turning to General

"Wishingrow e Mewr. |1 November 1973,
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Walters, Haldeman said thad the White House thought that Walters should
tell Patrick Gray that it would not be advantageous 1o push the inguiry fur-
ther, “especially in Mexico," Helms then told Haldeman that he had
spoken with Gray the day before and had specifically assured him thar CIA
wis not invalved in the Watergate break-in and that none of the FBI's in-
vestigations was touching any covert CIA prajects. Yirtually ignoring
Helmsz, Haldeman again addressed Walters, saying that it had been
decided at the White Hewse™ that FRBI's Mexico investigaticn maght run
into ClA operations there. Helms repeated that ClA was not connected in
any way with Watergate, but Walters agreed to make the call, Following
Ehrlichiman's suggestion that he should do this “soon” he made an ap-
pointment within an hour”

After leaving the White House, Helms and his newly appointed
deputy briefly discussed Walters' forthcoming meeting with Gray, Helms
advised Walters to go only so far as to remind FEI's Acting Director of the
existing “delimitation” agresment between the two agencies that required
FBI to notify CIA if it ran into an Agency operation.” Mevertheless, at the
meeting Walters told Gray what Haldeman had asked him to; namely, that
any ongoing investigation of the Mexican aspects of Walergate could
jeopardize CIA covert actions in the area. Walters later justified this on the
rrownds that he “genuinely believed that Haldeman had some information
that [ did not have and agreed to go (o Gray and convey the message as I
had been directed.”™ He apparently did not notice the anomaly that he, not
Helms, was the chosen messenger and cvidently did not suspect that this
choice might have been motivated by the fact that he, unlike Helms, was a
Mixon appointee and therefore more susceptible to White House influence.
As he says, It simply did not occur 1o me that the Chief of Staff to the
President might be asking me-to do something that was illegal or wrong.™"
In any event, after this wobbly beginning, Walters responded with resolule
integrity 0 subsequent White House pressure,

Helms and his deputy chaned only briefly before Walters left for his
meeting at the FBI, demonstrating fundamentally different assumptions
about the occasion. General Walters, newly arrived in Washington from
overseds service and accustomed to unquestioningly carrying our orders,
perceived no problem in complying with Haldeman's directive. Helms,
however, had spent most of his career watching the feints and maneuvers
of White House sides and by now was in his fourth year of working at
close quarters with the Mixon White House. He was fully aware of the
President's antagonism to CLA, as well as Haldeman's and Ehrlichman’s
personul antagenizm 1o Helms himself. He had gone to the Haldeman

“Wernom A Walters, DO Memacandwm far she Becord, 28 Tune 1972
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meeting with his antennas sensitized, and several aspects of the encounter
had put him on alert. Noting that Walters, the recent Nixon appointee, was
the chosen instrument for approaching Gray, Helms understood the
President “s stafl well enough 1o realize that they confidedntly expecied the
new Boy to cirry out White House orders, whereas “ontsider™ Helms
might not. After all, Walters owed his job to themn. Even more siriking,
Acting FBI Director Patrick Gray had not been invited 1o the meeting. Why
was it necessary, Helms wondered, to dispaich someone from ClA-—and
especially Walters—to twrn off Gray's investigation? Finally, Helms noted
that Haldeman had ignored his assurance, not once but three times, that
CIA had no involvement with Watergate, Could it be, he wiondered, that
CIA was being positioned in some kind of devious White House maneu-
wir!

Wirrergare

All of this was troubling, but the aspect of the 23 June 1972 mieeding
with Haldeman that most disturbed Helms was the suggestion that the FBI
investigation might open up “the Bay of Pigs thing,” This was an &llusion
that Helms did not understand," and Haldeman later confessed that he did
nod understand i, either. 1 raised the guestion because | was told (o,” he
nformed the House Special Subcomminize on Intelligence.” The individual
wha gave him these instructions was Nixon, whoe told Haldeman just be-
fore he met with Helms and Walters, “Tell them . . . it's likely to hlow the
whole Bay of Piga.”" When Haldeman raised the issue, Helms responded
angnly that he wis nol concerned about the Bay of Pigs, which had noth-
ing o do with the matler at hand.” But the question was revealing: it had
that devious, hardnosed White House smell. As Helms later told David
Frost, “All | knew was that was a failure the Agency had, but [ didn't see
iny reason W drag it inlo conversations we were having at the time.” " But
if the question had po objective meaning, it nonetheless comveyed a desire
to touch a sore spot, to apply pressure. Helms recopnized it for that and de-
icrmined to proceed cautiously.

Al this point, Helms's suspicions were founded on viery litle, He was
reasonably confident that his Agency had no direct involvement with ihe
Watergate break-in. As he wld Pairick Gray by telephone the day befors.
when Gray called to ask whether the FBI might be “poking into a CIA
operation,” Helms had been “talking with his men . . . for the past few
days, and . . . although they knew the people, they had no involvement in
the Walergate break-in."" Mevertheless, Helms had clear proof that the

“Hsehnrd Belms, inberview by Dawid Frosi, wlevisian traoscrips, Washinglom, D, X2-23 May
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President’s two top aides were exercised owver the FBL investigation of the
affair and were trying to divert i, not through direct orders to Patrick Gray
but through a newly appointed officer whom they seemed to feel they
could pressure. [Udid not smell right. Accordingly, Helms advised Waliers
te go e Further in his discussion with Gray than o remind bim of the
mutual CTA-FBI agreement about the exchange of information reganding
ench oither's operations.

These suspicions hardened in Helms"s mind ower the next day or so
ad became a resolve to do everyihing he could to keep his Agency’s sKims
clear of the Watergate investigation. As he put it in his instructions Lo his
officers, the poal was to “distance™ CIA as far as possible from the affair
and its aftermath. What contributed as much as anything o solidify his
suspicion was the mounting White House pressure on CIA 1o protect those
who had been arrested. This pressure, once again, was directed not at him
bt at Genesral Wallers,

O 26 June, the Monday immediately following his meeting with
Patrick Gray, Walters was summoned 1o the White House by Counscl 1o the
President, John Dean. After checking with Ehrlichman to make sure that
Dean wos suthorized (0 discuss the matter wath him, Waliers complied.
Dean reviewed the FBL investigation superficially and commented that one
working theory was that CIA was involved. Walters responded that he had
looked theroughly into the matter over the weckend and was certain e
Agency had no such connection. To reply, Dean pointed out that the "sus-
pects,” the former Cla employees, were wobbling, and hinted that the
Agency might be involved without Walters knowing it," Walters noted that
they could not implicaie the Agency and also pointed out the limitations on
lvis authority (o act independsntly.

When Wallers reported back to Helms on this meeting, including his
feeling that “some kind of fishing was going on, and that he would resign
if need be,” the DCT laid down firm guidelines for his new deputy:

[ want it o be clearly understeed between ws thal you are not 1o ggree
o anything that will in any way besmirch this Agency , | don's cane whether
yoar ane prepared o be o scopegoat or anything else, thai is not the point. The
Apency is not the Army or Mavy of some big instituton 1ike that, [t cam hurt
it badly by having somebody et improperly who was in the line of com-
myaml, and 1 dos't want you 10 poguiesce in a single thing that will besmirch
this Agency .

In his remarks Helmns very firmly let his deputy know that the salva-
tion of his personal honor was not enough; in Helms's view, the CIA's
pood pame had a higher value,

i, . &f.
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Dean resumed the attack on Walters the next day by again summon-
ing him to his office, this time 10 suggest that ClA might provide bail
money and salaries for the suspects, using covert funds. Walters responded
by reporting @ conversation with Helms that indicated thai, if C1A did as
Dean suggested. he would first have to ¢lear it with the oversight commit-
1ees in both the Senate and the House of Represenfatives. Walters added
that to Follow Dean’s course of action would serve enly 1o enlarge the
problem,

On 28 June, for the third consecutive day, Dean called in Walters and
bluntly told him that the problem now was how to stop the FBI investiga-
tien beyond the five suspects. Walters repeated that a5 DDCI he had no in-
dependent authority to act, and any notion that he could do so was a
delusion. This session ended with Dean appearing o agree that ClA partic-
ipation wis onacceptable,”

By this time it was abundantly clear 1o Helms that the White
Hovse—Haldeman, Ehelichman, and Dean—had been intent from the out-
set on hooking CIA into the Watergate affair, either by getiing the Agency
to admit an involvement it did not have or by coaxing it o blocking the
teain of events, mcluding the FBI investigations, that followed. Helms be-
came more determined than ever to “distance” the Agency from the inves-
tigation, He instructed his officers that he wanted “no freewheeling
exposition of hypotheses or any effort made to conjecture aboul responsi-
bility or likely objectives of the Watergate intrusion.”™ Some investigators
later interpreted this discretion by the DCI as an effort to cloak an Agency
involvement that did not, in facr, exist.

For & period of time John Dean made noe further effort to embroil
CIA in the Watergate coverup, Acting FBI Director Patrick Gray made cer-
tain demands that seemed to be merely those of an officer in his position,
and perhaps geouinely were so, although at thiz point neither Helms nor
Walters could be certain that he was not proceeding under the influence
and direction of the White House, most notably John Dean. Helms was also
deeply concemed by signs that FBI officers of lesser rank were leaking in-
formvation about the case to the press, Even more disturbing was the fact
that all of Helms®s assurances to Gray seemed 1o roll like water off a
duck’s back. Even before his 12lephone conversation with Gray just before
the meeting with Haldeman and Ehrlichman, Helms had rold the Act-
ing FBI Director that the White House, not CIA, was the place to look for

"Werman A, Waltars, DINCI, Memarandum for the Record, 28 Tune 1972,
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clues megarding the Walergate affair, 1 don’ know why Gray didn’t be-
ligve me," Helms later told David Frost, “when T told him early on back at

thee tiowe of the Watergate break-in that those fellows were involved with
Ehrlichman.™

I didd cedl him that, | om certnin he wilk tell yow 1 wold hime Bat For
some reason, his people seemed o feel tha the Agency was invalved, .. . As
a matter of fact, | told him in a tebephose call T made at the nme of the
break-in. § Ouak e was 1o Los Angeles. [ said, *You'd betier waich oul be
cugse these fellows may have some conmection with Ehclichman.™ 1 knew
Ehrleclhmian was the ons whe had arrenged Foer the hiring of Howand Ho "

"Helms imtervics, 22-33 May |5TE,
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Why then did Patrick Gray behave as though none of Helms's statements (o
him had ever been made?

In view of these uncertainties, Helms instrucied Walters to procesd
with due caution in responding to & demand tha Gray made in early July
WL Gray asked Wallers for a statement in writing to the effect that the
FBI investigation of the twa suspects with Mexican connections was en-
dangering national security. Without this, Gray advised Walters, the FRI
would be obliged 1o proceed with the investigation.

Walters went to Patrick Gray on & July and presenied him with o
memaorandum detailing the entire relationship between CIA and the
Watergale suspects, as well as the two individuals with Mexican conneg-
tions that Gray had specifically mentioned. Waliers said that he could not
tell Gray to cease fusther investigations on the grounds that they migh
compromise national security, and still less could he make such o statement
in writing. Gray said that he understood and added that he had told
Haldeman and Ehrlichman that the in vestigation could not be turned off.
He further added thar there were leaks on (he subject coming our of FBI,™

Al Helms's direction, Walters returned 1o Crray a week later with g
memorandum conlaining one further piece of information invalving
Howard Hunt. This had to do with the precise assistance that Hont had re-
quested and received in pursuin of his leak-plugging activities, inchiding
CIA’s decision o end this assistance when his demands grew excessive,
Afier thanking Walters, Uiray said that he felt the Watergate scandal would
lead quite high politicatly, adding that, in a recent conversation with the
President, he had told Nixon that both he and Wallers thought the President
should fire those involved in the coverup regardiess of their status. Both
Gray and Waiters agreed that they would resign their posts if necessary to
protect their respective agencies,”

By thiz time, Helms was persuaded that Giray was trying to do the
best job be could in the fece of persistent pressure from the White House to
back off. Nonetheless, by Gray's own admission the FBI was springing un-
characicristic |caks. This impelled Helms to tzke precautions to protect his
officers and any information regarding them while at the same time at-
wempling o be as cooperative as possible with the ongoing investization.
Therefore, in responding to questions from the Department of Justice about
the Watergate suspects, Helms provided the informanon requested and as-
sured the Attorney General of the Agency’s full cooperation, while sirecs.
ing the importance of handling the material carefully. Afer stating
uncquivecally that CLA had no involvement with Watergate, he requested
that CIA be consulted with respect to any use that the Justice Department

Walters, DDCI, Memorandum for i Record, & Taly 1572,
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might make of the information.™ During the following months, there were,
at Helms's divection, further exchanges of this sort berween CIA and
Justice representatives—a caution that some investigators subsequently in-
terpreted as foot-dragging and indications of guill.

John Dean's last effort to hook the Agency into the case came in
February 1973, shortly after Helms's dismissal. Dean requested the new
DO, James Schlesinger, to retrieve from the Justice Department the vari-
ous ClA memorandums that Justice had previously requested. Dean sug-
gested leaving a card in Justice files indicating that this had been done
because these materials were oo longer pertinent. On Schlesinger's instruc-
tions, Walters informed Dean that the CLA would not do this. Such an ac-
tion, he pointed out, would serve only to implicate the Agency, Onee again,
he repeated that there was no Agency involvement in the case, and any af-
termpis 1o force such involvement could prove only harmful to the United
States.” For pearly = year, afier a shaky beginning, Walters had been fol-
lowing the guidetines established by Helms and répuolsing White House et-
forts to use the Agency @s a shield against exposure. Walters” rebuff of
Dean was essentially the last defensive move in the long campaign by
Helms o prevent the White House from dragging CIA into the role of an
accomplice in covering up the Watergate break-in.

In Helms's view, by mid-July 1972 the Watergate incident no longer
ivolved cither him or CiA, He had made it clear that any assistance CTA
had given Howard Hunt was provided merely to help staunch the wnanto-
rized flow of national security information to the press. He had repeatedly
denied that CLA had any direct connection with the break-in and had turned
aside successive White House atlempis o involve the Agency in the
coverup. He had done his part, and, when he lefi the couniry to take up his
post as Ambassador 1o Tehran, he expected that news of any further
Watergate developments would reach him only through the pages of the
Paris edition of the New York Herald Tribune. Instead, he found himself
frequently returning to Congressional hearings in Washingion in order 1o
defend both himself and the ClA from distortion and innuendo.

The Medzl Committee

The investigations had their source in a 30 January 1973 statement by
Judge John §. Sirica when he found the six defendants guilty of the
Watergate break-in. Judge Sicica observed that he believed there was more

*Helens, 1], Memorandum for the Besard, |8 (etober 1572,
alers Memorsndum For the Record quoted in Cla Employee Belletin 835%, " 00CI
Sravement Ahoul ke Wabergate Case,” 21 May 1573
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oy be discovered about the affair, and he expressed the hope that a Semie
investigating commitiee would be “granted power by Congress broad
enough 1o get to the bottom of this case ™™

First off the mark was the so-called Nedzi commmittes, the House
Armed Services Commitiee's Special Subcommittes on Intelligence,
chaired by Congressman Lucien B, MNedzi (D-MI}. Hearings into the “Al-
keged Involvement of the Central Intelligence Agency in the Watergate and
Ellsberg Matters™ began in May 1973, Helms was called back from Tehran
0 westify on 17 May. The committee wanted 1o know more abour the
Agency’s relationship with Howard Hunt immediately before the
Ellsberg-related break-in of Dr. Fielding’s office and the Watergale
break-in. Helms stressed thar “there was never the slightest intimation or
indicution that anything—what Mr. Hunt or anybody else was doing was
illegal, improper, or anything else. . . . He was supponed by a high-level
representative of the White House, and up 10 that time we provided him
with nathing . . . he couldn’t have found elsewhere.™™ As Tor an appraisal
of Hunt, Helms commented: “As far as 1 knew, he was a straightforward
employee. He was a bit of a romantic, and T think had oulsized views ol his
own capabilities which didn’t match his capabilities,” ™

Chairman Nedzi found it difficult 1o understand why Ehrlichmans
request o assist Hunt had not immediately distrbed Helms, “Such an un-
usual request,” he observed, should have created “greater concern on your
parl.” Helms replied, ““When supposedly honorable people ask you to do
something, and they tell you it is in the national interest, and the Whije
House wants to get it done, and so forth, we are inclined 1o arguicsee if we
can,™"

The discussion then turned to the psychological profile that CIA had
prepared on Daniel Ellsberg. Since the profile was ultimately intended for
Hunt's use, the committee thoughe it likely that Hunt himself had made the
initial request. Helms explained that the request hod come from David
Young . previously a member of Kissinger's stafl bat loaned io Ehrtichman
lor “stoppage of leaks, things of that sor.” When Helms leamed of the re-
quest, he went back o Young, saving, “Why would we be doing somethin
like that?" Young replied that/

! 3
wanicd the Agency to do 1t that 7t had the highesl Wiz House level sup-
port, and so forth."™ Thus, Young had initiated the request, and Helms
pointed out that be had not leamed of Hunt's conoection with i uwmtil that
very week, "

“The Mew York Times, The Warerpare Hearings, 1973, p. 96,
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The committes dwelt at some length on reponts that CLA doctors and
Helms himsell had been reluctant to undertake the profile. Dad this reluc-
jance indicate awareness that an illegal action was involved? The commit-
tee seemed particularly interested in one sentence from a note Helms wrole
o pocompany the profile: 1 do wish 10 underline the point,” Helms hod
written, *that our involvement in this matter should not be revealed in any
context, Tormal or informal.”™™ Did this indicate an awareness on Helms's
part that an illegal action was involved? Helms answered that the note was
“most unforunately worded,” but that what he had in mind at the time
wiis [hat the doctors were concemed about doing a profile based on so little
evidence. Helms had told Young this orally before sending the note and
profile, telfing Young that “if he insisted on having this, if the White
House needed it, we would deliver it, but we didn’t believe they had been
given a chance to do a good professional job.™™ Helms also pointed out
that “a personality assessment . . . is a recital of a man’s profile, how he
riets, and things of this kind. Tt is @ delicate arca, | guite confess. But it
isn't & harmful area,™"

In a subsequent discussion &s to how Young's request wis transmitted
and to what degree CTA recognized that the request was improper,
Chaieman Medsi pressed Helms hard, leading Congressman Bob Wilson to
comment that “we st mainiain o sense of fairmess as far as the apparent
triviality of the requests and the triviality of the actions. . . . IT | were in the
same spot, | know 1 would say if the Presidens wants it, he must have a
reason.” " This, in turn, prompted Nedzi to respond that he had “'the
highest respect and regard” for the DCIL that he was not “enthusiastic of
the program here this afternoon at all,” but that “these are guestions that
are being asked,” and the commities had “to assume the role of devils ad-
vocate™ lest it be open to the charge of whitewash,™

The Medzi subcommitiee hearings, which continued intermiuently
until July 1974, were scarcely a whitewash; they were searching and
thorough, and they ended by vindicating both Helms and CTA. Nedzi him-
self described the Apency's responses as Ventirely satisfactory,” and
Congressman Wilson {following Helms's testimony) commented: 1 think
your Agency was badly abused and you as an individual were badly
abused.” To this Helms replied, T feel that way now, sir, [ feel it deeply.”
Medzi added, “We all feel it.""
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The Ervin Commities

The Senate Select Committee on Presidential Campaign Activities
began its hearings on |7 May 1973, under the chairmanship of Senator
Sam I. Ervin, Ir. (D-NC). By August 1973, the commitiee had taken tes-
tumoeny from those convicted of the break-in, from top Presidential aides,
and a host of lesser personalities. Helms was summoned IO appoar on
2 August, For the mast part, the commitice asked him about the assistance
given Howard Hunt and the meeting between him and Ehrlichman,
Haldeman, and Walters, Committes members also tried to clarify testimony
thit Helms and Waliers had given the Senate Armed Services Committee
on B7 May 1972, At one point, Senator Ervin told Helms, T think you did
A magnificent job,"™

Senator Howard Baker (R-TN), vice chairman of the committes, ook
a different tack. Along with Minority Counsel Fred D, Thompson, he
subjected Helms to very sharp questioning. Thompson, who went first,
tried 1o cast doubt on any suggestion that Haldeman and Ehrlichiman were
trying 1o use ClA in a coverup. Instead. he pressed, given the number of
ex-ClA employces involved and the fact that one of them (Maminez) was
still on a CIA retainer, were mot Haldeman and Ehrlichman justified in
their concern about possible CIA invalvement™

Senator Baker 1ook up where Thompson left off, suggesting thar the
Agency’s failure 1o act promptly in investigating the circumstances of the
Watergate break-in argued for some kind of CIA invalvement. Compress-
ng time sequences and using telescopic hindsight, Baker—as did others in-
vestigating the break-in—endowed minor and unrelgied evenls with a sig-
nificance totally beyond the imagination of those who had participared in
them. For example, Baker had gone jlem by item through the materials
Howard Hunt had requested from ClA, each time asking Helms o confirm
the fact. He added ClA's printing and developing of film taken by Hunt be-
fore the Ellsherg-Fielding burglary and CIA's former employment of the
captured burglars, and then wondered “if that dosen’s lead o the jdes thar
when these people are caught thar somebody would certainly say, well,
what was the CIA involvement?™™ In reply, Helms pointed out that “there
has been a tendency . . . 1o have everything run in real (ime. as thaugh all
these things were known . . . and thar, therefore, one should have the good
sense 0 know this thing or that thing at a certain period of time and . _ .
this was not the case.”™' He also added that the ideniification thaterials
provided Hunt were scarcely useful in the Watergate break-in.

“The Mew Fovk Timer, Winerpate Hearimes, p- GO8,
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Senaror Howard Buker

Mone of this deflected Baker. Describing the camern, tape recorder,
wig, false identification, and speech alteration device that ClA had
provided Hunt as an “‘elaborate and exotic spy sel,” he asked what these
were used for, if not for the Watcrgate break-in. When Helms replied that
he did not know, Baker asked why he had not lasnched an inguiry into it
“You know, a day after this happened, that . . . your former CIA agents and
e still on the payroll were involved. Did you launch an investigation to
see what was going on” . . . Did you talk to these people, pick up the phone
and say what in the world is going on™""

Y. pp. 32TT-5278,
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Helms pointed out that the men in question were in jail, that an FRI
vestigation of the affair was procecding, and that any intervention on his
part would have been highly improper. Baker admitted that the suspects
were indeed in jail, but nonetheless declared, “If [ had someone on my
stafl’ caught redhanded robbing & jewelry store, let alone the Democratic
campaign hewdquarters, | huve a hunch that T wonld have jumped up and
down and sereamed until 1 found oot what bappened.™ To this, Helms
simply replied, ©'1 have no reason to question you might have done sa, "

It was clear that, despite Baker's expressions of respect for Helms,
his suspicions had not been allayed by the time the hearings came (o a
close. At one point the press quated bim az saving, 1 can hear the animals
crashing around in the jungle but I can’t see them.”™ When the Senate
Select Committee issued its final report in June 1974, Baker ook a
separale section 1o express his own views, which were hardly ln:mp-trale.""
What underlay Baker's persistent amack?

To some extent, it may have been a partisan effort, a case of a leading
Hepublican Senator doing his best o profect @ Republican President and
adminstration. To some extent, it may also have been an expression of per-
sonal antagonism to CIA as an institution, perhops enhanced by a politi-
cian's awarcness that such resentmient was shared by a significant portion
of both poblic and press, In addition, it may have arizen from a genuine
lack of understanding on Baker’s part, an unfamiliarity with the complexity
of the circumstances that daily assault a DCT—a farlure 1o perceive the
differcnce in scale and range of responsibility between the office and staff
of @ US Senator and the hierarchicy chain-of-command structare essential
to the C1A. To Bakee, the sekected facts seemed to form so obvious a pat-
tern. To him, the obscure men who had served woder contract for the Bay
of Mgs operations and the Cobans kept on minimum retainer to report on
Cuoban community affairs were “CIA agems,” no different from all other
agents. It was inconceivable o him that Richerd Helms did not keep him-
self muinutely intormed of their activities, When Howard Hunt received
support from Technical Services Division officers acting on the original in-
structions they had received from DDCT Robern Cushman, Baker could not
believe that Helms did not know of this at once.

Perhaps Baker’s antagonism drew on all of these clements. Perhaps
there were other sources as well. Helms, however, looking back, has placed
the most emphasis on Baker's desire wo prodect the President and the White
House siaff. "Howard Baker's attitude pndoubtedly derived from a com-
plex of factors,” Helms has commented. “But my impression after mvaure
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reflection is that, in an effort w prowect the President and his staff, he was
energetically striving o identify a guilty source elsewlere, The C1A was an
attractive target. | am not irying (0 impugn Senator Baker's motives. |
think he found it very hard 1o come 1o the conclusion that the President hagd
behaved so badly,™™

In fts final report of June 1974, the Senate Select Commities made
several recommendations regarding the Watergate break-in and coverup, in-
cluding the recommendation that the appropriste oversight committees of
Congress “should more closely supervise the operations of the intellipence
and law enforcement “community.”” What the Select Commities had in
mind was that the oversight commirtees should “continually examine the
relations of the Federal law enforcement and intelligence agencies and the
White House,” promptly determining “if any revision of law is necessary
relating 1o the jurizdiction or sctivities of these agencies.”™" Citing the sia-
tute that states that CIA “shall have no police, subpoena, law enforcement
powers, of interal security functions,” the commiles declared that it had
produced evidence that the White House had “soupht and achicved ClA
aid for the Plumbers™ and “unsuwccessfully sought to involve the CIA in
the Watergate coverep.” Based on this, the committee recommended hear-
ings “'to determine if more explicit statotory fangoage would be useful o
restrain the CIA to its legitimate sphere of operation.™™

Helms could take satisfaction in the finding that the White House's
attempts (0 drag ClA into the coverup were unsuccessful, but he was not
pleased by the implication that the Apency had gone beyond s legitimate
sphere of operation.” Technically, the charge was correct, bt it ignored an
underlying dilemma facing every Director of Central Intelligence. The DCI
is charged with responsibility for protecting intelligence sources and
methods but is enjoined by sirict construction of the smtute from taking
any action within the United States o meet that responsibility, Tt is un-
realistic o expect the FBI or any other law enforcement institution 1o be as
alert 1o the sensitivity of CIA “sources and methods™ and as vigilant in
protecting them as the Agency itself. Herein lies an unresolved problem
that Helms on several occasions pointed out w0 Congress, requesting relief
an behalf of his successors.

After the Senate Select Committee hearings, followed by the US
Supreme Court decision compelling Nixon to release his tapes, the subse-
quent wmpeachment hearings in the House fudiciary Comminee, and the
President's II:ELEnil.li.ﬂl'L in ﬁLLLEIJ.*i.l 1974, the press contin wed its i_n1.-¢5|iga.
tons inte malfeasinee within the deposed administration. In particular, a
cloud of suspicion swirled amund CIA, originating with the Agency’s con-
nection through Hunt o Watergate, but enlarged by rumers that even
exiended to the charge that CIA was responsible for the assassination of
President John E Kennedy.

“Richand Helme, interview by B ) Smigh, U2 June 1985
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The Rockefeller Commission

Responding 1o new charges of illegal CIA aclivitics, President Gerald
R. Ford on 4 January 1975 created a commission of distinguished citizens,
under the chairmanship of Vice President Melson Rockefeller, whose pug-
pose was 10 determine “whether any domestic CIA activities exceeded the
Agency's statuiory authority.™" Nearly simultanecisly, the US Senate ¢s-
tablizhed a select committee under the chatrmanship of Senator Frank
Church {D-10) “to conduct an investigation and study of the imtelligence
activities of the United States.”™ The Rockefeller Commission issued its
report in June 19735, the Church commitiee in April 1976. Both investios-
tive bodies required Richard Helms to make repeated trnps from his post in
Tehrtn to Washington 1o testify and defend his stewardship of the Agency
during his years as DCI.

Although the Rockefeller Commission spread its net wide, covering
most of the Agency's activities since 1947, this study will focus oaily on
that portion of the Commission®s study that dealt with Walergate, The
Commission directed its altention on seven Watergate-related topics, rang-
mg from CIA's suspected operational use of Howard Hunt after his refire-
menl (il found none) to the Agency’s response to post-Watergate
investigations, Although the Commission absolved CIA of aty direct
responsibilicy in the Walergute affair, it was critical of the Agency's perfor-
mance in sévieral aspecis.

Assigning most of the blame on the White House staff for the CTA's
involvement in assisting Howard Hunt, the Commission, nevertheless,
cfitecized the Agency “for having used insufficient care in controlling the
use of the materials it supplied.”" The Commission also criticized the
Agency for having prepared a psychological profile of Danicl Ellzsberg:
“The preparation of a psychological profile of an American cilizen whe is
nol involved in foreign intelligence activities is not within the Agency's
statutory authority.” Acknowledging the dilemma that requests such as this
posed 1o the Director, confronting him with having 10 choose berween serv-
ing the President or complying with his understanding of the Agency’s
slatutory limitations, the Commission reached 2 stark soluiion: “ar times . _
a Director may well have to conclude he has no alternatives but o submit
his resignation. ™™

Having absolved the Apency of all responsibility in Hunt's break-in
of Dr. Fielding’s office, the Commission next addressed White House of-
forts, including some by President Nixon himself, o obtain and exphoit for

“Reckefoller Comsmission, p. i
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political purpases certain sensitive CLA files on Vietnam from the Kennedy
presidency, Although the Commission Report noted that Helms was noe
aware of the use intended for these files, and that be has insisted that the
request came directly w im from the President himself, the Commission,
pevertheless, again concluded that in this untenable sitoation the DCI
should be prepared to resign, “The Director canmol be expected 1o disobey
o direct request of order from the President,™ it noted, "'without being pre-
prared. to resign.”™"
Here, the Commission noted that:

the proper fusctioning of the Agency must depend in borge port on the jodg-
ment, ahility, wnd inteprity oF its Director, The best assurance L2081 fi8Usa

ol the Apency lies in the sppointment to that position of persens of such sta-
fure, motwrity, and infegrity that they will be able 1o resist outside pressune
ardd brponiuning.”

Mone of the barbs that Helms received during his long gauntlet of investi-
gationg irked kim more severely than the implications of this observation.
Az he said on one occasion, 1 would like to know what these things were
that were solely my responzibility that shows that I kacked In integrity or
becauze [ didn’t have & larpe constitnency, . . . [ wasn't able o stand up 1o
the problem.™™ Certainly, resipnation must be recognized as the final sanc-
tion Lthat a Director has in defending his Agency and his own iniegrity, but
when one considers the violence that such a resignation would do to the
Agency’s continuity and orderly admimstration, it obviously should be in-
voked only in extremiz. The circumsiances that Richard Helms confronted
were not of thar order,

Finally, tuming to the Watergate break-in, the Commission concluded
that “theres 15 no evidence either that the CTA was a participant in the plan-
ming or execulion of the Watergate break-in or that it had advance
knowledge of ir.”*™ Mevertheless, looking at CIA's response to post-
Waterpate investipotions, the Commizsion concluded that the caution dis-
played in Helms's effons to “distance™ the Agency from Watergate and
White House manipulation “cannot be justified by any requirements for
secrecy.’” Ignoriag the numerous FBI leaks to the press (admitted by
Acting Dvirector Patrick Gray), the Commission criticized ClA for this con-
duct.” Still, the Cominission found no evidence that “officers of the
Apgency actively joined in the coverup conspiracy formed by the White
House stafl in June 1972.7" Moreover, except for the suggestion that it
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might have been betier for Helms 1o resign than to comply as Far as he did
to requests that “did not on their face seem improper,” the Commission’s
report dealt fairly with CIA and the DCL.

The Church Commities

The Senate Sclect Committee To Study Governmental Operations
with Respect to Intelligence Activities began hearings under the chainman-
ship of Senator Frank Church early in 1975, Like the Rockefeller
Commission. it spread sts net wide hoth in scope and time, and jis demands
on Ambassador Helms were heavy, Although exadmining a wide variety of
transgressions since the Agency's inception. the Church committes's final
report did not mention Watergate, nor did it pursue any of the lines of jn-
westigation thut previous committees had followed dealing with White
Howse efforts to manipulate the Agency.

In a separate statement (o the Church committee's final repart,
senater Howard Baker announced his findings from an investigation,
which, he said, “1 pursaed for the mest part independently.

I'wish to state my belief that the sum fotal of the evidence dioss nil
substantiate the conclusion that CLA per se was invalved in the range of
events and circumstances known a3 Waterpate, While the pvnilable informa-
tiom leaves nagging questions and contains bits and pleces of intrigulng evi-
dence, faimness dictates thot an assessment be made on the basis of the
present record. An impartial evaluation of that record eompels the conclusion
that the ClA, a5 an institution, was s involved in the Waterpate break-in,™

Although vaguely hedged, this admission from Senator Baker is Very
close to the vindication that Richard Helms had sedight both For himself
and Tor the CLA. Senator Baker's staff had been unable o unearth any evi-
dence 1o contradict Helms's steadfast insistence thal neither he nor his
Agency had in any way been involved with the Walergate hreak-in,

The release of the dumaging Nixon tapes in 1974 had revealed how
the White House had repeatedly—and unsuccessfully—tried 1o draw CLA
mie the coverup, (L was not unbil 1990, however, that former President
Nixon finally gave an account of Watergate that both acknowledges that
CIA had no robe in the break-in and admits that it was a mistake to ey o
use the TlA to siop the FBI investigation. At the time of his famous
“smoking gun” conversation with Haldeman on 23 June 1972, Nixon
writes,

I thowght that in view of the fact that some focmer CLA operatives lul
participated in the Warergate break-in, the CTA would be esncerned that iheie
exposwre would, in tuen, reveal other, legitimate opcrations and operatives

“Church commines, Book |, p. &6
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and that the Apency wodd therelore welcome a chamce to avpid chat oar-
e, | thoughi that would also serve our political interests bocause it sould
prevent the FBR from going into areas that would be politically emburrassing
B3 s,

Although Mixon concedes that asking the CIA (o interveng was an in-
excusahle error, “that mistake,” he continues, “was mitigated by the good
Judgment of the Director of Central Intelligence, Richard Helms, and his
deputy, Vernon Walters, [who] ignored the White House request and re-
fused 1o inlervene with the FBI, despite the pressure from members of my
staflf.” Mixon argoes that, because of this and instructions he gave
Haldeman and Ehclichman Tater, “MNo obstruction of justice took place as a
result of the June 23 conversation,”™"

For Helms, perhaps the final irony of the whole alfair is this exploila-
tion of the DCT's refusal 1 join in the coverup in Nizon's latter-day efforts
i exculpate himself from the charges that forced him w resign from office.
At the end of the day. however, DMC1 Helms had kepa CIA clear of ihe
coverdp, and the False leads of the Watergate burglary stemming from
Howard Hum's and James MeCord's previous service with ClA, the Cuban
connection, and all the rest, eventually wrmed out 1@ be groundless, CIA's
hands were clean, as were Richard Helms's.

“Richard M. MNizon, i e Arcond (MNew York; Simos and Schiaster, 19905, mo 34
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Chapter 9

The Dismissal of Richard Helms
Russell Jack Smith

The: Presidential election of 1972 brought a stunning victory for
Richard Nixon, an oceanic sweep of all but one state in the Unijon.
Irnmediaely the media proclaimed the resule 8 “Nizon mandate.”

Fellowing this smashing success, Nixen resolved to tighten presiden-
tial control over the execulive branch by imposing upon the traditional
Cabinet structure a White House super cabinet headed by four master
“enunselors™ who would each run several departments from the White
House. He also determined to sweep out the top leadership and replace it
with officers responsive to him.' The first step in this process was (0 obtain
the resignations of all senior incumbents, a decision that eventually reached
Richard Helms.

Offscial Washington quickly became aware of the Presidential call for
resignations by top officers, but Richard Helms had no intention of resiEn-
ing. Furthermore, he ordered his DDCT, General Walters, not to do 50,
either.” CIA's leadership had never been considared & political appoininent,
and Helms did not intend that it should become one. A Democrat, Lyndon
Johnson, had appointed him, and 8 Republican, Richard Nixon, had redf-
poinied him. Helms's predecessor, John MeCone, was a Republican ap-
pointed By 3 Demacrat, John F. Kennedy. If the President chose 1o dismiss
Richard Helms for whatever reason, that was his option, but Helms did not
intend to make it easier for Nixon by resigning.

Helms, however, did not feel vulnerable to dismissal, On election
day, he had lunched with Presidential Assistant Alexander Haig, who had
counseled the DCT to stay on until after the second Nixon term was well
established and then to leave at a time of his own choosing. Helms
believed this was a clear indication that Haig. the President’s assistant for
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international affairs and White House overseer of intelligence activities,
was not aware of any decision 1o dismiss him.*

Fificen days afier the President had initially requested his lop
officers” resignations, Helms received nofice that he was (o meet with
Mixon at Camp David. By this time, much of the controversy surrounding
the resignations had died down, and Helms assumed that he was going to
discuss the upeoming CLA budget. He prepaned himself aceordingly and on
20 Movember few to Camp David in a White House helicopter. Afler &
hrief wait, he was ushered into the Aspen House living room, where he
found President Mixon by the fireplace, along with Bob Haldeman, who re-
maincd to ke notes.

According o Helms, aficr assuring him that he appreciated the good
job he had done as DT, Nixon observed that he was eager o gel some new
ideas and renewed figures in his new administration and felt that this was
going to require seme changes, Accordingly. he helieved that it was time
for CIA 1o have a new Director and wanted Helms's reaction 1o this.”

Although taken aback, Helms replied that he well understood that he
served at the President’s convenience and that such changes are (o e oa-
pected. He went an to say that it was Agency policy 10 retire people at &0,
and that he would soon be reaching that age. The President expressed sur-
prise that Helms was that old and that CIA had such a policy. To Helms it
seemed that Nixon now focused—perhaps for the first time—on the fact
{hat dismissal would effectively put an end to Helms's professional career
at age 60, Al that moment, Helms recalls, Nixon seemed mentally to swiltch
gears and suddenly asked whether Helms would like o be an ambassador.

Again taken aback, Helms replied that he was not af alk sure he
would like tm be an ambassador, adding that it was perhaps time for him to
leave the Federal Government and go on and do something else. When
Mixon then asked whether Helms might like to be Ambassador to Moscow,
Helms suggested that the Rossians might take a rather dim view of his
presence there. After a thoughtful pause, Nixon agreed and asked whene
Helms would like to go, hypothetically, if he decided he would like to be
an amhassador. Realizing that some answer would be desirable, Heloys told
the President that, if he were to go as un ambassador any place, he would
like 10 go to Iran, Nixon found this a good idea, noding that he had some-
thing clse in mind for Joe Farland, the current Ambassador to [ran. He
asked Helms to think aboot the possibility and to let him know what he
decided as soon as he could.”

"Richard Helms, inlerview by John Bross, 14 Deeember 1987 (hireafier cited ax Helms inter-
view by Hrossh

“Tiekat.

*bid. D1 Chronalogicsl Files recard than, during this 20 Noveaher Camp Dkl mesting,
Helms urped President Miscs 1o sppoint cither Willlam Coalby or Thirmes Koromessines &5
his SERCCEsSr
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The Dismissal af Kichard Helms

After some desultory further conversation, Richard Helms made his
farewell and New back 10 Washington, He had been taken by surprise, and
his mind was filled with questions, What had changed in Nixon's percep-
tion of bim in the four years between reappointing him in 1968 and the de-
cision to dismiss him in 19727 Was it dissatisfaction with Helms's perfor-
mance as DCT? Was it an act of vengeance for his refusal w participate in
the Watergate coverup? Was it personal antagonism, especially in the
minds of Ehrlichman and Haldeman? Was i all these things in combination
of perhips something else?

I Nixon had been looking for shoricomings in the performance of
Richard Helms and the CLA, there was grist for his mill. Nixon had always
been critical of CIA estimates, dating back 1o the “'missile gap™ con-
troversy of the 1960 clection campaign. According 1o Helms, Nixon in
Mational Security Council meetings:

would eonstantly . . . pick on the Agency for noi having properly judped
what the Soviets were going 1o do with various kinds of weaponey, And ob-
viously, he was being selective, bat he would make nasty remarks sbout this
aid say thes obviously had o be shorpened wp. The Agency hasd to under-
stand it was o do a betier job, ond 50 06"

In Mixon's mind. the culmination of this may have been the $5-9 con-
troversy, when CIA had challenged the Pentagon's views of the missile's
capabilities, which supported Defense Secretary Melvin Laird's claim that
the Soviels were striving for a **first-strike” capability—a claim that in
turn justified the need 1o develop an ABM system. Nixon beld that the CIA
had adoped “'the McMamara view™ of the Soviet Union, which he be-
lieved reflected an inadequate understanding of Soviet intentions.

Then there was the Viemam problem, where CLA seemed always to
take the pessimistic side of every judgment bearing on the success of US
efforts. The Agency’s clear-cut failure to recognize the importance of
Sihanoukville 35 a supply port for Vietnamese materiel and a related failure
to appreciate Cambodia as 8 Viet Cong sanctuary certainly reflected weak-
ness in Nixen's eyes. Similarly, the Nixon White House believed that CIA
had underestimated lefust strength in Chile and, despite direct orders from
the President, had failed to prevent Allende's rise o power.

Another side of Richard Helms's performance that President MNixon
may have considerad inadequate was his management of intelligence come-
miunity affairs. In November 1971, the President had signed an Office of
Management and Budget memorandum that James Schicsinger had pre-
pared to strengthen DC managerial authority over the commanity. This
memorandum conveyed Schlesinger's view thal the several intelligence

“Richard Hebme, miereeew by B 1. Smith, 21 April V2 (herealber vited as Helms inerview
by Smith).
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agencics constituted a group of contending baronies with which Hebns was
either unable or unwilling to cope. The Presidential order attempied 1o cor-
rect this situation, establish 8 mone integrated community, and achiewve low-
ered costs through greater efficiency. Although from CLA's perspective
Jumes Schlesinger knew little of the realities of power relationships among
communsity agencies and of the limitations that this imposed on the DCI,
Mixon clearly held Schlesinger and his views in high regand.

With respect 1o the Watergate aftair, Richard Mixnon knew thal Helms
had fadly refused 1o become a White House ally io dealing with this mess
and had skillfully protested CIA from affempls @0 vse il in the coverup,
Froom the Mixon tapes, it appears that early on the President expected
Helms to belp rescue the White House, “We protected Helms from one hell
of a lot of things,” Mixon said in approving the scheme 2 get the ClA (o
call off the FBI investigation.’ It is unclear exactly what Nixon had in
mind: the only specific instance of such protection hat Nixon ever cited
wis White House assistance in the Agency’s effort 1o prevent publication
of a number of passages in Victor Marchetti's book, CMA and ke Colt of
Intelligence. Mixon's remark, nevertheless, seems o reveal a genuine cx-
pectation of grateful cooperation. Given the mounting anxiety of the
President end his mides over the Watergate affair, it is not difficult 1o imag-
ine their resentment when CLA's cooperation was not forthcoming,

Still another question in Helms's mind following his Camp David in-
terview with the President was whether personal antagonism had played a
part in Nixon's decision. Acknowledging that Nixon sometimes made
“nasty remarks,” especially about the estimaies, Helms was not convinced
that any personal antagonism on Nixon's part had triggered the decision w
replace bum. Mizon's two top aides, Bob Haldeman and John Ehrlichman,
were quile another matter. 1 was no man for Bhrchman or Haldeman,”
Helms later recalbed.

[ mezam, they didn’t like the appoimtment in the Bt place. S0 there was an
clement around Mixon that was cerfainly anti-Helms, | mean, it didn’e
munifest itsell with kaives in my back, pamicularly. But. you know, “this
Buy’s not the mon for it

This perception of Haldeman and Ehrlichman s bome out by a re-
muck made by Henry Kissinger to Daniel Patrick Moynihan, himself a
former Mizon aide. In ecarly 1973, Moynihan came to Washinglon on con-
sultation from his post as US Ambassador 10 New Delhi and had occasion
to ask Kissinger, “"Why was Helms fired?” Kissinger replied, “1 didn't do
it. The Germans did it.”" Beyond the sardonic ireny of Kisinger, a refugee

Porwers, The M Whe Kep she Seceer, po 1M,
"Helins imberview by Smith.
"Damlel B Mivenibas, interview by B 1 Smith, Febraary 1973
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from Nazi Germany, referring to the two Califorrians as “Germans,” the
remark has a ring of truth. Helms himself recalls that a day or two after his
Camp David meeting, Kissinger was sufficiently in the dark about Helms's
dismissal that he asked Helms, “What happened™ ' Thus, it seems likely
that, if anyene besides Nixon played an important part in the decision 1o
dismiss Helms, it was Haldernan and Ehrlichman,

As B happened, Helms had litde time 1o ponder the reasons for his
dismissal. A few days afler his Camp David visit, Haldeman called 1o ask
whether he had decided to accept the job as Ambassador to Tran. After tem-
porizing for several days, Helms told Haldeman that he would be pleased
to accep the post. As he did, he had in mind that he had told MNixen at
Camp David that retirement on his 6dth hirthday, on 30 March, would be
in line with CIA policy, Although there was no explicit agreement, Helms
thought that he was to stay on as DCI until then" On 21 December,
however, Nixon announced James Schlesinger's nomination as DCL Helms
recalls that, when he asked the White House what had happened 10 the idea
of his retiring in March al age 60, the only answer was, “Oh, God, we for
got all about ™ So what looked like a plan for him 1o sty on as DCI unatil
his GiMh birthday “tumed out in the boreaveratic huorly-burly 10 have been
jettisoned, ™" The Scoate confirmed James Schlesinger as Director of
Central Intelligence on 23 Janoary 1973, and he was sworn into office on
2 February.

Immediately upon learning of Nixon's choice of a new DCT, Helms
had telephoned 1o congratolate Schlesinger and 1o offer afl possible as-
sistance. In the six weeks between his designation in December and his ac-
tual move inte the DCL's office in February, however, Schlesinger met with
Helms only twice, both pro forma occasions of ahout 30 minuies each,
This seems to have been a deliberate decision on Schlesinger's part, one he
perhips felt was consonant with the President’s desire to make a fresh start
in national intelligence and to restructure the CIA.

After Richard Helms's departure, the Agency encountered roagh s3il-
ing. It was a time of acute political turbulence, and by 1975 CIA had be-
come a virtwal storm center. Much of the damage that the Apgency sustained
during this time stemmed from the flood of sensational disclosures that
cast CLA in a derogatory light, Judging from Helms's surc-footed perfor-
mance during his six-year tenure as DCL, it is reasonable to conclude that
his judgment and experience could have helped the White House to steer a
course that would limit CIA's losses in sccurity as well as reputation, The
turbulent and troubled time that followed 1972 stands in stack contrast to
the quiet, professional stmosphere that prevailed in CIA during |966-72,
the Richard Helms years.

"Helms interview by Brass.
" fiid.
kit

E._d'trﬁwt B'I“-PJK




S

Irdiex

A

Adame, Samuel, 27

Afrsca, 133, 134, 15]

Afrsca DAvision, 105, 117

Agency for Inieenatiosal Developieat,
Té

Alr Fores, U5, 138, 130, 151

Alessandr, Jorge, 82, 34, 85, Bo, 87,
o

Allende, Salvador, 14, &2, &3, &4, &5,
&6, BT, HE, 29, G0, 9], 93, 94,
U, 96, 97, U8, T, (04, 200

Allinnce for Progress, &2

Allihsyeva, Svetlana, 118, 119

American Embassy, Gensva, 106

American Ernhu.u:,.'._ Helsinki, 114

Amman, 147, 149

Anaconda Copper, 41

Amnalyals, &, T, &, 11, 12, 17, 20, 23,
25, IT, 28, 3, 30, 3% 33, 34,
35, 36, 59, a0, 41, 42, 435, 47,
48, 52, 53, 35, 57, 77, B4, 835,
99, 107, 108, 123, 135, 130,
41, 143, 145, 149, 151

Angleton, James 1., 102, (03, 104,
[05, L6, L09, 113, 114, 118,
[20. 122, 123, 124, 125, 126,
[27. 128, 12%. 130, 132, 133,
(34, 135, 136, 137, 138, 141,
144, 144, 147, 152

Antiballisiic missile, ), 41, 44, 52,
36, 172, 173, 175, WG

Antiwar sentiment, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18

Appropriations Committes, Howse,
I, 1rG

Appropriations Commines, Senate,
159, 176, 182, i84

Arab, 133, 135, 139, 140, 141, 142,
144, 145, §4a6, 148, 150, 151,
152

ATab-Tiraell war, 2, 131, 136, 139,
Pl 142, 144, 145, 146, 149,
151

Armed Services Committee, Hoose,
170, 182, 185

sarmed Services Commities, Senate,
157, 158, 159, 164, 177, 174,
150, 152, 154

Armed Services Commitiee Special
subcommiitee on [mtelligence,

House, 191, [97
MAmie Enerpy Commission, US, 147

Baxlille, Herman, 1TR, 179

Bagley, Tennent (Peee), 105, 107, 108
IO, D00, D03, V18, 124, 125

Baker, Howard, 199, 200, 201, 22,
205

Basie and CGeographic [ntelligence,
Office of (OBGI). 51

Bates, William, 170

Bay of Pigs, 185, 191, 24

Rissell, Richnrd, 103, 129

;iaée. ;mrgc. IL"-

Bomibing, U5, 5, 25, 32, 33, 15

BOURBOMN, 109

Bradlze, Ben, 101

Break-in (Watergate), 157, THE, 189,
19 191, E94, (96, 197, 1596,
2040, 202, X3, 34, 205

Rritish, 123, II‘LIE]S

Broe, William, &4, 90, 9T, 95, 98

Buwdged, CLA, 159, 60, 173, 176, 177,
178, 179, 180, 183, 208

Bundeanachs choemdienst, JI:‘..E

Bundy, MoGeerge, 11, 147
Bureau of the Budget, 176

C

Cabinet, U5, 346, 38, 30, 44, 54, 56, 57,
B, 126, 207

Cairo, 143

Cambadia, 25, 33, M, 65, 2@

Camp Drawld, 208, 200, 211
MW. 163, 164,

LG5, 1466, 168, 172, 173, 175,
7%, 181, 183, 184, 183
Carver, George, 28, 249, 30, 31, 34, 4,
54,55 61 65 67,70, T3, 74, 80
Cary, Geeorge, 159, 6, 166, 184, 185




y/

Centeal Intclligence, Deputy Dimector
of, 169, 110, 125, 127, 133, 1446,
193, 201, 207

Chile, 14, 153, 3

Chibean military, 87, 88, 89, 91, 92, 54,
o7, PE

Clhabean Socialist Parlg.-, B OBS 97

Chinn, 173

Clriatian Democratke Farty, 82, 90, 5

Church, Frank, 23, 205

Clurch committes, 20, 45, 94, O6, U,
g R, A0S

Cla Headguarters, 60, &3, 91, 91, 93,
o, Ge 108, 10, 115, 116, 1348,
F39, 140, 152, 155, 177, 174

Cienfuegns, &6, 175

1 Safi, 147

Clandestine cperations, 59, 62, &4, 63,
A%, B2, B 085, G4 |33, 146

Clandestine Services, 14, 24, 34, 51,
56, 549, &3, 67, T4, 129

Clacke, Broee, 52, 53

Clifford, Clark, 54, 53

Cabby, William, 62, 63, 73, 72, 75, %7,
L6

Cold 'War, 39, 1549, 171

Columbia Broadeasting Syswem, 25

Communist, 14, 17, 32, 33, 3, 37, 67,
T, 72, B2, 855, 9, QL. 97, 99,

103, 1w, 177

Confirmation as DO 157, 13E, 159,
160

Congress, Chibean, 56, 89, 90, 91, 92,
13

Congress, US, 1, 5, 18, 29, 31, 34, 34,
40, 64, 77, TH, TH, #1, 88, 9],
9%, 94, 97, 99, 100, 103, 14,
M7, 112, 136, 1440, 141, 153,
155, 156, 157, 158, 159, 160,
161, 162, 163, 164, 163, 166,
167, 168, 170, LTE, 172, 173,
19, 175, 176, 177, IT7E, 179,
LBG, 181, 182, 185, 154, 185,
THG, 1TRY, 193, 194, 197, 198,
il

Cooper, John, 173

Coordination, 23, 24, 25, 3, 32, 33,
dl, 42, &4, 46, 50, 51, 52, 55, 56

Counterintelligence, 100, 102, 103,
105, 106, 109, 112, 120, 121,
123, 123, 126, 127, |26, 1340,
B i

Counterintelligence Steff, 16, 102,
[ew3, 1, 10s, 0o, §LI, 112,
106, VL& P21, 123, 124, 126,
127, 133

Coup {(Chile}, %1, &7, 88, 8%, @1, 92,
43, O, D5, 97, 08

Covert actien, 5%, 61, 62, 63, 65, 6%,
T2 TR, T4, TE, B2, B, R, 89,
iy, 93, 95, 97, 90 1, 172, 190

Covert funding, 82, B3, &5, 86, 87, iR,
G, O], 92, 93, 94, 9F, 9F, 133,
135, 137, 163, 176, 193

Covenl operations, 75, 180

L'“nu:ru'p- {Walergate], 18T, THYE, 193,
195, 196, 199, 202, 204, 205,
206, M, 210N

Critchfield, James, 133, 144, 147

Cuba, 86, 98, 151, 175, 18, 204, 204

Current Intelhgence, Office of (OCI),
16, 31, 51, 53, 57, 85, 141, 144

Cushman, Chen, Bobert (USMC), 41,
42, AR, M

Crechoslovakia, 32, 53

D

Darden, William, 163, 164

Drayan, Maoshe, 150

DM, 5, 19, 32, 33, 34, 40, 41, 35, 54

Deean. John, 192, 193, 1%

Decisioomaking, T, 8 % 99, 145, 158

Defense, Assisiant Secretary of, for
International Security Affoirs,
148

Defense, Depamment of, 1, 5, 24, 25,
27,29, 31, 32, 34, 37, 30, 435,
44, 45, 47, 48, 51, 54, 35, B9,
9y, 172, 173, 178, 180

Defense, Seceetary of, 142, 148

Defense Intelligence Agency, 25, 27,
I8, 31, ¥, 140, 145

Devlin, John F, 141

I, U6, 23, 27, 28, 31, 35, M4, 35, 55,
51, 52, 54, 55, 85, 145, 146

Dirksen, Ewvareel, 170

Diginformation, 63

Dismissal, Helms, |87, 194, 207, 208,
211

Domestic operatioms, 126

Dwugs, 107

ST, 34, 42, 31




ool

Dubbersein, Waldo, 44
Dwickedt, Carl, 42
Dmlles, Adlen, 7. 24, 103, 120

E

Eust Eurogeean Division, 25

Ebhan, Abbp, |50

Feoenrac Cominities Coing Congressimal),
I

Economic Bescarch, Office of (OER],
3, B33, M, 36, S0

Edwands, Agustin, 90

Egwvpt, 36, 135 139 142, 143, 145,
44, 151

Ehrlichman, John, 101, 158, 183, 190,
ISk, TR, 194, 195, 197, 1949,
i, I T10, 200

Eisenhower, Dwight T, 7, 9, 0. 23,
24, 38, 50

Ellender, Allen, 181

Ellshery, Daniel. 188, 197, 199, 203

El Merrurio, 90, 9%

El Qusszir, 146

Emigré, |54

Encmy forces, Vietnam, 25, 26, 27, 18,
29, 31, 33, M, 5A

Ervam, 5am J., 162, 199

Eshkol, Leva, 136, 137, 151

Exccutive Director-Comperofler, 20

F

Far Basp Division, 61, 67, 68, T3, 73,
15, 19

Farland, loe, 08

Federal Burcauw of Investigntion (FBI),
15, 16, 19, 20, 109, 110, 110,

121, 122, 126, 127, 189, (90,
197, 192, 193, 195, 201, 207,
204, 205, 206

Felle, Heing, 123

First-strike capability, 40, 42, 44, 45,
0, 56, 172, 209

FiteGerzld, Desmond, 63, 69, 107, 141

Ford, Ceerold B, 157, 203

Foreign Affairs Commitiee, House,
185

Foreign policy, 4, 12, 23, 25, 39, 50,
7

Fareign Belations Commiiiee, Senate,
157, 160, 166, [72, 171, 177,
ITH, 179, |RZ, 185

4 Commines, 83, B4, 86, &7, #9. 90,
G, 92, QF, 138

Frei, Bdoardo, 81, 82, 89, 90, 9§, 92,
g

French, 123, ;I

Frost, David, -

Fulbright, J, William, 31, 157, 160,
a1, 162, 165, 172, 174, 178,
179, 182

G

Geneen, Harobd, 54

General Counsel, 21

General Counzel, Office of (OGO,
L1549, [52

Geperal Modors, 91

Crlevbr Dheanacran, 51, Loass, 161, 162

Crolan Heiglus, 142

Crrlitsyn, Anavolly, 105, 108, 114, 120
120, 12%, 125, 128

Crwe, Alberr, 165

Ciray, L., Patrick, 189, 190, 191, 192,
193, 194, 195, 204

Gresn Berer case, T8, 79, &0

GRLL, [er

Guerrilla, 27, 28 178

Gulf of Agaba, 139

H

TTETE. O AERATHIET, &L, 92, 207

Haldemnn, H. K. {Babk), 11, 18%, 190,
191, 193, 195, 199, 205, 206,
200, 20D, Zud, 211

Halpemn, Samuoel, 66, 67, 69, 73, 78, 79

Hanoi, 45, 47, 71, 712

Hayden, Carl, 176

Hiében, Edwazd, 18], 182

Hengid Tril ew Yook, |G

raal, 34

o I In




N

Haawer, J. Edgar, 121

Hoseile penetraiion, WL 102, 1035,
LS, L, 100, 108, (09, 112,
P14, 105, L20, 020, 123, 124,
125, 129

Huphes-Ryan amendiment, B

Huizenga, John W., 32, 17, 39 44, 47,
48, 49

Hunt, E. Howard, 157, LEE, 189, 194,
195, 196, 197, 199, 100, 201,
202, 213, 206

Husscin, King, 150

Impeachamem hearings, 202

Telia, 11E, 1149

Induchina, &, 14, 32 52 55, 50, 63,
fd, G5, T2, &, LTL, 175, 176,
178

Inouye, Danizl, 159

Inspector Generzl, 108, 100, 102, 113,
E22, 1246, 129

Incedhigence, collection of, 3%, 54, 62,
&5, Gy

Intellipence, Deputy Director fior, 5,
19, 32, 33, 34, ddy, 41, 35, 56

[mtelligence, Directorate of, 16, 23,27,
28, 31, 33, 34, 33, 38, 51, 52,
54, 35, 45, 145, 146

Intelligence. domestic, B4, 15, M, 17,
L8, 1%, 20, 170, 184

InegEligence, foreign, 63, 72

[nrelligence collection, 14

lnsciligence community, 1, 11, 23, 38,
A, 57, 85, 99, 1327, 138, 159,
175, 20%

[ntelligence Memorondum, 52, 146

Intercontinenial kalkistic missile, 4(,
5h

Intermational Teleplwone and Telepraph,
4, EE b

'Inl:-:::rru;bgm;i{:n_ 165, D, 007, 110, ELL,
14, 115, 134, 137, L34

[mvestigations, Congressional, 168,
182, 184, LBQ, |96, 203, 204,
05

Iovestigatinms, FBI. 189, 190 191,
493, 193, 195, 204, 202, 205,
210

Iran, Ambassadaor o, 00, 208, 201

Iren, Shak of, [50, 15]
Iy, 138
Irpegular forees, 27, 28, 3, 31, 177,

178
lsracl. 2, F.,J;l 127, 131, 132,
133, o =156, 137, 138,

1349, 140, 141, 147, 143, 144,
145, 146, 147, 14K, 14%, 150,
150, 152, 153

lsrncli Embassy, 136

[srueli military, 13, 139

J

Jackzon, Henry, 182
;ﬁg —T= 135, 136

Zhis

Johnsan, Lyadon B, 1. 2.4, 5, 6,7, &
1, L1 120 13, 14, 16, 17, 1Y,
29, 30, 31, 32, 34, 1B 45, 46,
s, 50, 52, 33, 54, 35, 57, 59,
67, 648, T, TLLOM4, B2, 127, 130,
A0, 140, 140, 147, 143, 144,
E45, 152, |56, I6E, 171, LT,
175, H3?
[, 140

Joint Chiefs of 5
Jordan, 139, 142,
Judiciary Commitlse; !

Justice, Deparment of, 195, 196

K

Kuaramessines, Thomas, 63, G5, 66, 69,
T3, 19, BE, 90, 91, 92, 93, 95,
i, THD, 115, 16, 135, 139G

Kendall, Donald, B4, %)

Kennedy, Jokn F., 1, 207000, 11, 14,
38, 50, 55, 82, |DG, 2402, k04,
207

Eennedy, Roberd, 170

Kamt, Sherman, 23, 24 27, 30, 37

KOE, 10K, 1045, 106, |07, 108, b,
P11, 112, 193, 114, 115, 114,
LIT. TLE, D20, 021, 122, 125

Ehrushchey, Mikiea, Y3, 133

Kingsley, Rolfe, 110, 113,
ﬂmn 1

Kixsinger, wry, & 0 1 1, 12, 19,
21, 31, 35, 3R, My, 41, 42, 49,
A0, 55, 56, 57, T, 79, 83, 84,
B, BT, B8, B9, Q0 @, 9 95,
a5, 46, 125, §3T, 151, 178 173,
175, 180, 210, 211




I.n'il':r, Eclwrand, B s R
Eaosvrin, Aleksei, |47
remhmn, 112

McMamary, Robert, 4, 7, 24, 27, 249
A1, 32, 33, 4%, 54

hedia, 107, 16, 157, 161, 170, 1E4,
1955, 196, 201, 20, 204

Meditermunean, 142, 145

Meir, Golda, 137, 150

Mea, 166, 177

Mexion, 18D, 100, 195

Laird, Melvin, %, 34 35, 39, 40, 41,
42, 44, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50, 55,
S, 148, 148, 209

Lace, 30 &1, 63, 72, 74, 75, 76, T8,
oG, 175, 177, 178, 179, 180,
141, [H2, 1H4

Latin America, 37, 5T, B4, 90, 47, Q8

Leaks, 42, 50, 56, 167, 183, |47, 188,
EOY, 145, 197, 2

Legul difficulties, 154

Legislative Counsel, 29, 112

Legislative Coungel, Office of (OLC),
162, 166, 181, 1832, 184

Lekman, Richard, 53

Likerty, 145, 146

w04, 17, LR, 1%, B0, 21

Middle Enst, 131, 134, [35, 134, 140,
L40, 142, 143, 144, |46, 148,
144, 150, 151, |52

Middle East war, 1967, 131, 136, 139,
141, 142, 144, 145, 146, 149,
151

M3CH, 13K, 151

MG, 125 124

Missile gap, 9. 209

Mitchell, Jobn, 55, 87, 124, 126

Montagnard tribesmen, 85, 166

Moascow, B, 97, 103, 105, 118, 135,
134, 143

Muscow, Ambaseaiisr 1o,

S0, 107
Lyalin, Oleg, 125
5 |

MACSOG, 176, 18D

Mabom, George, 163, 174, 178, 151

Mail-opening progam, 126

Muanagement and Budget. Office of,
2

Mansfield, Mike, 31, 32, 141, 152

blarchenci, Yicoor, 210

Marcy, Carl, [R5

Marzist, 82, 85, 87, 47

Mawry, Johnm, 10123, 172, 173, 175, 178,
ITa, 180, 181, 182, 1483, 154,
1845

MeCarthy, Eugene, 20, 157, 159, 180,
6]

MeCarthy Fesclution, 157, 161

McCome, Jobn &, 2, 4, 6, 7, 4. Of,
207 )

McCord, James, 1K7, |89, MG

MeCoy, Leonard, 108, 109, 152

MeGovern, George, |79

mMovothan, Damel F, 10
Multiple independently targeted re-
cniry vehicle (MIEV), 40, 41,

43, 45

Multiple re-eatry wvehicle (MR, 40,
4]. 45

Murphy, Dawad. 104, 107, 100, 113,

IIH,l

N

Masser, Gamal Abdel, 139, 140, (42

Mational Estimates, Board of, 140

Mational Estimates, Office of, 23, 24,
27, 18, 41, 49, 140, 141, 142,
144, 145

Mational Intelligence Estimate, 6, 9,
10, 11, 12, 23, 24, 25, 27, I8,
20030, 31, 32, 34, 35, 34, 37,
6, 39, 40, 40, 43, 43, 44, 45,
46, 47, 4%, 50, 51, 52, 55, 57,
&5, 90 140, 141, 147, 144, 145,
148, L73, 174, |75, 209, 210

}‘?{:‘d\




_.‘inrcf"""'—

Pt bzl Party (Chile), 82, 98

Matbonal secunty, |, T, 8 9 00, 11, 12,
13, B3, &7, 95, 96, 97, [Ed, 135,
140, [43%, 155, 171, 172, 182,
18T, 195, 1494

Mational Secarity Act, 127

Mational Security Coungil {MSCH, 7, 9.
12, 24, I8, 41, 44, 44, 49, 50,
51, 53, 85, 56, 57, 144, 1R, 208

Mational Student Association, |68

Matiop-buibding, 65

Mear Bast Envesion, 133

Meden, Liscwen, 185, 197, [9R

Medz commitiee, 195, 197, 198

Melson, William, 61, 63, 66, 67, T2
Ta, T%

Poew' Delhn, Ambassacdar io, 210

EY?WWWTM_‘FZW.JH?

MIE B0a0-68, 37

MIE 11-8-69, 42, 44, 46, 49

HNIE 11-8-67, 24, 34

MIE 11-14-71, 50

MIE 11-72, 50

MIE 14.3-66, 24

NIE 13-9-68, 17

MNIE 31-a7, 3

Mixon, Richard bA., 1, 2 8, 910, 11,
120 13, [4, 170 1%, 25, 31, 35,
35, 36, IR, 39, 40, 41, 42, 44,
45, 4, 47, 48, 49, 50, 54, 55,
56, 57, 30, 6%, TO, 71, TR, 70,
81, 2, 82, 84, BG, 87, A, RO,
9L, 126, 127, 151, 1536, 1635,
171, 173, 175, 178, 179, 180,
85, 187, 188, 189, 190, 191,
195, 202, 203, 105, 206, 207,

0, 211

. apovich, 104, 105,
106, DO, L0E, 109, 1w, 111,
112, 113, 114, 115, 117, 118.
1221, 123, 124, 125, 128
MSC, 7.9, 12, 24, 38, 41, 44, 46, 49,
50, 51, 53, 33, 56, 57, |44,
10, Hird
MNSCTD 93, B

0

OBGI, 51
L B, 30, 59, 53, 57, RS, 141, 144
OEE. 31, 32, 33, 14, 36, 51

OGC, 159, 162

OLC, 162, 166, 181, 182, 184

(*Hora, Barrco, 185

Order-of-baube, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 31,
34, 35, 54

Osborn, Howard, 104, 110, 122, 187

OSk, 51, 52

055, 59 69, 102, 113, 133

Oswald, Lee Harvey, 106, 10§

Cversight, Congressional, 155, 157,
159, 160, 141, 163, 147, 170,
171, L&, 182, 183, 184, 155,
194, 202

Patmer, Bruce, 30

m [, 9

Hekeng, [0

Fenfagan, 32, F, 0, 4. 42, 44, 50,

54, 36, 135, 145, 172, 173, 176,
(11

FPerfagon Papers, 50, 188

Phillps, David, BB, S0, 92 99

Flang, Depuary Direcies for, 61, 63, 65,
G, 69, T3, T4, 79, &4, 88, 95,
LO%, 106, 107, 116, 126, 120,
141

Mans, Directorate of, 19, 33, 37, 102,
04, 105, 109, 13, 130, 133,
165, 77

Plumber s Groap, 187

Pedgar, Thomas, &8

Podicy, Foreagn, 81, B4, 93, 94 96, 47,
QE, 99 119, 155, 156, 157, 1549,
171, 172, i84

Polweymakimg, 1, 7, B, 11, 21, 24, 3%,
37, 3K, 57, B2, 949, 135, 142,
158, 164, 1HG

Pohbcal action eams, 176

Political asylam, 115, 116, 117, I8

Polygraph, 107, 110, 115

Popalar Unity (Chile), 83

Postmaster General, 126

Prestdent, Chibean, 81, B2, 89, 92, 04,
a5, o7

Prescdental divectives, 14, 2§

Presbdeniial Fisding, 100
President’s Datly Briel, 2'_4




ST

llwmi BT, &9, 90, 95,

98
Progimme, Williwm, 164

]

Raborm, Vadm, Willham, 2. 157, 16
163

Ramprris, 168, 170, 171

"Restless Youdh™, 17, 18

Rivers, Membell, 157, |70, 175, 181,
[82, |85

Risckefeller, Melson, 2003

Rockefeller Commission, 15, L8, 21,
4, 127, M3, Hd, His

Riogers, William, 50, 54, 145, 150

ROLLING THUNDER. 32, 33, 35

Riagtom, Wals, 11, 29

Rl Development Cadere (D), 175,

176, 180
Eural pacafication program, 65
Rusk, Dean, 4. T, 33, 54, 119, 140, 148

Security, Office of, 19, 100, 11F, P22,
123

Select Committee on Presidencizl
Campaign Activities, Senate,
199, 201, 202

Senier Review Group, 56

Shackley, Ted, 177

SIGINT, 24

Sihanoukwills, 33, 34, 35, 36, 209

Simai, 138, 145, 156

Sine-Sovier relations, 171

Hirica, Judgs John 1., |36

Srce, Joweph, 149

Six-Dray War, 2, 127, ng,
140, 142, 143, - 146,

Sixth IEI

smith, Abbkat, 37, 41, 446, 47, 49

Leomathe, Jack, 179

Smich, B.J, 1% 23, 310 3%, 34, 37, 40

4], 42, 44, 47, 49, 51, 55, 56

SHIE 14367, 25, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31

, 113

i L, :

Russell, Richard B., 31, 32, 157, 138,
I59, 161, 162, 163, 164, 172,
LT3 170, UTH. LH1, IHD, |85

Sobotoge, 65

Safehmuze, 105

Saigom, 25, 27, 28, 29 30, 31, 33, 34,
67, 68, 69, 79, 166

Saigon Embassy, 30

Sgon Station, 68, 69, 75

SALT, 183, 187

Santingo, B2, &3, 85, 87, 89, 90, 93,
i, U7, 98

Sanrtiagn Embassy, 83

Santingo Station, #2, 93, 98

Schiesinger, James, 97, 127, 196, 209,
M, i

Schneider, Gen. Rens, 89, @1, 93, W

Science amd Technology, Directoraie
of, 38, 42, 51

SCOTCH, 109

“hecret war”, 179, LB], |84

Security, Director of, 104, 1140, 1248,
187

SOUInEl AR, T, 32, 38, 59, 958, 1595,
L59, 172, 175, 177, 178, 182

Sovicr, B, [0, 24, 34, 36, 38, 39, 40.
41, 42, 44, 45, 47, 48, 49, 50.
32, 53, 54, 55, 56, 57, &5, 102,
103, 10¢, 105, 108, 107, 108,
LoG, 110, B11, 192, Bi4, 115,
L&, 117, TI&, 1%, 121, 122,
123, 124, 125, 124, 128, 133,
L34, 135, 137, 138, 139, 140,
L40, 142, 143, 148, 151, 164,
L70, 172, 173, 175, 183, 204

Soviet Bloc, 134, 135, 137, 151

Soviet Bloc Tdvision. 107, 108, 110.
12, 113, 114, 115, LG, 117,
FUE, 122 133

Sowiel Fudsta Dawiston, WA, LS, 10T,
Loa, 121

Special Assisiant for Yietsam Affairs.,
2,031, 33, 6%, 73, T

special Maticnal nielbigence Estimare.
99, 141

Special Operations Oroup, 16, 17, 18
14, b




se

SE-9 mcreonunental ballistic nissile,

A, 4, 47, 420 47, 48, 49, 56,

57. 172, 200

Assistant Secretary of, for Mear

East and Souwth Asian AfTairs,

|4t

Creprartiment of, 1, 5, 23, 24, 25,

Ao, 31, 34, 3T, 38, 42, 43, 50,

51, 53, 53, 36, 83, RS, A6, 89,

9, 91, 10%, 1440, 143, 147, 144,

14%, 150

Siate, Secretary of, 148, 150

Swenpis, John, 161, 162, 1TR, 179, (80,
"], 182

Stewan, Gordor, TOR, 110, 122, 129

Strategic Research, Oifice of, 51, 52

Srrategic Sarvices, Office of, 59, 60
102, 113, 133

Strathern, Clifion B., 80, 61, 75, Ta,
17,78, 166, 177

Strattan, Samueeld, 170

Strengih figures, Vietnam, 25, 20, 3]

Suer Canal, 150, 151

Surfpce-ip-air missile, 56

SWITCHBACK, 176, 180

Switzerland, 147

Symington, Staart, 100, |65, 177, 179,
IR2, |84, 185, 186

Syria. 139

State,

Stane,

T

Tapes, Mixoa, 189, 202, 205, 210

Tavler, Vadm. Bufus, 109, 110, 112,
113, 114, 118, 125, 127, 146

Techivical Services Division, 107, 201

Techmolopy, 131, 133, 135, 136, 138,
152

Tehran, 144

lehean, Ambassador w, 196, 197, 203

Tel awiv, 131, 133, 138, 129, 140, 141,
1435, 146, 147, 148, 149, 150,
L5

Tecrewizm, 135

Tet offensive. 33

, 1

TTII:IIIIE;H:AH:. I.'Iuweli.:r:u 143

2

303 Convmiees, 82, 8%

Teme mapazine, 157

Tommic, Radomiro, 52, B5, &6

Track [, 86, H7, 8%, 90, 91, 42

Track |1, 86, 87, #4, o, 01, 92, 96, 97

Truman. Harry, 50

Tuesday luncheons, 2, G, 7., 38, 53, 34,
43

L

United Kingdom, 128, 149, 153

United Mations, 32, 33, 35, 56, 139

Linued Press Internatienal, 53

United Staves Intelligence Board, 24,
27,28, b, 31 536,41, 43, 45, 50

5 Military Assistance Command,
WVicinarn, 25, X8, 30, 3, 33, 34,
15, 56

USSR, 24, 40, 50, 135, 138

U-2 photography, 56

v

Valenmuelzs, Brig. Gen. Camilp, 93, 04

Err

Vessey, Gen. John (LISA), 76

Viauz, Brig. Gen. Roberto, 92, 93, 04,
O

Weenliane, 75, 76

Vientiane Station, 137

Wier Cong, 33, 34, 65,67, 209

Vietnam, 4, 5, 14, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27,
28, 20, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 34,
30, 45, 52, 54, 530 83, 635, &7,
69, 0, T, 72, 7R, 74, T3, TH,
9, B1, 165, 166, 171, 172, E75,
178, 177, E79, 184, 204, 209

W

Walters, L. CGen. Vernon (USA), 189,
TSR, 190, 192, 193, 195, 194,
199, 206, 207

Warner, John, 1640, 162, 165, 171, 172

Warren, Chief Justice Earl, 106

red




Seerer

Wishington, 25, 26, 2T, 28, X4, 31, 33,
M, 45, 53, 55, 62, a4, 67, 71,
By, ®2, &4, 85, &7, 91, 97, 101,
LI, 108, 109, 123, 129, 131,
136, 137, 138, 130, 142, 147,
149, 150, 187, 190, 196, 203,
207, 209, 210

Wershingien Posr, 101

Wershaimg o Sir, 157

Watergate, 10, 21, 5%, HI, 183, 187,
15K, 159, 190, |41, 19X, 193,

| 194, 195, 194, 197, 199, 200,

| 0E, 203, 204, 205, 206, 210

[ Western Hemisphere Division, 84, 90,

U5
Wesl Germany, 116, 123
| Westmadeldnd, Gean, William C.. 23,
2R, 20,30

. Wheeler, Gen. Farle, 4, 34, 50, 140

i Whits Howse, [, 2, 5.8, 11, 12, 13, 15,
17, 18, 21, 24, 25, 2%, 30, 32,
33, 35, 38, 39, 41, 42, 45, 49,
3,50, 52, 53, 55, 56, 57, &4,
63, Gb, o7, 65, T, 72, 77, 78,
T, 81, B4, 86, 4T, 89, 90, 91,
LXT, 136, 137, 139, 140, 141,
L4Z, 143, 144, 145, 148, 152,
165, 171, 172 LT3, 175, 176,
ITE, 1RO, 18T, IEE, [EQ, 190,
VL, 192, 193, 105 196, 197,
19, 200, 202, 203, X04, 05,
206G, 207, 208, 208210, 21

Wilson, Bob, 198

Wimert, Col. Paul (LISA), %1

Wisner, Frank, 103

Woadmaff, William, 159, 160

Y

Yom Kippur war, |43
Young, David, 188 197, [4H

Z

221




Sossni

5.9 sntercontinamtal ballisthe missile,

20y

550 inercontinental messile, 172

Srute, Asqpnanl Secretary for Mea
East and South Asian Affaies.
1449

Sture, Deportment ol, 53

Stide, Depodment of, 23, 24, 15, 0.
XL, &4, 3T, 3R, 42, 43, M), 51,
55, 56, 23, RS, Ha, #4090, U1,
114, 14, 1435, 147, 148, 149,
150

Seote, Secoetary of, 148

Seane, Secaetary of, 144, 150

Seennds, Jobhn, 161, 162, LTH, T4,
Padk, 181, 182

Siewart, Gorelow, 1068, DI, 322, 1235

51|'._:.||:1_li|: Rew=arch, Citice of, 51, 51

.'-'..lmlcllir Serviees, (Hfice of, 549, &9,
10F, 13, 133 T

Strather, Cliften, 164G, 177

Struthern, Chifton B, 60, 61, 75, 7
77. 78

Strateon, Samuel, 170

S[n:nglh ﬁgurl:','. Vietmiem, 25, 249, 31

Spex Canol, 153, 151

Surface-1o-air missile, 56

EWITCHBRACE, 176, 18D

Switrerland, 147

Symington, Stuart, 163, 179

Syminzton, Stuart, 108, 17T, 17,
152, 184, LS, 18G

Syrta, 139

T

Tapes, Mizon, 18, 202, 205, 210
Taylor, Adm, Rufus, 106, 110, L2,
113, Lkd, NIE, 127, 146

Tn:,rln:lr. Rufus, 114, 125

Techmical Services Divasion, 107, 201

Techrslogy, 131, 133, 135, 135, 136,
15%

Tehmn, 149

Tehmn, Ambassador to, 196

Tehran, Ambassador w, 197, 203

Tel Aviv., 131, 133, E38, 138, 140,
141, 145, 146, 147, 148, 149
L55h, 152

!

Terrorism. 135
Tt affensive, 13

¢ Mew 1o mes, 42, 50
Thompson, Fred 1., 1 0elp
Thompson, Licwellyn, 142

SR Loomnmmnllee, B, &%

Time magazine, 157

Tomic, Badomora, 85X, 85, HO

Teack 1, Salvador®, &6, 87, #9

Truck IDepartment of”, B4

Track 1L, R6, &7, &%, 90, 91_ 92, 96,
a7

Track 117, 4}

Track [ Intelligence Agency ™. 90

Track littee®, 92

Track [ Modors", 91

Track [s, LS5, 90

Track lsines, Thomas", 92

Trumnn, Harry, 30

Tuesday luncheons, I, 6, 7, 38, 53,
54, 143

1

Linitedt Kingdom, 125, 1449, |33

United Mations, 32, 33, 35, 56, 1348

United Press International, 53

Uinited States Ineelligence Boasd, 24,
27, 28, B0, 30, 34, 41, 43, 435,
o

LS Milicary Assistance Command,
Vietnam, 25, 28, 30, 3L, 33, 54,
35,56

USSR, 24, 40, 50, 135, 158

L2 phorgraphy, 56

‘r

Walenzuchn, Brig, Gen, Camila, %3, 94

wang Paa, VT
Vessew, Gen, John (LU5A) TE

o
2

=




Sec

Viaix, Brig, Gen. Roberio, 92, 93, 04,

0

Vientiane, 75, Ta

Wientiane Station, 177

Wict Cong, 33, &5, 67, 209

Wher Congld, 34

Wictnam, 4, 5, |4, 23, 24, 25, 34, 27,
IR, 2030, A0, 32,31, 34, 36,
M 45, 52, 84 59, 14, 65, &7,
G4, T, TN, PROT3, 74, TS, 7R

T, R, 165, 166, 171, 172, |73,

[T, 107, 179, R4, 24, W9

L)

Walters, Li. Gen. Vemon (USAL 19
Wallers, LI, Gen. %Wermon (LUSAL B9
108

Walters, Lt. Gen. Yermon (LUISA), 1849,

1960, 190, 192, 193, 195, 1946,
PAr, M, N7

Warner, fohn, (6, 163, (63, 171, 173

Warren, Chief Justice Earl, 106
Waszhington, 25, 26, 27, 4, 20, 3],

West Germany, 116, 123

Westmrstand, Gen. William C,, 25,
28, 19, 30

Whesler, Earle, 4

Wheeler, Eacle, 34, 50

Wheeler, Ceem, Earle, 140

White House, 1, 2, 5, &, 11, 12, 13,
15, 17,15, 21, 24, 25 29 2},
33, 33, 35, 38, 39, 41, 42 45,
44, 50, 51, 52, 53, 55, 56, 57,
Gd, 65, 66, 6T, A8, 70, 72, 77,
TR, T9, 81, &4, 86, 87, 89, 9p,
WL 12T, LG, 13T, 139, 140,
L41, 142, 143, 144, |45, (45,
152, 165, 171, 172, 173, 175,
ITh, 178, 150, IRT. |82, 189,
190, 190, 192, 193, 195, 196,
197, 198, 200, M2 20%, 204,
205, 206, M7, & 209, 200,
2

Wilson, Bob, 198

Wimert, Col. Paul (LE5A). 9]

Wizner, Frunk, 103

WookrulT, William, 159, 160

33, 34, 45, 53, 55, 62, 64, 67,
T1. B, 82, K4, 85, &7, 91, 97, Y
(01, 100, VEE, 019, 123, (29,

L3, 136, 137, 138, 139, [42.
47, 149, 150, 187, 190, 196,
203, 207, 2049, 210

Washingon Past, 101

Washington Swr, [57

Watergate, 10, 21, 59, &1, 183, 18T,
18R, 18%, 100, 191, 193, 193,
I, 195, 190, 197, 199, 200,

YA, D4, 107, 120

= A

Yorm Eippur war, 143
Youmg, David, LES, 197, 194
TAOL03 104, 105, 1408, 121

202, 203, W4, 205, 206, 210 Z
WE, BS, 90, 97
Western Hemizphore Divisioa, f4, 90,
bk
Sedwpl




SECR!™

Richard Helms as Director of
Central Intelligence

“Even riore mivs1erions i mast Amen-
cans than Cla imsedl,” o 1967 Time
cover slory began, Vis its dirccter,
Richard MeGamsh Helms, 33, an
intense, conteolled, self-effacing
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delicate and crucial posts in Washing-
ton” This voldumie o the DT Histoscal
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ClA leader, A 1935 graduste of
Williams College who served us a
loweign correspondent in Exrope hefore
World War 1, Hetms poined the Office
of Stratemie Services in 1943 and
revansec i the intelligence profession
unil he retimed 30 years later, Based on
full socess o CIA'S classified recosds
and extensive interviews with Helimes and
his licutenanis, this book olfers an
audbem Lt ive docoustl of Bis ienuss as
[hrecior of Cendral Inielligence under
P presicdents. By Tocusing on those
issues ansd events that most demondsd
Helims's antention. the authors offer o
1015 views of CLA i its last years as
pregnnnent Cold War instrumment of

presidenil poer,
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